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Information for Shareholders

The Annual General Meeting of OKO Bank (OKO Osuuspankkien Keskuspankki Oyj) will be held in Finlandia Hall 

in Helsinki on Thursday, March 30, 2006, at 2.00 pm. The Executive Board proposes that a dividend of €0.60 be 

paid on Series A shares and €0.57 on Series K shares. The dividend decided by the Annual General Meeting will be 

paid to shareholders who on the record date confirmed by the Executive Board for the dividend payout, April 4, 

2006, have been entered in the Shareholders’ Register kept by Finnish Central Securities Depository Ltd. It will be 

proposed to the Annual General Meeting that the dividend be paid on April 11, 2006.

All figures in the Report of the Executive Board and in the Financial Statements have been expressed in round 

numbers. Consequently, the sum of single figures may differ from the presented total sum.
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BUSINESS STRUCTURE CHANGED 

In September, OKO Bank acquired a majority holding in the 

shares of Pohjola Group plc. As a result of the transaction, 

OKO Bank’s operations expanded to non-life insurance, and 

the amount of customer funds managed by the Group dou-

bled as Pohjola Asset Management joined with OKO Bank. 

Pohjola is the second largest non-life insurer in Finland. Poh-

jola’s other business area, investment services, consists of life 

insurance, funds and asset management operations.

As part of the financing of the transaction, OKO Bank 

sold its subsidiary Okopankki Oyj, engaged in retail banking, 

to the OP Bank Group Central Cooperative.

In the future, OKO Bank Group’s business will consist of 

Banking and Investment Services and Non-life Insurance. 

REPORT OF THE EXECUTIVE BOARD 2005

EARNINGS

OKO Bank Group’s earnings before tax, including the capital 

gains from the shares of Okopankki, the retail subsidiary, 

amounted to €304 million. Earnings before tax amounted to 

€150 million (2004: €138) without the capital gains. The 

earnings included €32 million from discontinued operations. 

Okopankki, sold in October 2005, and Non-life Insurance 

Company Pohjola, sold on January 16, 2006, have been 

reported as discontinued operations in the financial state-

ments. 

The financial period’s profit amounted to €271 million 

(108), including €153 million in tax-free capital gains from the 

shares of Okopankki Oyj. The consolidated earnings of Pohjola 

for the November–December period were €15 million.

Quarterly Performance 

€ million 2005 2005 2004 Change, %

 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4   

Net interest income 38 40 38 26 143 147 -3

Impairment losses on receivables  1 0 1 2 4 1 -

Net interest income after impairment losses 37 40 38 24      139      145           -4

Net income from Non-life Insurance - - - 69        69 -           -

Net income from Life Insurance - - - -2           -2 -           -  

Net commissions and fees 24 24 24 24     96 85 13

Net trading income 3 -1 7 6 16 2 -

Net income from investments 11 7 3 -2 19 31 -40

Other operating income  2 3 2 16 23 7 -

Total income 77 73 74 135 360 271 33

Personnel costs 17 16 14 39 86 59 46

IT expenses 7 7 6 9 29 25 19

Depreciation 3 3 3 13 21 10 -

Other expenses 12 13 11 39 75 46 63

Total expenses  38 38 34 100 211 139 51

Share of affiliate profits 0 1 0 0 1 6 -79

Earnings before tax 39 36 40 35 150 138 9

Income tax 8 9 11 5 33 30 8

Capital gains from discontinued operations after tax - - - 153 153 0 -

Profit for the period 31 26 29 184 271 108 -
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The income statement has been divided into continuing 

and discontinued operations. The income statements of con-

tinuing and discontinued operations are formed so that only 

the profits and expenses from outside the Group have been 

taken into account. The eliminations included interest of 

€17.6 million paid by the subsidiary Okopankki, engaged in 

retail banking, to the parent company’s Treasury. In 2006, 

these are the Group’s external interest income and they are 

entered as earnings for OKO Bank’s Central Banking opera-

tions.

The return on equity was 19.8 per cent (13.9) and the 

earnings per share €1.96 (0.86). 

The income and expenses from Retail Banking for the 

January–October period and from the Pohjola Group since 

November 2005 were consolidated with the Group. 

Pro Forma Statement

The following pro forma statement has been drawn up in 

order to make the comparison of earning items easier. The 

earning effects from the Pohjola transaction have been elim-

inated from the statement and the earnings from Retail Bank-

ing are included in both years only from the January-October 

period. In addition, the one-off capital gains and consolidated 

earning shares from the sold affiliates have been reduced 

from both periods. 

Income

Income totalled €360 million (271). Income from continuing 

operations totalled €278 million (181). €82 million of the 

growth in the income of continuing operations were due to 

the consolidation of the Pohjola operations from the Novem-

ber-December period. The comparable income presented 

in the Pro forma statement increased by 14 per cent.

Net interest income before impairment losses amounted 

to €143 million (147). The net interest income included €7 

million of financing costs from the Pohjola transaction. The 

comparable net interest income increased by almost 9 per 

cent, according to the Pro forma statement. 

In Corporate Banking, net interest income increased by 

14 per cent to €85 million. The increase was mainly attribut-

able to the increased loan portfolio of Corporate Banking 

and wider loan margins. Even though price competition 

remained intense, the level of margins on corporate loans 

during the year under review was higher than the 2004 aver-

age. However, the margins on loans granted to municipalities, 

other institutions and private customers continued to 

decrease. 

The net interest income from Treasury operations 

amounted to €22 million (23), resulting in a net interest 

income of €121 million (123) from operations other than 

Treasury.

Impairment losses on receivables were €3.6 million (1.2), 

thus the net interest income after impairment losses was 

€139 million (145).

Net income from Pohjola’s Non-life Insurance consoli-

dated with the Group amounted to €69 million for the 

November–December period. They included net income of 

€63 million from the insurance company and €6 million from 

Pro Forma Income Statement

€ million 2005 2004 Change, % Q4/2005 Q4/2004

Net interest income 150 138 9 33 31

Impairment losses on receivables  4 1 - 2 1

Net interest income after impairment losses 147 137 7 31 29

Net income from Non-life Insurance - - - - -

Net income from Life Insurance - - - - -

Net commissions and fees 94 79 18 22 20

Net trading income 15 2 - 5 -1

Net income from investments 14 21 -34 -3 4

Other operating income  11 7 57 4 4

Total income 280 247 14 59 56

Personnel costs 61 55 11 14 13

IT expenses 25 23 7 5 5

Depreciation 12 9 24 4 2

Other expenses 46 43 8 10 9

Total expenses  144 131 10 33 29

Earnings before tax 137 116 17 27 27

Cost/income ratio, % 51 53  54 50
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asset management. The effect of the changes in the bases of 

calculation improving the net income amounted to €9 mil-

lion. The net loss of Life Insurance was €2 million. The effect 

of the changes to the bases of calculation reducing the net 

income amounted to €12 million in Life Insurance.

Of the capital gains on assets available for sale included 

in the income from the investment activities of both non-life 

and life insurance, the part of the realised gains in the 

November–December period which has been calculated as 

a difference between the sale price and the fair value at the 

end of October has been consolidated in the earnings of the 

OKO Bank Group.  OKO Bank acquired Pohjola at fair value, 

so the value increments in the fair value reserve from the 

end of October were included in the acquisition price. 

Hence, the realisation of the value increments prior to the 

end of October does not represent capital gain from the 

OKO Bank Group’s point of view. 

Net commission income, adjusted with commission 

expenses, rose by 13 per cent to €96 million. The share of 

continuing operations was €71 million (63). However, com-

parable net commission income increased by 18 per cent. 

The increase in commission income was primarily gener-

ated from lending, securities brokerage and asset manage-

ment. 

Commission income from lending rose by 24 per cent 

to €22 million. Net income from securities brokerage rose 

by 32 per cent to €22 million. Customer funds, under the 

management of Opstock Asset Management, increased by 

24 per cent to €13.6 billion. The capital of OP mutual funds 

increased by 50 per cent. Net commission income from asset 

management rose by 19 per cent to €14 million. 

Payment transfer volumes continued to grow. The 

number of outgoing and incoming payment transactions in 

Corporate Banking was 10 per cent higher than a year ear-

lier. Due to price competition, commission income from 

payment transactions increased by only 3 per cent from the 

comparison year in Corporate Banking. Net commission 

income from payment transactions decreased due to the sale 

of Okopankki.

Net commissions & fees, € million  2005 2004 Change, %

From lending 22 18 24

From payment transfers 16 17 -7

From securities brokerage 22 17 32

From securities issuance 4 5 -19

From asset management 14 12 19

From guarantees 5 5 -4

From insurance brokerage 4 4 5

From real estate brokerage 7 7 11

Customer bonus provision -3 -4 8

Other fee income 4 4 6

Total 96 85 13

Net income from trading amounted to €16 million (2). The 

increase was mainly due to the results from transactions with 

securities and derivatives. In addition, the earnings from for-

eign exchange operations increased significantly. 

Net income from investment operations decreased to 

€19 million (31).  Income from equity investments amounted 

to €17 million (22), of which the share of dividend income 

was over €5 million (7). The income included €4.5 million 

of capital gains for certain usage shares. The income for 2004 

included capital gains of €10.4 million for the shares of OMX 

Ab.  In December, OKO Bank lowered the value of its shares 

in Oy Realinvest Ab by €3.2 million. Fixed-income operations 

recorded a net income of €1 million, a decrease of €5 million 

from the previous year. The earnings of the comparison year 

included €3.1 million of changes in the fair value of securities, 

which were no longer recorded in the income statement in 

2005 but in the fair value reserve of shareholders’ equity, 

according to IFRS financial statement principles.

Income from real estate investments amounted to €4 

million (3). When the dissolution of an impairment loss 

reserve of €0.8 million in connection with the sale of certain 

real estate is taken into account, income from real estate 

investments was €1.7 million greater than in the comparison 

period. Net yield from real estate investments increased to 

6.6 per cent (6.1) at the end of December. 

Other operating income amounted to €23 million (7).  

€12 million was consolidated with other operating income 

from Pohjola. This includes commission income from reinsur-

ance operations and income from the management of the 

partners’ distribution networks and insurance portfolios.

Expenses

Expenses totalled €211 million (139).  The consolidated 

expenses of Pohjola were €67 million. Comparable expenses 

increased by 10 per cent.

Personnel costs represented slightly more than 40 per 

cent of the expenses, amounting to €86 million (59). The 

consolidated personnel costs of Pohjola amounted to €25 

million, and the personnel costs of Retail Banking to €20 

million (22). Comparable personnel expenses increased by 

11 per cent. This was due to the increased number of person-

nel, increased level of salaries and the accrual of costs for new 

incentive systems. OKO Bank Group employed 3,254 people 

(1,242) at the end of 2005. The comparable average number 

of employees increased by 8 per cent. 

The share of IT-expenses was €29 million (25), ca. 14 

per cent, of total expenses. The comparable increase was 7 

per cent.
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The amount of depreciation increased to €21 million 

(10). The consolidated depreciations of Pohjola were €9 

million, including the depreciations of 6 million of intangible 

assets from the Pohjola transaction. A more precise report 

of the depreciations of the intangible assets from the Pohjola 

transaction will be presented in the section: ’Effects of the 

transaction on OKO Bank’s financial position.’ The amount 

of depreciation in Retail Banking was €2 million (2). Compa-

rable depreciations totalled €12 million (9). 

Other expenses totalled €75 million (46). Pohjola’s other 

consolidated expenses amounted to €29 million and the 

other expenses of Retail Banking to €17 million (20). The 

comparable increase in other expenses was 8 per cent.

Share of Affiliate Earnings

The share of affiliate earnings totalled €1 million (6). 

As a result of the sale of Okopankki, OKO Bank’s share 

of OP-Kotipankki decreased to 16.9 per cent. Thus, its earn-

ings have not been consolidated with those of the Bank 

Group since the beginning of November. 

OKO Bank sold the shares of its affiliate, Automatia Pan-

kkiautomaatit Oy, at the beginning of the year. In addition, 

Toimiraha Oy was dissolved in June. OKO Bank’s share in 

both companies was one third.

Capital Gains from Discontinued Operations

As a part of the financing of the Pohjola transaction, OKO 

Bank sold the shares of Okopankki Oyj. The capital gain 

totalled €153 million.

BALANCE SHEET

Total assets were €22.3 billion (16.5) at the end of the year. 

The assets increased by new items of the Pohjola Group’s 

consolidated funds from Non-life Insurance and Life Insur-

ance, classified for sale, totalling €4.6 billion. In addition, the 

amount of intangible assets increased by €0.9 billion due to 

the Pohjola transaction. On the other hand, the sale of Oko-

pankki Group decreased the total of balance sheet by €1.7 

billion. 

€ million 31 Dec. 2005 31 Dec. 2004 Change, %

Liquid assets 479 297 61

Receivables from financial institutions 4 617 3 548 30

Financial assets for trading (Note 11) 3 692 3 085 20

Derivative contracts 123 93 32

Receivables from customers 6 755 8 664 -22

Assets of Non-life Insurance (Note 12) 2 742 - 

Investment assets (Note 14) 326 339 -4

Investments in affiliates 7 25 -74

Intangible assets 942 10 

Tangible assets 89 64 40

Other assets 512 356 44

Tax receivables 33 7 

Assets of life insurance classified 

discontinued operations 1 873 - 

Other assets items classified available 

for sale 81 - 

Total assets 22 270 16 490 35

Liabilities to financial institutions 3 563 4 310 -17

Liabilities for trading 4 - 

Derivative contracts 123 99 25

Liabilities to customers 2 058 4 072 -49

Liabilities of non-life insurance 

(Note 15) 1 926 - 

Debt securities issued to the public 

(Note 16) 9 033 6 103 48

Reserves and other liabilities 827 578 43

Tax liabilities 371 88 

Subordinated liabilities (Note 17) 749 462 62

Liabilities of life insurance classified as 

discontinued operations 1 609 - 

Liabilities related to other asset items 

classified discontinued operations 48 - 

Total liabilities 20 310 15 713 29

Shareholders’ equity   

Share of parent company’s owners   

Share capital 423 206 

Share issue account 1 3 

Reserves 791 234 

Retained earnings 548 332 

Minority interest  199 2 

Total shareholders’ equity 1 961 777 

Total liabilities and shareholders’ 

equity 22 270 16 490 35

   

Receivables from Credit Institutions

The receivables from credit institutions – mainly from mem-

ber cooperative banks – grew to €4.6 billion (3.5). The cash 
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reserve deposit system of the OP Bank Group was abolished 

in November, thus OKO Bank repaid the member coopera-

tive banks their cash reserve deposits. With the received 

assets, the member cooperative banks made a premature 

repayment of €0.9 million of the loans granted by OKO Bank. 

In spite of the liquid assets received in connection with the 

abolishment of the cash reserve deposit system, the funding 

requirements of the member cooperative banks from OKO 

Bank increased. At the end of the year, OKO Bank’s receiv-

ables from the member cooperative banks amounted to €3.7 

billion (2.7). At the end of the year, the share of the credit 

institution receivables from the balance sheet almost equalled 

that of the previous year, i.e. a little over 20 per cent (21).

OKO Bank still retains ultimate responsibility for main-

taining the liquidity of the OP Bank Group and the member 

cooperative banks. In order to maintain liquidity, OP Bank 

Group’s liquid assets are concentrated in OKO Bank. The 

costs incurred in maintaining the reserves are divided 

between the OP Bank Group organisations as part of the 

central banking service fee. The abolishment of the cash 

reserve deposit system does not affect OKO Bank’s earnings 

much, as the earlier cash reserve deposit margin is replaced 

by the service fee.

Trading Assets

The financial assets for trading, which almost completely 

consisted of bonds and CPs, amounted to €3.7 billion (3.1), 

and made up 17 per cent (19) of the balance sheet.

Lending

Receivables from customers amounted to €6.8 billion at the 

end of the year. The year before they totalled €8.7 million. 

Okopankki’s loan portfolio was €2.9 billion at the end of 

2004, the comparable loan portfolio being €5.8 billion at the 

time. The comparable loan portfolio increased by 17 per 

cent. In Corporate Banking, the loan portfolio increased by 

13 per cent. The loan portfolio’s share of the total assets 

decreased to ca. 30 per cent due to the structural change in 

the Group’s business. 

The risk exposure was estimated to have remained good 

and the share of problem loans was low. The risk exposure 

will be described in more detail in the section: ‘Risk exposure 

of Banking and Investment Services’.

Real Estate Investments

The book value of real estate holdings decreased to €35 

million (82), and invested capital to €48 million (131). The 

sale of Okopankki decreased the amount of capital invested 

in properties in the Group’s own use by €30 million. The 

holdings of Kiinteistö Oy Dagmarinkatu 14 and Kiinteistöosa-

ke yhtiö Arkadiankatu 23 were sold in June and the holdings 

of Kiinteistö Oy Lahden Trio were sold in September. The 

capital invested in this real estate totalled €54 million.

Investments

Investments totalled in 2005 slightly over €13 million, of 

which slightly over €3 million consisted of the investments 

of the consolidated parts of Pohjola. The investments of 

Banking and Investment Services amounted to slightly less 

than €10 million, of which slightly less than one-third was 

used for renewing retail banking offices and improving the 

service level. Other investments in Banking and Investment 

Services were associated with IT system development in 

order to improve the efficiency of customer service and 

internal processes.

The book value of intangible assets was €942 million (10) 

at end of the year. It was increased by the allocation of the 

remainder of the share acquisition expense and Pohjola’s 

own capital to brands by €179 million, customer relation 

value by €301 million and data systems by €60 million. €392 

million of the remainder was left as unallocated business 

value. The share of operations to be sold has been reduced 

from these increments.

Funding

Liabilities to credit institutions decreased to €3.6 billion (4.3). 

Most of these – €1.5 billion – were member cooperative 

bank deposits with OKO Bank. The abolishment of the cash 

reserve deposit system decreased liabilities by €2.1 billion. 

However, the amount of member cooperative bank depos-

its decreased by only €1.5 billion. The liabilities to central 

banks increased by €0.6 billion and totalled a little less than 

€1.6 billion. The liabilities to Okopankki amounted to €0.2 

billion. At the end of the year they were no longer eliminated 

in the Group’s total assets. The share of credit institution 

liabilities made up 16 per cent (26) of the balance sheet.

The liabilities to customers were halved to €2.1 billion, 

mainly due to the sale of Okopankki (4.3).

The amount of bonds and notes issued to the public 

increased from €2.9 billion to €9 billion. The share of bonds 

was €2.1 billion. In March, a bond loan of €1 billion was 

issued, mostly in order to finance the growth in business and, 

at the end of the year, loans of €1.1 billion to finance the 

growth in business and the acquisition of Pohjola’s shares.  

Bonds and notes issued to the public made up 40 per cent 

(37) of the balance sheet.
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The amount of subordinated bonds was €0.7 billion 

(0.5). Three new capital loans were issued at a total value of 

€150 million during the fiscal period. The loans of €100 mil-

lion issued at the end of the year were part of the financing 

of the Pohjola transaction. 

Equity Capital

Equity capital amounted to €1,961 million (777) at the end 

of the year. The majority of the growth resulted from the 

share issue for the financing of the Pohjola transaction. 

The Group’s distributable equity amounted to €379 mil-

lion. However, the profit distribution is limited by the parent 

company’s distributable equity capital which amounted to 

€357 million at the end of the year.

OFF-BALANCE-SHEET ITEMS

The amount of guarantees and other off-balance-sheet com-

mitments increased to little less than €4.7 billion (4.1). The 

amount of standby credit facilities was €2.6 billion (2.4). The 

amount of loan and other guarantees increased to €1.4 bil-

lion (1.3). The amount of other off-balance-sheet commit-

ments was €0.5 billion (0.4).

The credit counter-value of derivative contracts stood 

at €387 million (234) at the end of the year. The increase 

was mainly due to the growth in the amount of interest 

derivatives.

ACQUISITION OF POHJOLA SHARES

On September 12, 2005, OKO Bank acquired the holdings 

of Pohjola’s shares of Suomi Mutual Life Assurance Company 

and Ilmarinen Mutual Pension Insurance Company for the 

cash consideration of approximately €1.2 billion. After the 

acquisition, OKO Bank owned approximately 58.5 per cent 

of Pohjola’s shares and votes. The realisation of the acquisi-

tion was conditional on OKO Bank’s Extraordinary General 

Meeting approving the terms and conditions of the OKO 

Bank share issue associated with it and the necessary amend-

ment to the Articles of Association, as well as on obtaining 

the regulatory approvals for the transaction. OKO Bank’s 

Extraordinary General Meeting made the necessary decisions 

on October 14, 2005 and the regulatory approvals were 

received on October 18, 2005.

In connection with the acquisition, OKO Bank announced 

its intention to make a public tender offer for Pohjola’s 

remaining outstanding shares. In connection with the arrange-

ment, Pohjola’s entire stock is estimated to be worth approx-

imately €2.075 billion, while full dilution is taken into consid-

eration.  The next day, September 13, 2005, OKO Bank 

raised its holding of Pohjola’s shares and votes to 64.5 per 

cent by purchasing shares through the Helsinki Stock 

Exchange.

On October 19, 2005, OKO Bank made a public tender 

offer for Pohjola’s remaining shares at a price of €13.35 per 

share. The proportion of those accepting the offer of Poh-

jola’s shares and votes was 13.1 per cent.  After the tender 

offer expired on November 18, 2005, OKO Bank’s share of 

the holding and votes had risen to 83 per cent.

On December 1, 2005, OKO Bank made a redemption 

offer according to Chapter 6, Section 6, of the Securities 

Markets Act for Pohjola’s remaining outstanding shares and 

option rights. The offer expired on January 5, 2006. The 

share of those accepting the offer of Pohjola’s shares and 

votes was 4.4 per cent. At that time, OKO Bank’s share of the 

holding and votes had risen to 89.96 per cent. On January 10, 

2006, OKO Bank announced that it had acquired a number of 

shares from the market that increased OKO Bank’s share of 

the holding and votes to more than 90 per cent.

OKO Bank has expressed a demand to redeem the 

shares from other Pohjola shareholders. OKO Bank has 

started a redemption proceeding in accordance with the 

Companies Act in order to redeem the rest of Pohjola’s 

shares.

Financing of the Transaction

The transaction was financed by a share issue, sale of asset 

items, debt issues and other liquid assets.

A share issue, directed to OKO Bank’s old shareholders, 

began on October 24, 2005 and ended on November 15, 

2005. All the shares, just over 100 million, were subscribed, 

and assets of €724.2 million were accumulated by the share 

issue.

€692 million of the transaction was financed by the sale 

of asset items. OKO Bank sold the entire stock of Okopankki 

Oyj to the OP Bank Group Central Cooperative for €325 

million. In addition, Pohjola sold  to the OP Bank Group 

Central Cooperative Pohjola Life Insurance Company Ltd, 

Pohjola Fund Management Ltd and Pohjolan Systeemipalvelu 

Oy included in the transaction. The aggregate sale price of 

the companies in question was €367 million. Of these, the sale 

of Pohjola Fund Management Company and Poh jolan Sys-

teemipalvelu took place on December 30, 2005 and that of 

Pohjola Life Insurance Company on January 16, 2006. 

OKO Bank issued capital loans of a total of €100 million 

and a bond of €150 million, which is considered Tier II funds, 
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and financed the rest of the acquisition price by bonds and 

internal liquid assets. 

Effects of the Acquisition on OKO 

Bank’s Financial Position

Thanks to the Pohjola acquisition, the financial performance 

of the OKO Bank Group is estimated to improve significantly. 

The financial performance will be raised by the estimated 

result of Non-life Insurance, and by the expected revenue 

and cost synergies, which are estimated to amount to ca. 

€50 million before tax annually. It is predicted that the syn-

ergies will be gained in full in five years.

OKO Bank’s holding of Pohjola was 86.3 per cent at the 

end of 2005. The acquisition price of the shares was a little 

over €1,773 million. At the end of 2005, the aggregate sale 

price of Pohjola Fund Management Company and Pohjolan 

Systeemipalvelut sold by OKO Bank was €86 million, with 

the net acquisition price of the Pohjola shares being €1,687 

million at the end of the year. This was €780 million greater 

than the share of Pohjola’s shareholders’ equity correspond-

ing to OKO Bank’s holding on October 31, 2005, when 

Pohjola’s figures were included in the consolidated financial 

statements. Of the difference between the net acquisition 

price and Pohjola’s shareholders’ equity corresponding to 

the holding, €11 million was allocated to real estate holdings, 

€335 million to intangible assets, and €435 million remained 

goodwill at the end of 2005. The intangible assets include 

the value of customer relationships, which will be depreci-

ated in 10 to 13 years, and IT systems, which will be depre-

ciated in 5 years. The amount of depreciations was €6 million 

in 2005.

In the capital adequacy calculation, the aggregate amount 

of intangible assets and goodwill, €770 million, is deducted 

from OKO Bank’s own funds. The difference between fair 

value allocated to real estate and book value has not been 

taken into account in risk-weighted commitments and OKO 

Bank’s own funds.

Handling of the Acquisiton Price of Pohjola Shares

€ million Continuing Operations  OKO Bank’s  Depreciation Depreciation Annual 
 operations to be sold *) balance sheet  time 2005  depreciation  
   31 Dec. 2005

Acquisition cost of Pohjola’s shares (86.3% holding) 1451 236 1773     

Selling prices received from sales     -86     

Net acquisition price     1687     

OKO Bank’s share (86.3%) of Pohjola’s shareholders’ equity 

on October 31, 2005 772 135 907     

Goodwill before allocation 679 101 780     

           

Allocation of goodwill          

 - trademarks 179  179     

 - customer relationships 301 7 309  10–13 yrs. 4.0 23.8

 - insurance contracts   46 46     

 - IT systems 61 14 75  5 yrs. 2.0 12.1

 - valuation difference on real estate 11  11     

- tax liabilities and goodwill in Pohjola’s balance sheet -187 -32 -218     

Goodwill allocated in total 365 36 401     

           

OKO Bank’s share (86.3%) of the allocated goodwill  315 31 346     

OKO Bank’s share (86.3%) of Pohjola’s shareholders’ equity 

on December 31, 2005 772 135 907     

Acquired assets in total 1087 166 1253     

           

Net acquisition cost of Pohjola’s shares (86.3% holding) 1451 236 1687     

Acquired assets in total 1087 166 1253     

Unallocated goodwill 365 70 435     

         

Depreciation in total      6.0 35.9

Depreciation taking into account deferred taxes      4.6 27.6

EPS effect, €      0.02 0.14

*) A capital loan of €45 million was included in the selling price of Pohjola Life Insurance Company.



OKO BANK    REPORT OF THE EXECUTIVE BOARD 2005 11

Interest expenses totalling €7 million arose from the 

financing of the acquisition of Pohjola shares.

Progress of the Integration 

The sales of Pohjola Fund Management Ltd, Pohjolan Sys-

teemipalvelut Oy and Pohjola Life Insurance Company Ltd 

to the OP Bank Group Central Cooperative have been 

implemented according to the integration plan published in 

September.  In addition, OKO Bank acquired Pohjola Asset 

Management Ltd in January. The transaction is related to the 

reorganisation of OKO Bank’s asset management. 

A cooperation negotiation proposal concerning overlap-

ping asset management functions was given to the personnel 

of Opstock Ltd and Pohjola Asset Management Ltd on Janu-

ary 31, 2006. The negotiations started on February 6, 2006. 

The reduction need in these companies is estimated to con-

cern about 30 people. The negotiations also concern about 

ten investment service sales persons working at Pohjola’s 

offices. In addition, a negotiation proposal was issued in OKO 

Bank’s and Pohjola’s Group functions, aimed at the reor-

ganisation of functions, which probably will not lead to any 

reduction of personnel in the negotiations now in progress.

After the transaction, before the negotiation proposal 

was issued in the Group functions, a net reduction of 18 

people took place in asset management and the sales net-

work.

The plan for combining Pohjola’s sales offices with the 

offices of cooperative banks is ready. Integration into the 

same premises has already been implemented in fifteen 

localities.  According to the plan, about 50 offices will be 

integrated by the end of June and more than 70 offices by 

the end of the year.  

The earnings for 2005 included only a minor amount of 

integration costs. 

CAPITAL ADEQUACY

Capital Adequacy Strengthened

OKO Bank’s capital adequacy ratio according to the Credit 

Institutions Act was 12.8 per cent (11.0), while the statutory 

minimum requirement is 8 per cent. The Tier I ratio of OKO 

Bank’s own funds on risk-weighted items was 9.6 per cent 

(7.6). The risk-weighted items increased from €9,951 million 

to €10,489 million, or by 5.4 per cent. OKO Bank’s funds 

increased from €1,092 million to €1,339 million, or by 22.6 

per cent. 

The share issue of €724.2 million arranged for financing 

the Pohjola transaction, the capital loans of €100 million, the 

bond of €150 million (which is considered upper Tier II 

funds) and the capital gain of €153 million from the sale of 

Okopankki contributed significantly to the strengthening of 

capital adequacy and OKO Bank’s own funds.  In March, 

OKO Bank issued a capital loan of €50 million; in total cap-

ital loans increased by €150 million to €224 million during 

2005, and their share of Tier I funds was 22 per cent (10).  

OKO Bank’s Tier I funds increased from €751 million to 

€1,002 million during the year, despite the fact that intangi-

ble assets and goodwill of a total of €794 million, which were 

almost entirely generated by the Pohjola transaction, were 

deducted from Tier I funds. The Pohjola holding was 86.3 

per cent at the turn of the year, so the amount of intangible 

items will increase during 2006 when the holding rises to 100 

per cent, but correspondingly the amount of intangible items 

decreased through the sale of Pohjola Life Insurance Com-

pany Ltd, implemented on January 16, 2006. The total 

amount of intangible items is anticipated to increase slightly 

during 2006, which will probably slightly decrease the amount 

of Tier I funds and capital adequacy. 

The amount of Tier II funds was €550 million (356).  At 

the end of the year, €48 million of unrealised appreciation, 

adjusted by calculated tax liability, recognised in the fair value 

reserve was included in Tier II funds.  The fair value reserve 

was established for the first time at the beginning of 2005, 

and an adjustment caused by it has not been made in the 

comparison figures for 2004.

The amount of deductions made from OKO Bank’s own 

funds increased from €15 million to €213 million due to the 

Pohjola transaction, as a share corresponding to the holding 

of the insurance companies’ operating equity minimum must 

be deducted from the aggregate amount of own funds. The 

requirement for OKO Bank’s own funds for covering market 

risk was €69 million (45). The growth of the loan portfolio 

and the acquisition of Pohjola increased the amount of risk-

weighted receivables and investments, but correspondingly 

the sale of Retail Banking reduced them, so the amount of 

risk-weighted receivables and investments remained at the 

same level as a year earlier. The amounts of risk-weighted 

off-balance sheet items and risk-weighted market risk items 

increased due to the increase in unused loans and binding 

credit facilities and the increase in the amount of notes and 

bonds and derivatives contracts.

The shareholders’ equity shown by OKO Bank’s balance 

sheet amounted to €1,961 million (777), of which the share 

of the owners of the parent company was €1,762 million 

(775). The difference between the shareholders’ equity 

shown by the balance sheet and the amount of Tier I funds 

used in the capital adequacy calculation is due to the fact 

that in the capital adequacy calculation, intangible assets must 
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be deducted from Tier I funds and the minority interest 

generated from Pohjola and the unrealised appreciation rec-

ognised due to the transfer to IFRS reporting have not been 

included in Tier I funds. The dividend distribution proposed 

by the Executive Board has also been deducted from OKO 

Bank’s own funds. OKO Bank’s own funds include capital 

loans, which in financial statements have been presented as 

liabilities.

OKO Bank’s Own Funds and Capital Adequacy

€ million  31 Dec. 2005  31 Dec. 2004 Change, € million

Own funds   

Equity capital  1 961  777  1 184

Pohjola’s minority interest  -197  -  -197

Subordinated capital notes  224  74  150

Intangible assets  -794  -10  -784

Fair value reserve and excess margin on pension liabilities  -72  -38  -34

Dividend distribution proposed by the Executive Board  -120  - 52  -68

Tier I    1 002  751  251

Fair value reserve  48  -  48

Subordinated liabilities considered upper Tier II funds  200  50  150

Subordinated liabilities considered Tier II funds  302  306  -4

Tier II, total  550  356  194

Investments in insurance institutions  -202  -13  -189

Other mandatory adjustments  -11  - 2  -9

Mandatory adjustments, total  -213  - 15  -198

Own funds, total *  1 339  1 092  247

Risk-weighted receivables, investments and off-balance sheet items   

Receivables and investments  7 598  7 598  0

Off-Balance Sheet Items  2 024  1 788  236

Market risk  867  565  302

Risk-weighted receivables, investments and off-balance sheet items, total  10 489  9 951  538

Capital adequacy ratio, %   12.8  11.0  1.8**

Tier I ratio, %   9.6  7.6  2.0**

*)  The following investments in venture capital funds, totalling €8 million and managed by OKO Venture Capital Ltd have not been deducted 
  according to the exception provided by the Financial Supervision in line with the order in 75 §, clause 5 of the Credit Institution Act: 
   Promotion Equity I Ky, Promotion Capital I Ky, Promotion Rahasto II Ky and Promotion Bridge I Ky.
**)  Percentage points

The capital adequacy ratio of the OP Bank Group was 14.6 
per cent, while it was 15.5 per cent at the end of 2004. 

Due to the Pohjola transaction, the share of insurance 
operations of OKO Bank and the OP Bank Group increased 
significantly.  OKO Bank is not supervised on the basis of the 
Act on the Supervision of Financial and Insurance Conglomer-
ates; such supervision concerns the OP Bank Group.  The OP 
Bank Group reports the capital adequacy ratio provided for 
in the Act in question for the first time at the end of 2005 

calculated according to the consolidation method. OKO Bank 
has also calculated the corresponding capital adequacy 
ratio. 

At the end of the year, OP Bank Group’s own funds, 
calculated in accordance with the Act of the Supervision of 
Financial and Insurance Conglomerates, exceeded the mini-
mum set in the Act, by €1,799 million. The ratio of OP Bank 
Group’s own funds and the own fund minimum was 1.69. The 
corresponding figures regarding OKO Bank were €233 million 
and 1.23.

€ million OP Bank Group OKO Bank   
  Dec. 31, 2005 Dec. 31,2005

Equity capital 4 757 1 961

Business segment specific items 1 518 726

Goodwill and intangible assets -1 059 -913

Items included in equity capital and in business segment specific items, 

which can not be included in conglomerate’s own funds -828 -544

Conglomerate’s own funds, total  4 388 1 230

Minimum amount of conglomerate’s own funds (= required own funds) 2 589 997

Solvency of the conglomerate 1 799 233

Solvency ratio of the conglomerate (own funds / required own funds) 1.69 1.23
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RISK EXPOSURE

Risk Management

The purpose of risk management is to identify the threats 

and opportunities that affect the implementation of OKO 

Bank’s strategy. The objective is to help OKO Bank achieve 

the targets set in its strategy by ensuring that risks are pro-

portional to its risk bearing ability. 

The major risks associated with OKO Bank’s activities 

are credit risk, interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk, equity 

risk and liquidity risk arising from Banking and Investment 

Services and insurance risks and market risks arising from 

Insurance operations. Operational risks and various business 

risks such as changes in economic situation, competition or 

customer behaviour are inherent in Banking and Investment 

Services and in Insurance. 

RISK EXPOSURE OF BANKING AND INVESTMENT 

SERVICES 

Risk Tolerance

Risk bearing ability is measured by the ratio of consolidated 

Tier I funds to risk-weighted items. 

Risk bearing ability at the end of the year stood at 9.6 

per cent, which is significantly above the average target level 

of 7 per cent. 

The principles of risk control are described in detail on pages 

57–71 of the financial statement.

Credit Risk Exposure

When reviewing credit risks, the focus is on the development 

of total exposure and the customers’ creditworthiness. Total 

exposure means the total amount of off-balance-sheet items 

and receivables vulnerable to credit risk. Total exposure 

includes both the interest and the principal, adjusted by 

receivable-specific write-downs.  

The sale of Okopankki Oyj in October 2005 affected the 

risk exposure of banking and investment service operations. 

Pro forma figures, which do not include the responsibilities 

of Okopankki Oyj, have been used as 2004 comparison infor-

mation on the risk exposure.

In spite of the 16 per cent increase in total exposure, the 

credit risk exposure has remained stable. The share of risk-

weighted items used in capital adequacy calculations of the 

total exposure was 50 per cent. 

The rating distribution of total exposure is based on the 

creditworthiness of the primary debtor or counterparty; no 

collateral or guarantees have been taken into account.

The relative share of investment-grade exposure – that 

is, ratings 1 to 4, excluding private customers – in total expo-

sure was 72 per cent (67 per cent the previous year), the 

share of ratings 11–12 was 0.4 per cent (0.2) and that of 

non-rated exposure was 3 per cent (9).

Total exposure by Credit Rating,  

€ billion *) 31 Dec. 2005 31 Dec. 2004 Change,%  

1–2  10.2 8.4 1.8

3–4  4.7 3.4 1.3

5–6  2.4 2.5 -0.1

7–8  2.1 1.3 0.8

9–10 0.5 0.4 0.1

11–12 0.1 0.0 0.0

Non-rated 0.7 1.6 -1.0

Total 20.5 17.6 2.9

*) excl. private customers

Total Exposure

The total exposure at the end of 2005 amounted to €20.9 

billion. Receivables from customers formed one-third of total 

exposure. 
 
Total Exposure

€ billion 31 Dec 2005 31 Dec 2004 Change, %

Claims on the public  6.9 6.1 13

Claims on credit institutions and 

central banks 5.1 4.7 9

Debt securities 3.8 3.1 22

Unused standby credit facilities 2.9 2.1 36

Guarantees and documentary credits 1.5 1.4 11

Derivative contracts 0.4 0.2 90

Other off-balance sheet items 0.3 0.3 0

Total 20.9 18.0 16
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Total Exposure by Counterparty

€ billion 31 Dec. 2005 31 Dec. 2004 Change, %

Corporate customers 8.6 7.5 16

Finance and insurance institutions 5.0 4.1 21

Cooperative banks and OP Bank 

Group Central Cooperative 4.6 4.0 13

Private customers 0.4 0.3 23

Non-profit institutions 1.6 1.4 14

Public entities 0.7 0.6 17

Total 20.9 18.0 16

In the review of counterparties, total exposure is divided into 

six customer groups, corporate customers being the largest 

group, representing over 40 per cent of the total exposure. 

The year-on-year increase in corporate exposure was 

€1.2 billion, or 16 per cent. Loans and guarantees amounted 

to slightly less than 50 per cent of corporate exposure, 

receivable and security-backed financing amounted to 20 per 

cent, and unused credit facilities amounted to slightly more 

than 25 per cent. The rating and sector distribution of cor-

porate exposure is analysed in more detail under Corporate 

Exposure.

Financial and insurance institutions were the second larg-

est group of customers and made up 21 per cent of the total 

exposure. The exposure in financial and insurance institu-

tions mostly comprised notes, bonds and deposits. Receiva-

bles from central banks are also included. Investment-grade 

exposure – that is, exposure with ratings 1 to 4 – made up 

90 per cent of the €5.0 billion total financial and insurance 

institution exposure.

Group member banks and the Central cooperative with 

its subsidiaries are a significant customer group for OKO 

Bank as the central financial institution of the OP Group. A 

significant change regarding the exposure of group member 

banks took place at the end of 2005, as the funds deposit 

system was abolished. As a result of the credit repayment of 

group member banks, the exposure growth slowed from the 

previous year. The year-on-year increase of the exposure of 

group member banks and the OP Group Central Coopera-

tive was €0.5 billion, or 13 per cent. The exposure of the 

member banks and the OP Bank Group Central Cooperative 

is investment-grade.

Non-profit organisations accounted for less than 10 per 

cent of the total exposure. 56 per cent of the exposure of 

the customer group was investment-grade. The credit risk 

associated with non-profit organisation exposure can be 

considered very low because 80 per cent of the exposure is 

covered by collateral.

Exposure in public sector entities increased by €0.1 bil-

lion during the year. Notes and bonds made up more than 

50 per cent of the €0.7 billion exposure in this customer 

group. 12 per cent of the €0.7 billion exposure was in foreign 

public entities. More than 90 per cent of the exposure in 

public sector entities has the class-1 rating.

The sale of Okopankki affected the amount of private 

customer exposure significantly. The share of target collat-

eral products from private customer exposure exceeded 90 

per cent. The credit risk is diversified on the basis of the large 

number of customers. Less than 10 per cent of private cus-

tomer exposure was such that the exposure exceeded 

€50,000. 64 per cent of the private customer exposure was 

covered with collateral value, hence the credit risk directed 

to private customers can be considered low.

Collateral

Receivables from financial and insurance institutions, member 

co-operative banks, the OP Bank Group Central Co-opera-

tive and public sector entities are generally not associated 

with collateral. 

However, a substantial share of the credit risks arising 

from exposure in private customers and non-profit organisa-

tions is covered by collateral.

Collateral is used to reduce the credit risk associated 

with corporate customers with a rating clearly below invest-

ment grade. 

When providing funding to companies with high ratings, 

covenants protecting the lender’s position are actively used. 

Covenants are not collateral as such, but can be used to 

secure the preconditions for loan repayment. With regard 

to collateral associated with non-profit organisations, the 

share of guarantees granted by public sector entities was 

significant, slightly more than 60 per cent.

Collateral value refers to a percentage of the market value 

of a collateral object, determined by the type of collateral.

Significant Customer Exposure

Significant customer exposure refers to corporate and non-

profit customers whose direct exposure exceeds 10 per cent 

of the Group’s own funds. The Group’s Own funds increased 

from €1,092 million to €1,339 million, or by 22.6 per cent. 

The amount of significant customer exposure at the end 

of the year was €2.1 billion, which is €0.5 billion less than a 

year earlier. Significant customer exposure comprised 11 

group customers, whose share of exposure from OKO 

Bank’s own funds represented 158 per cent (238). More than 

80 per cent of significant customer exposure was invest-

ment-grade.
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Corporate Exposure

The credit ratings of corporate customers and the rating 

distribution of corporate exposure improved clearly during 

the year. The relative share of investment-grade corporate 

exposure in corporate exposure was 48 per cent, or almost 

seven percentage points higher than a year earlier.  

The distribution of ratings is shown according to coun-

terparty ratings. The collateral or guarantees received have 

not been taken into account. 

Corporate Exposure by Credit Rating

€ million 31 Dec. 2005 31 Dec. 2004 Change            

1–2  373 144 229

3–4  3 770 2 942 828

5–6  2 135 2 236 -99

7–8  1 718 1 163 553

9–10 328 341 -15

11–12 80 32 49

Non-rated 228 599 -371

Total 8 632 7 459 1 173

The growth in corporate exposure focused on investment-

grade ratings 1–4 and 7–8. 

The exposure of the two lowest ratings increased by €49 

million due to the decrease of credit ratings, and they 

amounted to €80 million or 0.9 per cent of the corporate 

exposure. Companies in the foodstuffs, forestry and other 

industry sectors largely accounted for this exposure.

The amount of unclassified corporate exposure was €0.2 

billion, or 3 per cent of the corporate exposure. The share 

of unclassified corporate exposure reduced significantly due 

to the increase in the covering of the rating. Unclassified 

customers’ average exposure was less than €30,000.

The largest sector was the metal industry, the share of 

which increased by one percentage point to 15 per cent of 

corporate exposure during the year. 

Three other sectors where exposure exceeded 10 per 

cent of corporate exposure were trade, the forest industry 

and the construction industry.  

The largest euro increases were seen in the metal indus-

try, energy production and trade sectors.

Corporate Exposure by Sector

€ million 31 Dec. 2005 31 Dec. 2004 Change

Metal industry 1 313 1 078 235

Trade 966 816 150

Forest industry 965 841 125

Construction 909 1 001 -92

Transport and traffic 683 573 110

Energy production 646 420 226

Other industry 557 469 88

Food industry 507 479 28

Management of other real estate 460 493 -33

Real-estate investment companies 420 291 129

Services 391 293 98

Telecommunications and electronics 330 241 90

Chemical industry 291 231 60

Communication and publishing 191 219 -28

Other sectors 3 14 -11

Total 8 632 7 459 1 173

The increase in corporate exposure originated in several 

different sectors, which further improved the extensive 

diversification of corporate exposure by industry. 

Corporate exposure is also well diversified in terms of 

amounts of exposure. 

Distribution of Corporate Exposure According to the Amount 

of the Customer’s Exposure

The amount of exposure, € million  € billion %

0–1                                                                          1.2 13

1–10  1.5 17

10–50  2.1 24

50–100  2.4 27

100–  1.6 18

Total  8.6 100

Countr y Risk

The share of total exposure of foreign receivables was 12 per 

cent. Secondary country risk, excluding Finland, amounted to 

€2.6 billion at the end of the year; an increase of €0.6 billion 



OKO BANK    REPORT OF THE EXECUTIVE BOARD 200516

from the previous year. The majority of country risk consisted 

of deposits in foreign banks and investments in foreign notes 

and bonds. Viewed by region, the majority of country risk 

originated in the EU countries; countries outside the EU 

accounted for 21 per cent of the country risk.

During the year, the country risk increased in country 

risk categories 1, 2 and 3. The increase in category 3 was 

almost solely caused by Russia, which transferred from coun-

try risk category 4 to 3 as a result of the improvement of its 

credit rating. Of the countries in country risk category 2, the 

Cayman Islands had the biggest country risk, €71 million. 

Country risk in category 4 consisted of 11 countries. The 

greatest country risks in category 4 were associated with 

Turkey, Iran and Brazil.

Secondary Country Risk by Country Risk Group, € million

Country risk  Moody’s 31 Dec. 31 Dec. Change, 

group  2005 2004 € million

Group 1 Aaa 2 297 1 774 523

Group 2 Aa1 – A3  138 98 40

Group 3 Baa1 – Baa3 53 8 44

Group 4 Ba1 – B3 116 114 2

Group 5 Caa1 – C  5 5 0

Total  2 608 1 999 609

Past Due Payments and Non-Performing Loans

Past due payments increased by €3 million to €10 million 

and represented 0.1 per cent of the total loan and guarantee 

portfolio, the same propotion as a year earlier.  

Problem receivables, or non-performing and interest-

free receivables increased by €8 million to €21 million. In 

spite of the growth of problem receivables, their share of 

the loan and guarantee portfolio still remained low, or 0.3 

per cent (0.2 per cent the previous year).

Non-performing Receivables

€ million 31 Dec. 2005 31 Dec. 2004 Change

Non-performing and 

interest-free receivables 21 13 8

%, of loan and guarantee portfolio 0.3 0.2 0.1

Impairment losses 25 23 2

Impairment losses that reduce receivables amounted to 

€25million at the end of the year (€23). €3 million of the 

impairment losses related to different receivable groups. €16 

million (€12) of these involved non-performing receivables. 

A total of €9 million (€5) of new loan and guarantee 

losses and impairment losses were booked. The total amount 

of loan loss recoveries and adjustments of specific impair-

ment losses was €6 million (€3). The net impact of loan

and guarantee losses and impairment losses on earnings was 

€3 million (€1).

In 2005, the share of loan and guarantee losses and impair-

ment losses from the loan and guarantee portfolio was 0.04 

per cent (0.01).

Estimates of the Development of Credit Risk Position 

This year, the amount of loan losses and impairment losses 

is anticipated to remain minor in relation to the loan and 

guarantee portfolio, if no sudden changes take place in the 

operating environment or the financial situation of custom-

ers. This forecast is based on the small number of non-per-

forming receivables, and the moderate credit risk level in 

terms of total exposure. 

Market Risk Exposure

Market risks accounted for 8 per cent (6) of the risk-weighted 

items at the end of the year. The growth was attributable to 

the increase in the amount of receivable certificates. Market 

risks remained at a moderate level the whole year. 

Interest rate risk was kept moderate during 2005 both 

in trading and treasury. 98 per cent of the interest rate risk 

was in euro at the end of the year.

The market value of equity and venture capital funds was 

€80 million (84) at the end of the year, of which the equity 

portfolio formed €27 million, OMX shares €18 million and 

the venture capital funds with their investment commitments 

€35 million. The three proportionally largest industries in the 

equity portfolio were: basic industry 31 per cent, industrial 

products and services 13 per cent and community services 

12 per cent. 

Investments in venture capital funds totalled €18.7 mil-

lion (20.2), and binding unexecuted investment commit-

ments €16.1 million (15.8). 
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OKO Bank’s overnight currency exposure and the 

involved risks remained low throughout the year. At the turn 

of the year, net currency exposure amounted to €5.5 million. 

The currency trading focused mainly on intraday trading.

Market risks arising from the issuance of structured bonds 

were covered by derivative contracts corresponding to the 

earnings structure of the bonds. The volumes of option busi-

ness increased, particularly with regard to interest rate options, 

but open option positions were kept minor.

Market Risk Position

€ million  31 Dec. 2005  31 Dec. 2004

Interest rate risk *) 10.4  7.8

of which Treasury  10.7  9.7

Market value of the equity portfolio  26.6  32.6

OMX shares 18.5  15.1

Venture capital funds 34.8  36

Net currency exposure 5.5  3.6

*) The effect of a 1 percentage point change on the current values of cash 
flows (the aggregate absolute values of currencies)
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Overall currency risk exposure, including interest rate, 

currency and share risks, totalled € -0.7 million on average 

during 2005.

Derivatives

The derivatives have been specified according to their use in 

the attached information FAS 21 and IFRS 62 of the financial 

statement. 

The amount of interest rate swaps made with the inten-

tion of providing protection, and the amounts of interest rate 

and currency swaps reduced during 2005. The amounts of 

equity, commodity and credit derivatives used to hedge the 

additional earnings linked to structured bonds increased fol-

lowing the issue of new bonds.

In trading operations, the significant growth in the volume 

of interest rate swaps and interest options was attributable 

to increased customer demand. In addition, the use of inter-

est rate futures and forward exchanges increased. Trading in 

credit derivatives was low during 2005. 

The credit counter-values of derivative contracts 

increased from €234 million to €380 million. 

Credit Support Annex (CSA) agreements were signed 

with the most important counterparties in order to reduce 

the counterparty risk in OTC derivatives trading. The CSA 

agreement defines the contracting parties’ obligations to sup-

ply collateral for covering open position risk.

Funding Risk

The maturity distribution of the balance sheet items, based 

on the remaining exercise period, has been presented in the 

attached information FAS 35 and IFRS 51 of the financial 

statement. 

The increase in the balance sheet total of the Banking 

and Investment Services of €1.7 billion to €18.1 billion was 

mostly funded by debt securities. OKO Bank issued bonds to 

a total value of €2.6 billion in 2005, most of these with two- 

to three- year maturity. As a result of increased long-term 

funding, the share of debt securities increased from 37 per 

cent to 50 per cent of total funding.

A total of €300 million of subordinated loans were issued, 

of which €150 million of Tier 1 loans and €150 million of 

Tier 2 loans. 
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Structure of Funding, € million

  31 Dec. 2005 % 31 Dec. 2004 %

Liabilities to 

financial institutions  2 028 11 1 181 7

Liabilities to OP 

Bank Group 1 536 8 3 129 19

Financial liabilities 

held for trading 4 0 0 0

Derivatives 123 1 99 1

Liabilities to customers 2 066 11 4 072 25

 Deposits 497 3 2 409 15

 Other 1 569 9 1 663 10

Certificates of 9 121 50 6 103 37

 deposit,  4 708 26 2 838 17

 commercial papers 

 and ECPs 4 413 24 3 265 20

Liabilities, deferred expenses

and deferred taxes 750 4 666 4

Other liabilities 

Subordinated liabilities 755 4 462 3

Equity capital 1 750 10 777 5

Total 18 133  16 489 

       

The cash reserve deposit system of the OP Bank Group was 

abolished in November, thus the cash reserve deposits were 

repaid to the member cooperative banks. The member 

cooperative banks used the funds for premature repayment 

of financing credit drawn from OKO Bank. The debts to the 

member cooperative banks decreased from 19 per cent to 

8 per cent. The significance of public deposits in funding grew 

smaller as their share decreased from 15 per cent to 3 per 

cent due to the sale of Retail banking.

OKO Bank’s CD and Euro CP’s Issue Volume by Buyer Group

€ million                     31 Dec. 31 Dec. Change,   Change, %

  2005  2004 € million

CD’s and ECP’s issued 4 413 3 265 1 148 35

- to banks 2 443 1 884 559 30

- to corporates 1 357 1 239 118 10

- to other customers 613  142 471 332

The principal funding currency is euro. Long-term bonds 

have also been issued in USD and to a smaller extent in 

Japanese Yen and other currencies. The exchange rate risk 

of debts in currency has been protected with interest rate 

and exchange swaps.

Receivables in liquidity reserves amounted to €4,115 

million (3,363) at the end of the year, of which €1,400 million 

(959) was the guarantee for the liquidity credit from the 

Bank of Finland. 

Real Estate Risk

Capital invested in real estate holdings amounted to €48 

million (134) at the end of 2005, with properties in own use 

representing €4 million (45).  In addition, holdings in real 

estate investment companies totalled €20 million (24).  

The most significant real estates sold in 2005 were: Arka-

diankatu 23, Dagmarinkatu 14 and Lahden Trio. 

Net yield of the real estate investments was 6.6 per cent 

(6.1). In 2005, estimates for the current value of the real 

estates were acquired from an outside party, on the basis of 

which the aggregate amount represents the capital invested 

in the real estates. Real estate risks are expected to be 

low. 

Operative Risk

We focused on reducing the most significant risks, recog-

nised in connection with risk mappings, in operative expo-

sure control. 

The realisation of the risks is followed by compiling sta-

tistics on the damage caused by operative exposure. 

The impaired earnings of the operative risks amounted 

to €0.2 million (0.6).

 

RISK POSITION OF INSURANCE OPERATIONS

The following is an analysis of the risk position of insurance 

operations after the disposals related to the restructuring 

process.

Risk Carrying Capacity

The solvency capital of Non-life Insurance at the end of 2005 

totalled €836 million and the solvency ratio was 112 per 

cent. The Pohjola Board of Directors has set the credit rat-

ing class A as the target for Non-life Insurance. The insurance 

financial strength rating affirmed by Standard & Poor’s for 

Pohjola Non-Life is A+ (19 October 2005).

The risk carrying capacity describes the amount of sol-

vency capital which a company has in proportion to different 

profit and balance sheet items. Solvency capital proportioned 

to claims incurred and insurance premium revenue describes 

the company’s ability to cope with underwriting risks. Sol-

vency capital proportioned to insurance contract liabilities 

describes the company’s ability to cope with errors in the 

estimation of insurance contract liabilities. Correspondingly, 

solvency capital proportioned to the investment portfolio 

describes the company’s ability to cope with the risks related 

to investments.



OKO BANK    REPORT OF THE EXECUTIVE BOARD 2005 19

  2005 Risk carrying 2004 Risk carrying

  € million   capacity % € million  capacity %

Solvency capital 836 - 670 -

Claims incurred* 532 157 453 148

Insurance premium 

revenue* 744 112** 643 104**

Insurance contract 

liabilities* 1 811 46 1 734 39

Investment portfolio 2 515 33 2 346 29

    

* Net of reinsurers’ share (net business)  

** Solvency ratio  

Insurance Risk Position

The reinsurance of Non-life Insurance has been arranged on 

a centralised basis. Retention in risk-specific reinsurance is a 

maximum of €5 million and retention in catastrophe reinsur-

ance cover €7.5 million. 

The risk in property insurance can be described by esti-

mated maximum loss (EML) defined for each object of insur-

ance. The EML profile of an insurance portfolio indicates the 

amount of large risks which an insurance company has 

insured.

Premiums Written (Gross) by EML Class

Corporate Property Insurance 

€ million Under 5 5–20 20–50 50–100 100–300

2005 31 11 10 8 1

2004 29 7 11 10 2

In property and business interruption insurance, the insur-

ance premium volume has risen especially for the smallest 

risks to be reinsured.

The risk in liability insurance is described by the total sum 

insured (TSI).

Premiums Written (Gross) by TSI Class

Corporate Liability Insurance

€ million Under 2 2–4 4–10 10–30 30–90

2005 7 1 3 7 1

2004 9 1 4 2 1

Guarantee insurance comprises issue of contract guarantee, 

loan guarantee and statutory decennial (construction defects) 

insurance contracts. The liability amounts are as follows:

Liability Amounts in Guarantee and Decennial Insurance

€ million Gross Gross Net* Net*

  2005 2004 2005 2004

Contract guarantees 107 116 106 114

Loan guarantees 95 92 95 92

Other  12 9 10 8

Total 213 218 211 214

    

Decennial insurance 848 620 680 452

* For insurance company’s own account, net of reinsurers’ share and 

counter guarantee

Decennial insurance has been on the market only for six 

years and the liability period is ten years. Therefore, the 

amount of liability in decennial insurance has grown and will 

continue to grow because all policies issued so far are still in 

force.

A large part of insurance contract liabilities in Non-life 

Insurance consists of annuities. Estimated mortality has an 

impact on the insurance contract liabilities arising from annu-

ities. A decrease in mortality increases insurance contract 

liabilities. The table on the next page describes the effect of 

mortality on insurance contract liabilities and on the com-

bined ratio. 

Normal variation in business entails variations in the level of 

profits and solvency capital. 

The table on the next page describes the effect of different 

risk parameters on profit and solvency capital.

Major losses have a material impact on variations in 

profit. The number and amount of losses vary annually. The 

table below shows the number and claims expenditure of 

detected major losses (in excess of €2 million) by year of 

detection and the combined claims expenditure over a 

period of five years.

Major losses  
  2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2001–2005
  Number  Number Number Number Number €million
  of losses  of losses  of losses  of losses  of losses 

Losses of €2–5 million:      

Gross business 2 6 4 6 6 70 

Net business 2 3 4 2 6 55 

      

Losses exceeding €5 million:     

Gross business 2 1 0 0 1 51 

Net business  1 1 0 0 1 19 
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  Non-life Insurance 31 Dec. 2005 31 Dec. 2004   31 Dec. 2005 31 Dec. 2004

 Bonds and bond funds 1) 1 813 1 451 Interest rate 1 %-point 96 74

 Shares 2) 448 492 Market rate 10% 45 49

 Business premises 3) 43 45 Continuous income +1 %-point -4 -5

   requirement -1 %-point 5 6

    Effect on solvency
 Portfolio at fair values, € million Risk parameter Change capital, € million

1) Includes convertible bonds and derivatives
2) Includes absolute return funds and commodities investments
3) Premises leased to parties outside the group of companies

An outbreak of a pandemic would affect the financial posi-

tion of Non-life Insurance through claims incurred and 

investment income, as claims expenditure in health and travel 

insurance would increase. Death cases could decrease the 

insurance contract liabilities for annuities in statutory lines of 

insurance.

When assessing the financial consequences of a pan-

demic, the following assumptions have been made for the 

whole of Finland: 1,000,000 people would fall ill, 100,000 

people would need medical care and 10,000 people would 

die. Based on these assumptions, the claims expenditure at 

Pohjola is estimated to increase by €20 million. The impact 

of changes in share prices and interest rates on investments 

has been described in greater detail in the sensitivity tables 

for investments.

Investment Risk Position

The investment portfolio of Non-life Insurance (as per the 

allocation table) totalled €2 562 million at the end of 2005, 

compared to €2 382 million a year earlier. The investment 

portfolio includes both the insurance contract liabilities and 

the investments covering the solvency capital. The largest 

asset class in 2005 consisted of bonds, which accounted for 

70 per cent of the investment portfolio of Non-life Insurance. 

Compared to the previous year, the proportion of bonds 

increased by nearly 10 percentage points when money-mar-

ket instruments were allocated to bonds. The proportion of 

shares was reduced by around four percentage points to 16 

per cent.

Return on the investment portfolio was good. In 2005, 

share prices rose and long-term interest rates fell, as a result 

of which return on investments was 8.5 per cent, compared 

to 8.7 per cent in 2004. Return on investments exceeded 

the expected long-term return requirement by three per-

centage points.

In addition, Pohjola Group Plc has an investment port-

folio of €131 million not included in Non-life Insurance and 

consisting of €78 million in money-market instruments, €52 

million in shares and €1 million in properties.

The table below describes the sensitivity of investment risks 

and their effect on solvency capital.

    2005 2004
Total discounted insurance contract liabilities, € million    1 172  1 103 

Effect of increase in longevity by a year   

 On insurance contract liabilities   Increases by €27 million Increases by €25 million

 On combined ratio   Deteriorates by 3 %-points Deteriorates by4 %-points

Risk parameter Total in 2005 Change in risk Effect on profit / solvency Effect on
  €  million  parameter  capital, €  million  combined ratio

Insurance portfolio or premiums written  744  Increases by 1% + 7  Improves by 1 %-point

Claims incurred 532  Increases by 1% -5  Deteriorates by 1 %-point

Major loss  1 major loss -5  Deteriorates by 1 %-point

Staff expenses 95  Increases by 8% -8  Deteriorates by 1 %-point

Expenses by function* 202  Increases by 4% -8  Deteriorates by 1 %-point

* Expenses by function in Non-life Insurance excluding expenses for investment management and expenses for other services rendered



OKO BANK    REPORT OF THE EXECUTIVE BOARD 2005 21

Equity Risk and Alternative Investments 

The equity portfolio is well diversified. The largest single 

investments are investments of €12.3 million in Sanoma- 

WSOY and of €12.3 million in Rakentajain Konevuokraamo.

The proportion of commodities investments in the alter-

native investments portfolio was somewhat increased.

Credit Risk

The average credit rating of the fixed-income portfolio of 

Non-life Insurance in accordance with Standard & Poor’s was 

AA, which was almost the same as a year earlier. The credit 

risk of the bond portfolio in Non-life Insurance is fairly con-

servative. In order to obtain extra return, loans under invest-

ment level were increased by around €50 million in the 

portfolio, but they still account for a small  portion, less than 

4 per cent, in the fixed-income portfolio. The portion of 

non-rated investments in the fixed-income portfolio was 

around 10 per cent, most of them consisting of money-mar-

ket investments in domestic companies.

Credit rating distribution, 

€ million*   2005 2004

AAA   975 1 013

AA    349 252

A    296 198

BBB   158 120

High Yield   75 25

Not Rated   214 177

Total   2 069 1 785

* Includes money-market instruments and deposits, bonds and bond 

funds, and reinsurance contract assets.

Duration of Fixed-income Portfolio and 

Insurance Contract Liabilities

At the end of 2005, the duration of the fixed-income port-

folio in Non-life Insurance, i.e. the average duration of the 

cash flows from interest-bearing instruments, was 4.8 years. 

The fixed-income portfolio includes both bonds and money-

market investments. Duration lengthened in 2005 by around 

six months but was still shorter than the duration of insur-

ance contract liabilities. The current interest rate of the 

fixed-income portfolio at the turn of the year was 3.4 per 

cent.

Allocation of Investment Portfolio  
  Fair value 2005, € million* %  Fair value 2004, € million* % 

Total money market 213 8 284 12

 Money-market instruments and deposits ** 220 9 284 12

 Derivative instruments*** -7 0 - -

Bonds and bond funds in total 1 788 70 1 438 60

 Governments 1 224 48 1 112 47

 Investment Grade 476 19 299 13

 Emerging markets and High Yield 81 3 27 1

 Derivative instruments*** 7 0 - -

Shares in total 407 16 470 20

 Finland 112 4 177 7

 Developed markets 150 6 163 7

 Emerging markets 24 1 13 1

 Unlisted shares 26 1 30 1

 Private equity investments 95 4 87 4

Alternative investments in total 65 3 35 1

 Absolute return funds 22 1 20 1

 Commodities 18 1 3 0

 Convertible bonds 25 1 13 1

Properties 88 3 154 6

Total 2 562 100 2 382 100

*  Includes accrued interest income
**  Includes settlement receivables and liabilities and market value of derivatives €+11.5 million (€+5.5 million in 2004)
***  Effect of derivatives on allocation of asset classes (delta counter value)



OKO BANK    REPORT OF THE EXECUTIVE BOARD 200522

Fair value as per duration or repricing date, 

€ million   2005 2004

0-1 year   266 381

1-3 years   411 268

3-5 years   379 421

5-7 years   337 225

7-10 years   305 140

>10 years   292 281

Total   1 990 1 716

Duration   4.8 4.3

Effective interest rate, %   3.4 3.1

  

Of the insurance contract liabilities, €1 172 million has been 

discounted applying a discount rate of 3.3 per cent. The 

duration of the insurance contract liabilities is 11 years. The 

rest of the insurance contract liabilities (€639 million) are 

undiscounted and their duration is 1.7 years. In accordance 

with Finnish legislation, short-term insurance contract liabili-

ties (duration of less than 4 years) must not be discounted 

in separate financial statements.

Sensitivity of discounted insurance contract 

liabilities to changes in discount rate  2005 2004

Total discounted insurance contract 

liabilities € million    1 172   1 103

Decrease in discount rate by 

0.1 %-point   

 Increases insurance contract liabilities, € million  13  11 

   Deteriorates combined ratio   2 %-points 2 %-points

Currency Risk

The open currency position in Non-life Insurance was €54 

million or somewhat more than 2 per cent of the investment 

portfolio. The open currency risk was small compared to the 

solvency capital and the limit set by the authorities, which is 

20 per cent of the insurance contract liabilities, i.e. around 

€400 million. The largest open currency position was in US 

dollars.

Currency position, 

€ million   2005 2004

USD   39 12

SEK    10 -

JPY    7 2

GBP   6 17

Other*    -8 4

Total   54 35

*The group ‘Other’ includes €-10 million in EEK and LTL-denominated 
insurance contract liabilities covered in euros.

CHANGES IN GROUP STRUCTURE

In February, OKO Bank sold its holding in Automatia Pank-

kiautomaatit Oy. Toimiraha Oy was dissolved in June. 

Automatia Pankkiautomaatit and Toimiraha used to be asso-

ciated companies included in the consolidated financial state-

ments. OKO Bank owned one-third of both companies. The 

sale of Automatia shares had an effect of €0.3 million on 

consolidated earnings, while the dissolution of Toimiraha had 

no earnings effect. 

In June, OKO Bank sold the stock of the real estate 

companies Kiinteistö Oy Arkadiankatu 23 and Kiinteistö Oy 

Dagmarinkatu 14, which were previously included in the 

consolidated financial statements. Approximately €2.7 mil-

lion of capital gains were recognised in the Group on the 

sales of these shares. In September, OKO Bank sold its hold-

ing in the stock of Kiinteistö Oy Lahden Trio. The company 

used to be an associated company included in the consoli-

dated financial statements. Approximately €2.5 million of 

capital gains were recognised on the sales of its shares. 

In July, the name of the subsidiary OP-Sijoitus Oy, fully 

owned by OKO Bank, was changed to OKO Capital East Ltd. 

ZAO OKO Capital Vostok was established as its subsidiary. 

The domicile of the last-mentioned company is Moscow. The 

company offers services related to corporate arrangements 

and structured financing to Finnish companies in Russia. The 

OKO Capital East Subgroup has been consolidated with the 

OKO Bank Group since October.

In September, OKO Bank sold its 100 per cent holding 

in Okopankki Oyj to the OP Bank Group Central Coopera-

tive for €325 million as part of the financing for the Pohjola 

transaction. The transaction was confirmed on October 18, 

2005, when regulatory approvals were obtained for the Poh-

jola transaction. Okopankki was included in the consolidated 

financial statements until October 31, 2005. Capital gains of 

€153 million were recognised in the Group for the sale of 

Okopankki.

As a consequence of the sale of Okopankki shares, OKO 

Bank Group’s holding in OP-Kotipankki Oyj decreased to 

16.9 per cent of the shares and 8.9 per cent of the voting 

rights. This means that OP-Kotipankki is no longer an affiliate 

of OKO Bank and its share of profit will not be consolidated 

with the Group as of November 1, 2005. The consolidated 

share of profit of OP-Kotipankki in the OKO Bank Group 

was minor.

On October 18, 2005, Pohjola became a subsidiary of 

OKO Bank. On the balance sheet date, OKO Bank owned 

86.3 per cent of Pohjola’s shares and the book value of the 
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shares was about €1.8 billion. Pohjola’s earnings have been 

included in the consolidated income statement since the 

beginning of November. The consolidated earnings for the 

November–December period were €15 million.

In December, OKO Corporate Finance Ltd was estab-

lished as OKO Bank’s subsidiary, to which it is intended to 

transfer those of Opstock Ltd’s Corporate Finance opera-

tions in which it engages in Finland as part of the rearrange-

ment of OKO Bank Group’s Investment Banking opera-

tions.

Just before year-end, Pohjola sold its 100 per cent hold-

ing in Pohjola Fund Management Company Ltd to the OP 

Bank Group Central Cooperative for €73 million and Poh-

jolan Systeemipalvelu Oy for €13 million. These transactions 

did not have an effect on the financial performance of the 

OKO Bank Group. 

POST-FISCAL EVENTS

The redemption offer for Pohjola’s remaining shares and the 

use of the redemption right has been accounted for in the 

section “Acquisition of Pohjola’s shares” of this report.

According to what was announced in September, Pohjola 

sold Pohjola Life Insurance Company Ltd to the OP Bank 

Group Central Cooperative for €281 million on January 16, 

2006. This transaction did not have an effect on the financial 

performance of OKO Bank Group. On the same day, Pohjola 

sold Pohjola Asset Management Ltd to OKO Bank for €118.5 

million. The sale is part of the rearrangement of the invest-

ment service operations of the OKO Bank Group.

Pohjola’s Extraordinary General Meeting held on January 

19, 2006 approved the above-mentioned transactions. 

The asset management operations of Opstock Ltd will 

be transferred to Pohjola Asset Management Ltd by a busi-

ness operations transfer at the end of February, and the 

Corporate Finance operations to OKO Corporate Finance 

Ltd during the spring. Opstock Ltd, which only engages in 

securities brokerage after the business operations transfers, 

will be merged with its parent company, OKO Bank. The 

agreement on merger was signed on February 14, 2006. 

According to plan, the merger will enter into force at the 

end of September.

TRANSITION TO IFRS REPORTING 

OKO Bank Group made the transition from Finnish account-

ing standards (FAS) to the international IFRS standard on 

January 1, 2005. The date of transition to the IFRS standard 

was January 1, 2004, although standards IAS 39 (Financial 

Instruments: Recognition and Measurement) and IAS 32 

(Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation) were 

adopted only on January 1, 2005.

The transition to IFRS reporting changed the accounting 

principles and financial statements. The most significant 

effects of the transition to IFRS were associated with defined-

benefit pension plans (IAS 19, Employee Benefits); changes 

to the management of investment properties, which were 

due to the fair valuation of investments (IAS 40, Investment 

Properties); and changes to the method of combining mutual 

real estate companies (IAS 16, Property, Plant and Equip-

ment, and IAS 31, Interests in Joint Ventures). Other adjust-

ments had a negligible effect.

TRANSITION TO THE NEW CAPITAL 

ADEQUACY REGIME

In June 2004, the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision 

published the final version of the new recommendations on 

a framework for the calculation and supervision of the capi-

tal adequacy of credit institutions. The new capital adequacy 

directive based on the Basel recommendation was approved 

by the European Parliament and Council of Ministers in 

autumn 2005. The new Framework will come into force in 

the EU at the beginning of 2007.

The capital adequacy framework is based on the meth-

ods generally used in risk management and it consists of 

three pillars. Pillar I regulates the calculation of banks’ mini-

mum capital requirement and capital adequacy ratio. The 

provisions of Pillar II seek to ensure that the banks have suf-

ficient equity capital in relation to each bank’s risk profile and 

the level of its risk management systems and internal moni-

toring. Pillar III contains provisions on the publication of 

information concerning the banks’ risk and capital adequacy 

position. 

The aim of the reform is to increase the stability of the 

financial markets by ensuring better adequacy of the banks’ 

own funds. The objective is to encourage banks to develop 

their risk management systems and to promote the correct 

pricing of risks. One of the objectives of developing the new 

Framework has been that in spite of changing the principles 

of determining the minimum capital requirements, the aver-

age minimum capital requirement of the banking sector as a 

whole will not change. 

As a departure from the present rules, the capital ade-

quacy Framework that is under preparation will permit the 

calculation of minimum capital using several different meth-
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ods. In future the capital requirement for covering credit risk 

can be calculated according to the credit rating assigned by 

a bank or an external party. The new Framework further-

more sets a minimum capital requirement for operational 

risks.

OKO Bank Group’s Preparations for the Reform

The starting point for the OKO Bank Group’s development 

of risk management methods and systems is primarily the 

Group’s risk management needs and secondarily compliance 

with the requirements of the capital adequacy Framework. 

On this basis, OKO Bank Group’s Executive Board set out 

the objectives in calculating the minimum capital require-

ment. According to these policy lines, the minimum capital 

requirement for credit risks deriving from retail exposures is 

calculated using the internal ratings-based approach, the 

capital requirement for the credit risks of other exposures 

by means of the basic method for internal ratings and the 

capital requirement for operational risks by the standard 

method. The capital requirement for market risks will be 

calculated according to the standard method, as it is at 

present. 

In February 2005, OKO Bank’s Executive Board con-

firmed the previously formulated policy lines concerning the 

methods to be introduced and decided that the Bank would 

make use of the transitional provisions for the capital ade-

quacy reform. OKO Bank will go over stage by stage to the 

internal ratings-based approach in calculating the capital 

requirement for credit risks such that the capital requirement 

for the first portfolios will be calculated using the internal 

ratings-based approach as from the beginning of 2008. 

OKO Bank participates in the OP Bank Group’s capital 

adquacy project, which aims at ensuring that the Group and 

its member credit institutions fulfill the requirements of the 

new framework on given time. During 2005, preparations for 

the capital adequacy reform have continued. The main 

actions carried out during the year have been related to the 

information systems required by the reform, the develop-

ment of credit risk models as well as to the expansion of 

credit ratings. In addition, the capital management process 

and the assessment methods of operative risks have been 

developed. 

PROSPECTS OF THE GROUP

In 2006, the operating environment of Banking and Invest-

ment Services is estimated to remain as it was last year. The 

annual growth of the corporate credit market is estimated 

to continue at the same level. The interest rate level is 

expected to remain low, which will support the demand for 

loans. The financial situation of companies is expected to 

remain good. Competition will continue to be intense, but 

lending margins are no longer expected to decrease. How-

ever, competition may decrease the service fees. 

The development of the equity and fixed income mar-

kets will have a significant effect on the earnings of capital 

market operations and Treasury. The rise in share prices is 

estimated to slow down. Investing in mutual funds is expected 

to remain popular, which will increase the amount of assets 

under management. The growth of lending of the OP Bank 

Group retail banks is expected to exceed the growth of 

deposits, which will increase the banks’ funding need from 

OKO Bank.

OKO Bank’s corporate loan portfolio is expected to con-

tinue to grow faster than the market. The objective is also 

to increase commissions and fees significantly, both in cor-

porate banking and capital market operations and asset man-

agement, and deal with the control of growing of expenses. 

The risk situation will seemingly continue to be good, and 

the amount of loan losses is not expected to grow signifi-

cantly. In 2006, the asset management operations of Pohjola 

and OKO Bank will be integrated, which will reinforce OKO 

Bank’s position as an asset manager.

In 2006, the Retail Banking sold in the autumn of last year 

is no longer included in OKO Bank’s Banking and Investment 

Services. The earnings of the Banking and Investment Serv-

ices adjusted with the earnings of Retail Banking amounted 

to €137 million in 2005. The corresponding earnings before 

tax are expected to be at least at the same level in 2006 as 

in 2005.

Demand for Non-life Insurance cover is expected to 

increase by a growing number of storms and other natural 

catastrophes. Premiums written per capita from voluntary 

insurance policies in Finland and the Baltic States are still low 

compared with other neighbouring markets, which supports 

the growth in demand for protection and well-being services. 

Price competition is expected to remain unchanged. Devel-

opments in equity and bond markets will have a major impact 

on investment income in Non-life Insurance.

Cooperation with the other parts of the OP Bank Group 

will open up new opportunities for Pohjola especially to 

increase the number of household customers. Because of the 

changes in reserving bases last year and the rate decreases 

in statutory workers’ compensation insurance effective as of 

2006, the growth in insurance premium revenue is expected 

to remain at 2 to 4 per cent this year. Comparable growth 
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in insurance premium revenue is forecast to exceed the GDP 

in 2006, as in the previous year. Operating expenses will 

increase because of the implementation of new basic sys-

tems, when maintenance and application costs and depre-

ciation expenses increase before the retirement of old sys-

tems from production. The combined ratio is forecast at 90.0 

to 95.0 per cent before amortisation of intangible assets. The 

effect which the unwinding of discount of insurance contract 

liabilities will have on profits is estimated to be about the 

same as in 2005.    

The 2006 equity allocation target in Non-life Insurance 

is set at around 14 per cent. The overall return on the invest-

ment portfolio is expected to be less in 2006 than in 2005. 

The amount of realised gains and losses on disposals will 

have an impact on investment income in the income state-

ment. However, it has no effect on the amount of equity 

capital. In OKO Bank Group, the date of acquisition of the 

Pohjola investment portfolio was October 31, 2005, from 

which date Pohjola has been included in the consolidated 

accounts of the OKO Bank Group.

The financing costs for the acquisition of the Pohjola 

shares and amortisation of intangible assets will burden the 

OKO Bank Group’s profits for 2006 by around €50 million 

in total.

The management of the Group has no influence on the 

general operating environment of business. However, the 

management may influence the effects of interest rate 

changes and the equity market on investments and trading 

by investing assets securely and diversifying risks and by tak-

ing care of the professional skill of its personnel and effective 

risk management. In addition, the management may influence 

the appropriate pricing of customer-specific risk and due to 

it the financial performance of the Group.

All of the forecasts and estimates presented in this report 

are based on the current understanding of the financial 

development of the Group and its different operations; 

actual performance may vary significantly.

JOINT RESPONSIBILITY

OKO Bank is a subsidiary of the OP Bank Group Central 

Cooperative, which is based on the OP Bank Group’s co-

operation model. The Central Cooperative with its subsidiar-

ies and 238 member cooperative banks form the amalgama-

tion of the cooperative banks. Under the co-operation 

model, the resources of the OP Bank Group serve as a safety 

net for all the member banks because under the Cooperative 

Bank Act (Act on Cooperative Banks and Other Credit Insti-

tutions in the Form of a Cooperative), the Central Coop-

erative and its member credit institutions are jointly respon-

sible for one another’s liabilities and commitments which 

cannot be met from the funds of the Central Cooperative 

or one member credit institution. If a member credit institu-

tion’s own funds are depleted by losses such that its opera-

tions cannot be sustained, the Central Institution of the 

amalgamation, the OP Bank Group Central Cooperative, has 

the right to collect supplementary payments from the mem-

ber credit institutions in proportion to their most recently 

confirmed balance sheets.

The Central Cooperative has an obligation to issue the 

member credit institutions instructions on safeguarding their 

activities, liquidity, capital adequacy and risk management. 

Furthermore, the Central Cooperative issues instructions on 

accounting principles and oversees the banks’ operations. 

The monitoring task is supported by continuous inspections 

carried out by the Internal Audit.

DEPOSIT AND INVESTOR PROTECTION

According to the legislation concerning the Deposit Guar-

antee Fund the deposit banks must belong to the Deposit 

Guarantee Fund. In respect of deposit guarantee the deposit 

banks belonging to the OP Bank Group are considered as a 

single bank and depositors’ claims on the member banks of 

the OP Bank Group are compensated from the Deposit 

Guarantee Fund up to a maximum amount of €25,000. The 

deposit banks within the OP Bank Group are the member 

cooperative banks, OKO Bank, Okopankki Oyj and OP-Koti-

pankki Oyj.

OKO Bank and its subsidiary Opstock Ltd belong to the 

Investor Compensation Fund. The Compensation Fund safe-

guards the payment of investors’ uncontested and due 

receivables in the event that the investment service company 

or credit institution is not able, owing to a reason other than 

temporary insolvency, to pay the investors’ receivables within 

a certain period. An investor is paid 90 per cent of his receiv-

able, up to a maximum of €20,000. The Compensation Fund 

does not compensate losses due to a fall in share prices or 

incorrect investment decisions. The Compensation Fund only 

compensates the receivables of non-professional investors.
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Share Capital and Share Series

OKO Bank’s shares are divided into Series A and K. Series 

A shares are intended for the general public and are quoted 

on the Helsinki Stock Exchange, whereas the ownership of 

series K shares is restricted to companies and entities that 

are part of the OP Bank Group. The share series also differ 

in other respects: At shareholders’ meetings, Series A shares 

entitle their holders to one vote while Series K shares carry 

five votes each. Furthermore, Series A shares entitle their 

holders to an annual dividend that is at least one percentage 

point higher than the dividend paid on Series K shares. At 

the end of the year, there were a total of 201 million shares. 

The amount of Series A shares was 157 million shares, or 

78.1 per cent of all shares.

On October 14, 2005, the Extraordinary General Meet-

ing decided on increasing the share capital through a new 

share issue according to the Executive Board’s proposal, as 

part of the financing of the Pohjola transaction. The new 

shares were primarily offered for subscription by the com-

pany’s shareholders so that one Series A or K share entitled 

to subscription of one corresponding new share. The sub-

scription price was €7.20 per share. In the share issue all the 

shares offered, just over 100 million, were subscribed. The 

increase in the share capital of €211.5 million was registered 

with the Trade Register on November 23, 2005. In addition, 

€512.7 mill ion were recorded in the share premium 

account.

The Extraordinary General Meeting also decided to 

change the terms and conditions of OKO Bank’s option 

scheme of 1999 in order to ensure the equality of sharehold-

ers and owners of stock option rights so that one stock 

option right entitles to subscription of four Series A shares 

instead of the earlier two shares. The Executive Board 

decided that the subscription price of a share is €4.6525.

Slightly less than 2.6 million shares were registered of the 

Series A shares subscribed by stock option rights. The reg-

istrations raised OKO Bank’s share capital by €5.4 million. In 

addition, slightly over €0.5 million was recorded in the share 

premium fund. The 468,200 million shares subscribed in 

November and December were registered with the Trade 

Register on January 12, 2006. All the above-mentioned 

shares entitle to full dividend for 2005. The subscription 

price of a share was €2.485 until April 5, 2005 and after that 

€2.105 until the share issue.

In accordance with the conversion clause in OKO Bank’s 

Articles of Association, the member cooperative banks con-

verted 83,600 Series K shares into an equivalent number of 

Series A shares. The share conversion did not have an effect 

on the share capital, the amount of which increased by a 

total of €217 million to €423 million in the year under 

review.

At year-end, OKO bank had no own shares and the 

General Meeting has not given an authorisation to acquire 

own shares.

The share series, share capital and increases in share 

capital registered in 2005 are described under Note 37 to 

the financial statements. The terms and conditions of the 

option-based personnel incentive programme and other 

long-term incentive systems, as well as the authorisations 

given to the Executive Board are explained in Note 37.

Shareholders 

OKO had 29,713 registered shareholders at the end of the 

year. The number is some 3,800 higher than a year earlier. 

The majority of these or 28,100 were private individuals. The 

largest individual shareholder was OKO Bank’s parent cor-

poration, the OP Bank Group Central Cooperative, which 

held 30.2 per cent of all shares and 57 per cent of the votes. 

The share of nominee registered shares among Series A 

shares decreased by about two percentage points to 19.5 

per cent.

Information regarding the breakdown of shareholdings is 

presented in Note 38 to the financial statements. The five-

year time series for per-share key ratios are presented on 

page 30. In addition, the breakdown of share ownership as 

well as the share turnover and price trend of OKO Bank’s A 

share are discussed in the Annual Report



OKO BANK    REPORT OF THE EXECUTIVE BOARD 2005 27

THE PARENT BANK OKO BANK

Capital Adequacy

OKO Bank’s capital adequacy ratio was 18.8 per cent (12.0) 

at the end of the year. Tier I ratio was 16.0 per cent (8.0). 

Own funds increased by €1,055 million. The increase was 

mainly due to the funds of € 724.2 million raised by the share 

issue. In addition, three new capital loans were issued of an 

aggregate amount of €150 million. Risk-weighted items 

increased by €2.5 billion, or 30 per cent.

Branch Offices and Representative Offices Abroad

OKO Bank has representative offices in St. Petersburg, Rus-

sia and in Tallinn, Estonia. The Bank has no branch offices 

abroad. 

Administration

At the OKO Bank Annual General Meeting, held on March 

31, 2005, the shareholders approved the Financial State-

ments of the year 2004 and discharged the members and 

deputy members of the Supervisory Board and the Executive 

Board, as well as the President from liability. In accordance 

with the proposal of the Executive Board, the shareholders 

approved the payment of a dividend totalling €0.53 on each 

Series A share and €0.50 on each Series K share.

In accordance with the Articles of Association, the share-

holders elected new members to the Supervisory Board at 

the Annual General Meeting. At its meeting, held on the 

same day, the Supervisory Board re-elected Mr Seppo Pent-

tinen as its chairman and likewise re-elected Mr Paavo Haa-

pakoski as its vice-chairman. The members of the Supervisory 

Board are listed in the Annual Report. There is also a descrip-

tion of the Board’s main duties.

The regular auditors elected were the firm of chartered 

public accountants KPMG Oy Ab and Mr Raimo Saarikivi, 

Authorised Public Accountant.

On October 14, 2005, the Extraordinary General Meet-

ing decided to increase OKO Bank’s share capital by a new 

share issue and to change the terms and conditions of the 

option scheme of 1999 in the way described above in the 

section “Share Capital and Share Series”, in accordance with 

the proposal of the Executive Board. In addition, it decided 

on a change to OKO Bank’s Articles of Association so that 

that a new paragraph, according to which the company may 

own and control shares and holdings in financing and insur-

ance companies and other organisations, as well as engage 

in investment activities, be added to the “Line of Business” 

section.

Reform of Corporate Governance

OKO Bank’s Executive Board initiated a survey of reforming 

the Bank’s corporate governance in September 2004. The 

survey is based on the Corporate Governance recommenda-

tion for listed companies published in December 2003. The 

survey examined the possibility to abolish OKO Bank’s 

Supervisory Board and replace the internal Board of Direc-

tors (Executive Board) with an external Board of Directors.

On April 15, 2005, an amendment to the Act on Coop-

erative Banks and Other Cooperative Credit Institutions was 

ratified. As a result of this, the Supervisory Board is no longer 

a mandatory body within OKO Bank. The Supervisory Board 

of the OP Bank Group Central Cooperative, the main owner 

of OKO Bank, decided on September 12, 2005 that the 

Central Cooperative will support the change of the admin-

istrative structure at the OKO Bank General Meeting to be 

held in spring so that the company’s Supervisory Board be 

abolished and the internal Executive Board be replaced by 

an external Board of Directors. According to the plan, the 

new Board of Directors will be composed of ten members,

Executive Board

The tasks and composition of the Executive Board in accord-

ance with the Articles of Association are discussed in the 

Annual Report, which also discloses the OKO Bank Series A 

shareholdings of the members and deputy members of the 

Executive Board as well as their share options.

The Chairman of the Executive Board and the CEO of 

the OP Bank Group, Mr Antti Tanskanen, has announced 

that he will retire as of the beginning of 2007.
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Short-term and Long-term Incentives

OKO Bank Group applies short-term and long-term incen-

tive systems. 

Short-term incentives are based on the achievement of 

targets set for each year. The annual incentive systems are 

customised for each division. The total amounts of bonuses 

to be paid are based on the earnings of the divisions.

The long-term incentive system includes the stock option 

scheme that has been valid for five years and expires at the 

end of October 2006. A personnel fund has been established 

to replace the stock option scheme, and a new management 

incentive system with OKO Bank’s shares paid out as bonuses 

has been confirmed. The incentives in both systems are 

based on the Bank’s strategic targets. The incentive period 

in the personnel fund is 5 years and in the management 

system 3 years. Since the beginning of 2006 the management 

of Non-life Insurance operations has been associated with 

the management system. Strategic objectives of Non-life 

Insurance operations have been included in the meters of 

the system.

In the asset management company and OKO Corporate 

Finance Ltd the personnel has the possibility of becoming a 

shareholder in the company.
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The equity of the parent bank OKO Bank on December 31, 2005 was €1,464,367,622.78 of which the distributable equity 

was €357,371,345.42.

The consolidated distributable equity on December 31, 2005 was €378,711,727.20.

The consolidated distributable equity does not restrict the dividend payout. At disposal of the Annual General Meeting is 

 

 €

the profit for the financial year                   264 773 424.28

profit brought forward 54 817 454.31

and non-restricted reserves 37 780 466.83

or a total of 357 371 345.42

It is proposed that the distributable funds of the parent bank be distributed as follows:

€0.60 on 157,638,808 Series A shares, or 94 583 284.80   

€0.57 on 44,006,352 Series K shares, or 25 083 620.64 119 666 905.44

Leaving in the parent bank’s distributable equity capital 237 704 439.98

and in consolidated distributable equity capital 259 044 821.76    

Helsinki, February 17, 2006

Antti Tanskanen

 Reijo Karhinen Mikael Silvennoinen

  President

 Erkki Böös Timo Ritakallio

 Heikki Vitie Helena Walldén

EXECUTIVE BOARD’S PROPOSAL FOR 

THE DISPOSAL OF DISTRIBUTABLE FUNDS
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FINANCIAL INDICATORS AND PER-SHARE RATIOS   

     

Financial indicators for the OKO Bank Group         

  2001 2002 2003 2004 2004 2005

  FAS FAS FAS FAS IFRS IFRS

Return on equity, % 13.0 10.0 18.5 13.9 13.9 19.8

Return on assets, % 0.67 0.50 0.92 0.66 0.69 1.40

Capital adequacy, % 4.9 5.0 5.0 4.5 4.7 8.8

Average personnel 1 070 1 117 1 138 1 246 1 246 1 668

Cost/income ratio, % 51 56 45 56 51 58

         

Per-share ratios for the OKO Bank Group         

   2001 2002 2003 2004 2004 2005

   FAS FAS FAS FAS IFRS IFRS

Earnings per share € 0.65 0.52 1.03 0.81  

A-shares     0.86 1.96

K-shares     0.85 1.95

Earnings per share, diluted € 0.62 0.49 1.00 0.79  

A-shares     0.84 1.95

K-shares     0.83 1.93

Equity per share, € 5.15 5.27 5.93 5.84 6.15 8.76

Dividend per share, € 0.43 0.29 0.85 0.40 0.41 0.59*

Dividend payout ratio, % 64.6 55.2 82.4 50 47.5 30.3*

Effective dividend yield, % (OKO A) 7.8 5.2 12.2 5.1 5.1 5.1*

Price/earnings ratio 8.4 10.8 6.8 9.9 9.5 6.1

Share price development (OKO A)         

 Average, € 5.19 6.04 5.95 7.31 7.31 10.19

 Low, € 4.42 4.82 4.96 6.21 6.21 8.09

 High,€ 6.22 6.69 7.20 8.39 8.39 12.34

 Year-end, € 5.48 5.62 7.04 8.11 8.11 11.86

Market capitalisation (OKO A), 

€ million 495.7 514.6 670.7 791.4 791.4 1864.0

Trading volume (OKO A)

 in thousands  13 514.3 24 494.6 22 539.5 55 304.5 55 304.5 79 279.4

 as % of all shares 15.0 27.0 24.1 57.5 57.5 74.8

Total number of shares (all)         

 Average during the 

 fiscal period  120 065 384 120 065 384 122 020 971 124 552 885 124 552 885 136 048 529

     At the end of fiscal period 120 065 384 120 065 384 123 745 174 126 009 771 126 009 771 201 176 960

         

Due to OKO Bank’s share issue and the increase in share capital, entered in the Trade Register on November 23, 2005, 

the per-share key ratios have been adjusted retroactively by share issue ratio. In addition, the number of outstanding 

shares was doubled without changing the share capital pursuant to the decision made at Annual General Meeting of 

March 31, 2004. The amendment was entered to the Trade Register on April 30, 2004. The per-share key ratios have 

been adjusted retroactively. 

* Executive Board’s proposal:  0.60 for series A shares and 0.57 for series K shares.
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CALCULATION OF FINANCIAL RATIOS 
  

Return on equity, %    

    

 

FAS: Operating profit/loss - taxes  
x 100

 Equity capital + minority interests + voluntary provisions and the depreciation 

 difference - imputed taxes due (at the beginning and end of the period)

IFRS: Profit for the period                                                                                   
x 100

 Shareholders’ equity (average at the beginning and end of the period)   

Return on assets, %

FAS: Operating profit/loss - taxes  
x 100

 Average total assets (at the beginning and end of the period)   

    

  

IFRS: Profit for the period 
x 100

 Balance sheet total (average at the beginning and end of the period)   

    

Equity/total assets ratio, %    

    

FAS: Shareholders’ equity + minority interest + voluntary reserves and excess 

 depreciation less deferred taxes x100

 Balance sheet total

    

IFRS: Shareholders’ equity 
x 100

 Balance sheet total   

    

Cost income ratio, %    

    

FAS: Commission expenses + administrative expenses + depreciation + 

 other operating expenses  
x 100

 Net interest income + income from equity investments + commissions 

 and fees + net income from securities transactions and foreign exchange 

 dealing + other operating income

    

IFRS: Personnel costs + other administrative expenses + other operating expenses       
x 100

 Net interest income + net income from non-life insurance + net income from 

 life insurance + net commissions and fees + net trading income + net income 

 from investments + other operating inctome  

Earnings per share, €

  

FAS: Operating profit/loss -/+ the minority interest share of the profit for the 

 financial period - taxes 

 Share issue adjusted average number of shares during the financial period   
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IFRS: Profit adjusted by minority share of profit or loss 

 Adjusted number of shares on average during the report period   

    

Earnings per share,  

diluted, € The denominator is the average share-issue adjusted number of shares during the period  

 plus the number of shares which is obtained if all options are converted into shares.   

 Subtracted from the figure thus obtained is the number of shares that can be obtained  

 through the exercise of options multiplied by the share subscription price and divided by  

 the average price of the share during the report period.

Equity per share, €    

    

FAS: Equity capital and voluntary provisions and the depreciation difference 

 - imputed taxes due and minority interest at the end of the financial period 

 Share issue adjusted number of shares at the end of the financial period.   

    

IFRS: Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent at the end of the period

 Average number of shares on the balance sheet date, adjusted for share issues

    

    

Dividend per share Dividend distributed for the fiscal period

 Adjusted number of shares on closing day   

    

  

Dividend/earnings, % Dividend per share 
x 100

 Earnings per share   

    

Effective dividend yield, % Dividend/earnings 
x 100

 Share issue adjusted last share price of the fiscal period   

    

Price to earnings ratio (P/E) Share issue adjusted latest share price of the fiscal period

 Earnings per share   

   

Average price Total share turnover in euros

 Number of shares traded

    

    

Market capitalisation Number of shares x latest share price on closing day
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      2005   2004  
€ million   Note Continued    Discontinued   Continued    Discontinued 
     operations        operations Total operations       operations Total Change, %

Interest income 5 686 74 761 328 88 416 83

Interest expenses 5 600 18 618 248 21 269 

Net interest income  87 56 143 80 66 147 -3

Impairment losses on receivables   6 4 0 4 2 0 1 

Net interest income after impairment losses  83 56 139 79 66 145 -4

Net income from Non-life Insurance  7 69 0 69 - - - 

Net income from Life Insurance 8 0 -2 -2 - - - 

Net commissions and fees  9 71 25 96 63 23 85 13

Net trading income 10 16 0 16 2 0 2 

Net income from investments   11 18 0 19 31 1 31 -40

Other operating income 12 20 2 23 7 0 7 

Total income  278 82 360 181 90 271 33

Personnel costs 13 64 22 86 37 23 59 46

Other administrative expenses  14 54 18 72 32 17 49 46

Other operating expenses  15 41 11 52 21 9 31 70

Total expenses  159 52 211 90 49 139 51

Share of affiliate profits/losses  1 0 1 6 0 6 -79

Earnings before tax  120 30 150 98 40 138 9

Income tax  16 27 6 33 26 4 30 8

Capital gains from discontinued operations after tax 3 - 153 153 - - - 

Profit for the period  93 178 271 71 36 108 

        

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the parent  89 178 267 70 36 107 

Minority interest  4 - 4 1 - 1 

Total    93 178 271 71 36 108 

        

Basic earnings per share, € 

Series A  17 0.65 1.31 1.96 0.57 0.29 0.86

Series K  17 0.65 1.30 1.95 0.56 0.29 0.85

Diluted earnings per share, € 

Series A  17 0.65 1.30 1.95 0.55 0.29 0.84

Series K  17 0.64 1.29 1.93 0.55 0.28 0.83

The figures for discontinued operations have been presented as eliminated. 

OKO BANK GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, IFRS 

INCOME STATEMENT

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Income Statement
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     Dec. 31, Dec. 31, 
€ million   Note 2005  2004 Change, %

Liquid assets 18 479 297 61

 Receivables from financial institutions 19 4 617 3 548 30

Financial assets for trading  20 3 692 3 085 20

Derivative contracts 21 123 93 32

Receivables from customers 22 6 755 8 664 -22

Assets of Non-life Insurance 23 2 742 - 

Investment assets 24 326 339 -4

Investments in affiliates 25 7 25 -74

Intangible assets 26 942 10 

Tangible assets 27 89 64 40

Other assets 28 512 356 44

Tax receivables 29 33 7 

Assets of life insurance classified as held for sale 4 1 873 - 

Other assets classified held for sale 4 81 - 

Total assets  22 270 16 490 35

    

Liabilities to financial institutions 30 3563 4 310 -17

 Financial liabilities for trading 31 4 - 

Derivative contracts 32 123 99 25

Liabilities to customers 33 2 058 4 072 -49

Liabilities of Non-life Insurance 34 1 926 0 

Debt securities issued to the public 35 9 033 6 103 48

Provisions and other liabilities 36 827 578 43

Tax liabilities 37 371 88 

Subordinated liabilities 38 749 462 62

Liabilities of life insurance classified as held for sale 4 1 609 - 

Liabilities associated with assets classified as held for sale 4 48 - 

Total liabilities  20 310 15 713 29

Shareholders’ equity 39   

Share of parent company’s owners    

Share capital  423 206 

Share issue account  1 3 

Reserves   791 234 

Retained earnings  548 332 

Minority interest    199 2 

Total shareholders’ equity  1 961 777 

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity  22 270 16 490 35

Balance Sheet     

BALANCE SHEET
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Cash Flows from operating activities    

 Profit for the period  267 107

 Adjustments to reconcile profit for the period to cash used in operating activities  -62 31

Increase (+) or decrease (-) in operating assets  -2849 -2266

 Receivables from financial institutions  -1089 -843

 Financial assets for trading  -585 -440

 Receivables from customers  -1007 -1144

 Assets in Non-life Insurance  28 -

 Assets in Life Insurance  -100 -

 Investment assets  106 103

 Other assets  -202 58

Increase (+) or decrease (-) in operating liabilities  288 225

 Liabilities to financial institutions  167 -520

 Financial liabilities for trading  3 -

 Liabilities to customers  -167 765

 Liabilities to Non-life Insurance  -1 -

 Liabilities to Life Insurancet  17 -

 Provisions and other liabilities  269 -20

 Income taxes paid  -31 -18

A. Net Cash provided by (used in) operating activities  -2387 -1921

Cash Flows from investing activities    

 Acquisition of subsidiaries net of cash acquired  -1675 0

 Disposal of subsidiaries net of cash disposed of  402 4

 Acquisition of tangible and intangible assets  -20 -10

 Disposal of tangible and intangible assets  11 1

B. Net Cash provided by (used in) investing activities  -1282 -5

Cash Flow from financing activities    

 Increase in subordinated loans  323 154

 Decrease in subordinated loans  -6 -58

 Increase in debt securities issued to the public  3310 23425

 Decrease in debt securities issued to the public  -365 -22101

 Increase in share capital  214 5

 Decrease in share capital  - -

 Dividends paid  -52 -106

 Increase in other items of share capital in cash  509 1

C. Net Cash provided by (used in) financing activities  3933 1320

Net increase/decrease in cash and cash equivalents (A+B+C)  264 -606

      

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period  350 956

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period  614 350

      

 Interest recieved  697 353

 Interest paid  -560 -195

      

Cash Flow Statement

 € million    2005 2004

CASH FLOW STATEMENT
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Adjustments to profits for the period    

      

Items not associated with payment and other adjustments    

 Impairment losses on receivables  4 3

 Unrealised net earnings in Non-life Insurance  -55 -

 Unrealised net earnings in Life Insurance  147 -

 Change in fair value for trading  6 1

 Unrealised net gains on foreign exchange operations  -23 1

 Change in fair value of derivatives contracts  -5 -9

 Change in fair value of investment properties  -2 -

 Other impairment losses and their reversals  - -2

 Depreciations  21 10

 Defined benefit plans  -4 3

 Share in affiliate profits  -1 -6

 Dividend income from affiliates  3 1

 Income taxes  2 29

      

Items presented outside of cash flow from business    

 Capital gains, share of cash flow from investing activities  -155 -

Adjustments, total  -62 31

      

 € million    2005 2004

CASH FLOW STATEMENT
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€ million                  Attributable to equity holders of the parent
    Share     Translation Fair Other     Retained Total Minority Total
     capital     differencies value reserves earnigns  interest equity
          reserve     

Shareholders’ equity on January 1, 2004 202   234 331 768 2 770

Profit for period      107 107 1 108

Total income and expenses for the  period      107 107 1 108

Stock options exercised 4   3  7  7        

Dividends paid*      -106 -106 -1 -107

Shareholders’ equity on December 31, 2004  206   237 332 775 2 777       

        

Shareholders’ equity on January 1, 2005  206   237 332 775 2 777

Adoption of IAS 39/32 standards    13  2 14  14

Adjusted shareholders’ equity on January 1 206 206  13 237 334 790 2 791

Financial assets available for sale        

  Valuation gains and losses    54   54  54

 Share transferred to the income statement    -7   -7  -7

Translation differences from foreign units   -1    -1  -1

Deferred taxes    -12   -12  -12

Net income recognised under shareholders’ equity   -1 35   34  34

Profit for the period      267 267 4 271

Total income and expenses for the period   -1 35  267 301 4 305

Share issue   212   513  724  724

Share issue expenses     -6  -6  -6

Stock options exercised  5   0  6  6

Dividends paid*      -52 -52 -1 -53

Reserve transfers        

Share-based payment      0 0  0

Acquisitions of subsidiaries **       193 193

Shareholders’ equity on December 31, 2005  423 -1 48 744 549 1 762 199 1 961

* dividend per share
**See note 3 “Business Operations Acquired and Sold during the Fiscal Period”
       

Statement of Changes in Equity

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

SEGMENT  INFORMATION
The primary segment reporting is based on business segments according to which the internal reporting of the 

Group takes place. OKO Bank’s divisions in 2005 were Corporate Banking, Investment Banking, Retail Banking and 

Group Treasury. When OKO Bank acquired the majority of Pohjola Group plc’s shares, its business operations were 

expanded to Non-life Insurance operations.

In addition, the reporting for 2005 separately presents Pohjola’s asset management, which in 2006 will form a new 

division, Asset Management, together with Opstock Ltd’s asset management and Pohjola Life Insurance Ltd, which 

was sold to the OP Bank Group Central Cooperative on January 16, 2006, as a discontinued operation.

The income statement items were consolidated from the Pohjola Group for the November–December period 

according to OKO Bank’s holding.

Accounting Principles Applied to Segment Reporting
Segment reporting complies with the accounting principles for the consolidated financial statements. To the divisions 

are allocated those income, expenses, assets and liabilities which are considered to directly belong or which can be 

allocated to the division on a reasonable basis. The income, expenses, investments and capital that have not been 

allocated to the divisions and the consolidated eliminations between the divisions are presented in Group Adminis-

tration.The Group Administration’s earnings before taxes comprise capital gains and dividends from investments, 

Group Administration expenses and shares in affiliate profits or losses. Tax receivables and liabilities have been allo-

cated to the assets and liabilities of the Group Administration.

The transfer prices internal to the Group are based on market prices. The acquisition costs of intangible and tangi-

ble fixed assets are presented as investments. The investments are related to the development of IT systems and 

the renewal of retail banking offices and the improvement of the service level. The increases in intangible assets 

mainly arose from items allocated to intangible assets in connection with the corporate acquisition.

The Group does not have any geographical segments.

Corporate Banking
In 2005, Corporate Banking offered its corporate customers and institutions financing and cash management serv-

ices, as well as money market, debt capital market and foreign exchange services. It granted loans, guarantees and 

leasing and factoring, arranged financing from the debt capital market and engaged in venture capital investment 

operations. Its income was primarily generated from lending margins, customer trading in the money, foreign 

exchange and debt capital markets, and commissions and fees from financing and payment transfer services. The net 

interest income from the lending was not sensitive to interest rate fluctuations because the funding of the lending 

was market rate-driven.

The lending and deposit margins of companies belonging to the OP Bank Group that are included in net interest 

income are presented as a deduction from the income between the divisions. Companies within the OP Bank 

Group include member cooperative banks and the subsidiaries of the OP Bank Group Central Cooperative. Margin 

income is presented in Central Banking.

The division of tasks between the divisions was changed at the beginning of 2006. The most important change from 

the point of view of Corporate Banking was the transfer of money market, debt capital market and foreign exchange 

services to the new Capital Markets Division.

Investment Banking
In 2005, OKO Bank’s Investment Banking services were provided by Opstock Ltd, which offered private and institu-

tional investors individual asset management services and securities brokerage. In addition, Opstock carried out 

investment research, arranged equity financing and acted as an adviser in M&A transactions. In partnership with 

member cooperative banks and Okopankki, Opstock offered retail customers banking and asset management serv-

ices tailored to customers’ needs. Operating income was generated from portfolio management and mutual fund 

trading, Corporate Finance services and securities brokerage. OKO Capital East, a subsidiary of OKO Bank, and its 

subsidiary ZAO OKO Capital Vostok have been consolidated with Investment Banking since the beginning of 
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November. ZAO OKO Capital Vostok offers advisory services related to corporate arrangements and structured 

financing in Moscow.

In 2006, Opstock’s and Pohjola’s asset management operations will be combined into a separate business  division. 

Securities brokerage, investment research and Corporate Finance operations will be integrated with the Capital 

Markets Division.

Retail Banking
Retail Banking operations within OKO Bank were handled by Okopankki Oyj, which serves retail customers as well 

as small and medium-sized corporate customers in the Greater Helsinki area. Okopankki offers comprehensive 

financing, asset management and payment transfer services. The operating income is mainly generated from the 

interest rate difference between lending and deposits and commissions and fees from the arrangement of loans, 

payment transfer services, brokerage of investments and insurance products and housing brokerage operations. The 

amount of income is affected by the interest rate level, customer margins and the relationship between lending and 

deposit funding.

Okopankki Oyj’s financing margins that are included in net interest income are presented as a deduction from the 

income between the divisions. Margin income is presented in Treasury.

OKO Bank sold Okopankki Oyj to the OP Bank Group Central Cooperative. More detailed information on sold 

operations can be found in note 3. The earnings of Retail Banking classified as a discontinued operation are 

 presented for the January–October period 2005.

Group Treasury
OKO Bank’s central bank functions in the OP Bank Group and the bank’s own asset management have been 

 centralised in the Group Treasury Division.

As the central financial institution, OKO Bank is responsible for maintaining the liquidity of member cooperative 

banks and for accepting deposits. OKO Bank is also responsible for acquiring the collateral required by the payment 

transfer system and for providing the member cooperative banks with services associated with money,  currency and 

capital markets. Central banking income originates in operations associated with maintaining the liquidity and funding 

of the OP Bank Group.

Treasury engages in fixed income, equity and real estate investment activities. It is also responsible for the Group’s 

long-term funding and relationships with banks and debt capital investors. The objective of the investment activities 

is to generate long-term benefit from the appreciation of interest rates, exchange rates and stock prices, as well as 

from dividends and other income. The funds are invested securely, aiming at maximum return. The investment port-

folios are diversified as well as possible by instrument, country and sector. Derivative agreements are used to hedge 

against market risks.

In Treasury, the margin income from the subsidiaries’ financing is presented as income between the divisions. In 

Central Banking the margin income of companies included in the OP Bank Group is presented as income between 

the divisions.

Non-Life Insurance 
Non-life insurance operations are engaged in by three companies in Finland. Pohjola Non-Life Insurance Company is a 

general non-life insurance company, A-Vakuutus focuses on non-life insurance of professional traffic and Euroop -

palainen focuses on travel insurance. In the Baltic countries, non-life insurance operations are engaged in by the local 

Seesam insurance companies.

The products of non-life insurance operations include the non-life insurance policies sold to corporate and private 

customers. It also includes the terminated foreign insurance business (run off). The domestic service network also 

sells the products of Asset Management and Ilmarinen’s employment pension insurance policies and deals with the 

customer service of the Suomi Mutual Life Assurance Company and Ilmarinen. In addition, commissions and fees are 



OKO BANK GROUP    FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, IFRS 2005 40

SEGMENT INFORMATION

accumulated from dealing with certain statutory payments and risk management services.The asset and liability items 

of the run off business were classified as available for sale on December 22, 2005.

Pohjola Asset Management
Pohjola’s asset management and life insurance business operations offer investment services to private customers 

and institutional investors. Pohjola offers individual asset management services in the area of saving and investment, 

which consist of its own mutual fund and life insurance products and the supplementary investment services of its 

cooperation partners. OKO Bank sold Pohjola Fund Management Company, engaging in administration of mutual 

funds, on December 30, 2005. The life insurance operations classified as a discontinued operation were sold to the 

OP Bank Group Central Cooperative on January 16, 2006.

The products of asset management include equity, fixed income and combination funds, portfolio management serv-

ices and asset management. Its customers are Finnish and international institutions, private individuals and compa-

nies. Asset management sells its services to non-life insurance, life insurance and Suomi Mutual Life Assurance Com-

pany. The life insurance products include life insurance policies that can be linked to guaranteed interest or unit-

linked. The products also include some investment contracts related to administration of investments. Life insurance 

also deals with Suomi Mutual Life Assurance Company’s existing insurance portfolio.

Changes in the Group Divisions in 2006
On November 2, 2005, OKO Bank’s Executive Board decided on the reorganisation of the Group’s divisions. As of 

the beginning of 2006, segment reporting will present Non-Life Insurance and the following divisions of the Banking 

and Investment Services: Corporate Banking, Capital Markets, Group Treasury and Asset Management.

€ million 2005 2005 2005 2005 11–12/-05 11–12/-05 1–10/–05 11–12/-05 2005 2005 2005

Net interest income  85 0 20 8 0 0 40 -1 -10 1 143

Impairment losses on receivables  -5 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 -4

Net interest income after impairment 

losses  80 0 20 9 0 0 40 -1 -9 1 139

Net income from non-life insurance operations     68 0  0 0 0 69

Net income from life insurance operations      0 0  -2 0 0 -2

Net commission income and expenses  39 33 2 0 0 3 25 0 -1 -6 96

Net income from trading  11 0 2 3 0 1 0 0 0 0 16

Net income from investment operations  0 0 0 16 1 -1 0 0 2 0 19

Other operating income  7 1 3 2 15 4 0 3 1 -11 23

Total income  137 33 26 29 84 7 66 0 -7 -16 360

of which inter-segment income  -1  1 2 3 9 -2 0  -12 

Personnel costs  -24 -9 -3 -1 -21 -3 -20 -2 -4 0 -86

IT expenses  -8 -3 -3 -1 -2 -2 -8 0 -2 0 -29

Depreciation -7 -1 -1 0 -5 -2 -2 -2 0 0 -21

Other expenses  -17 -5 -3 -1 -29 -5 -17 -4 -10 16 -75

Total expenses  -56 -18 -9 -3 -58 -11 -46 -8 -17 16 -211

Share in affiliates’ profit or loss  0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1

Profit for the period before taxes  81 15 17 26 26 -4 20 -8 -23 0 150

Taxes            -33

Capital gains on discontinued operations after taxes       153    153

Profit for the period            271

         Unallo-
         cated  
        Pohjola income  
   Central Treasury   Retail life  and Elimi-  
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€ million 2005 2005 2005 2005 11-12/-05 11-12/-05 1-10/-05 11-12/-05 2005 2005 2005

Receivables from customers  6 672 0 69 16 0 0   0 -1 6 755

Receivables from financial institutions  649 20 4 413 5 17 12   0 -20 5 096

Assets of non-life insurance operations      2 756 0    -14 2 742

Assets of trading and investment 

property  1 031 1 1 974 868 163 32   30 -81 4 017

Investments in affiliates  0 0 0 0 9 -3   0 0 7

Other assets  437 15 71 71 920 142   49 -7 1 699

Non-life insurance assets classified as 

held for sale         1 894 3 -24 1 873

Other asset items held for sale      81      81

Total assets  8 789 36 6 527 960 3 946 184  1 894 82 -147 22 270

Liabilities to customers  1 836 0 206 24 1 28   0 -37 2 058

Liabilities to financial institutions  1 941 2 1 615 7 0 0   0 -2 3 563

Liabilities of non-life insurance operations      1 926 0     1 926

Debt securities issued to the public  0 0 0 9 070 0 0   0 -37 9 033

Subordinated liabilities  0 0 0 749 0 0     749

Other liabilities  628 9 62 118 81 9   438 -20 1 325

Liabilities of the life insurance  

operations classified as held for sale         1 635 21 -47 1 609

Liabilities associated with other assets  

classified as held for sale      48      48

Total liabilities  4 405 11 1 882 9 968 2 056 37  1 635 459 -143 20 310

Shareholders’ equity            1 961

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity            22 270

           

Investments 4 2 0 6 826 120 3 112 0  1 074

Depreciation -7 -1 -1 0 -5 -2 -2 -2 0  -21

Non-cash expenses other than 

depreciation  1 2 0 0 6 0 2 0 0  

         Unallo-
         cated  
        Pohjola income  Elimi- 
   Central Treasury   Retail life and     nations 
   Banking    banking insurance expenses  
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Segment Information 2004        

        
 Corporate Investment Group Treasury Retail              Group Administration OKO Bank 
 Banking Banking                 Banking           Income and                                                                       Group
   Central Treasury  expenses not  Eliminations
   Banking   allocated 
€ million 2004 2004 2004 2004 2004 2004 2004 2004

Net interest income 75 0 19 8 47 -4 1 147

Impairment losses on receivables -2 0 0 0 0 1  -1

Net interest income after impairment losses 73 0 19 8 47 -3 1 145

Net commissions and fees 36 23 1 0 25 0 0 85

Net trading income 4 0 2 -4 0 0 0 2

Net income from investments -1 0 0 31 1 2 -1 31

Other operating income 3 0 1 3 0 1 -2 7

Total income 115 24 24 38 74 0 -2 271

of which  inter-segment income -1  1 2 -2   

Personnel costs -21 -8 -4 -1 -22 -3  -59

IT expenses -7 -3 -3 -1 -9 -3 0 -25

Depreciation -5 -1 -1 0 -2 0  -10

Other expenses -14 -4 -2 -1 -20 -7 2 -46

Total expenses -47 -16 -9 -4 -52 -13 2 -139

Share of affiliate profits 0 0 0 0 0 6  6

Profit before tax 68 8 14 34 21 -8 0 138

Tax        -30

Profit for the period        108
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 Corporate Investment Group Treasury Retail              Group Administration OKO 
 Banking Banking  Banking Income and  Bank Group 
   Central Treasury  expenses not Eliminations
   Banking   allocated 
€ million 2004 2004 2004 2004 2004 2004 2004 2004

Receivables from customers 5 931 0 39 32 2 658 4 0 8 664

Receivables from financial institutions 394 12 3 435 812 92 0 -900 3 845

Trading and investment assets 651 4 1 970 636 200 -13 -24 3 425

Investments in affiliates 0 0 0 0 0 25  25

Other assets 324 29 62 33 67 21 -5 531

Total assets 7 299 45 5 506 1 514 3 017 37 -929 16 490

Liabilities to customers 1 917 0 296 0 1 862 0 -3 4 072

Liabilities to financial institutions 1 194 0 3 150 50 814 0 -898 4 310

Debt securities issued to the public  0  6 133  0 -30 6 103

Subordinated liabilities  0 0 0 462 23  -23 462

Other liabilities 432 29 59 117 39 89  765

Total liabilities 3 543 29 3 505 6 762 2 738 89 -954 15 713

Shareholders’ equity           777

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity        16 490

Investments 3 1 0 1 5        11

Depreciation -5 -1 -1 0 -2 0  -10

Non-cash expenses other than depreciation 1 1 0 1 1 0  
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NOTE 1. Accounting Policies

GENERAL

OKO Osuuspankkien Keskuspankki Oyj (hereinafter OKO 

Bank) is a Finnish credit institution whose divisions in 2005 

were Corporate Banking, Investment Banking, Group Treas-

ury and Non-Life Insurance. OKO focuses on Finnish cus-

tomers, but provides banking services to foreign customers 

to the extent required by their business related to Finland. 

OKO Bank engages in non-life insurance in Finland and the 

Baltic countries. 

During the fiscal period, Retail Banking was sold to the 

OP Bank Group Central Cooperative (hereinafter OPK).

This has been treated as discontinued operations in the 

financial statements. In addition, Pohjola Life Insurance Com-

pany Ltd, which was sold to OPK in January 2006, has been 

repor ted as discontinued operations.

OKO Bank is domiciled in Helsinki and its registered 

address is Teollisuuskatu 1b,  P.O. Box 308, 00101 Helsinki.

OKO Bank’s Executive Board approved the financial 

statements for publication on 17 February 2006. 

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These are OKO Bank Group’s first financial statements that 

are prepared in accordance with the IFRS. The preparation 

of financial statements is subject to the IAS and IFRS stand-

ards and SIC and IFRIC interpretations effective at the end 

of the financial period. International Financial Reporting 

Standards refer to the standards and their interpretations 

adopted in accordance with the procedure laid down in the 

IAS Regulation (EC) No 1606/2002. In addition to the IFRS, 

the preparation of OKO Bank Group’s financial statements 

is subject to the Section 30(6) of the Finnish Credit Institu-

tions Act. 

OKO Bank Group adopted the IFRS as of the beginning 

of 2005. The IFRS 1 standard First-time Adoption of Inter-

national Financial Repor ting Standards was applied in con-

nection with the adoption. The comparative information for 

2004 was adjusted to comply with IFRS, with the exception 

of the treatment of financial instruments in accordance with 

IAS 32 and IAS 39, which is not required by the exemption 

provided in IFRS 1. Finnish GAAP has been applied to the 

recognition and measurement of financial instruments in the 

comparison year 2004, but the classification has been 

changed to comply with IFRS. 

The consolidated financial statements have been pre-

sented in € million, and they have been prepared on the 

basis of original acquisition costs, with the exception of 

financial assets and liabilities held for trading, financial assets 

available for sale, derivative contracts, hedged items in fair 

value hedging and investment proper ties, which have been 

recognised at fair value.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with 

IFRS requires management to make estimates and exercise 

discretion in the application of accounting policies. Account-

ing policies requiring management to make estimates and 

exercise discretion are addressed in more detail in the sec-

tion “Accounting policies requiring discretion by manage-

ment and crucial factors of uncertainty associated with esti-

mates”. 

CONSOLIDATION PRINCIPLES

The consolidated financial statements include the parent 

company OKO Bank and its subsidiaries where over 50 per 

cent of the subsidiary’s voting rights are controlled directly 

or indirectly by the parent company, or the parent company 

otherwise controls the company. 

Associated companies, where OKO Bank holds voting 

rights of between 20 per cent and 50 per cent and in which 

OKO Bank has significant influence, but not control, are 

accounted for using the equity method.

Mutual real estate companies are consolidated like assets 

under joint control according to the IAS 31 standard. 

Intragroup balances and any unrealised gains and losses 

or income and expenses arising from intragroup transac-

tions are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial 

statements. Unrealised gains arising from transactions with 

associates and jointly controlled entities are eliminated to 

the extent of the group’s interest in the entity. Unrealised 

losses are not eliminated if losses arise from impairment.

Acquired companies are accounted for under the pur-

chase method and consolidated from their acquisition date 

and divested companies are included into the group financial 

statements to the date of disposal.

From the IFRS transition date goodwill represents the 

difference between the cost of the acquisition and the fair 
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value of net identifiable assets acquired. If the cost of acquisi-

tion is less than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the 

difference is recognised directly in the income statement.

In accordance with the exemption included in the IFRS 

1, the acquisitions prior to the IFRS transition date 1 January 

2004 have not been restated to comply with IFRS, but they 

correspond to Finnish GAAP. The companies that are 

acquired prior to the IFRS transition date but only consoli-

dated after the transition have been accounted for as of the 

IFRS transition date. 

Profit for the period and equity are allocated between 

the equity holders of the parent and the minority interest. 

The minority interest is presented as a separate item within 

equity. The minority interest in the companies acquired since 

the IFRS transition date is calculated using the fair values of 

the assets and liabilities of the consolidated company.

FOREIGN CURRENCY ITEMS

Assets, liabilities and other commitments denominated in a 

foreign currency are translated into euros at the exchange 

rate quoted by the European Central Bank on the balance 

sheet date. The exchange rate differences arising from the 

translation are recognised under “Net trading income” in 

the income statement. 

The income statements of foreign subsidiaries are trans-

lated into euros using the average exchange rates for the 

financial period, while balance sheets are translated using 

the exchange rates ruling on the balance sheet date. The 

conversion of net profit or loss at different exchange rates 

on the income statement and balance sheet causes a trans-

lation difference that is recognised in equity. The translation 

differences arising from the use of the purchase method and 

from equity items accumulated after acquisition are recog-

nised in equity. If a subsidiary is disposed of, related cumula-

tive translation differences deferred in equity are recognised 

in the income statement as par t of the gain or loss on 

sale.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Determination of Fair Value

The fair value of a financial instrument is determined using 

either price quotations from an active market or own valu-

ation technique where no active market exists. The valua-

tion techniques include the discounted cash flow method, 

net present value techniques and comparison to similar 

instruments for which quotations in active market exists. 

The valuation techniques incorporate estimated credit risk, 

the applicable discount rates, the possibility of premature 

repayment and other such factors that affect the reliable 

determination of the fair value of a financial instrument.

Offsetting Financial Assets and Liabilities

Financial assets and liabilities are not offset unless a statutory 

right of offset exists and the intention is to exercise such a 

right. Offset was not applied in OKO Bank during the fiscal 

period.

Contracts on the Purchase and Resale 

of Securities

The purchase price of securities purchased under resale 

conditions binding on both parties is recognised on the bal-

ance sheet as a receivable under the balance sheet item 

determined by the counterparty. The difference between 

the purchase price and resale price is allocated as interest 

income over the term of the contract.

The sales price of securities sold under resale conditions 

binding on both par ties is recognised on the balance sheet 

as a financial liability under the balance sheet item deter-

mined by the counterpar ty. The difference between the sales 

price and the resale price is allocated as interest expenses 

over the term of the contract. Securities sold with a resale 

obligation and the corresponding securities provided as 

margin collateral are included in the original balance sheet 

item despite the contract.

Classification and Recognition

Financial Assets and Liabilities Held for Trading

All financial assets and liabilities which are managed with the 

objective of short-term profit-taking from fluctuations in 

interest rates, prices and quotations or in which an embed-

ded derivative contract cannot be separated from the host 

contract, are classified as held for trading. Financial assets 

and liabilities held for trading also include all derivative instru-

ments, which are not used for hedging purposes. 

Financial assets and liabilities classified as held for trading 

are recognised in the balance sheet at fair value, and subse-

quent changes in the fair value are immediately recognised 

in the income statement.

There are currently no other financial assets or liabilities 

classified as Fair Value through profit and loss.
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Loans and Receivables

Financial assets classified as loans and receivables are non-

derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable cash 

flows that have been created by handing over funds or serv-

ices. Loans and receivables are not quoted in an active mar-

ket, and they are measured in accounting at acquisition cost. 

The financial assets classified in this category are recognised 

in the balance sheet under “Receivables from customers”.

Impairment losses on loans and receivables are recog-

nised either by item-by-item or portfolio basis. Impairment 

losses are assessed and recognised by item-by-item basis if 

the customer’s total exposure is significant. In case of minor 

customer exposure, impairment losses are assessed and rec-

ognised by portfolio basis. Impairment losses are allocated to 

reduce the carrying amount of loans. Recognition of interest 

on the reduced amount continues after impairment. 

Impairment losses will only be recognised when there is 

objective evidence of the deterioration of a customer’s sol-

vency occurred after the initial recognition. A receivable is 

impaired if the present value of estimated future cash flows, 

including the fair value of the collateral, is less than the 

aggregate carrying amount of the loan and the unpaid inter-

est. Future estimated cash flows are discounted at the loan’s 

original interest rate. In case of a variable interest rate loan, 

the discount rate is the rate in the agreement at the time of 

assessment. The difference between the carrying amount of 

the loan and a lower recoverable amount is recognised as 

an impairment loss in the income statement. 

A por tfolio-specific impairment loss is recognised for a 

por tfolio if there is objective evidence that uncer tainty is 

associated with the repayment of receivables included in the 

por tfolio. The amount recognised as an impairment loss is 

based on experience of the extent to which delayed pay-

ments lead to credit losses and of the amount to which 

realisation of collateral will cover the incurred loss. 

If there is subsequent objective evidence that the credit 

quality of a previously impaired loan has improved, the 

amount of impairment loss is reassessed and any change in 

the recoverable amount is recorded in the income state-

ment. 

Investments Held to Maturity

Investments held to maturity are non-derivative financial 

assets with fixed or determinable cash flows, which have 

been acquired with the intention of holding them until matu-

rity. Investments held to maturity are recorded in account-

ing at amortised cost. The difference between the nominal 

value and the acquisition value of bonds is allocated over 

the remaining term to maturity.

If the value of a receivable item held to maturity is found 

to be impaired, it is transferred to financial assets available 

for sale and included in fair valuation. The change in value is 

recognised under “Net investment income” in the income 

statement. 

The financial assets classified in this category are recog-

nised on the balance sheet under “Investment assets”. At the 

moment there are no “investments held to maturity” in the 

balance sheet.

Financial Assets Available for Sale

Financial assets available for sale are non-derivative financial 

assets that have been classified directly as available for sale 

or which have not been included in the categories of finan-

cial assets mentioned above. Financial assets available for 

sale are recognised in the balance sheet at acquisition cost 

at the time of acquisition and valued at fair value. 

Changes in value are recognised in the fair value reserve 

in shareholders’ equity and transferred to the income state-

ment when the asset is derecognised from the balance sheet 

or its value is found to be impaired. The financial assets 

categorised in this item are recognised on the balance sheet 

under “Investment assets”.

Liquid Assets

Liquid assets comprise funds in cash and receivables from 

credit institutions repayable on demand. 

Other Financial Liabilities

The category Other financial liabilities includes financial 

liabilities other than those held for trading. Other financial 

liabilities are initially recognised at the consideration 

received. Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost. 

Derivative Contracts

A derivative is a financial instrument or other contract 

whose value changes in response to the change of a speci-

fied interest rate, financial instrument price, commodity 

price, foreign exchange rate, index of prices or rates, credit 

rating or credit index or other underlying instrument. A 

derivative requires only minor initial net investment at the 

time of entering into the contract, and it will be settled on 

a specific date in the future.

Derivatives are always measured at their fair value in the 

balance sheet. The accrued interest on non-hedging interest 

rate swaps is recognised in interest income, and the cor-
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responding amount is recognised in other assets and other 

liabilities. Changes in the fair value of non-hedging interest 

rate, currency and equity derivatives are recognised under 

“Net trading income” in the income statement. Positive 

changes in the value of derivative contracts are recognised 

in the balance sheet under “Derivative contracts, assets”, 

while negative changes are recognised under “Derivative 

contracts, liabilities”.

Embedded derivatives associated with structured bond 

issues and housing loans with an interest rate cap are sepa-

rated from the host contract and valued at fair value on the 

balance sheet. Changes in the fair value of these embedded 

derivatives and derivatives designated as hedging instru-

ments are recognised in interest income. 

Hedge Accounting

OKO Bank Group enters into derivative transactions which 

in fact provide economic hedges for risk exposures but do 

not meet the current accounting requirements for hedge 

accounting. The Bank’s risk management sets the method 

and internal rules for a financial instrument to be designated 

as a hedge in hedge accounting. Hedging is applied to 

reverse, fully or partially, any changes in the fair value of the 

hedged item. 

Currently hedge accounting is applied for hedging inter-

est rate risk and is designated as fair value hedges. Hedging 

of fair value is associated with long-term fixed-rate liabilities 

(own issues), individual bond and loan por tfolios, as well as 

individual loans. 

At the time a financial instrument is designated as a 

hedge, the relationship between the hedging instrument(s) 

and hedged item(s) is formally documented. Documentation 

includes its risk management objectives and its strategy in 

under taking the hedge transaction, together with the meth-

ods that will be used to assess the effectiveness of the 

hedging relationship. Effectiveness is formally assesses, both 

at the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, 

whether the hedging derivatives have been “highly effective” 

in offsetting changes in the fair value of the hedged items. A 

hedge is normally regarded as highly effective if, at inception 

and throughout its life, the changes in the fair value of the 

hedged item are effectively offset by the changes in the fair 

value of the hedging instrument, and actual results are within 

a range of 80 per cent to 125 per cent.

Contracts cannot be treated according to the rules of 

hedge accounting in accounting if the hedging relationship 

between the hedging instrument and the related hedged 

item required by IAS 39 no longer meets the criteria of the 

standard.

In fair value hedge accounting, changes in the fair value 

of the hedging and hedged instrument are recognised in the 

interest income (loans, own issues) and net income of 

investments (bond investments). 

Derivative instruments entered into as economic hedges 

but not qualified for hedge accounting are treated in the 

same way as derivative instruments used for trading pur-

poses. 

INVESTMENT PROPERTY

Investment property is land area and/or building or part of 

building held in order to earn rental income or for capital 

appreciation or both. Investment property also includes 

owner-occupied properties of which a minor part is used 

by the owner company or its personnel. 

Investment proper ties are initially recognised in the bal-

ance sheet at cost and subsequent to initial recognition they 

are carried at fair value. The changes in fair value are recog-

nised presented under “Net income from investment prop-

er ties” in the income statement.

The fair value of investment proper ty is based on its 

market value. The basis for the fair value of significant items 

is a valuation made by independent external appraiser. The 

values of other items are based either on a valuation made 

by an independent exper t, yield estimates based on market 

data or the management’s own estimates of the market 

value of the item. The fair value of commercial, office and 

industrial premises is primarily determined using the income 

capitalisation approach. The fair value of residential buildings 

and land areas is primarily determined by the sales com-

parison approach.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill

Goodwill equals the part of acquisition cost exceeding the 

Group’s share of the fair value of identifiable assets, liabilities 

and contingent liabilities of an entity acquired after 1 January 

2004, at the time of acquisition. The goodwill of business 

combinations prior to this represents the amounts recorded 

(under previous GAAP) in accordance with previous 

accounting standards, as the treatment of these acquisitions 

has not been adjusted during the preparation of the Group’s 

opening IFRS balance sheet. The goodwill relating to sub-

sidiaries is presented in intangible assets, and the goodwill 

relating to associates is presented in investments in associ-

ates.



49OKO BANK GROUP    FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, IFRS 2005 

NOTES

Goodwill is annually tested for impairment and meas-

ured at original acquisition cost deducted by accumulated 

impairment losses. For the purpose of impairment testing, 

goodwill is allocated to cash generating units, which are 

either business segments or entities belonging to them. 

Value of Acquired Insurance Portfolio

An intangible asset item corresponding to the value of an 

acquired insurance portfolio is recognised if the insurance 

portfolio is acquired directly from another insurance com-

pany or through the acquisition of a subsidiary. The fair value 

of acquired insurance policies is determined by estimating 

the present value of future cash flows in accordance with 

the insurance portfolio at the time of acquisition. Upon 

initial recognition, the fair value of acquired insurance poli-

cies is divided into two parts; a liability associated with insur-

ance policies measured in accordance with the applicable 

principles, and an intangible asset item. After acquisition, the 

intangible asset item is recognised as an expense by straight-

line amortisation over the estimated useful life of the 

acquired policies. The effective period is reviewed annually, 

and the value is amortised over 1 to 4 years for non-life 

insurance and 10 years for life insurance. The intangible asset 

item is tested annually in connection with testing the ade-

quacy of the liability associated with the insurance policies. 

Capitalised Acquisition Cost of Insurance Policies

Some subsidiaries of the OKO Bank Group continue to 

partially apply the previous accounting standards, capitalising 

a part of commission costs and other costs associated with 

the acquisition of new insurance policies or the renewal of 

existing policies. The intangible asset item arising from this 

is amortised using the straight-line method over the useful 

lives of the policies. The amortisation period is the insurance 

period for non-life insurance and five years for life insurance. 

The intangible asset item is tested annually in connection 

with testing the adequacy of the liability associated with the 

insurance policies. 

Customer Relationships

Specifiable customer relationships acquired through busi-

ness combinations are measured at fair value upon acquisi-

tion. The intangible asset item consisting of customer rela-

tionships is recognised as an expense by straight-line amor-

tisation over the estimated useful life. The estimated useful 

life of acquired customer relationships in OKO Bank Group 

is 5 to 12 years. The value of customer relationships is 

tested for impairment. 

Brands

The useful livesfe of brands acquired through business com-

binations are assessed to be indefinite as they affect the 

accrual of cash flows for an undetermined period. The value 

of brands is annually tested for impairment. 

Other Intangible Assets

Other intangible assets are measured at cost less accumu-

lated amortisation and impairment losses. Amortisation is 

recognised as expenses over the estimated useful life, which 

is 2 to 5 years for computer software and licences, and 

generally 5 to 10 years for other intangible assets. The use-

ful life of assets is reviewed upon each balance sheet date, 

and their value is tested for impairment as necessary.

Expenditure arising from the development of internally 

generated intangible assets (products or services) are capi-

talised star ting from the time when it was determined that 

the product or service will generate future economic ben-

efits. The asset item will be amortised star ting from the time 

it is ready for use. The amortisation period is mostly 3 to 5 

years. Any asset items not yet ready for use are tested for 

impairment annually.

TANGIBLE ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment items are measured at cost 

less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 

Straight-line depreciation is applicable to assets over the 

estimated useful life. Land areas are not depreciated. 

Expenses arising from an asset item after the original acqui-

sition are onlyrecognised in the carrying amount of an item 

of property, plant and equipment if it is probable that it will 

produce greater economic benefit than originally esti-

mated. 

According to the exemption allowed by the IFRS 1 tran-

sition standard, revaluations of land areas and proper ties in 

own use in accordance with Finnish Accounting Standards 

have not been cancelled in the IFRS transition on 1 January 

2004 but have been included in the deemed cost of the 

assets. 

The estimated useful lives are mostly the following:

Buildings  30 to 50 years

Machinery and equipment  4 to 10 years

IT equipment  3 to 5 years

Automobiles 6 years

Other tangible assets    5 to 10 years
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The residual value and useful life of assets are reviewed at 

each balance sheet date and adjusted if necessary to reflect 

any changes in the expected economic benefit.

Impairment of Tangible and Intangible Assets

At each balance sheet date, it shall be assessed whether 

there are any indications of impairment of asset values. If 

such indications exist, the amount recoverable from the 

asset is estimated. Regardless of the existence of such indi-

cations, the recoverable amount is estimated annually for 

intangible assets not yet available for use, goodwill and any 

intangible assets with an indefinite economic life (brands). 

If the carrying amount of an asset exceeds the estimated 

amount recoverable in the future, the excess is recognised 

as an expense.

The recoverable amount refers to the fair value less 

costs to sell of an asset or its value in use if this is higher. 

The star ting point is to determine the recoverable amount 

through the fair value less costs to sell of the asset. If the 

fair value less costs to sell cannot be determined, the value 

of the asset in use is determined. The value in use refers to 

the present value of the future cash flows expected to be 

recoverable from the asset. The need for impairment of the 

annually tested assets specified above is always determined 

through the calculation of value in use. 

If no fair value less costs to sell can be determined for 

an asset and it does not accumulate any cash flow independ-

ent of other items, the need for impairment is determined 

through the cash-generating unit. In this case, the carrying 

amounts of the assets included in the unit are compared to 

the amount recoverable from the entire cash generating 

unit. 

An impairment loss is reversed if there is a change in 

the circumstances and the amount recoverable from the 

asset item has changed since the time the impairment loss 

was recognised. The reversal of impairment loss shall not 

exceed the amount that would be the carrying amount of 

the asset if the impairment loss was not recognised. Impair-

ment loss recognised on goodwill will not be reversed under 

any circumstances. 

LEASES

Leases are classified either as finance leases or operating 

leases in accordance with the substance of the transaction. 

A lease is a finance lease if substantially all risks and rewards 

characteristic of ownership are transferred to the lessee. 

Otherwise, the lease is classified as an operating lease. 

Leases are classified when they are signed, i.e. at their incep-

tion.

Assets leased out under finance lease are presented as 

receivables on the balance sheet. The amount recognised as 

a receivable equals the net investment in the lease. The 

finance income from the lease is recognised in interest 

income so that it provides a constant return on capital on 

the lessor’s remaining net investment in each financial 

period. 

Assets leased under a finance lease are recognised as 

tangible assets, and the corresponding finance lease liability 

is included in other liabilities. At the commencement of the 

lease term, finance leases are recognised in the balance 

sheet as assets and liabilities at amounts equal to the fair 

value of the leased asset or the lower present value of 

minimum lease payments. Assets recorded in tangible assets 

are depreciated over the economic life or a shor ter lease 

period. Lease payments are appor tioned between the 

finance charge and the reduction of the lease liability. Finance 

costs are recognised in interest expenses so that the inter-

est rate on the remaining balance of the liability is constant 

in each financial period. Sales gains arising from sale and 

leaseback transactions are amortised over the lease term. 

Assets leased out under operating leases are presented 

as tangible assets, and the rental income is recognised on a 

straight-line basis over the lease term. Operating lease pay-

ments are recognised as an expense in the income state-

ment on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Pension Benefits

Statutory pension cover for the employees of OKO Bank 

Group companies is arranged either through the OP Bank 

Group Pension Fund or through insurance policies with 

insurance companies. Some OKO Bank Group companies 

have arranged supplementary pension cover for their 

employees either through OP Bank Group Pension Founda-

tion or through an insurance company.  

OP Bank Group has both defined benefit and defined 

contribution pension plans. The pension arrangements 

through the OP Bank Group Pension Fund, in so far as the 

funded par ts of disability and old age pensions are con-

cerned, are classified as defined benefit arrangements. Plans 

arranged through insurance companies may be either 

defined benefit or defined contribution plans. The plans 
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arranged through the OP Bank Group Pension Foundation 

are defined benefit plans in their entirety. 

The expenses arising from pension plans are recognised 

under “Personnel expenses” on the income statement. In 

defined contribution plans,  contributions are paid to the 

insurance company and are recognised as an expense in 

the income statement in the year to which they relate. 

There are no other payment obligations under defined con-

tribution plans. 

Defined benefit plans with insurance companies, the 

Pension Fund and the Pension Foundation are financed by 

payments based on actuarial calculations.

In defined benefit plans, the present value of the obliga-

tions arising from the plan on the balance sheet date less 

the fair value of plan assets is presented as an asset. Actu-

arial gains and losses and past service costs are also taken 

into account.

The obligations from defined benefit pension plans are 

calculated separately for each plan. The calculation is per-

formed using the project unit credit method. Pension 

expenses are recognised on the income statement over the 

expected working lives of the employees par ticipating in the 

plan on the basis of calculations made by authorised actuar-

ies. The obligation is discounted at its present value using 

the yield at the balance sheet date on government bonds in 

Germany and France that have maturity dates approximat-

ing to the terms of the Group’s obligations.

The financial statements have utilised the exemption 

provided in IFRS 1, according to which there are no unrec-

ognised actuarial gains or losses associated with defined 

benefit plans on the transition date. Assets in defined ben-

efit plans have been valued at fair value on the transition 

date 1 January 2004, and the obligations have been valued 

at present value based on the assumptions valid at the tran-

sition date 1 January 2004. Actuarial gains and losses are 

recognised in the income statement over the expected aver-

age remaining working lives of the employees par ticipating 

in the plan, to the extent that the cumulative unrecognised 

actuarial gain or loss exceeds 10 per cent of the greater of  

the present value of defined benefit obligation and the fair 

value of plan assets.

Share-Based Employee Benefits

Share-based employee benefits are measured at fair value 

at the time of granting and are recognised as expenses and 

an increase in shareholders’ equity in equal instalments over 

the vestingperiod. Share-based benefits settled in cash and 

the corresponding liability are measured at fair value at the 

end of each period until the liability is settled. 

Some OKO Bank Group companies have option-based 

employee incentive schemes. OKO Bank Group has applied 

the standard IFRS 2 Share-based Payment to all option 

schemes in which the options have been granted after 1 

November 2002, and have not become vested before 1 

January 2005. With regard to option schemes prior to this, 

only the social security costs payable by the employer will 

be recognised. 

INSURANCE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Classification of Financial Assets in 

Insurance Operations

The financial assets of  insurance operations are classified 

into the following categories: financial assets at fair value 

through income, loans and receivables and available-for-sale 

financial assets. The classification is done on the basis of the 

purpose for which the assets were initially acquired. In insur-

ance operations, the classification differs somewhat from the 

classification of financial assets presented in ‘Financial Instru-

ments’ above. However, the principles of recognition and 

measurement are the same as those presented above. 

Financial assets at fair value through income

The category is divided into financial assets held for trading 

and financial assets designated at fair value through profit 

or loss at inception.

Financial assets held for trading have been acquired for 

the purpose of profit-taking in the shor t term from changes 

in market prices. All derivatives are classified as assets or as 

liabilities held for trading. Hedge accounting has not been 

applied.

The category of financial assets designated at fair value 

through profit or loss at inception includes hybrid (com-

bined) instruments, investments related to unit-linked insur-

ance policies, foreign-currency-denominated debt securities 

in run-off companies’ por tfolios, and investments in associ-

ates held by venture capital organisations.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets 

with fixed or determinable payments which are not quoted 

in an active market and which are not held for trading. Loans 

and receivables may include subordinated and other loans 

granted directly to companies and corporations. Receivables 

arising from insurance contracts, claims administration con-

tracts and sale of investments are also classified in this cat-

egory.
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Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial 

assets that are either designated in this category or are not 

classified in any of the other categories. Available-for-sale 

financial assets comprise equity securities and debt securi-

ties. 

Insurance Contracts and Investment 

Contracts – Classification

Insurance contracts are contracts that transfer significant 

insurance risk. Insurance contracts are classified by contract 

or by contract type. If contracts are entered into simultane-

ously with a single counterparty or if contracts are otherwise 

interdependent, the significance of insurance risk is assessed 

as a whole. 

Investment contracts are contracts that transfer financial 

risk with no significant insurance risk. Since capital redemp-

tion contracts do not include insurance risk, they are classi-

fied as investment contracts. 

Insurance policies between Group companies are elim-

inated as they do not meet the criteria for an insurance 

policy. 

Principle of Equity

With the exception of unit-linked insurance contracts, 

almost all life insurance contracts and some capital redemp-

tion contracts entitle to a discretionary share of surplus 

(customer bonus, discretionary participation feature, DPF), 

in addition to guaranteed benefits. The discretionary share 

is likely to be a significant portion of the total contractual 

benefits but its amount or timing is contractually at the 

discretion of the Group. Some unit-linked policies include 

an option for a discretionary share of surplus. This option 

can be exercised by transferring insurance savings to an 

interest-bearing portion. 

The distribution of surplus is based on the Finnish Insur-

ance Companies Act, which provides that an equitable par t 

of the surplus generated by these contracts is to be refunded 

as bonuses to these policies, provided that the solvency 

requirements do not prevent such a procedure. As to the 

level of bonuses, continuity shall be aimed at. The principle 

of equity has an impact on how unrealised gains of invest-

ments are, in the long term, divided between owners and 

policyholders; however, without giving the individual persons 

in either group the right to claim these funds.

The insurance companies of the OKO Bank Group apply 

the principle of equity, but customers’ share of future prof-

its is not determined beforehand. A decision of customer 

bonuses is taken by the Boards of Directors of the subsidi-

aries.

Insurance Contracts 

Classification of Insurance Contracts 

Insurance contracts are classified into main categories based 

on differences either in the nature of the insured object or 

in the contract terms and conditions. These have a material 

impact on the nature of the risk. In addition, the classification 

takes into account differences in the duration of insurance 

contract periods or the average length of the period from 

the occurrence of a loss event to the date when the claim 

has been fully paid (speed of claims settlement).

Non-life Insurance Contracts 

Short-term Non-life Insurance Contracts 

The validity period of short-term insurance contracts is gen-

erally 12 months or less, very seldom over two years. Espe-

cially policies for private individuals, motor policies and 

statutory workers’ compensation policies are usually con-

tinuous annual policies. The main categories of short-term 

non-life insurance contracts is as follows: statutory insur-

ance; other accident and health insurance; hull (comprehen-

sive motor vehicle, marine hull, aviation hull, railway stock) 

insurance and cargo insurance; property and business inter-

ruption insurance; and liability and legal expenses insur-

ance. 

Long-term Non-life Insurance Contracts

Long-term insurance contracts are contracts whose average 

period of validity is at least two years. Long-term non-life 

insurance contracts include decennial (construction defects) 

insurance, perpetual property insurance and guarantee 

insurance.

Life Insurance Contracts

Life insurance contracts include single and regular-premium 

endowment life insurance (life insurance with focus on sav-

ings); deferred annuity insurance (individual pension insur-

ance); group pension insurance supplementing statutory 

pension cover; and term insurance issued mainly against 

death or disability. 

The savings under life and pension insurance can be 

entitled to a guaranteed technical interest and a discretion-

ary share of surplus (DPF, non-linked), or they can be unit-

linked. For the time being, group pension policies are mostly 

non-linked and entitled to DPF. No insurance savings accrue 

under term insurance. 



53OKO BANK GROUP    FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, IFRS 2005 

NOTES

Measurement and Recognition of Insurance 

Contracts

Non-life Insurance Contracts

As a rule, premiums are recognised as revenue proportion-

ally over the period of validity of the contract. In decennial 

and perpetual insurance, however, the recognition as rev-

enue takes place in proportion to the distribution of insur-

ance risk. The portion of premiums written allocated to the 

period after the balance sheet date is reported as provision 

for unearned premiums. If the provision for unearned pre-

miums is not sufficient to cover future claims and expenses 

arising from in-force insurance contracts, a supplementary 

amount (provision for unexpired risks) corresponding to the 

difference is reserved in the provision for unearned premi-

ums. Premiums written are reduced by insurance premium 

tax and the public charges collected on behalf of outside 

parties, but not by commissions or credit loss on premi-

ums.

Claims paid to customers and direct and indirect loss 

adjustment expenses incurred by the Group are charged to 

income on the basis of the date of occurrence of the loss. 

The claims unsettled at the balance sheet date for losses 

that have already occurred and their loss adjustment 

expenses, also as regards the losses which have occurred 

but have not been repor ted to the Group (IBNR), are 

reserved in the provision for unpaid claims, which is com-

posed of both claims reserved for individual cases and sta-

tistically reserved claims. The provision, included in the pro-

vision for unpaid claims, for loss adjustment expenses not 

yet realised for losses that have already occurred is based 

on estimated costs of loss adjustment.

The provision for unearned premiums for statutory 

decennial insurance and perpetual insurance and the provi-

sion for unpaid claims for annuities are discounted. The dis-

count rate applied by the Group is a fixed discount rate, 

which is determined taking into account the prevailing inter-

est rate level. The discount rate must not exceed the 

expected return on the assets covering the liability nor the 

level set by the authorities. An increase in insurance contract 

liabilities due to the passage of time (unwinding of discount) 

is presented in the income statement as a separate item in 

the group of finance costs.

Life Insurance Contracts

Premiums received are recognised in the income statement. 

A premium receivable is recognised only if the insurance 

cover is in force at the balance sheet date. In term insurance, 

premiums are recognised as revenue proportionally over 

the premium payment period of the contract. Commissions 

or credit losses are not deducted from premiums written.

Benefits based on insurance contracts are charged to 

income in the income statement. Insurance contract liabili-

ties are determined by the capital value of future benefits, 

policy administration costs and future premiums. In the cal-

culation, actuarial assumptions regarding the force of inter-

est, mortality rate, disability rate and operating expenses are 

used. The liability is redetermined every balance sheet date 

using the assumptions applied in the rating of policies, includ-

ing the discount rate. The change in future cash flows due 

to declared customer bonuses is included in insurance con-

tract liabilities. Insurance contract liabilities for unit-linked 

policies are, however, measured at the fair value, like the 

assets covering the liability.

Liability Adequacy Test on Insurance Contracts

At the balance sheet date, the Group assesses whether the 

insurance contract liabilities recognised in the balance sheet 

are adequate. In the test, current estimates of future cash 

flows from insurance contracts are used. If the assessment 

shows that the carrying amount of the liability arising from 

insurance contracts, less intangible assets related to deferred 

policy acquisition costs and business acquired, is inadequate, 

the deficiency is charged to profit or loss primarily by mak-

ing an additional write-off on intangible assets and second-

arily by increasing insurance contract liabilities.

Reinsurance Contracts

A reinsurance contract refers to a contract which meets the 

classification requirements for insurance contracts and under 

which the Group is paid compensation by another insurer 

if the Group becomes liable to pay compensation on the 

basis of other insurance contracts (ceded reinsurance).

a. Non-life Insurance

The benefits to which the Group is entitled under reinsur-

ance contracts held are recognised in the balance sheet 

either as ‘Loans and receivables’ or as ‘Reinsurance con-

tracts’. The latter receivables correspond to reinsurers’ 

share of  the provision for unearned premiums and provi-

sion for unpaid claims of the insurance contracts reinsured 

by the Group. The items recorded under ‘Loans and receiv-

ables’ are shorter-term receivables. Unpaid premiums to 

reinsurers are recognised as ‘Trade and other payables’.

Reinsurance assets are tested for impairment in connec-

tion with the closing of the books. If there is objective evi-
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dence that the Group may not receive all amounts to which 

it is entitled on the basis of the contract terms, the carrying 

amount of the reinsurance asset is reduced to correspond 

to the recoverable amount and the impairment loss is rec-

ognised in the income statement. 

b. Life Insurance

Amounts recoverable from or due to reinsurers are meas-

ured consistently with the amounts associated with the 

reinsured insurance contracts. 

Receivables and Payables Related to 

Insurance Contracts 

Premium receivables in non-life insurance are recognised at 

the beginning of the insurance period as the right to the 

receivable arises. In life insurance, premium receivables are 

primarily recognised in connection with the closing of the 

books. Receivables are mainly receivables from policyhold-

ers and only to a minor extent from insurance intermediar-

ies. Premiums paid beforehand are recognised in the balance 

sheet under ‘ Trade and other payables ‘.

Insurance receivables in non-life insurance are tested for 

impairment in connection with the closing of the books. If 

there is objective evidence that a receivable is impaired, the 

carrying amount of the receivable is reduced through profit 

or loss. Receivables are reduced by both final impairment 

(credit losses) and impairment established statistically on 

the basis of the collection phase of the charge.

Salvage and Subrogation Reimbursements

Under some insurance contracts, the Group becomes enti-

tled to recover the damaged property in connection with 

the settlement of the claim. In liability policies and statutory 

policies, the Group may become entitled to recover part of 

the paid compensation from another insurance company if 

the insured event was also covered under an insurance 

policy issued by that other company. In some insurance 

contracts, the Group may also have the right of recovery 

against the party who caused the loss. In the case of guar-

antee insurance, counter security, e.g. a pledge or mortgage, 

is often used. 

Damaged goods that have become the Group’s prop-

er ty are recognised for their fair value as a deduction item 

in claims incurred and are recorded in the balance sheet 

under ‘Other assets’. Subrogation reimbursements are taken 

into account as an item reducing the liability for unpaid 

claims for losses which have occurred.

When the claim is paid, the receivable is recognised in 

the balance sheet under ‘Loans and receivables’. The counter 

security of guarantee insurance is measured at fair value and 

the por tion of it corresponding to the liability for unpaid 

claims or to the claim paid is recognised under ‘Loans and 

receivables’ in the balance sheet. 

A recovery from the guilty par ty is not recognised until 

the payment has been received or the receipt is otherwise 

practically cer tain. 

Investment Contracts

Classification, Measurement and Recognition 

of Investment Contracts

The investment contracts of the insurance companies within 

the OKO Bank Group are so-called capital redemption con-

tracts. 

Investment contracts are presented in the balance sheet 

under financial liabilities and the benefits paid on the basis 

of them are presented in the income statement. Fees 

charged for management of investments are recognised as 

fee income. 

Investment contracts with a DPF component (customer 

bonus) or which can be exchanged for such contracts are, 

however, subject to the option permitted in IFRS 4. There-

fore, corporate capital redemption contracts are measured 

like insurance contracts 

Financial Liabilities

Financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value on the 

basis of the payment received. Any transaction costs are 

included in the original carrying amount of financial liabilities. 

Subsequently, financial liabilities are stated at amortised cost 

using the effective interest method. The difference is recog-

nised in the income statement over the period of financial 

liability. Financial instruments can be with or without interest 

rate.

Derivatives are measured at fair value through profit or 

loss. 

Provision for Joint Guarantee System

The provision for the joint guarantee system is recognised 

in the manner of other provisions. The Finnish Workers’ 

Compensation Insurance Act, Motor Liability Insurance Act 

and Patient Injuries Act include provisions on joint liability 

on the basis of which the insurance companies transacting 

business in the line of insurance assume joint liability should 

one of them fail to pay claims in the event of liquidation or 
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bankruptcy. Insurers have a statutory obligation to recognise 

a provision for the joint guarantee system in their balance 

sheets. The joint guarantee provision can be decreased or 

abolished only for the above-mentioned reason or by trans-

ferring it to another insurance company in connection with 

an insurance portfolio transfer.

PROVISIONS

A provision is booked on the basis of an obligation if the 

obligation is based on a prior event and its realisation is 

probable but the time of realisation or the amount to be 

realised is uncertain. Furthermore, the obligation must be 

based on a present legal or constructive obligation towards 

a third party. If it is possible to receive compensation for 

part of the obligation from a third party, the compensation 

is recognised as a separate asset item, but only at the time 

the compensation becomes virtually certain.

NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE AND 

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

A non-current asset (or disposal group) is classified as held 

for sale when its carrying amount will be recovered princi-

pally through a sale transaction rather than through con-

tinuing use. It is measured at the lower of carrying amount 

and fair value less costs to sell. Such assets and associated 

liabilities are presented separately in the balance sheet. 

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s 

business that represents a separate major line of business or 

geographical area of operations or is a subsidiary acquired 

exclusively with a view to resale. The items of income and 

expense of discontinued operations are presented on a sep-

arate column on the income statement.   

INCOME TAXES

The income taxes in the income statement include current 

taxes, i.e. taxes based on the taxable income of OKO Bank 

Group companies for the financial period and taxes for the 

prior financial periods as well as deferred tax expense or 

income. 

Deferred tax liabilities are provided for all taxable tem-

porary differences between the carrying amounts of assets 

and liabilities for financial accounting purposes and the tax 

basis of assets and liabilities. Deferred tax assets are recog-

nised for all deductible temporary differences between the 

tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts 

(for financial repor ting purposes) as well as for carry-for-

ward of unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable 

that taxable profit will be available against which they can 

be utilised. The consolidated financial statements also include 

deferred tax liabilities and assets arising from consolida-

tion.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are offset by company. 

Deferred tax liabilities and assets arising from consolidation 

are not offset. Deferred tax liabilities and assets are deter-

mined using enacted tax rates that are expected to apply 

when the related deferred tax asset is realised or the 

deferred tax liability is settled. Deferred tax is recognised in 

the income statement except to the extent that it relates 

to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is 

recognised in equity. 

REVENUE RECOGNITION

Commission income and expenses on services are recog-

nised when the service is rendered. In case of non-recurring 

commissions related to a period covering several years that 

may possibly have to be returned later, only the part relat-

ing to the financial period is recognised.

Dividends are generally recognised once the General 

Meeting of the company distr ibuting the dividend has 

decided on the distribution of dividend. 

Interest income and expenses on interest-bearing assets 

and liabilities are recognised on accrual basis. Interest on 

receivables with non-serviced due payments is also recog-

nised as income. Such an interest receivable is included in 

the impairment testing. The difference between the acquisi-

tion cost and the nominal value of a receivable is allocated 

in interest income, and the difference between the amount 

received and the nominal value of a liability is allocated in 

interest expenses.

SEGMENT REPORTING

The OP Bank Group reports segment-specific income state-

ments and balance sheets for Corporate Banking, Invest-

ment Banking and Group Treasury Divisions and for Non-

life Insurance. In the case of Retail Banking, treated as dis-

continued operations in the financial statements, an income 

statement has only been reported for the 2005 fiscal period. 

In the case of Pohjola Life Insurance Company Ltd, which 

has been treated as discontinued operations, assets and 

liabilities have been reported in addition to the income 

statement. Income, expenses, investment and capital that 

are not included in actual business operations are allocated 

to Group Administration.



56 OKO BANK GROUP    FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, IFRS 2005 

NOTES

The segments are defined so that the risks and accumu-

lation of earnings of the different segments differ from other 

segments. The OKO Bank Group has no geographic seg-

ments.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES REQUIRING DISCRETION BY 

MANAGEMENT AND CRUCIAL FACTORS OF UNCER-

TAINTY ASSOCIATED WITH ESTIMATES

Estimates and assumptions regarding the future have to be 

made during the preparation of financial statements, and the 

outcome may differ from the estimates and assumptions. 

Furthermore, the application of accounting policies requires 

consideration. 

The amount of liability arising from insurance policies 

involves several discretionary factors and factors of uncer-

tainty. With regard to non-life insurance, the estimates are 

based on assumptions of the external operating environ-

ment as well as the actuarial analysis of the company’s own 

damage statistics. The liability arising from life insurance 

policies is established using calculation bases that are com-

pliant with Finnish regulations and based on the same 

assumptions of the future as the pricing. The appropriate-

ness of the assumptions of the future is continuously mon-

itored. 

The values of insurance policies, customer relationships 

and brands acquired through business combinations are 

based on estimates of factors including future cash flows and 

the applicable discount rate.

Goodwill, and other assets with indefiniteuseful lives and 

intangible assets not yet available for use are annually tested 

for impairment. The recoverable amount determined in 

impairment testing is often based on the value in use, and 

its calculation requires estimates of future cash flows and 

the applicable discount rate. 

Impairment testing of receivables is based on estimates 

of the amount recoverable from the receivable in the future. 

Recoverable cash flows are estimated separately for each 

loan in receivable-specific impairment testing. Impairment 

recognised for groups of receivables is based on an estimate 

of future losses based on historical information. 

In defined benefit pension plans, the present value of the 

defined obligation of the obligations deducted by the fair 

value of any plan assets, unrecognised actuarial gains and 

lossess, and past service cost is presented as an asset. The 

calculation includes actuarial assumptions per taining to the 

future, including the discount rate, the expected return on 

the assets, future increases in wages, salaries and pensions, 

the employee turnover rate and inflation.

The measurement of investment proper ties at fair value 

is par tially based on the management’s estimates of the 

market values of the items. Investment proper ties are also 

measured on the basis of a calculation model based on the 

income capitalisation approach utilising estimates of future 

net yield from the items. 

NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS

OKO Bank Group will adopt the following standards and 

interpretations in 2006: 

• Amendments to IAS 19 “Employee Benefits” issued in

 2004, extending the requirements for notes to the finan-

cial statements.

• IFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosures”. IFRS 7 will 

also result in the adoption of the Amendment to IAS

 1: Capital Disclosures. The amendments will extend

 the requirements for the notes to the financial state-

ments. 

• IFRIC 4 “Determining Whether an Arrangement Con-

tains a Lease”. The interpretation has no significant 

effect on the amount of asset items classified as finance 

leasewithin OP Bank Group.

• Change “The fair value option” to IAS 39 “Financial 

instruments: Recognition and measurement”.

• Change “Financial Guarantee Contracts” to IAS 4 “Insur-

ance Contracts” and IAS 39.
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NOTE 2. Principles of Risk Management

Risk Management in Banking and 

Investment Services 

Risk management relies on values, strategic choices and 

long-term financial targets. 

The purpose of risk management is to identify the threats 

and opportunities that affect the implementation of strategy. 

The objective is to help achieve the targets set in strategy by 

ensuring that risks are proportional to risk bearing ability. 

Organisation of Risk Management 

OKO Bank’s Executive Board is the highest decision-making 

body in matters associated with risk management. The 

Executive Board’s duties include deciding on the goals and 

the organisation of risk management, confirming the risk 

management strategy and risk policies, and supervising the 

implementation of risk management. The Executive Board 

also approves the decision-making system and decision-

making authorisations. 

The Risk Management Committee reports to the Execu-

tive Board and is in charge of co-ordinating and supervising 

overall risk management principles and operational policy 

guidelines. It also appoints the members of the Rating Com-

mittee. The Risk Management Committee is chaired by the 

OKO Bank Executive Board member responsible for Group 

Services to whom the Risk Management Department reports. 

The Rating Committee is responsible for determining 

credit ratings for corporate customers. The Senior Credit 

Committee, operating within the framework of the author-

isations confirmed by the Executive Board, takes exposure 

limit and credit approval decisions concerning customer, 

bank and country risks. The Senior Credit Committee is 

chaired by OKO Bank’s President. The Credit Committees, 

the Bank Credit Committee and the depar tment and unit-

level decision-making bodies take decisions concerning 

credit risk within the framework of the confirmed decision-

making authorisations. 

The business units have primary responsibility for cus-

tomer relations and risk-taking. Business units are entitled 

to take decisions concerning credit, market and funding risks 

within the framework of the approved authorisations and 

limits. 

The Risk Management Depar tment is responsible for 

developing and implementing an integrated risk manage-

ment procedure. The Risk Management Depar tment super-

vises and repor ts on any developments in terms of risk 

bearing ability, risk position and the implementation of risk 

management policies. The depar tment is also responsible for 

preparing and maintaining the decision-making authorisa-

tions and the operational guidelines associated with risk 

management. Fur thermore, the business units are actively 

involved in risk monitoring. In the credit approval process, 

the Risk Management Depar tment suppor ts decision-mak-

ing and controls quality. 

Risk Management Strategy 

By submission of the Risk Management Committee, OKO 

Bank’s Executive Board approves an annually revised risk 

management strategy, specifying the risk bearing ability, risk 

appetite and principles of risk management. The risk man-

agement strategy also describes the principles of capital 

management and a plan for maintaining capital adequacy. 

Fur thermore, the risk management strategy includes a 

description of the business risks and the organisation of risk 

management. It also describes the tasks and division of 

responsibilities between different decision-making levels and 

organisational units involved in risk management.

Risk Bearing Ability and Capital 

Management (ICAAP)

Risk bearing ability refers to the amount of own funds in 

proportion to risk-weighted commitments. The average 

capital adequacy target as calculated using Tier I capital is 

7.0 per cent.

Business is steered and monitored according to business 

areas. Their results are compared with the Tier I capital 

bound to the operations in accordance with the 7 per cent 

target level calculated in accordance with Basel I. This is used 

to allocate capital to different businesses and calculate 

return on equity (ROE) specific to each business. 

The capital management process creates a capital ade-

quacy forecast and associated sensitivity analysis on the basis 

of earnings and growth trends. Fur thermore, different threat 

scenarios are described and their impacts on capital ade-

quacy are estimated. The process also surveys the measures 

that would be used to maintain the level of capital adequacy 

should a threat scenario be realised.

Risk Appetite

OKO Bank is a moderate risk taker. Operations are based 

on a calculated risk/ return approach that serves as a guide-

line for exploiting credit risk, market risk and funding risk. 
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Business activities also involve a strategic risk as well as 

operational risks. 

The target is that the average net credit losses and 

reserves over the trend cycle should not exceed 0.35 per 

cent of the loan and guarantee por tfolio. 

Risk Policies

Annually formulated risk policies provide the guidelines for 

risk-taking. In the overall risk policy, the risk appetite is 

apportioned to various types of risks. 

The overall risk policy is supplemented by specific risk 

type policies, namely credit, interest rate, foreign exchange, 

equity market, real-estate and funding risk policies, as well 

as the operational risk policy.

Credit Risk Management

Credit risk means risk arising from the inability of the bank’s 

contracting parties to meet their obligations in cases where 

the collateral does not protect the bank’s receivables. In 

addition to that, credit risk comprises country risk and set-

tlement risk. Country risk is a credit risk associated with 

foreign receivables on a country-by-country basis. Settle-

ment risk has to do with the clearing and settlement process 

and involves the risk of losing a receivable being settled. 

The objective of credit risk management is to restrict 

losses from credit risks arising from customer exposure to 

an acceptable level whilst seeking to optimise the risk/ 

return ratio. Credit approval and the quality of the credit 

approval process occupy a central position in the manage-

ment of credit risks. The credit process is guided by con-

firmed credit risk policies, decision-making authorisations 

and operating guidelines.

In managing settlement risk, it is vital to ensure that the 

counterpar ties are reliable. To reduce settlement risk, stand-

ard-form agreements are used and settlements are proc-

essed by reliable clearing centres. 

OKO Bank seeks to reduce credit risk by diversifying its 

loan por tfolio, as well as by defining collateral and covenant 

policies on a customer-specific basis. To fur ther limit credit 

risks, a maximum customer exposure limit has been defined 

on the basis of the Bank’s risk bearing ability, and a limit 

system is in place. Credit derivatives have been used for 

credit risk management, but no asset securitisation. 

Credit Risk Policy

Credit risk policy defines principles concerning the compo-

sition, diversification and customer selection in respect of 

total exposure, as well as the use of collateral and cove-

nants. The objective is to ensure that OKO Bank does not 

develop excessive risk concentrations by country, industry, 

customer group, corporation or time period. 

For the por tfolio review, customers are divided into six 

groups: corporate customers, financial and insurance institu-

tions, private customers, OP Bank Group member coop-

erative banks and companies; public entities, and non-profit 

institutions. Separate credit risk policies have been prepared 

for corporate customers and for financial and insurance 

institutions. Fur thermore, a country risk policy has been 

drawn up.

The corporate customer credit r isk policy involves 

determining a relative maximum exposure for industry and 

rating-specific risk. 

Risks related to financial and insurance institutions have 

been diversified by credit rating, issuer and product. In addi-

tion, in order to ensure the liquidity of fixed income invest-

ments, minimum sizes have been defined for issues in which 

OKO Bank can invest.

The country risk policy allows risks to be diversified by 

setting maximum limits on exposure in individual groups of 

countries. 

Credit Risk Limits

 A risk limit is the maximum exposure or uncovered expo-

sure set for a customer or a country. A limit may also include 

restrictions in terms of time or product, for example a max-

imum amount for short-term or long-term liabilities. For 

most corporate and institutional customers, a customer-spe-

cific risk policy has also been set, comprising the minimum 

amount of collateral and the covenants to be used. 

The exposure limit is a euro-denominated ceiling on 

customer-specific exposure. The exposure limit is annually 

confirmed for those corporate customers whose actual or 

planned exposure exceeds €5 million.

The financial institution limit is specified for a specified 

time period and is a euro-denominated counterpar ty limit 

within which business is conducted with financial institutions. 

The limit is provided on condition that the financial institu-

tion is located in a country for which a country limit has 

been approved. The financial institution limit is reviewed 

annually. 
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The countr y limit is a euro-denominated ceiling for 

receivables from a given country. The amount of the country 

limit for each country and any related time limitation are 

defined in accordance with the country’s credit rating and 

OKO Bank’s risk bearing ability in such a way that it supports 

the approved business principles. Country limits are reviewed 

at least once a year.

Credit Process

The day-to-day credit process plays a crucial role in credit 

risk management. From the risk management perspective, 

the key stages are credit standing evaluation, decision-mak-

ing and execution, which are separate processes. The Risk 

Management Department supervises the credit process flow 

and quality. 

Credit Standing Evaluation

The credit standing of corporate customers is evaluated 

using OP Bank Group’s internal 12-step credit rating system. 

The company’s financial position as presented in its financial 

statements, with the key features being capital adequacy, 

profitability and liquidity, will affect its rating. Other ele-

ments to be taken into account include the company’s mar-

ket position, competitive strength, product quality, growth 

potential, and the general business outlook in the industry. 

If the company has a public credit rating, that will be con-

sidered when assessing creditworthiness. 

The collateral or guarantees received for the customer’s 

exposure are not taken into account in the credit standing 

evaluation. Risk assessment for each exposure is performed 

at the decision-making stage on the basis of the customer’s 

credit standing, the proposed exposure and the collateral 

and guarantees presented; at this stage, the pricing of the 

exposure is also confirmed.

The purpose of the rating is to place all corporate cus-

tomers into credit rating categories in such a way as to meet 

the needs of risk management and to fulfil the criteria the 

new capital adequacy framework (Basel II) sets for internal 

rating models. The two weakest credit ratings are reserved 

for defaulted customers, customers subject to corporate 

restructuring or customers declared bankrupt. 

The internal credit rating is used in the pricing of expo-

sure, the credit approval process and the calculation of risk 

adjusted capital requirements. 

Determination of Credit Standing by Customer Group

Customer Group  Determination of Credit Standing

Corporate customers,   Credit rating by the

liabilities exceeding €3 million  Rating Committee

Corporate customers,   Credit rating based on financial

liabilities less than €3 million  statements and payment behaviour   

Financial and insurance   Credit rating by

institutions  an external rating institution 

Member banks and the  Credit rating by 

Central Cooperative  the Rating Committee 

Countries  Credit rating by an external 

  rating institution 

Private customers   Credit rating based on payment 

  behaviour information and credit scoring

Countries are divided into five country risk categories on 

the basis of their Moody’s credit rating. The lowest Invest-

ment Grade rating is Baa3, or countries in country risk cat-

egory 3.

Correlation between Country Risk Categories 

and Moody’s Credit Ratings

Country Risk Moody’s Equivalent

Category 1 Aaa

Category 2 Aa1–A3

Category 3 Baa1–Baa3

Category 4 Ba1–B3

Category 5 Caa1–C and non-rated

Decision-making

Credit proposals are made on the basis of the credit stand-

ing evaluation. Account managers prepare and present the 

exposure limit, credit limit and financing proposals to the 

decision-making bodies. The credit approval decision 

includes a report on the credit applicant, any credit previ-

ously granted to the customer and the related collateral and 

uncovered exposure. A credit proposal for a corporate cus-

tomer also includes the collateral and covenant policy for 

short and long-term exposure, an analysis of the customer’s 

creditworthiness, as well as a forecast of the development 

of the customer’s financial position. For corporate custom-

ers, a financial statement analysis is always attached to the 

proposed exposure limit, and for new corporate customers, 

there is often also a business analysis. In most cases, credit 

proposals for corporate and institutional customers involve 

a position statement by the Risk Management Department 

concerning credit risk. 
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The decision-making bodies make decisions to accept 

risks within the framework of their authorisations and in 

compliance with the Bank’s confirmed credit risk policies, 

limits and guidelines. The authorisations of each decision-

making body have been scaled to the customer’s credit rat-

ing, exposure and uncovered exposure. Small credit deci-

sions for private customers are also made by an automatic 

credit decision system based on credit scoring.

Execution

The execution stage involves preparing the offer and con-

tract documents based on the approved proposals. Before 

the customer is given access to any funds, the fulfilment of 

the drawing terms and conditions is verified. Furthermore, 

the fulfilment of contractual terms is monitored throughout 

the duration of the agreement. 

Measuring, Monitoring and Reporting Credit Risk

Credit risk is measured on a customer-specific basis in terms 

of total exposure and uncovered exposure. Exposure means 

the total number of balance sheet and off-balance sheet 

items that the bank holds for a specific customer. Uncov-

ered exposure is calculated as the difference between the 

exposure and the collateral value. Credit risk is also meas-

ured using a weighted collateral shortfall figure calculated 

by multiplying the customer-specific uncovered exposure 

against the probability of default corresponding to the cus-

tomer’s credit rating. Other indicators of credit risk include 

the proportion of non-performing loans and past due loan 

repayments of the loan and guarantee portfolio, as well as 

the proportion of credit losses to loan and guarantee port-

folio.

Customer monitoring consists of an annual analysis of 

financial statements and interim repor ts, as well as continu-

ous monitoring of the customer’s credit record and the 

customer’s business activities.

Customer credit record, past due payments and non-

performing loans are monitored continuously on the basis 

of information obtained from both OP Bank Group’s inter-

nal monitoring service, as well as from external services. 

Customers whose financial status development, credit 

risk and credit record OKO Bank wants to examine in more 

detail are placed under special observation. In this context 

the need to change the customer’s credit rating, the prob-

ability of a credit loss, as well as the need to make an impair-

ment loss are also considered. This often means that the 

credit approval decision is made in a higher-level decision-

making body.

The credit approval process involves monitoring the 

exposure limits of corporate customers and the total expo-

sure limits of corporate customers and financial institutions. 

Fur thermore, decision-making bodies supervise the credit 

approval decisions and always submit their minutes to the 

next decision-making level for consideration. 

The Risk Management Depar tment carr ies overall 

responsibility for repor ting credit risks. It prepares a corpo-

rate risk analysis for the Executive Board. The analysis 

reviews the general compliance with the credit risk policy, 

and analyses the development of the amount, distribution 

and quality of total exposure, as well as the development of 

non-performing loans. 

The use of limits, as well as any overdrafts, is repor ted 

regularly. In addition, the Risk Management Department pre-

pares por tfolio specific analyses. 

Market Risk Management

Market risks include the impact of market prices (interest 

rates, foreign exchange and share prices) and volatility on 

the bank’s financial performance. Market liquidity risk is one 

element of market risk. A risk arises if markets lack sufficient 

depth or cease to function due to disturbances, causing the 

bank to lose its ability to liquidate or cover its risks at pre-

vailing market prices. 

The objective of market risk management is to confine 

risks arising from price fluctuations in balance sheet and 

off-balance sheet items to an acceptable level and to pro-

mote healthy financial performance by optimising the risk/

return ratio. 

Both trading and treasury activities involve market risks. 

Trading activities are based on active short-term trading and 

market risk management. The objective of trading activities 

is to safeguard the OP Bank Group’s liquidity while pursuing 

maximum profitability. 

Treasury is responsible for ensuring OKO Bank’s domes-

tic and foreign funding and for managing the equity, credit 

and interest rate risks involved in investment activities, as 

well as the structural interest rate risk arising from the loan 

and deposit por tfolio and other balance sheet items (such 

as shares, real estate holdings and shareholders’ equity). The 

objective is to hedge the Group’s net interest income against 

interest rate fluctuation. Treasury does not take foreign 

exchange risks. 

OKO Bank’s Executive Board approves the market risk 

management principles and risk policies. The Risk Manage-

ment Committee coordinates and supervises overall risk 

management principles and supervises the use of limits. Mar-
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ket risks are centrally managed by the Divisions responsible 

for the risks in question. The Divisions are responsible for 

their own exposure, and the results within the framework 

of the set limits. The Risk Management Depar tment moni-

tors and repor ts market risks and their outcome to the 

Divisions and to the Executive Board. The principles and 

indicators used in managing the market risk involved in trad-

ing and treasury are largely the same. 

Risk policies have been prepared for interest rate, for-

eign exchange, equity and real estate risks where the prin-

ciples and limits regarding the structure and diversification 

of exposure have been defined. The objective of these pol-

icies is to ensure that market risks are propor tional to risk 

bearing ability. Risk limits continue to be allocated between 

trading (interest rate, foreign exchange and volatility risk) 

and treasury (interest rate and equity risk). 

Interest rate risk is diversified in terms of currency, product 

and maturity. Foreign currency risk is hedged by currency. 

Equity and capital investment risks are diversified by market 

area, sector and issuer. Risk involved in venture capital 

investments is diversified in accordance with the fund regu-

lations. Specific limits have been set for options. 

Continuous analysis of the structure of the risk position 

and the markets, as well as anticipating the impact of changes 

on the Bank’s risk position and performance play a key role 

in market risk management. Effective market risk manage-

ment requires current and accurate information on expo-

sure and markets, and fast response to changes. Market risks 

are managed by adjusting the risk positions using both bal-

ance sheet and derivative instruments, in line with the cur-

rent market views and within the risk limit framework. Mar-

ket exposure or individual agreements can also be hedged 

with derivative instruments against changes in market value 

or to secure net financial income. 

In addition, interest rate, currency and equity risks are 

measured using Value at Risk (VaR) analysis. 

The VaR model is based on the historical development 

of interest and foreign exchange rates and share prices. This 

model is used to analyse changes in the market value of 

exposures over a one-day holding period, which is the time 

needed to unwind the position or to cover the risk. The 

model provides a loss forecast suggesting that the probabil-

ity of the loss being less than or equal to the forecast is 97.5 

per cent.

 The VaR analysis is based on historical price changes 

(volatility) and offers a loss estimate in ”normal” market 

conditions. Stress testing can be used to evaluate the impact 

of the most significant market changes during the review 

period on an open risk exposure. The forecasting accuracy 

of the model is monitored using a daily back testing method: 

the result of the test may exceed the loss estimate by an 

average of 2.5 times during a 100-day period. 

The benefits of historical simulation include empirical, 

realised scatter and correlations. Its problematic features, 

however, include risk forecasting based on historical per-

formance, the impact of the length of the selected time 

series on the risk indicator value, the discontinuity of 

extreme changes par ticularly in the loss tail, and autocor-

relation associated with the time series. 

The Risk Management Department monitors OKO Bank’s 

interest rate, foreign exchange and equity risk limits daily and 

reports these to the divisions and Executive Board. 

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risks arise from differences between balance 

sheet or off-balance sheet item maturities, interest rate 

reset dates or the bases of interest rates. In trading, interest 

rate risks materialise when a market rate fluctuation shows 

up as a security market value change. In Treasury, interest 

rate risk translates into a change in net interest income. 

Only specifically named units and companies are allowed 

to take interest rate risk within the set limits. 

Interest Rate Risk in Treasury

Interest rate risk in Treasury arises in connection with the 

repricing of balance sheet receivables and liabilities and is 

caused by changes in interest rates and the different reset-

ting times of interest rate revisions. A rise in interest rates 

generates a loss for the bank, if investments are tied to rates 

for longer than funding. 

The balance sheet also contains structural interest rate 

risks generated in retail borrowing and interest-free balance 

sheet items. Early repayment of customer agreements can 

also create interest rate risk. Treasury handles interest rate 

risks incurring from operations other than trading and man-

ages the position within the authorised limits. 

Treasury’s interest rate risks are included in OKO Bank’s 

total interest rate risk and are measured and reported using 

the same benchmarks and limitation principles as a trading 

por tfolio. These are expected to render the net interest 

income more sensitive to interest rate fluctuations. 

Foreign Exchange Risk

Foreign exchange risks arise when there is a gap between 

receivables and liabilities in the same currency. 
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Management of foreign exchange risk is carried out in 

the context of trading. Limits set on the total net foreign 

currency exposure and the par exposure of key currencies 

(USD, GDP, SEK) are used to restrict exposure. In addition, 

an alarm limit has been set on the VaR figure for foreign 

exchange risk. The risk is also constrained with stop/loss 

limits.

Equity Market Risk

Equity market risks arise from equity and venture capital 

investment activities. Equity investments include shares pur-

chased for trading purposes as well as for long-term holding. 

The principles regulating the composition of the equity 

por tfolio and the selection of investments are defined in the 

equity market risk policy. 

Treasury is responsible for the management of the equity 

portfolio recorded under items classified available for sale. 

Volatility Risk

Interest rate and foreign exchange options and the repur-

chase of issued index loans create small-scale volatility 

risks. 

These risks are measured using a simulated VaR-type 

maximum loss risk indicator for a position (spot/volatility 

matrix), the market price of the underlying instrument and 

the market price volatility of the derivative. 

Real Estate Risk

Real estate risk refers to risks associated with the change in 

the value or in the return on real estate holdings. 

The real estate risk policy sets out the principles provid-

ing guidelines for the composition of a real estate por tfolio 

and the selection of investments. Individual assessments and 

action plans are prepared annually for real estate invest-

ments. Real estate risks are repor ted quar terly in the risk 

analysis. 

Funding Risk Management

Funding risk refers to the risk associated with the availability 

of refunding and the impact of the bank’s credit rating devel-

opment on the price of funding. A deviation between the 

maturities of receivables and liabilities generates risks. Simi-

larly, funding risks arise if either liabilities or receivables or 

both are concentrated in respect of counterparties, instru-

ments or market segments. Changes in customer behaviour 

or in the business environment may also create funding 

risks. 

Liquidity risk refers to the risk associated with the avail-

ability of funding when liabilities or other payments mature. 

Such a risk may materialise as a result of diminished market 

liquidity or the falling credit rating of a prospective borrower. 

Provisions for liquidity risks comprise a por tfolio consisting 

of liquid notes and bonds. 

Liquidity management is subject to the regulations of 

the European Central Bank’s minimum reserve and liquidity 

credit systems. 

Funding and liquidity risk management are critical to 

OKO Bank, as manifested by OKO Bank’s Group Treasury 

duty to secure sufficient liquidity and reserves within the OP 

Bank Group. The liquidity reserve portfolio represents about 

one four th of the Banking and Securities Services’ balance 

sheet. 

The purpose of funding risk management is to ensure 

that the capital structure is correctly propor tioned to risk 

bearing ability, and to limit the funding or liquidity risk arising 

from the balance sheet structure. Funding risk is managed 

by planning liquidity and the balance sheet structure, by 

maintaining a sufficient liquidity reserve, and by diversifying 

funding risk on the basis of maturity, counterpar ty and 

instrument. 

OKO Bank’s Executive Board approves the funding and 

liquidity risk management principles and risk policies. The 

Risk Management Committee coordinates and supervises 

these principles and the use of limits. Group Treasury has 

the central responsibility for OKO Bank’s funding risk and 

liquidity management, long-term funding as well as the main-

tenance of reserve portfolios. The Risk Management Depart-

ment monitors and repor ts funding risks to the Divisions 

and the Executive Board. 

Key sources of funding include issues of CDs and bonds, 

deposits from other banks and member co-operative banks, 

deposits from the public, and shareholders’ equity. OKO 

Bank’s credit rating affects the availability and price of fund-

ing in the international money and capital markets. 

The principles and limits related to wholesale funding 

and its structure are defined in the funding risk policy. In 

addition, the funding risk policy includes a funding plan.  

Measuring, Monitoring and Reporting Funding Risk

The funding risk is monitored on the basis of the balance 

sheet structure and the maturity distribution of receivables 

and liabilities. A significant part of the growth of the balance 

sheet is financed by wholesale funding, and the aim is to 

diversify it by maturity class so that the renewal of wholesale 
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funding and additional funding can be implemented flexibly 

regardless of the market situation. In order to ensure the 

sufficient diversification of wholesale funding, the maturity 

distribution of wholesale funding is limited up to four years. 

The shortest maturity class is wholesale funding maturing 

within one month, the amount of which must not exceed 

the amount of liquidity reserves. In addition to this, a limit 

proportional to the balance sheet of OP Bank Group’s bank-

ing business has been set for the amount of liquidity 

reserves.

Daily liquidity is monitored using calculations and fore-

casts for a 30-day period. They include the impact of inter-

nal transactions as well as forecasts of cash flows in inter-

bank payment transfer services. 

The Risk Management Department reports funding risks 

to the Divisions and the Executive Board monthly. Daily 

activities include the preparation of cash flow statements by 

currency and an estimate of the adequacy of liquidity 

reserve. 

Derivative Activities

OKO Bank Group uses interest rate and currency deriva-

tives actively, as well as equity, equity index and credit 

derivatives to a lesser amount. The underlying values and 

credit countervalues of these are itemised in Note 62 to the 

financial statements. Derivatives are used for trading and 

hedging purposes as a part of overall position management. 

Derivative risks are monitored as a part of the overall expo-

sure in trading and asset management using the same bench-

marks as for balance sheet exposure. The only exception is 

options, whose risk is measured as described above under 

section ”Volatility Risk”. 

The counterpar ty risk involved in derivatives business is 

monitored using credit countervalues that are based on the 

repurchase cost of contracts (market value) and instrument-

specific future credit risk factors. 

The purpose of hedging credits and debt issues against 

interest rate risk is to lock the margin, or the interest rate 

difference between the hedged and hedging item. Hedge 

effectiveness is assessed by the ratio between the interest 

rate risk figures and market values of the hedged and hedg-

ing items.

Additional earnings components linked to the issued 

index loans have been hedged using derivative structures. 

The hedging derivatives are equity, equity index, currency, 

interest rate commodity and credit derivatives.

Managing Operational Risks

Operational risk refers to the risk that the operations create: 

as risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal 

processes, people and systems or from external events. 

Operational risk, which includes legal risk but excludes stra-

tegic risk, may also lead to loss of reputation.

The business units are responsible for operational risk 

management. The Risk Management Depar tment monitors 

the implementation of operational risk management, the risk 

level and losses caused by realised risks, and provides reports 

on these issues.

A corporate risk policy for operational risks has been 

prepared, defining the principles that guide the identification, 

assessment, monitoring and repor ting of operational risks. 

It also defines the key objectives for operational risk man-

agement.

The objective is to establish a culture that helps prevent 

risks. The organisation’s values as well as its management and 

business culture hold a crucial position in this effor t. Risk 

management is founded on a systematic approach, caution 

and continuity, which are to be observed in all business sec-

tors. 

In managing operational risks, risk identification and 

assessment as well as the subsequent refining of operating 

procedures play a critical role.

To prevent risks, processes and personnel competence 

will be developed, and the decision-making, execution and 

supervision have to be separated. Before new products are 

released, they will be described, operating processes will be 

planned, guidelines will be prepared, and the product will be 

approved. For legal risk management, it is crucial to ensure 

the legal and binding nature of any contracts. The essential 

factors in information management include the management 

of risks related to the authenticity, availability and integrity 

of information; elements that are par ticularly impor tant in 

electronic transactions. In development and implementation 

of information systems, par ticular attention is paid to the 

adequacy of specifications, expertise in terms of content and 

technology, testing, and pilot stages. The members of the OP 

Bank Group collaborate closely in the management of infor-

mation and bank security and the prevention of money 

laundering and financing of terrorism.

Contingency plans and information technology recovery 

plans have been prepared in cases of emergency, which are 

developed and updated regularly. Studies carried out by the 

Internal Auditing Unit play an important role in the manage-

ment of operational risks. Proper ty, theft and liability insur-

ance policies are also taken out to protect against losses due 

to operational risks.
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Identifying, Monitoring and Reporting 

Operational Risks

Operational risks inherent in current activities are ordinarily 

identified for each process, crossing the organisational 

boundaries. With regard to significant risks, the probability 

of the risk and the potential earnings impact of its realisation 

are assessed. Risks are re-assessed regularly and always in 

connection with significant changes.

Accident statistics are compiled from the materialised 

operative risks, with the aim of understanding the causes 

leading to the events and thereby developing operations.

Risk Management regularly reports to corporate manage-

ment on risk assessment results and aggregated group wide 

information on loss data, and recommends development 

projects or new procedures on the basis of these assess-

ments.

Strategic Risk

Strategic risk refers to losses incurred as a result of an erro-

neous business strategy. 

The threat and effect of strategic risks will be monitored 

and assessed annually in connection with updates to the risk 

management strategy. In the same context, any changes in 

the business environment and competitive conditions, as 

well as their effects on strategy implementation, will be 

assessed.

Risk Management Principles of 

Insurance Operations

In insurance operations, risk taking is part of the business 

mission and risk management is one of the core compe-

tences. The purpose of insurance operations is to carry risks 

on behalf of customers and to ensure that the value of their 

assets does not vanish or their livelihood is not jeopardised 

in unpredictable circumstances.

These services include both insurance technical and 

credit and market risks, which requires that risk management 

is integrated with day-to-day leadership and organisational 

procedures.

Organisation of Risk Management

The Boards of Directors of insurance companies have the 

ultimate responsibility for matters related to risk manage-

ment. Risk management is based on confirmed common 

guidelines for the overall internal control. Internal control 

consists of a risk management system by which business risks 

can be identified and controlled. The Board of Directors has 

set targets for the return on equity, combined ratio and 

solvency capital of Non-life Insurance.

The Risk Control function is independent of the business 

function taking the risk. The Risk Management function coor-

dinates  and develops risk management and related repor t-

ing and prepares a risk management plan for the approval 

of the Board of Directors. The Internal Control function is 

responsible for the implementation of internal control in 

accordance with the guidelines approved by the Board of 

Directors. The Internal Control and Risk Management func-

tions repor t regularly to the Board of Directors and the 

President. The Board of Directors evaluates the status of 

internal control at least once a year.

The Chief Actuary has a central role in the implementa-

tion of risk management. The duties of the Chief Actuary 

include monitoring the insurance contract liabilities, the ade-

quacy of the premium bases and the reinsurance principles, 

as well as the issue of a statement on the investment plan.

Risk Carrying Capacity and Capital Management

In insurance operations, adequate capitalisation has a vital 

role. The licence of an insurance company demands that the 

regulatory solvency requirements are fulfilled. The amount 

of capital has an effect both on return on equity and on the 

risk carrying capacity. High profitability supports both tar-

gets. Financial standing ultimately sets the limits to the size 

of the risks that can be assumed.

The aim is to maintain the solvency of Non-life Insur-

ance at a level which corresponds to an insurance financial 

strength rating of ‘A’ (in accordance with S&P).

The Non-life Insurance function has a probability model 

for the assessment of insurance and investment risks. By 

means of the model, an optimal structure for investment 

allocation, insurance por tfolio and solvency is evaluated, so 

as to maximise the return on capital. The model also defines 

a target for solvency.

Concerning  insurance r isks, the model takes into 

account of the different nature of the insurance lines and 

the extent of reinsurance. The model applied to investment 

risks is based on classification in accordance with the nature 

of investment instruments. The model takes into account the 

expected return and the mix of the investment classes, as 

well as the correlation between the classes.

Insurance Risks 

Insurance business is based on risk-taking and on the man-

agement of risks. The largest risks pertain to risk selection 

and rating, to the acquisition of reinsurance cover, and to 

the adequacy of insurance contract liabilities. The insurance 
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contract liabilities risk is involved particularly in those insur-

ance lines where the claims settlement period is long. In 

addition, a major insurance business risk consists of the 

investment risk related to the assets covering insurance con-

tract liabilities. 

Credit and market risk

Both the insurance and investment operations involve credit 

and market risks. These risks can materialise either

• as a market risk, whereby changes in market risk factors 

have a negative impact on assets and/or debts and lia-

bilities, 

• as a credit risk, which, if materialised, may cause financial 

losses as a result of the counterparty’s insolvency, or

• as a liquidity risk, which, if materialised, can lead to a 

situation where assets may have to be realised at less 

than the fair value.

In insurance operations, the risks consist of a market risk 

related to the assets covering insurance contract liabilities, 

a counterparty risk or a credit risk. Investment risks can 

materialise as lower than expected returns or as a fall in the 

value of investments. 

In insurance operations, special attention is paid to the 

diversification of market risks, to the liquidity of investments, 

and to the counterpar ty risk. In reinsurance, maximum liabil-

ity limits are annually set for each reinsurer. In accordance 

with the business strategy, investments are made in fixed-

income securities, shares and real estate both in Finland and 

abroad. The aim is to guarantee a good return in the long 

term. Investment operations are based on annually made 

investment plans and on investment powers.

Risk concentrations can arise, for example, from situa-

tions where insurance cover is granted to a customer in 

whom also investments have been made, either through 

equity or bond investments. This is taken into account in 

insurance and investment operations.

Operative risks

Insurance business also includes operative risks which may 

result in a direct or an indirect variation in profits. Operative 

risks are usually brought about by inefficiencies in internal 

processes or by an inability to manage unforeseeable exter-

nal events or pressures for change. Insurance operations 

have a separate risk management function, which coordi-

nates the development of risk management, together with 

officers responsible for risk management in different busi-

ness functions.

The responsibility for the management of operative risks 

lies with the business functions. The impact of the risks on 

the entire risk profile of insurance operations is assessed 

regularly, and the risks are repor ted to the senior manage-

ment, if necessar y. The management of operative risks 

requires a professional staff and well-functioning IT systems. 

Unforeseeable external events are taken into account by 

means of business continuity and precautionary plans and 

by insurance.

All operations comply with valid legislation, official regu-

lations and guidelines, and the self-regulatory norms of the 

insurance industr y. In the insurance operations function, 

there are not any known pending or impending cour t or 

arbitration proceedings that could have any material impact 

on the financial position.

The insurance operations are heavily dependent on 

information systems and technology. Therefore, special 

emphasis has been laid on the management of risks related 

to data systems. The focus in information security develop-

ment is on the prevention of the risks caused by viruses, on 

securing proper functioning of the data systems, and on 

protecting the data network.

Non-life insurance risks

With an insurance contract, the policyholder transfers the 

insurance risk to the insurer. The insurance risk of an indi-

vidual non-life insurance contract is composed of two ele-

ments. The first one is the occurrence of one or more loss 

events coverable under the contract. The second one is the 

size of the coverable loss. Both the number of coverable 

losses and the size of each loss are random. The insurance 

terms and conditions require the occurrence of a coverable 

loss to be unpredictable. On the other hand, the size of a 

loss sustained by the insured object generally depends heav-

ily for instance on the cause of the loss and on the circum-

stances at the time of loss as well as on the details of the 

occurrence. In addition, one insurance contract may cover 

objects whose nature and value vary.

The insurance por tfolio comprises a very large number 

of non-life insurance policies. Because of the large size of the 

insurance portfolio, the expected number of claims is also 

great. If there is no connection between the loss events, the 

law of large numbers in probability calculation provides that 

the larger the number of insurance risks in the portfolio, the 

smaller the relative variation in claims expenditure. 

Because, in reality, the lack of connection between insur-

ance risks is never complete, the insurer’s claims risk in 

propor tion to the size of insurance por tfolio never totally 

disappears, no matter how large the insurance portfolio. The 
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remaining risk due to the connection between insurance 

risks is called non-diversifiable risk. Non-diversifiable risks 

usually relate to changes in external operating environment, 

such as variations in the economic cycle, which have a sys-

tematic effect on the incidence and size of loss in cer tain 

groups of insurance contracts. Inflation, for instance, can 

have an increasing effect on the size of loss simultaneously 

in a large par t of the insurance por tfolio. Changes in the 

population’s general mortality rate again would be reflected 

in the whole annuity por tfolio in statutory insurance lines. 

A non-diversifiable risk can sometimes also relate to yet 

unknown and latent risks of loss in a large number of insur-

ance contracts. Among these are asbestos claims, which are 

the most well-known examples from the near past.

A risk type apar t consists of a claim accumulation gener-

ated by natural catastrophes or large catastrophes caused 

by human activity. Here, one catastrophic event may give 

rise to practically simultaneously payable claims for a great 

number of insured risks at high amounts. As a result, the total 

claims expenditure arising from a catastrophe may be 

extremely large. However, this risk can be diversified because 

the company operates in an area where the risk of natural 

catastrophes is considered fairly low and protection against 

the risk can be acquired through reinsurance.    

In the management of insurance risks, the most impor-

tant tasks relate to risk selection and rating, the acquisition 

of reinsurance cover, the follow-up of claims expenditure 

and the evaluation of insurance contract liabilities.

The role of risk selection and rating is emphasised in 

operational models. Limits have been set for the size and 

extent of risk for each insurance line and risk concentration. 

A data warehouse and analysis applications suppor ting the 

underwriting function have been taken into use. Insurance 

terms and conditions are a vital tool in controlling risks. In 

addition, customer or insurance line specific risk analyses are 

performed to limit risks.

Guidelines have also been draw up for the reinsurance 

principles and the amount of risk to be retained for own 

account. The level of reinsurance protection has an impact 

on the need of solvency capital. Only companies with a suf-

ficiently high insurance financial strength rating are accepted 

as reinsurers. Moreover, maximum limits have been con-

firmed for the amounts of risk that can be ceded to any one 

reinsurer. The limit depends on the nature of the risk involved 

and on the company’s financial standing. The reinsurance 

agreements have mainly been placed with companies whose 

ratings are at least ‘A’ in accordance with Standard & 

Poor’s. 

The adequacy of insurance contract liabilities is moni-

tored annually. The evaluation of insurance contract liabilities 

always involves uncer tainty factors which may be due, for 

instance, to the prediction of the claims trend, to delays in 

verifying losses, to cost inflation, to legislative changes, and 

to general trends in the economy. 

Statutor y insurance contracts

The main part of claims expenditure in statutory lines of 

insurance consists of compensation for loss of income and 

for medical care and, in addition, in motor liability insurance, 

of compensation paid for material damage. Compensation 

for loss of income is tied to the injured party’s earnings. No 

absolute upper limit has been set for compensation for loss 

of income. Permanent compensation for loss of income is 

paid in the form of lifetime annuity. The index increases in 

annuities do not fall within the scope of compensation under 

insurance contracts (see Pay-as-you-go system).

Medical treatment expenses are covered in full. As 

regards claims paid under statutory lines of insurance, the 

public sector also charges in accordance with actual costs 

incurred from medical care for losses that have occurred 

after 2004. However, the risk for medical treatment expenses 

is materially limited by the fact that medical treatment 

expenses for losses that have occurred more than 10 years 

ago do not fall within the scope of compensation payable 

under insurance contracts (see Pay-as-you-go system). In 

addition, the insurance company seeks actively to sign con-

tracts with different medical care providers in order to 

minimise costs.

In addition to accidents, statutory workers’ compensa-

tion insurance covers occupational diseases. Occupational 

diseases typically develop slowly. Therefore, the evaluation 

of claims expenditure for occupational diseases includes 

more uncer tainty than in accident cases. An extreme exam-

ple of this are latent occupational diseases in which the 

period from exposure to the actual outbreak of the disease 

may be even tens of years. Asbestos-induced diseases are 

such occupational diseases. The death rate among those 

suffering from the most severe asbestos diseases, i.e. mes-

othelioma or lung cancer, is very high.

Statutory workers’ compensation insurance covers an 

employer’s all employees. Therefore, a major loss may occur 

because a great number of insured employees may be work-

ing in a small area. In the case of a single traffic accident, 

there may be many casualties, in addition to material dam-

age. An upper limit of €3.3 million has been set for compen-

sation payable for material damage under one motor liabil-

ity policy.

Since taking out insurance is compulsory in statutory 
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lines of insurance, the law provides that insurers must, in 

their rating of insurance policies, aim at risk correlation, in 

such a way that premiums are reasonably propor tioned to 

the costs incurred from the policies. Motor liability insurance 

has a bonus system under which a loss event raises the 

insurance premium. In statutory workers’ compensation 

schemes for large companies, the policyholder has the 

option of experience rating, which means that premiums are 

tied to the policyholder’s own claims experience. The larger 

the company the stronger the linkage, and the more reliable 

the estimation of the company’s actual risk level, measured 

on the basis of the company’s own loss experience. A cor-

responding principle also applies to the rating of the largest 

vehicle fleets of a single policyholder. By this means, the risk 

related to rating is limited because the rating of the insured 

risk follows automatically, if not fully, the policyholder’s own 

loss experience. 

The reinsurance of statutory workers’ compensation 

insurance has been arranged through a national catastrophe 

pool. The company’s share of the pool is determined by the 

market share in the insurance line concerned. The company’s 

limit in the pool is €1.5 million and the retention limit in the 

catastrophe pool is €6 million. The pool has acquired reinsur-

ance cover up to €150 million. In motor liability insurance, 

the retention is €3 million for any one loss event.

The provision for claims for annuities is mainly com-

posed of annuities of statutory insurance lines. In the com-

putation of the claims provision for annuities discounting is 

used. The discount rate chosen is of great significance.

It is typical of the statutory lines of insurance that the 

period from the occurrence of a loss to the date at which 

the claim is fully paid is often long. Such insurance business 

generates long-standing cash flow, on the evaluation of 

which cost inflation and the mortality of benefit recipients 

have the greatest impact. A downward trend in mortality 

increases cash flow related to claims because compensation 

for loss of income is mainly paid as lifetime annuity. A 

decrease in mortality has continued in Finland and other 

industrialised countries for several decades. The life expect-

ancy of newborn babies has increased in Finland by around 

1.5 years in ten years. This trend has been assumed to 

continue in the mortality model used by the company for 

calculating insurance contract liabilities. The estimation of 

medical expenses inflation also has a major role in the eval-

uation of cash flows. The developments in medicine and in 

living conditions have both decreased mortality and 

increased medical treatment expenses. In the estimation of 

future cash flows, the company has assumed medical 

expenses inflation to be two percentage points higher than 

the general inflation rate.

The scope of cover in statutory lines of insurance is fully 

regulated by legislation. Therefore, all par ties are aware of 

the type of claims paid and of the size of compensation paid 

for each claim. This improves the predictability of future cash 

flows.

 

Pay-as-you-go system

The pay-as-you-go system is an arrangement based on the 

special laws of each statutory line of insurance. Under the 

system, the financing of certain benefits, so-called pay-as-

you-go benefits, defined in these laws, has been arranged 

through the pay-as-you-go system. The system is based on 

the law and does not generate, for insurance companies, 

any economic benefit nor any harm that would lead to 

changes in equity.

Pay-as-you-go benefits include index increases in annui-

ties, medical treatment expenses compensated under statu-

tory workers’ compensation insurance and motor liability 

insurance over ten years after the accident occurred, as well 

as cer tain other increases in benefits, as provided in special 

legislation regarding the different statutory lines of insur-

ance.

In accordance with the above legislation, the pay-as-you-

go benefits are financed by contributions collected by insur-

ers from policyholders annually in connection with premium 

collection. The size of the contribution is determined on the 

basis of the insurance company’s market share in the line of 

insurance concerned in the collection year. In par ticular, an 

insurance company which no longer underwrites that insur-

ance line does not take par t in the financing of the pay-as-

you-go system. The amount collected through this contribu-

tion is forwarded annually to the central organisation for the 

par ticular insurance line, as provided by the law. The central 

organisation is in charge of distributing the funds in such a 

way that each company transacting, or which transacted 

previously, the insurance line concerned receives exactly the 

amount that corresponds to the claims it has paid that year 

in pay-as-you-go benefits.

Thus, future policyholder generations pay for the financ-

ing of future pay-as-you-go benefits. The obligation to insure 

regarding all statutory lines of insurance guarantees the 

financing basis for the system. For instance, in the case of 

statutory workers’ compensation insurance, the contribu-

tion for the financing of the pay-as-you-go benefits payable 

any given year is collected from all those employers who, in 

that year, have employees in Finland or Finnish employees 
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assigned abroad. Therefore, the financing of the pay-as-you-

go system, based on special legislation governing statutory 

lines of insurance, could fail only in a case where doing work, 

motor traffic or medical care in Finland would cease alto-

gether.

Other accident and health insurance

In other accident and health insurance, claims are usually 

small. Compensation is paid mainly for medical treatment 

expenses or permanent injury or handicap. In addition, 

lump-sum benefits are paid in case of death.

The largest claims may arise from catastrophes in which 

a great number of people are injured. In named crisis areas, 

insurance cover is not in force.

In insurance policies, an upper age limit has usually been 

set for insured persons with the aim to restrict the amount 

of claims paid under policies. Fur thermore, in medical 

expenses insurance, a health declaration is requested from 

the person to be insured, on the basis of which the insured’s 

right to compensation may be limited.

Insurers have the right to alter the price and terms and 

conditions of insurance annually when renewing continuous 

annual policies. However, the causes for altering the price 

and terms and conditions of insurance are restricted in 

insurance legislation and the causes have to be listed in the 

insurance contract. An insurance contract cannot be termi-

nated because of a loss event. 

In new medical expenses contracts written after 2004, 

the company has set a policy-specific upper limit of €50 000 

for medical treatment expenses benefits. 

The company has taken out reinsurance cover against 

catastrophe accumulation in the insurance class ‘Other acci-

dent and health’. Retention under reinsurance is €2.5 million 

and claims are paid up to €25 million. In addition, the por-

tion remaining for own account has been reinsured under 

general catastrophe cover. The reinsurance does not cover 

losses arising from contagious disease epidemics. 

Medical expenses inflation has a major impact on fore-

casting cash flows in medical expenses insurance, as regards 

those illnesses for which compensation is paid for a long 

time. Medical expenses inflation is boosted by rapid develop-

ments in medicine and the rising cost of pharmaceuticals.

Future cash flows are also impacted by developments in 

public health care. If medical care services financed from 

public funds decrease, people will, to an increasing extent, 

star t financing their medical care through medical expenses 

insurance.

Hull and cargo insurance

Hull and cargo insurance policies cover loss or damage sus-

tained by motor vehicles, vessels, aircraft and railway rolling 

stock. Weather conditions have the greatest impact on the 

number and size of losses. Therefore, the claims expenditure 

is larger in the winter season than in the summer season. 

The largest single claims may be incurred by the com-

pany from hull insurance, especially in cases where one and 

the same vessel also carries cargo insured by the company. 

The company does not insure large commercial airliners.

In the rating of motor vehicle insurance, a no-claims 

bonus system is applied, under which the occurrence of a 

loss event raises the premium. In addition, the company has 

the right to change the premium annually. However, if the 

policyholder is a private individual, the premium can be 

changed only if the conditions set out in the insurance con-

tract are met.

The company has taken out a separate reinsurance 

cover against major loss or damage sustained by vessels and 

cargo. Retention under reinsurance is €4 million. In addition, 

losses for own account are reinsured under catastrophe 

cover under the same reinsurance agreement as property and 

business interruption policies. Retention under this catastro-

phe protection is €7.5 million for any one loss event.

Most of the motor vehicle insurance portfolio comprises 

private individuals’ policies. Otherwise, the insurance risk in 

this class is mainly composed of insurance taken out by 

companies and corporations.

The estimation of future cash flows in private individual 

and motor vehicle insurance does not include any major 

uncer tainty factors. Almost all claims have been paid within 

six months from the occurrence of the loss. For other poli-

cies, the claim settlement period is somewhat longer. 

Property and business interruption insurance

In property and business interruption insurance, the largest 

single risks are fire, natural phenomenon and breakage risks 

at companies’ production facilities and buildings, as well as 

related business interruption risks. Private households’ single 

property risks are small and individual claims related to them 

have no material impact on the company’s results. Most of 

the claims expenditure for private households is incurred 

from leakage, fire and burglary claims. 

The risk of natural catastrophes has been considered 

minor in Finland and the Baltic States, but forest damage in 

Sweden has led to the reassessment of the risk. Pohjola has 

insured against storms around 5 per cent of all Finnish com-

mercial forests. Geographically, these are dispersed all over 



69OKO BANK GROUP    FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, IFRS 2005 

NOTES

Finland. On the basis of general knowledge and clarifications 

made, it is still uncer tain whether the recent storms are due 

to climatic changes or natural variations in climatic condi-

tions. Clarifications have shown, however, that there are 

indications of a change in climatic conditions also in the area 

where the company operates, at least in the long term. The 

forecasted increase in temperature levels will probably be 

seen as changes in summer and winter conditions and, for 

instance, as an increased number of rainfalls. Although there 

is no clear proof of an increasing effect which rising tem-

peratures may have on the severity of storms, the capacity 

of the catastrophe reinsurance cover has, from January 1, 

2006, been increased by €30 million, to €80 million, just to 

be on the safe side. The capacity is nearly 10-fold compared 

to the largest realised catastrophe accumulations.

As a rule, flood damage is excluded from the insurance 

terms and conditions for proper ty insurance covering build-

ings. In the selection of proper ty and business interruption 

risks, guided procedures based on customer segments’ dif-

ferent insurance needs and solutions are applied. The rating 

of major clients’ policies takes place in accordance with a 

cer tified quality system. Rating is graded in accordance with 

the size and severity of the risk. In the rating process, 

resources and managerial decision-taking is increased as the 

size and severity grows. 

In the rating of corporate customers, customer selection 

and discount guidelines apply. The customer selection guide-

lines include details on a potential customer’s eligibility for 

becoming a customer, taking into account, for instance, pay-

ment delays. In sectors with large risks, risk selection is tight-

ened. The discount guidelines define the seller’s, risk manag-

er’s, underwriter’s and supervisor’s powers to grant discount 

by line of insurance and par tly by customer segment. The 

rating of small enterprises is also guided by system author-

isations.

The profitability of proper ty and business interruption 

contracts is monitored by a varied follow-up and analysis 

system based on an insurance and loss data warehouse. 

Profitability analyses are carried out by line of insurance, by 

customer segment, by business sector and by customer care 

organisation.

The company has the right to re-rate policies in connec-

tion with renewal or to terminate a policy. However, when 

the customer is a private individual, the premium can only 

be changed on conditions specified in the insurance con-

tract.

 The insurance por tfolio is reinsured under a non-pro-

por tional reinsurance treaty in which retention is €5 million 

by insurance risk. In addition, reinsurance protection has 

been taken out against catastrophe accumulation claims. 

Under this reinsurance cover, retention is €7.5 million for 

any one loss event.

The estimation of future cash flows in proper ty and 

business interruption insurance does not involve any major 

difficulties. As a rule, claims are paid within a year from the 

occurrence of the loss and the amount of loss can be esti-

mated reliably. Generally speaking, the largest uncer tainty in 

claim-specific estimations appears in new business interrup-

tion and accumulation losses.

In the follow-up of the size of storm damage, the com-

pany monitors separately the damage caused by each storm. 

In each monthly repor t, the originally made overall loss esti-

mate is compared with the established claim expenditure 

and the estimate is adjusted, where necessary. 

Liability and legal expenses insurance

The number and size of liability claims are largely impacted 

by the legislation and legal practice governing the liability to 

pay damages.

Claims made by private individuals are usually small. In 

addition, the propor tion of private individuals’ risks of the 

total risk of the class is minor. 

Most of corporate liability policies are product liability 

and commercial general liability policies. In the selection of 

insurance risk, the same guidelines apply as in proper ty and 

business interruption insurance. For instance in product 

liability insurance, the risk of losses incurred from one and 

the same defect or act, so-called serial losses, has been 

reduced in such a manner that, for losses incurred at differ-

ent times from the same defect, the aggregate maximum 

indemnity equals the sum insured for the period during 

which the first loss was detected.

In legal expenses insurance, the person insured is indem-

nified for expenses for legal proceedings. Since the insured 

person can have an impact on the cost of legal proceedings, 

for instance, by the choice of attorney, legal expenses insur-

ance applies a propor tional deductible, whereby the cus-

tomer always pays a cer tain percentage of the overall loss.

The company’s retention for the risks in this class is €4 

million for any one loss event.

It is typical of liability insurance, that losses are revealed 

slowly. Once a loss has been repor ted, uncer tainty may still 

prevail as regards the size of the loss. However, the most 

significant uncer tainty factor relates to the evaluation of 

unknown losses. 
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In liability insurance, claims can be allocated either by 

the time at which the loss occurred (Occurrence) or by the 

time at which the claim was made (Claims made). From the 

viewpoint of the estimation of cash flows, this is of major 

significance. If it has been agreed under the insurance that 

the loss is to be allocated in accordance with the loss report, 

the policyholder no longer has an oppor tunity to file new 

claims after an agreed period of time from the expiry of the 

insurance contract.

The estimation of future cash flows from foreign reinsur-

ance in run-off involves uncer tainty factors. About a half of 

the insurance contract liabilities allocated to this business 

relate to APH business (Asbestos, Pollution, Health hazard). 

Of these liabilities, 70 per cent derive from the USA and 30 

per cent from the UK. The liabilities from the APH business, 

as well as other liabilities, originate from the 1980s and from 

insurance contracts signed earlier.

No significant uncer tainty factors relate to cash flows 

from legal expenses insurance because losses in this line are 

always repor ted promptly. Therefore, there is no major 

uncer tainty about the size of the losses, either.

Long-term insurance contracts

Economic conditions have a material impact on the number 

of claims in guarantee insurance. During upturn, there are 

fewer guarantee claims and during downturn the number of 

claims is significantly larger. Guarantee insurance contracts 

are divided into loan guarantees and contract guarantees. 

The duration of loan guarantees is an average of 5 to 7 years 

and that of contract guarantees a maximum of 2 years. Over 

a half of the guarantee insurance portfolio consists of con-

tract guarantees.

As a rule, the company has not taken out reinsurance 

cover for guarantee insurance, but par t of the guarantee 

insurance liabilities are covered by sufficient security. In case 

of a loss, the company can realise the proper ty held for 

security and thus reduce the loss. Guarantee insurance is 

long-term activity and, therefore, the insured’s financial 

standing, the developments in the amount of liability and the 

adequacy of counter-security must be monitored on a reg-

ular basis. Most of the decennial policies are statutory con-

struction defects insurance policies. In these policies regard-

ing residential buildings, a condition for a loss event is that 

there is a construction defect and that the builder is insol-

vent. Since the liability period under the insurance is 10 

years, the risk of serial loss is involved. For a builder with 

exceptionally many construction defects, the risk of insol-

vency increases materially.

In case of a serial loss, the company has a stop loss 

reinsurance treaty covering loss accumulation per under-

writing year. Under the treaty, retention for each underwrit-

ing year is 400 per cent of premiums written, but not less 

than €6 million.

Perpetual insurance contracts are fire policies covering real 

estate and forests. The insurance covers the same fire and 

natural catastrophe damage as the annual policies for real 

estate and forests. Owing to the long-standing effect of infla-

tion, the sums insured under perpetual insurance are small.

The largest problem with the forecasting of cash flows 

from long-term insurance contracts is that the amount of 

compensation materially depends on future years’ economic 

conditions, which are hard to predict.

The greatest uncer tainty related to cash flows from per-

petual insurance resides in the amount of surrenders. Cur-

rently, there are very few surrenders, the greatest risk being 

that the number of surrenders increases markedly. The 

annual amount of surrenders has been €200 000. If all pol-

icies were to be surrendered immediately, the amount pay-

able would be €15 million.

Investment Risks

Annually, an investment plan is drawn up, for which the 

following items are assessed:

• Operating environment and prospects for the future

• Investment risks regarding returns, security and   

 currency business

• Requirements set by the nature of the insurance

 contract liabilities as regards investment returns,

 liquidity and currency business

• Risk carrying capacity as regards investments in 

 the short and long term.

Investments are assets covering insurance contract liabilities 

and equity. By assuming well-managed investment risks, the 

aim is to obtain the best possible return on the investment 

portfolio. The structure of the investment portfolio by which 

a maximum return at the selected risk level is obtained on 

the portfolio is called basic allocation. The Non-life Insur-

ance function applies the Asset/Liability Model (ALM) to 

determine the basic allocation. As a result of active invest-

ment operations and fluctuations in property values, devia-

tions are, within certain limits, occasionally made from the 

basic allocation. In the investment plan, investment powers 

are determined for each asset class and for the internal 

diversification of asset classes.
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Market risk

The market risk is composed of the price, interest rate and 

currency risk. Changes in share prices, interest rates and 

currencies have an impact on the value of investments. The 

relation between the investment risk and the solvency cap-

ital of Non-life Insurance is assessed by means of an internal 

ALM model and the sensitivity analysis of the market risk.

The maximum amount and number of equities, alterna-

tive investments and proper ties which include a price risk 

are limited in the basic allocation. The investment risk is also 

managed by diversifying investments in different instruments, 

geographically and by business sector.

For the management of the market risk, derivatives are 

also used. The principles of the use of derivatives are annu-

ally defined in the investment plan. Interest rate and equity 

derivatives can be used both for hedging and for increasing 

the risk level of the por tfolio, within defined limits. Currency 

derivatives can be used only for hedging. Credit risk deriva-

tives are not used. Derivative contracts can be signed on 

regulated markets or with a counterpar ty whose long-term 

credit rating is at least A3 (Moody’s) or A- (Standard & 

Poor’s).

Interest rate risk

In addition to the sensitivity analysis, the interest rate risk 

of fixed-income portfolios is monitored by means of modi-

fied duration. In the investment plan, the modified duration 

of fixed-income portfolios has been assigned variation 

ranges proportioned to the modified duration of a bench-

mark portfolio.

Currency risk

The currency risks in Non-life Insurance mainly relate to 

foreign equity investments. In the investment plan, a maxi-

mum limit has been set for the currency risk. The US dollar, 

the British pound and the Japan yen form the largest cur-

rency positions in the balance sheet. Currency risks are 

actively hedged against by derivative contracts.

Credit risk

Investments in bonds consist mainly of euro-denominated 

bonds issued by euro-area governments. The credit risk is man-

aged by diversifying the portfolio and by limiting the proportion 

of weaker credit risk in the portfolio. The investment plan 

includes limitations regarding credit ratings. An internal credit 

risk assessment is made of non-rated issuers. On the basis of 

the assessment, an investment decision can be made.

Liquidity risk

The company’s liquidity requirements are taken into account 

when building up the investment portfolio. The primary 

liquidity buffer is the money market portfolio.  Investments 

in equities and bonds consist mainly of quoted and liquid 

equities and bonds.
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NOTE 3.  Business Operations Acquired and Sold during the Fiscal Period

On September 12, 2005, OKO Bank acquired the holdings in Pohjola plc’s shares of Suomi Mutual Life Assurance 

Company and Ilmarinen Mutual Pension Insurance Company for €1,195 million. After the acquisition, OKO Bank 

owned approximately 58.5 per cent of Pohjola’s shares and votes. The transaction was finally concluded on 

October 18, when OKO Bank obtained the regulatory approvals on which the transaction was conditiond. After 

the conclusion of the transaction, Pohjola plc became OKO Bank’s subsidiary. By the end of the year, OKO Bank 

increased its holding in Pohjola plc’s shares to 86.3 per cent. 

The main business operations of the Pohjola Group acquired are non-life insurance, and investment services con-

sisting of life insurance, mutual funds and asset management. Just before year-end, Pohjola sold its 100% holding 

in Pohjola Fund Management Company Ltd to the OP Bank Group Central Cooperative for € 73 million and 

Pohjola Systeemipalvelu Oy for € 13 million. These transactions did not have an effect on the financial perform-

ance of OKO Bank Group.

In the consolidation of the financial statements for 2005, the acquisition cost of Pohjola plc’s shares according to 

the situation on December 31, 2005 added to the direct costs related to the acquisition of the shares has been 

used as the acquisition cost. The aggregate amount of the acquisition cost was €1,773 million, of which the acqui-

sition cost of the shares was €1,766 million and the direct costs related to the acquisition were €7 million. The 

acquisition cost was paid in cash.

The goodwill arising as a result of consolidation is formed as the difference between the acquisition cost and the 

fair values of indentifiable  assets and liabilities acquired. The indentifiable assets and liabilities acquired are 

formed of the net assets of Pohjola valued at fair value and those indentifiable assets  identified in connection 

with the acquisition that are not included in the balance sheets of the Pohjola companies acquired. The goodwill 

describes  income expectations and synergies of the acquisition.

OKO Bank Group’s earnings for the fiscal period amounted to €271 million. Of the consolidated Pohjola compa-

nies, profit for the November–December period totalling €11 million has been taken into account in OKO Bank’s 

consolidated financial statements. If the Pohjola companies had been acquired at the beginning of the fiscal 

period, the total profit for the fiscal period would have been consolidated with the OKO Bank Group’s earnings, 

in which case OKO Bank Group’s profit for the fiscal period would have been clearly greater. However, the 

impact of this consolidation on the earnings of the OKO Bank Group cannot be assessed in practice, as the 

adjustments required by the consolidation of Pohjola and OKO Bank Group have not been examined for the 

period preceding ownership. 
     Values   Book values
     used before 
      in consolidation consolidation

Tangible assets   55.3 52.0

Investment properties   66.0 58.4

Intangible assets    

 Brands   179.1 

 Customer relationships   314.5 20.6

 Insurance contracts   46.3 2.0

 Software  75.3 40.3

 Goodwill  15.7 

Financial assets   4433.3 4433.3

Other assets   71.9 71.9

Liquid assets   99.5 99.5

Total assets    5341.2 4793.7
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     Values   Book values
     used before
      in consolidation consolidation

Insurance liabilities   3268.0 3268.0

Financial liabilities   150.3 150.3

Deferred tax liabilities   261.6 120.8

Provisions   37.7 37.7

Pension obligations   9.3 4.5

Accounts payable and other liabilities   155.3 155.3

Total liabilities    3882.2 3736.6

      

Net assets    1459.0 1057.1

      

Holding in net assets acquired on December 31, 2005  86.3 % 1258.7 

Acquisition cost    1773.2 

Goodwill on the acquisition date*   514.5 

      

Acquisition price paid in cash  1773.2 

Liquid assets of the subsidiary acquired   99.5 

Cash flow impact   1673.7 

* A more detailed breakdown on goodwill can be found in Note 26 concerning intangible assets.

Business Operations Sold

In September, OKO Bank sold its 100% holding in Okopankki Oyj to the OP Bank Group Central Cooperative as 

part of the financing for the Pohjola transaction. The transaction was confirmed on October 18, 2005, when reg-

ulatory approvals were obtained for the Pohjola acquisition. Okopankki was included in the OKO Bank Group’s 

consolidated financial statements until October 31, 2005. Capital gain of € 153 million was recognised in the 

Group´s profit.

As a consequence of the sale of Okopankki shares, OKO Bank Group’s holding in OP-Kotipankki Oyj decreased 

to 16.9 per cent of the shares and 8.9 per cent of the voting rights. This means that OP-Kotipankki is no longer 

an affiliate of OKO Bank. The consolidated share of profit of OP-Kotipankki in the OKO Bank Group was minor.

Disposal of Assets  

 Intangible assets  0.8

 Tangible assets  38.1

 Financial assets  2955.7

 Other assets  35.2

 Total  3029.8

Disposal of Liabilities  

 Interest-bearing liabilities  2801.0

 Other liabilities  75.3

 Total   2876.3

    

Tranaction price received in cash  325.0

Half of asset transfer tax 1.6 per cent  2.6

Disposal of Liquid assets  15.2

Cash flow impact  307.2
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NOTE 4.  Discontinued Operations during the Fiscal Period and Asset Items Classified as Held for Sale

Of the sales of OKO Bank’s subsidiaries, both Okopankki Oyj and its subsidiary Helsingin Seudun OP-Kiinteistö-

keskus Oy are presented as discontinued operations. The earnings of Retail Banking are presented in segment 

reporting separately from other discontinued operations.

The integration of the Pohjola Group into the OP Bank Group contained a plan, according to which Pohjola sold 

Pohjola Life Insurance Company Ltd, Pohjola Fund Management Company Ltd and Pohjola Systeemipalvelu Oy 

included in the transaction to the OP Bank Group Central Cooperative . Of these, the transactions of Pohjola 

Fund Management Company Ltd and Pohjola Systeemipalvelut Oy were concluded on December 31, 2005 and 

the transaction of Pohjola Life Insurance Company Ltd on January 16, 2006 at the agreed prices . Pohjola Life 

Insurance Company has been reported as a discontinued operation and the asset and liability items related to it 

has been classified as held for sale. In segment reporting, Pohjola Life Insurance Company is presented as a dis-

continued operation. 

On December 22, 2005, Pohjola Group plc sold its 100% holding in the run-off companies Insurance Company 

Bothnia International and Moorgate Insurance Company Ltd to a buyer outside the Group. It is expected that the 

conditions of the sale will be finally met during the spring of 2006, if the necessary regulatory approvals are 

obtained and the other agreed conditions are met. 

The discontinued Retail Banking’s share of the cash flows 

€ million    2005  2004

Cash flow from operating activities  61  35

Cash flow from investments  -3  -2

Cash flow from financing  -95  -35

Total cash flow  -37  -2

Assets and liabilities classified as held for sale

    
€ million    Life insurance  Run off  Total

Assets     

Assets of non-life insurance   80.4 80.4

Assets of life insurance  1754.7  1754.7

Intangible assets  109.7  109.7

Tangible assets  0.1  0.1

Other assets  5.6 -0.3 5.3 

Tax receivables  2.7 0.7 3.4

Total assets  1872.8 80.8 1953.6

Liabilities     

Liabilities of non-life insurance   45.2 45.2

Liabilities of life insurance  1577.2  1577.2

Provisions and other liabilities  10.4 2.3 12.7

Tax liabilities  21.1  21.1

Total liabilities  1608.7 47.5 1656.2
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Notes to the Income Statement 

    

NOTE 5.  Net interest income 2005 2004     

Interest income     

 Receivables from financial institutions 114.3 83.5

 Receivables from customers 284.7 274.0

  Loans 272.0 263.1

  Finance lease receivables 11.7 10.9

  Impaired loans and other commitments 1.0 -

 Notes and bonds 98.7 89.4

  Held for trading purposes 34.4 41.2

  Available for sale 64.3 48.2

 Derivative contracts 262.0 -31.2

  Hedge accounting -3 -17.1

  Other 265.0 -14.1

 Other interest income 1.2 -

Total   760.9 415.7

    

Interest expenses   

 Liabilities to financial institutions 93.3 81.5

 Liabilities to customers 51.5 40.3

 Financial liabilities held for trading  0.4 0.5

  Hedge accounting -8.8 -

  Other 276.5 -8.7

 Notes and bonds issued to the public 181.2 139.0

 Subordinated liabilities 21.8 14.5

  Capital loans 7.1 1.6

  Other 14.7 12.9

 Derivative contracts 267.7 -8.7

 Other interest expenses 2.1 2.0

Total   618.1 269.1

Net interest income before impairment losses 142.7 146.6

Due to changes in the recognition and presentation, interest income and expenses are not comparable in 2004 

and 2005.

     

NOTE 6.  Impairment losses on receivables   

 

Receivables eliminated as loan and guarantee losses 2.5 0.9

 Recoveries of eliminated receivables -0.6 -2.2

 Increase in impairment losses 2.8 3.8

 Reversal of impairment losses   -5.1 -1.1

 Collective impairment losses 4.0 -

 Impairment losses on interest receivables - -

 Insurance payouts 0 0

Total   3.6 1.2
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NOTE 7.  Net income from Non-life Insurance  Nov.–Dec./05 2004   

Insurance premium revenue, net 137.8

Net investment income 12.1

Claims incurred -69.0

Other items from Non-life Insurance -12.2

Net income from Non-life Insurance 68.7

Insurance premium revenue and insurance premiums ceded to reinsurers    

Short-term insurance contracts   

 Premiums written 67.0 -

 Change in provision for unearned premiums 73.4 -

 Change in provision for unexpired risks 0.3 -

Long-term insurance contracts    

 Premiums written 1.2 -

 Change in provision for unearned premiums -1.0 -

Insurance premium revenue, gross 140.9 -

    

Reinsurers’ shares of short-term insurance contracts    

 Premiums written -2.0 -

 Change in provision for unearned premiums -1.0 -

Reinsurers’ share of long-term insurance contracts    

 Premiums written 0 -

 Change in provision for unearned premiums -0.1 -

Reinsurers´share, total -3.1 -

Insurance premium revenue, net 137.8 -

   

Total premiums written 68.2 

Total change in provision for unearned premiums 72.7 -

Total insurance premium revenue 140.9 -

 

Net investment income from Non-life Insurance   

 Loans and receivables   

  Interest income -0.1 -

  Net realised gains - -

  Impairment losses - -

 Total  -0.1 -

    

Net trading income   

 Interest income   

  Notes and bonds - -

  Other 0.4 -

 Net realised gains   

  Notes and bonds - -

  Equity securities 1.5 -

  Other - -

 Net unrealised gains   

  Notes and bonds -1.9 -

  Equity securities -2.2 -

  Derivatives -1.1 -

  Other - -

 Total  3.2 -

   



77OKO BANK GROUP    FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, IFRS 2005 

NOTES

Net income from available-for-sale financial assets  

 Notes and bonds   

  Interest income 10.5 -

  Other income 0.3 -

  Net realised gains -0.1 -

  Transferred from fair value reserve to financial period  -

  Impairment losses and their reversals  -

  Total 10.7 -

 Equity securities   

  Dividends 0.9 -

  Other income  -

  Net realised gains 3.1 -

  Transferred from fair value reserve to financial period  -

  Impairment losses  -

  Total 4.0 -

 Total  -14.7 -

   

Net income from investment property    

 

 Rental income 1.2 -

 Net realised gains -0.1 -

 Unrealised gains 0 -

 Maintenance charges and expenses -0.7 -

 Other    0.2 -

 Total  -0.6 -

    

Total net investment income from Non-life Insurance -12.1 -

    

Non-life Insurance claims  

    

Claims incurred    

 Claims paid (excl. loss adjustment expenses) -67.6 -

 Increase (decrease) in previous periods 3.2 -

Total claims incurred. gross -64.4 -

 Reinsurers’ share -4.6 -

Total claims incurred, net -69.0 -

  

NOTE 8. Net income from Life Insurance 

    

 Premiums written 148.0 

 Insurance premiums ceded to reinsurers - -

 Net investment income 53.5 -

 Claims incurred   

  Benefits paid -21.0 -

  Change in provision for unpaid claims -82.6 -

  Reinsurers’ share - -

 Change in insurance contract liabilities   

  Change in provision for unearned premiums -98.1 -

  Reinsurers’ share - -

 Other  -1.6 -

Total net income from Life Insurance -1.8 -

    

    Nov.–Dec./05 2004
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Premiums written in Life Insurance  

    

Premiums written from insurance contracts with entitlement to discretionary     

portion of surplus (DPF)   

 Endowment life insurance -5.3 -

 Deferred annuity insurance 14.3 -

 Group pension insurance 100.8 -

 Term insurance   

  Individual insurance 2.3 -

  Supplementary group insurance 0.8 -

  Employees’ group life insurance 0.0 -

Premiums written from unit-linked insurance contracts  -

 Endowment life insurance 22.1 -

 Supplementary employee pension contracts 12.3 

 Group pension contracts 0.7 -

Total direct insurance 148.0 -

Total premiums written 148.0 -

   

Regular premiums from insurance contracts 38.0 -

Single premiums from insurance contracts 110.0 -

Total   148.0 -

 

Net investment income from Life Insurance  

    

Loans and receivables    

 Interest income 0.5 -

    

Net trading income    

 Interest income   

  Other 0.9 -

 Net unrealised gains   

  Derivatives 0 -

 Total  0.9 

    

Net income from available-for-sale financial assets    

 Notes and bonds   

  Interest income 4.3 -

  Net realised gains -0.1 -

 Equity securities   

  Net realised gains 9.1 -

 Total  13.3 

    

Net income from investment properties   

 Rental income 0.2 -

 Net realised gains  -

 Unrealised gains 0.1 -

 Maintenance charges and expenses. portion not accruing rental income 0 -

 Other    0 -

 Total  0.3 

    

     Nov.-Dec./05 2004
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Assets covering unit-linked contracts    

 Equity securities   

  Net realised gains 5.5 -

  Net unrealised gains 33.0 -

  Other  0.0 -

 Total  38.5 

    

Total net investment income from Life Insurance 53.5 

   

Benefits paid in Life Insurance  

    

Benefits paid from insurance contracts    

Benefits paid from insurance contracts entitling to a discretionary portion of    

surplus (DPF)    

 Endowment life insurance   

  Maturities -5.0 -

  Death benefits -1.0 -

  Surrenders -4.0 -

 Deferred annuity insurance   

  Annuities -1.0 -

 Group pension insurance   

  Annuities -1.0 -

  Lump-sum benefits  -

 Term insurance   

  Supplementary group insurance -1.0 -

Benefits paid from unit-linked insurance contracts    

 Endowment life insurance   

  Death benefits -1.0 -

  Surrenders -6.0 -

Benefits paid from investment contracts    

Benefits paid from investment contracts entitling to a discretionary postion of    

surplus (DPF)    

 Capital redemption contracts   

  Surrenders -1.0 -

Benefits paid from unit-linked investment contracts    

 Surrenders -1.0 -

Total direct insurance -21.0 -

Total benefits paid in Life Insurance -21.0 -

    

NOTE 9.  Net Commission and Fees 2005 2004   

Commissions and fees   

 Lending  21.7 18.0

 Deposits  0.4 0.5

 Payment transfers  21.6 22.5

 Securities brokerage  29.5 21.7

 Mutual fund brokerage  1.9 -

 Securities issuence  6.0 5.9

 Asset management and legal services  16.9 13.8

 Insurance policy brokerage  4.1 3.9

 Guarantees  4.9 5.1

     Nov.-Dec./05 2004
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 Housing brokerage  7.2 6.5

 Customer bonus provision  -3.3 -3.6

 Others   3.2 4.8

 Total   114.4 99.2

     

Commission expenses   

 Payment transfers  5.6 5.1

 Securities brokerage  7.0 4.7

 Securities issuance 2.0 1.0

 Asset management and legal assignments  2.9 2.1

 Others   -1.0 1.3

 Total   24.9 14.1

Net commissions  and fees 96.0 85.1

    

NOTE 10.  Net Income from Trading     

Financial assets and liabilities held for trading   

 Capital gains and losses and realised changes in value   

  Notes and bonds  3.1 7.7

  Shares and holdings  -1.2 -5.5

  Derivatives  0.8 -11.8

 Unrealised changes in value  

  Notes and bonds  -6.0 -1.4

  Shares and holdings  0.4 0.4

  Derivatives  10.5 6.7

 Dividend income  0 0.1

Net income from foreign exchange trading  8.2 5.8

Total    15.8 2.1

NOTE 11.  Net Income from Investments  2005  2004     

Financial assets available for sale    

 Notes and bonds and loans acquired  

  Capital gains and losses 1.2 3.6

  Transferred from the fair value reserve during the fiscal period  0.1 0

  Changes in value  0.0 2.5

 Shares and holdings   

  Capital gains and losses  5.0 15.0

  Transferred from the fair value reserve during the fiscal period  7.0 0

  Write-downs  -4.2 -

 Dividend income  5.4 7.3

Total    9.2 21

Investment properties   

 Rental income  6.8 8.7

 Capital gains and losses  2.5 -0.1

 Gains from fair value adjustments   -0.7 -0.2

 Facility and maintenance charges  -4.7 -6.1

 Others   0.4 1.1

Total    4.3 3.4

     

Total net income from investments  18.9 31.4

    2005  2004
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NOTE 12.  Other operating income 2005  2004

    

 Rental income on real estate in own use 0.3 0.8

 Sales gains on real estate in own use 1.4 0.4

 Insurance payouts 0.1 0.1

 Realisation of repossessed items 1.0 0.7

 Rental income from assets rented by other rental contracts  5.1 2.1

 Reinsurance commissions of non-life insurance  1.8 -

 Others* 13.5 3.3

Total   23.1 7.3

    
* €9.8 million from Pohjola was consolidated under Other operating income, which includes income accrued from the management of the 

cooperation partners’ distribution network and insurance portfolios.      

NOTE 13.  Personnel costs 2005 2004

    

Salaries and renumerations  72.7 51.1

Share-based payment 0.1 -

Pension costs 7.8 4.2

 Defined contribution plans  9.4 4.8

 Defined benefit plans -1.6 -0.7

Other personnel related costs 5.5 4.0

Total   86.2 59.2

    

NOTE 14.  Other administrative expenses 

Office expenses 15.3 9.0

IT expenses 29.2 24.6

Communication expenses 5.1 3.4

Marketing expenses 9 6.2

Other administrative expenses 13.8 6.3

Total   72.4 49.5

NOTE 15.  Other operating expenses 

 Rental expenses 0.3 1.3

 Expenses from real estate and premises in own use 15.4 9.4

 Capital losses on real estate in own use 0 0

 Expenses  from realisation of repossessed items 1.0 0.8

 Reinsurance commissions of non-life insurance  0.2 -

 Loan losses of non-life insurance  2.0 -

 Change in the collective guarantee of non-life insurance  0.2 -

 Depreciation    

  Buildings 0.4 0.2

  Machinery and equipment 4.2 2.1

  Intangible assets 11.0 4.5

 Other  5.1 2.9

 Total  20.7 9.7
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Impairments    

 Real estate in own use 0 -0,1

 Goodwill 0 0

 Other  - -

 Total  0 -0,1

Other   12.5 9.6

Total   52.4 30.7

NOTE 16.  Income taxes    

Taxes based on taxable income for the fiscal period 25.2 15.9

Taxes for previous fiscal periods -6.6 0.6

Deferred taxes 14.1 13.9

Taxes on the income statement 32.7 30.4

     

Corporate income tax rate 26 29

     

A reconciliation between the tax expense in the income statement  

and the tax expense calculated by the applicable tax rate 2005 2004

     

Earnings according to accounts 303.5 138.0

Share of earnings corresponding to the tax rate 78.9 40.0

Taxes for previous fiscal periods -6.6 0.6

Effect of tax-exempt income -43.0 -2.0

Effect of non-deductible expenses 0.5 1.8

Unused losses/reconsideration 2.9 -0.7

Effect of change in tax rates - -9.3

Taxes on the income statement 32.7 30.4

NOTE 17.  Earnings per share 2004 2005

Basic earnings per share 

Earnings per share is calculated by dividing profit or loss for the fiscal period attributable to shareholders by the 

adjusted number of shares outstanding on average during the fiscal period.

     Dis- 2005  Dis- 2004
    Continuing  continued  Continuing  continued 
    operations operations Total operations operations Total         

Profit for the period belonging to the parent 

company’s owners (EUR) 89 178 267 70 36 107

Weighted average number of shares (1000)        

Series A shares 106 025 106 025 106 025 96 155 96 155 96 155

Series K shares 30 024 30 024 30 024 28 397 28 397 28 397

Total   136 049 136 049 136 049 124 553 124 553 124 553

Basic earnings per share (EUR/share)        

Series A shares 0.65 1.31 1.96 0.57 0.29 0.86

Series K shares 0.65 1.30 1.95 0.56 0.29 0.85

    2005 2004
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Diluted earnings per share     

  

OKO Bank has dilutive options which increase the number of ordinary shares. Options have a dilutive effect 

when the subscription price of the options is lower than the market price of ordinary shares. The amount of 

dilution is calculated by adding to the adjusted number of shares on average the number of new shares if all 

options are converted to shares. From this total, the number of shares from full option conversion multiplied by 

the share subscription price and divided by the adjusted average share price during the fiscal period is deducted.

     Dis- 2005  Dis- 2004
    Continuing  continued  Continuing continued 
    operations operations Total operations operations Total

Profit for the period belonging to the parent 

company’s owners (EUR) 89 178 267 70 36 107

Weighted average number of shares (1000)        

Series A shares 106 025 106 025 106 025 96 155 96 155 96 155

Series K shares 30 024 30 024 30 024 28 397 28 397 28 397

Total   136 049 136 049 136 049 124 553 124 553 124 553

Effect of share options (1000) 1 191 1 191 1 191 3 139 3 139 3 139

Weighted average number of shares adjusted 

for dilution (1000 137 239 137 239 137 239 127 692 127 692 127 692

Earnings per share adjusted for dilution 

(EUR/share)        

Series A shares 0,65 1,30 1,95 0,55 0,29 0,84

Series K shares 0,64 1,29 1,93 0,55 0,28 0,83

Post-fiscal operations affecting the shares      

  

In November and December 2005, a total of 468 200 Series A shares were subscribed for using the option 

rights. These shares were registered on January 12, 2006. Due to the registration, OKO Bank’s share capital 

increased by slightly less than €1 million.

Notes to balance sheet

NOTE 18.  Liquid assets  December 31, 2005 December 31, 2004

 Cash  1.2 8.0

 Deposits with central banks repayable on demand

  Overnight deposits 0 0

  OKO Bank’s minimum reserve deposit 115.7 84.0

  Other 362.0 204.9

Total    478.9 296.9

According to the European Central Bank system, credit institutions are obliged to have a minimum reserve 

deposit with their national central bank. The primary purpose of the system is to stabilize  money market rates 

and increase the need for structural central bank financing. Credit institutions within OP Bank Group place  a 

reserve deposit with OKO Bank, which acts as an intermediary authorised by the OP Bank Group’s credit institu-

tions and is responsible for OP Bank Group’s obligation to place a deposit with the Bank of Finland.
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NOTE 19. Receivables from credit institutions  Dec. 31, 2005 Dec. 31, 2004

 Deposits with central banks  

  Other than repayable on demand 0 0

 Minimum reserve deposit with the Bank of Finland

  Deposits

   Repayable on demand 76.6 52.9

   Other  430.8 567.6

  Total 507.3 620.5

   of which receivables from credit institutions due in less than 3 months   507.3 609.5

 Loans and other receivables 

  Repayable on demand   

   From member banks 0 0

   From other credit institutions 0 0

   Total 0 0

  Other        

   From member banks 2 677.7 2 566.5

   From other credit institutions 1 432.3 361.5

  Total 4 112.1 2 928.0

Receivables from financial institutions 4 619.4 3 548.5

 Impairment losses    

  From member banks 0.0 0.0

  From other credit institutions -2.0 -

 Total  -2.0 -

          

Total receivables from credit institutions 4 617.4 3 548.5

          

Receivables from credit institutions include EUR 35.3 million (0) of repo receivables.   

  

     

NOTE 20.  Financial Assets Held for Trading  December 31, 2005  December 31, 2004           

 Government notes and bonds   

  Treasury bills, maturity 3 months or less  0.0 59.3

  Other Treasury bills  0.0 8.4

  Government bonds. maturity 3 months or less  3.5 0.0

  Other government bonds  261.7 253.4

 Total  265.2 321.2

 Other notes and bonds   3 480.3 2 775.5

 Shares and holdings  5.8 2.4

 Loans acquired and other receivables  - -

Total    3 691.8 3 085.1

Other notes and bonds held for trading include €1,594.4 million (1,632.5) of certificates of deposit, €194.1 mil-

lion (2.5) of commercial papers, €59.5 million (13.9) of debentures, €1,626.4 million (1,126.6) of bonds and €5.9 

million (0) of other notes and bonds. 
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Breakdown of notes and bonds held for trading and shares and holdings by quotation and issuer

    December 31,  December 31,
      2005   2004
    Notes and Shares and Notes and Shares and
    bonds  holdings bonds  holdings

Quoted      

 From public sector entities  281.2  408.4 

 From others    1 709.3 5.8 1039.3 2.4

Others      

 From public sector entities  98.6  0.2 

 From others  1 597.0 0 1634.8 0

Total   3 686.0 5.8 3082.7 2.4

 Impairment losses

Financial assets held for trading include €2,587.0 million of notes and bonds entitling to central bank financing. 

Financial assets held for trading include €59.5 million (13.9) of subordinated publicly-quoted notes and bonds 

from others and €1,507.6 million (1,287.6) of pledged notes and bonds.     

NOTE 21.  Derivative Contracts  December 31, 2005  December 31, 2004 

 Held for trading    

 Interest derivatives  77.8 44.2

 Currency derivatives  32.8 49.2

 Equity derivatives  0 0

 Credit derivatives  0 0

 Others  0 0

Total    110.7 93.4

Hedging derivative contracts – hedging of fair value   

 Interest rate derivatives  12.4 0

 Currency derivatives  0 0

 Equity derivatives  0 0

 Credit derivatives  0 0

 Others   0 0

Total    12.4 0

Total derivative contracts  123.1 93.4

The derivative contracts item includes positive changes in value.

NOTE 22.  Receivables from Customers  December 31, 2005  December 31, 2004

Loans to the public and public sector entities  4 648.8 6 868.3

Finance lease receivables  370.4 314.2

Loans acquired and other receivables   

 Others   1 754.6 1 503.7

Impairment losses on loans   

 Based on credit risk  -19.0 -22.1

 Total receivables from customers  6 754.8 8 664.1
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Changes in impairments on loans and guarantees   Bank  
     guarantee Interest
    Loans receivables receivables Total

Impairments on January 1, 2005  22.1 3.6 -0.9 24.8

 Increases in impairments  3.7 0.5 0.0 4.3

 Reversal of impairments   -2.5 -0.9 0.0 -3.4

 Business operations sold  -2.0 -0.2 0.0 -2.2

 Loans and guarantee receivables eliminated from the balance sheet.     

of which a receivable-specific impariments has been recognised -1.2 0.0 0.0 -1.2

Impairments on December 31, 2005  20.0 3.0 -0.9 22.1

     Bank 
     guarantee Interest
    Loans receivables receivables Total

Imapairments on January 1, 2004  23.8 1.1 0.0 25.7

 Increases in impairments   1.3 2.5 0.0 3.8

 Reversal of impairments   -1.1 0.0 0.0 -1.1

 Loans and guarantee receivables eliminated from the balance sheet.     

for which a receivable-specific impairments has been made  -1.9 0.0 0.0 -1.9

Impairments on December 31, 2005  22.1 3.6 0.0 25.7

Finance lease receivables 

OKO Bank Group mainly offers transport equipment, industrial machines and equipment through finance leases. 

The maturity periods of finance leases  December 31, 2005  December 31, 2004 

 Within one year  132.5 119.9

 Within more than a year and at most within five years  204.6 192.5

 Within more than five years  81.3 32.4

Gross investment in finance leases  418.4 344.8

 Unearned finance income (–)  -48.0 -26.2

Present value of minimum lease payments receivable  370.4 318.6

   

Present value of minimum lease payments receivables    

 Within one year  121.5 111.1

 Within more than a year and at most within five years  188.7 179.3

 Within more than five years  60.2 28.2

Total   370.4 318.6

   

Gross growth during the fiscal period 175.0 149.5

   

NOTE 23.  Non-life Insurance assets Dec. 31, 2005 Dec. 31, 2004

     

Investments    

 Loans and receivables 67.5 -

 Shares  407.0 -

 Properties 62.7 -

 Notes and bonds 1 626.0 -

 Other  288.5 -

Total   2 451.7 -
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Other assets  

 Prepayments and accrued income 0.1 

 Other    

  From direct insurance 184.1 -

  From reinsurance 74.4 -

  Cash at bank and in hand 32.0 -

Total   290.6 -

Total Non-life Insurance assets  2 742.4 -

     

Non-life Insurance investments 

     

 Loans and receivables    

  Loans and recevables 67.5 -

  Deposits with ceding undertakings 3.2 -

 Total  70.7 

 Financial assets for trading    

  Government bonds - -

  Other notes and bonds  25.2 -

  Equity securities - -

  Derivative financial instruments   

   Currency derivatives - -

   Interest rate derivatives - -

 Total     25.2 -

 Available-for-sale financial assets    

  Notes and bonds 1 658.2 -

  Equity securities 407.0 -

  Other 287.9 -

 Total  2 353.2 -

 Investment properties    

  Land and water areas 5.8 -

  Buildings 21.8 -

  Shares in mutual property companies 35.1 -

 Total  62.7 -

Total Non-life Insurance investments before transfers 2 511.8 -

 Transfer to assets held for sale -60.1 

     

Total Non-life Insurance investments 2 451.7 

     

Notes and bonds and equity securities held for trading in Non-life Insurance classified on the basis of quote 

and issuer 2005     
    
    Notes and bonds Equity securities

      

Quoted      

 From public corporations 10.4 -

 From others 11.8 -

Other    

 From public corporations 3.0 -

 From others  -

Total   25.2 -

    Dec. 31, 2005 Dec. 31, 2004
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Available-for-sale financial assets of Non-life Insurance December 31, 2005

                                                                                               Available-for-sale notes and bonds        Available-for-sale equity securities
    At fair At cost  At fair At cost
     value  Total value  Total*

Quoted       

 From public corporations 1 099.6 - 1 099.6   

 From others 470.8 - 470.8 578.1  578.1

Other       

 From public corporations 3.8 - 3.8   

 From others 84.0 - 84.0 115.2 1.7 116.9

Total   1 658.2 - 1 658.2 693.3 1.7 695.0

 Impairment losses - - - 2.6 - 2.6

Available-for-sale financial assets in Non-life Insurance include €4.5 million in pledged assets.

* Available-for-sale equity securities include EUR407.0 million in equity securities and EUR287.9 million in other financial assets. 

Other financial assets include primarily interest rate, money market, commodities and absolute return funds.

Non-life Insurance investments in associates Dec. 31, 2005 Dec. 31, 2004

Investments January 1 - -

 Business acquisitions 1.7 -

 Share of profits for the period 0 -

 Dividends - -

Investments December 31 1.7 -

Derivative contracts of Non-life Insurance
                                                                            Nominal values/term to maturity                Fair values      Credit
             counter
    Under 1 year >1–5 years >5 years Total Assets Liabilities values 

Currency derivatives         

Currency forward contracts 71 - - 71 0 0 0

Interest rate and currency swaps - - - - - - -

Currency options         

 Purchased 63 - - 63 0 - 1

 Written  67 - - 67 - 1 0

OTC currency derivatives in total 201 - - 201 0 1 1

Currency futures contracts - - - - - - -

Currency derivatives in total 201 - - 201 0 1 1

Interest rate derivatives        

Interest rate futures contracts 6 - - 6 0 - -

Quoted derivatives in total 6 - - 6 0 - -

Interest rate derivatives in total 6 - - 6 0 - -

NOTE 24.  Investment Assets    December 31, 2005 December 31, 2004

 Notes and bonds  140.1 166.5

 Shares and holdings  150.3 90.9

 Total   290.4 257.5

Investment properties   

 Land and water areas  0.4 11.7

 Buildings 34.7 70.1

 Total   35.1 81.8

Total investment assets  325.5 339.4

The information of the comparison year has been valued according to the previous accounting standards.
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Financial assets available for sale on December 31, 2005 

                                                                            Notes and bonds available for sale                        Shares and holdings available for sale
     At    At 
    At fair amortised  At fair acquisition 
    value cost Total value cost Total

Quoted       

 From public sector entities   0 0   

 From others  58.9 0 58.9 45  45

Others       

 From public sector entities   0 0   

 From others  81.2 0 81.2  105.3 105.3

Total   140.1 0 140.1 45 105.3 150.3

 Impairment losses  - - - - 4.5 4.5

The financial assets available for sale include €38.2 million (56.3) of subordinated publicly-quoted notes and 

bonds from others and €10.1 million (26.9) of other than publicly-quoted notes and bonds from others. Financial 

assets available for sale include €6.8 million (0) of pledged notes and bonds. 

 

Investments in venture capital funds (€17 million) are valued at acquisition cost.The portfolio included €88 million 

of unquoted shares, which are also valued at acquisition cost. It is not possible to reliably define a fair value for 

investments.

Financial assets available for sale on December 31, 2004

                                                                         Notes and bonds available for sale                       Shares and holdings available for sale 
     At    At
    At fair amortised  At fair  aqcuisition 
    value cost Total value cost Total

Quoted       

 From public sector entities  0.7 - 0.7   

 From others  140.4 - 140.4 30.3  30.3

Others       

 From public sector entities  0 - 0   

 From others 25.4 - 25.4  60.7 60.7

Total    166.5 - 166.5 30.3 60.7 90.9

 Impairment losses  0  0   

   

NOTE 25.  Holdings in Affiliates December 31, 2005 December 31, 2004

Investments on January 1  25.4 20.6

 Acquisitions of business operations  6.7 -

 Share of the profit for the fiscal period  1.3 6.1

 Dividends -3.3 -1.4

 Change in Group structure  -23.4 -

Investments on December 31  6.7 25.4

Holdings in affiliates included in the consolidated financial statements in 2005          

Name   Domicile Assets Liabilities Net sales Profit/ 
        Loss Holding, %

Nooa Säästöpankki Oy Helsinki 76.1 69.4 2.2 -0.5 25.0

Autovahinkokeskus Oy Espoo 1.5 0.5 1 0 27.8

Vahinkopalvelu Oy Loppi 1.4 0.7 1.5 0 46.7

Autovahinkokeskus Oy and Vahinkopalvelu Oy are included in the balance sheet item Assets of non-life insurance.
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The affiliates are unquoted companies.

Holdings in affiliates included in the consolidated financial statements in 2004  

Name   Domicile Assets Liabilities Net sales Profit/ 
        Loss Holding, %

OP-Kotipankki Oyj Helsinki 247.2 197.5 37.1 7.3 20.8

Automatia Pankkiautomaatit Oy Helsinki 348.9 310.1 70.1 4.8 33.3

Toimiraha Oy Helsinki 11.6 0.2 2.3 7.2 33.3

Total    607.7 507.8 109.5 19.3 

The affiliates are unquoted companies.

NOTE 26.  Intangible Assets 

                   Dec. 31, 2005                                                 Dec. 31, 2004
                    Customer relation-
      ships related
      to insurance 
      contracts and
      acquitition costs Other   Other
       of insurance intangible   intangible
Changes in intangible assets Goodwill Brands  policies assets Total Goodwill assets Total

Acquisition cost on January 1  - - - 33.4 33.4 - 32.5 32.5

 increases*  - - - 9.3 9.3 - 4.0 4.0

 decreases -78.3  -6.0 -1.0 -85.3 - -0.1 -0.1

 transfers between items  - - - - - - -3.1 -3.1

 transfer to asset items held for sale -44.4 - -53.4 -14.0 -111.8 - - -

 business operations acquired  514.4 179.1 360.8 75.3 1129.6 - - -

Acquisition cost on December 31  391.7 179.1 301.4 103.0 975.2 - 33.4 33.4

Acc. depreciation and imapairments on January 1  - - - -23.2 -23.2 - -20.4 -20.4

 depreciation during the fiscal period  - - -4.8 -7.4 -12.2 - -4.3 -4.3

 impairments during the fiscal period  - - - 0.0 0.0 - - -

 reversals of impairments during the 

 fiscal period - - - 0.0 0.0 - - -

 decreases - - - 0.2 0.2 - 1.2 1.2

 transfer to asset items held for sale  - - 0.9 1.2 2.1 - - -

 other changes  - - - 0.0 0.0 - - -

Acc. depreciation and impairments on Dec. 31  - - -4.8 -30.4 -33.1 - -23.4 -23.4

Book value on December 31  391.7 179.1 296.6 72.6 942.1 - 10.0 10.0

* The share of internal development work is €1.2 million.

Other intangible assets include computer programs to a book value of €71.3 million and computer programs 

being developed to a value to €2.5 million. The intangible assets for 2004 mainly consist of computer programs 

to a value of €1.0 million and computer programs being developed to a value of €0.2 million.

Depreciation, impairment losses and their reversals are booked on the income statement under the item Other 

operating expenses.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful live  

    December 31, 2005 December 31, 2004

Goodwill  391.7 -

Brands   179.1 -

Total   570.8 -

The useful lives of goodwill and brands acquired through business combinations is estimated to be indefinite as 

they affect the accrual of cash flows for an undetermined period.
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Impairment testing of goodwill

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to cash generating units, which are either business 

segments or companies included in them. The goodwill of the Group has arisen in its entirety when the compa-

nies of the Pohjola Group have been included in the consolidated financial statements of the OKO Bank Group. 

The goodwill included in the balance sheet of OKO Bank is allocated between units as follows: 

Non-life insurance  297.7

Pohjola Asset Management Ltd  94.0

Pohjola Life Insurance Company Ltd  44.4

Total   436.1

Transfer to asset items held for sale  -44.4

Total   391.7

The goodwill of the OKO Bank Group has arisen in its entirety from the acquisition of Pohjola’s business opera-

tions. Goodwill was determined in the allocation process of the sale price, which was completed on December 

31, 2005. Between the acquisition date and the balance sheet date no changes have taken place that would have 

had an effect on the amount of goodwill.

Other most significant intangible assets

    December 31, 2005                                  December 31, 2004
     remaining  remaining
     depreciation  depreciation
    Book value time Book value time

Customer relationships  297.4 10–13 years - -

Brands   179.1 - - -

Software  70.2 2–5 years 0.9 2–5 years

Software being developed  2.5 - 0.2 -

The goodwill, brands, customer relationships and a substantial part of software were acquired in connection with 

the acquisition of Pohjola’s operations. More detailed information on the operations acquired during the financial 

period can be found in note 3.

       

NOTE 27.  Tangible Assets

Real estate in own use  

 Land and water areas 5.8 6.0

 Buildings 21.1 36.5

 Total  26.9 42.6

Machinery and equipment 16.3 4.9 

Other tangible assets  6.9 1.6 

Assets of lessee 38.8 14.5 

Total tangible assets  88.9 63.5 

 of which not yet available for use  3.6 1.6
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Changes in tangible assets and investment properties 2005

           Real  Other  Assets Total
    estate Machinery tangible of tangible Investent
    in own use and equipment assets lessee assets properties

Acquisition cost on January 1  49.2 78.8 1.8 15.2 145.1 81.1

 increases 5.0 0.5 0.5 29.6 35.6 1.3

 decreases -7.0 -0.7 0.0 -1.2 -8.9 -50.0

 transfers between items 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

 transfer to asset items held for sale  - -0.1 - - -0.1 -

 business operations acquired  16.0 16.2 5.7 - 37.9 0.0

 business operations sold  -34.8 -12.0 -1.0 - -47.8 0.0

Acquisition cost on December 31  28.4 82.7 7 43.5 161.6 32.4

Accumulated depreciation and 

Impairments on January 1  -6.6 -73.9 -0.3 -0.7 -81.5 0.0

 depreciation during the fiscal period  -0.3 -3.2 0.0 -4.7 -8.2 0.0

 imairments during the fiscal period  0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

 reversals of impairments 

      during the fiscal period 2.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 2.3 0.0

 decreases 0.0 0.6 0.0 0.6 1.2 0.0

 transfer to asset items held for sale  0.0 0.1 0.0 - 0.1 -

 business operations sold 3.3 9.9 0.3 - 13.5 -

 other changes  0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Accumulated depreciation and 

impairments on December 31  -1.3 -66.5 0.0 -4.8 -72.6 0.0

Acc. changes in fair value on January 1  0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.8

 changes in fair value dur. the fisc. period 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 -0.7

 decreases 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 2.7

 other changes  0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0

Acc. changes in fair value on December 31  0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 2.7

Book value on December 31  27.0 16.2 6.9 38.8 88.9 35.1

Increases in investment properties include €0.3 million (0.1) of capitalised expenses materialised after the acqui-

sition. Depreciation, impairment losses and their reversals are booked under Other operating expenses. The 

changes in the fair value of investment properties are booked under Net income from investments.

The Group has construction and repair obligations concerning investment properties based on contracts to the 

value of €1 million.

OKO Bank Group primarily offers passenger cars through operating leases.

OKO Bank Group has leased office facilities its does not need and such facilities are classified in the financial 

statements as investment properties.

The breakdown of investment properties leased out by other and tangible assets is in Note 64.
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Changes in tangible assets and investment properties 2004

           Real  Other Assets Total
    estate Machinery tangible of tangible Investment
    in own use and equipment assets lessee assets properties

Acquisition cost on January 1  42.2 77.1 1.8 4.6 125.8 81.5

 increases 3.8 2.1 0.1 11.3 17.2 1.3

 decreases -0.8 -0.4 0.0 -0.7 -1.9 -1.6

 transfers between items  4 0.0 0.0 0.0 4 0.0

 corporate acquisitions 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Acquisition cost on December 31  49.2 78.8 1.8 15.2 145.1 81.1

Accumulated depreciation and 

impairments on January 1  -4.7 -72.1 -0.3 -0.4 -77.4 0.0

 depreciation during the fiscal period -0.9 -2.1 0.0 -1.7 -4.8 0.0

 impairments during the fiscal period  0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

 reversals of impairments

      during the fiscal period  0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0

 decreases -1.2 0.2 0.0 0.1 -0.9 0.0

 other changes  0.0 0.0 0.0 1.4 1.4 0.0

Accumulated depreciation and 

impairments on December 31  -6.6 -73.9 -0.3 -0.7 -81.6 0.0

Acc. changes in fair value on January 1  0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.1

 changes in fair value dur. the fiscal period  0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 -0.2

 decreases 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 -0.1

 other changes  0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Acc. changes in fair value on December 31  0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0,8

Book value on December 31 42.6 4.9 1.6 14.5 63.5 81.9

NOTE 28.  Other Assets December 31, 2005 December 31, 2004 

Payment transfer receivables 3.3 3.9

Guarantee receivables 7.0 2.4

 Write-downs on guarantee receivables -3.0 0.0

Pension assets 31.5 46.5

Accrued income  

 Interest  206.4 143.0

 Other accrued income 5.5 9.2

Others   266.3 151.1

Total   517.1 356.2

Transfer to assets held for sale 5.3 -

Total other assets  511.8 356.2

The item Others includes €81.1 million (85.4) of accounts receivable for securities, €86.0 million (0) of sale price 

receivables, €39.5 million (15.8) of premiums received, €26.0 million (0) of other derivatives receivables and 

€31.5 million (46.5) of pension receivables.

Defined benefit plans

The pension schemes of the OKO Bank Group have been arranged in the OP Bank Group Pension Fund, OP 

Bank Group Pension Foundation and insurance companies. The schemes related to supplementary pensions in 

the Pension Fund and insurance companies, as well as the TEL (Employees’ Pensions Act) funded old age and 

disability pension schemes dealt with by the Pension Fund, have been handled as defined benefit schemes. The 

contributions to the TEL distribution system have been handled as defined contribution plan.

. 
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Balance sheet values of defined benefit pension plans December 31, 2005 December 31, 2004

Fair value of the assets 113.9 169.3

Present value of funded obligations (–) -87.8 -121.9

Present value of unfunded obligations -4.8 -1.0

Unrecognised actuarial gains (+) and losses (–) 1.8 -

Unrecongnised expenses based on retroactive work performance (–) - -

Net receivable (+) / liability (–) on the balance sheet 23.0 46.5

The assets of the pension plan include

OKO Bank shares 3.5 2.1

Securities issued by companies included in the OP Bank Group 0.9 2.2

Other receivables from companies included in the OP Bank Group 2.1 4.2

Real estate used by the OP Bank Group Central Cooperative Group 1.1 7.7

Total   7.5 16.2

Defined benefit pension costs on the income statement

Current service cost 1.8 2.5

Interest cost 3.8 5.8

Expected return on plan assets -6.0 -9.0

Actuarial gains and losses - -

Transfer from TEL pooling liability -1.2 -

Total income (–)/expenses (+) are included in personnel costs -1.6 -0.7

Actual return on plan assets 6.2 14.1

Changes in the net defined benefit asset   

Asset item on January 1 46.5 44.0

Acquisitions of business operations -8.3 1.8

Contributions paid 0.8 0.7

Pension costs on the income statement 1.6 0.7

Sales of subsidiaries -17.6 -

Asset item on December 31 23.0 47.1

Principal actuarial assumptions  2005 2004

Discount rate of interest, %  4.50 5.00 – 5.25

Expected return on plan assets, %  5.12 – 5.40 5.25 – 5.77

Future salary increases, %  3.00 – 3.50 3.00

Future pension raises, %  1.30 – 2.10 1.80 – 2.30

Turnover rate, % 0.00 – 3.00 0.00 – 3.00

Inflation, %  2.00 2.00

Average remaining service time in years 2 – 16 9 – 16
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NOTE 29.  Tax Receivables December 31, 2005 December 31, 2004

Income tax receivables 19.4 0

Deferred tax receivables 14.0 7.5

Total tax receivables 33.4 7.5

   

Breakdown of tax receivables and liabilities   

   

Deferred tax receivables 

 From depreciation and impairments on tangible assets 2.4 0.2

 From provisions and impairments on loans 4.5 1.4

 From dissolution losses related to taxation 6.1 -

 From allocation of GE insurance - 2.6

 From consolidated eliminations 2.2 2.0

 From other items 2.5 1.2

 Set-off from deferred tax liabilities -3.7 -

 Total   14.0 7.5

   

Deferred tax liabilities   

 From appropriations 78.5 74.0

 From financial assets available for sale 56.7 -

 From elimination of the equalisation sum 64.3 -

 From defined-benefit pension plan 8.9 12.2

 From the valuation of investment property at fair value 0.9 1.5

 From the allocation of the sale price of a corporate acquisition 131.2 -

 From consolidated eliminations 2.5 -

 From other items 0.8 -

 Set-off from deferred tax receivables -3.7 -

 Total  340.1 88.1

Changes in deferred taxes   

Deferred tax receivables/liabilities on January 1  -80.6 -66.7

 Total impact of changes to calculation principles -5.0 -

Deferred tax receivables/liabilities on January 1 -85.6 -66.7

Recognised on the income statement   

 Elimination of capital gainson securities from companies acquired 10.9 -

 Provisions and impairments on receivables 0.6 0.8

 Appropriations -20.6 -23.5

 Elimination of the equalisation sum -6.9 -

 Impact of the tax rate advantage - 9.3

 Others  1.8 -0.5

Recognised on the balance sheet   

 Impact of corporate acquisitions and sales -85.2 -

 Allocation of sale price -131.2 -

 Booked in shareholders’ equity 

 Financial assets available for sale  

  Changes in fair value -11.8 -

  Transfers to the income statement 1.9 -

Total deferred tax liabilities/receivables on December 31 -326.1 -80.6

Income tax receivables/liabilities -11.4 0

Total tax receivables/liabilities -337.5 -80.6
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Deferred tax liabilities and receivables are set off by company. Deferred tax liabilities and receivables arising from 

consolidation are not set off.

Such losses related to taxation for which a deferred tax receivable has not been booked were €1.5 million (0) at 

the end of 2005. Of these losses, €1 million expires in 2006–2013. At the end of 2005, the Group had €63 mil-

lion (0) of dissolution losses arising from the dissolution of subsidiaries undeducted in taxation. Of this €6 million 

of deferred tax receivables has been booked on the balance sheet. Deferred tax receivables from dissolution 

losses not booked on the balance sheet amounted to €10 million. Deferred tax liabilities have not been booked 

for €12 million (0) of the undistributed profits of the Baltic subsidiaries, as the assets have been invested perma-

nently in the countries in question.

      

NOTE 30.  Liabilities to Financial Institutions and Central Banks Dec. 31, 2005 Dec. 31, 2004  

      

Liabilities to central banks 1562.5 959.5

Liabilities to financial institutions      

 Repayable on demand     

  Deposits 427 309.4

  Other liabilities 0 0

 Total  427 309.4

      

 Other than repayable on demand     

  Deposits 1573.6 3041.5

 Other liabilities 0 0

 Repo liabilities 0 0

 Total  1573.6 3041.5

Liabilities to financial institutions and central banks 3563.0 4310.4

      

NOTE 31.  Financial Liabilities Held for Trading 

      

From short selling of securities 3.5 0

Others   0 0

Total financial liabilities held for trading 3.5 0

      

NOTE 32.  Derivative contracts 

      

Held for trading       

 Interest rate derivatives 16.6 14.7

 Currency derivatives 89.9 84.1

 Equity and index derivatives 0 0

 Credit derivatives 0 0

 Others  0 0

 Total  106.4 98.8

Hedging derivative contracts – fair value hedging      

 Interest rate derivatives 13.8 0

 Currency derivatives 3 0

 Equity and index derivatives 0 0

 Credit derivatives 0 0

 Others  0 0

 Total  16.8 0

Total derivative contracts 123.2 98.8
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The derivative contracts item includes negative changes in value. 

      

NOTE 33.  Liabilities to Customers  December 31, 2005 December 31, 2004

Deposits      

 Repayable on demand     

  Private 14.5 982.5

  Companies and public sector entities 473.5 1026.3

  Total 488.0 2008.8

 Others      

  Private 0.5 335.2

  Companies and public sector entities 6.0 64.9

  Total 6.5 400.1

Other financial liabilities      

 Repayable on demand     

  Private 0.2 0.3

  Companies and public sector entities 0 21.4

  Total 0.2 21.7

 Others      

  Private 0 0

  Companies and public sector entities 1563.0 1641.7

  Total 1563.0 1641.7

  of which repo liabilities 0 0

  of which finance lease liabilities 0 0

 Total other financial liabilities 1563.2 1663.3

Total liabilities to customers 2057.7 4072.2

      

      

NOTE 34.  Non-life Insurance Liabilities 

    

Insurance contract liabilities 1843.9 -

Provision for joint guarantee system 34.9 -

Direct insurance liabilities 23.6 -

Reinsurance liabilities 23.7 -

Total Non-life Insurance liabilities 1926.1 -

Liabilities for Non-life Insurance contracts and reinsurers’ share      

      
     Dec. 31, 2005   Dec. 31, 2004
     Reinsurers’     Reinsurers’ 
    Gross share Net Gross share Net

Provision for unpaid claims for annuities 982.3 0.0 982.3 - - -

Other provisions by case 122.7 -35.9 86.9 - - -

Special provision for occupational diseases 45.2 - 45.2 - - -

Collective liability (IBNR) 435.1 -7.1 428.0 - - -

Reserved loss adjustment expenses 48.6 - 48.6 - - -

Provision for unearned premiums 248.4 -29.0 219.4 - - -

Provision for unexpired risks 0.6 - 0.6 - - -

Total non-life insurance contracts before transfers 1882.9 -72.0 1811.0 - - -

Transfer to liabilities related to assets held for sale 39.1 -9.6 29.5 - - -

Total non-life insurance contracts 1843.9 -62.4 1781.5 - - -
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Changes in insurance contract liabilites and reinsurance contract receivables 

      
     2005  2004
    Gross Reinsurance Net Gross  Reinsurance Net

Provision for unpaid claims      

Provision for known unpaid claims 1203.5 -32.5 1171.0 - - -

Collective liability (IBNR) 426.9 -9.0 417.9 - - -

Liability/reinsurers’ share Nov. 1 1630.4 -41.5 1588.9 - - -

Claims paid in financial period -67.6 -6.0 -73.6 - - -

Change in liability/receivable 64.4 4.6 69.0 - - -

Unwinding of discount 6.1 - 6.1 - - -

Foreign exchange gains (losses) 0.7 -0.1 0.6 - - -

Liability/reinsurers’ share Dec. 31 1633.9 -43.0 1590.9 - - -

      

Provisions for known unpaid claims 1198.8 -35.9 1162.9 - - -

Collective liability (IBNR) 435.1 -7.1 428.0 - - -

Liability/reinsurers’ share Dec. 31 1633.9 -43.0 1590.9 - - -

      

Provision for unearned premiums      

Liability/reinsurers’ share Nov. 1 321.0 -30.0 290.9 - - -

Change in liability/receivable -72.4 1.1 -71.3 - - -

Unwinding of discount 0.1 - 0.1 - - -

Foreign exchange gains (losses) -0.3 0.0 -0.3 - - -

Liability/reinsurers’ share Dec. 31 248.4 -29.0 219.4 - - -

      

Provision for unexpired risks      

Liability/reinsurers’ share Nov. 1 0.9 - 0.9 - - -

Change in liability/receivable -0.3 - -0.3 - - -

Liability/reinsurers’ share Dec. 31 0.6 - 0.6 - - -

      

Total non-life insurance contracts before transfers 1882.9 -72.0 1811.0 - - -

Transfer to liabilities related to assets held 

for sale   39.1 -9.6 29.5 - - -

Total non-life insurance contracts 1843.9 -62.4 1781.5 - - -

      

NOTE 35.  Debt Securities Issued to the Public      

  
     Average  Average
     interest Dec. 31,  interest  Dec. 31,  
      rate, % 2005 rate, %     2004 Change, %

      

Bonds    2.58 4567.9 2.24 2867.2 59

Others         

 Certificates of deposit  2.36 3473.9 2.16 2775.4 25

 Commercial papers  2.74 926.4 2.18 432.6 

 Money market debt securities  0.00 0 0.00 0 

 Others   1.04 124.6 1.50 57.3 

Included in own portfolio in trading (–)   -59.8  -29.5 

Total debt securities issued to the public   9033  6103
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Long-term loans and interest rate commitments Nominal
  amount Interest rate, %

OIP OKO- Investointiluottopankki Oyj Bond 1999 V 14,9 5 %

OP bond 2004 I  15,8 2,4 %

OP bond 2003 I  11,3 3,0 %

OP bond 2004 II 2,9 2,2 %

OP bond 2003 III 5,6 2,5 %

OP bond 2004 IV 5,1 2,4 %

OP bond 2005 I 3,8 2,35 %

OP bond 2005 II 6,4 2,4 %

OP bond 2004 III 14,1 3,0 %

OP bond 2005 III 2,1 2,3 %

OP-bond 2004 V 4,6 2,65 %

OP bond 2005 IV 8,4 2,70 %

OKO Osuuspankkien Keskuspankki Oyj (“OKO Bank”) Issue Of AUD 80,000,000 Floating

RateInstruments Due December 22, 2008 49,7 3-month BBSW LIBOR + 0.08% 

OKO Osuuspankkien Keskuspankki Oyj (“OKO Bank”) Issue Of AUD 22,000,000 Floating Rate I

nstruments Due February 18, 2009 13,7 3-month BBSW LIBOR + 0.17% 

OKO Osuuspankkien Keskuspankki Oyj (“OKO Bank”) Issue Of CHF 50,000,000 1.50 per cent. 

Instruments 2005-2008 32,2 1,50 %

OKOBANK, Osuuspankkien Keskuspankki Oyj €400,000,000 Floating Rate Instruments Due 

January 2006 400,0 3-month Euribor + 0.10% p.a.

OKO Osuuspankkien Keskuspankki Oyj (“OKO Bank”) Issue Of €10,000,000 Floating Rate 

Instruments Due November 2006 10,0 3-month Euribor + 0.07% 

OKO Osuuspankkien Keskuspankki Oyj (“OKO Bank”) Issue Of €200,000,000 Floating Rate 

Instruments Due January 2007 200,0 3-month Euribor + 0.02% 

OKO Osuuspankkien Keskuspankki Oyj (“OKO Bank”) Issue Of €200,000,000 Floating Rate 

Instruments Due February 2007 200,0 3-month Euribor + 0.02% 

OKO Osuuspankkien Keskuspankki Oyj (“OKO Bank”) Issue Of €600,000,000 Senior Floating 

Rate Instruments Due November 2007 600,0 3-month Euribor + 0.02% 

OKO Osuuspankkien Keskuspankki Oyj ( “OKO Bank”)  Issue Of  EUR 1,000,000,000 Floating 

Rate Instruments Due 2008 1 000,0 3-month Euribor + 0.03% 

OKO Osuuspankkien Keskuspankki Oyj (“OKO Bank”) Issue Of €50,000,000 Floating Rate

 Instruments Due 2007 50,0 3-month Euribor + 0.01% 

OKO Osuuspankkien Keskuspankki Oyj (“OKO Bank”) Issue Of €15,000,000 Fixed Rate 

Instruments Due December 14, 2007 15,0 2,88 %

OKO Osuuspankkien Keskuspankki Oyj (“OKO Bank”) Issue Of €600,000,000 Floating Rate 

Instruments Due March 2009 600,0 3-month Euribor + 0.10% 

OKO Osuuspankkien Keskuspankki Oyj (“OKO Bank”) Issue Of HKD 100,000,000 3.40% Fixed 

Rate Instruments Due March 26, 2007 10,9 3,40 %

OKO Osuuspankkien Keskuspankki Oyj (“OKO Bank”) Issue Of JPY 5,000,000,000 Floating Rate

 Instruments Due 2007 36,0 3-month JPY LIBOR

OKO Osuuspankkien Keskuspankki Oyj (“OKO Bank”) Issue Of NOK 400,000,000 5.2% Fixed 

Rate Instruments Due June 2014 50,1 5,20 %

OKO Osuuspankkien Keskuspankki Oyj (“OKO Bank”) Issue Of SEK 150,000,000 4.11% Notes 

Due October 22, 2009 16,0 4,11 %

OKOBANK, Osuuspankkien Keskuspankki Oyj Issue Of €500,000,000 Floating Rate Instruments 

Due December 2010 500,0 3-month Euribor + 0.075% 

OKO Osuuspankkien Keskuspankki Oyj (“OKO Bank”) Issue Of USD 500,000,000 Floating 

Rate Instruments Due November 2009 423,8 3-month US dollar LIBOR + 

0.075% 

JPY 8,000,000,000 Term Loan Facility 57,6 0,85 %

JPY 2,000,000,000 Term Loan Facility 14,4 1,706 %

JPY 5,000,000,000 Term Loan Facility 36,0 1,41 %

JPY 3,000,000,000 Term Loan Facility 21,6 1,645 %

The interest rate percentage is the interest rate according to the issue currency. The euro equivalents have been calculated using the aver-

age rate of the European Central Bank on the balance sheet date. In addition, the nominal amount of structured bonds issued by OKO Bank 

was €290.2 million. The interest on the bonds is determined on the basis of interest, equity, equity index etc. underlying instruments. The 

possible additional return on the bonds to the investor is hedged by a corresponding derivative structure.
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NOTE 36.  Provisions and Other Liabilities December 31, 2005 December 31, 2004

Provisions  13.7 1.9

      

Other liabilities     

 Payment transfer liabilities  326.7 255.9

 Finance lease liabilities  0 0

 Accrued expenses     

  Interest payable 187.5 130.0

  Other accrued expenses 52.6 19.9

 Others  246.5 170.7

 Total  813.3 576.5

Total provisions and other liabilities 827.0 578.4

The Others item of other liabilities includes €97.4 million (83.9) of accounts payable for securities, €47.4 million 

(20.5) of premiums received, €55.7 million (32.9) of equity and derivatives liabilities and €8.5 million (0.0) of pen-

sion liabilities, among others.

Changes in provisions 

    Onerous   Other
    contracts provisions Total

January 1, 2005  1.9 1.9

Business operations acquired 1.1 5 6.1

Increases in provisions 6.1 0.5 6.6

Unused amounts reversed during the period  -0.9 -0.9

 December 31, 2005 7.2 6.5 13.7

 

Onerous contracts

The Group has a number of leases that cannot be cancelled with facilities that the Group can no longer utilise in 

its operations.The Group has been able to lease some of the facilities further, but the leasing income received 

from the leases does not cover the rental costs paid by the Group. The provision concerning the onerous con-

tracts fully covers the net loss from these contracts and the rental liability of other contracts.

 

Other provisions

Other provisions include the provision of €1 million made to cover the cleaning costs of contaminated soil in one 

real estate company owned by OKO Bank, which has been increased by €0.5 million in 2005. Of business opera-

tions acquired, the other provisons include a prosivision of €5.0 million made on loss arising from the sale of a 

terminated foreign insurance business.

 

NOTE 37.  Tax Liabilities December 31, 2005 December 31, 2004  

Income tax liabilities 30.8 0

Deferred tax liabilities 340.1 88.1

Total tax liabilities 370.9 88.1 
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NOTE 38.  Subordinated Liabilities  

     Average  Average
     interest Dec. 31,  interest  Dec. 31,  
      rate, % 2005 rate, %     2004 Change, %

        

Capital loans  4.35 215.4 4.23 71.6 

Others        

 Perpetual loans  4.41 199.3 6.00 50 

 Debentures  3.36 334.5 3.23 340.3 -2

 Others   0  0 

Total subordinated loans   749.1  461.8 62 

Capital loans

Capital loans considered equal to Tier I funds

1) Capital loan 10 billion Japanese yen (euro equivalent 71.9 million)

The loan is a perpetual loan or a loan without a due date. The interest rate on the loan is fixed at 4.23% until 

June 18, 2034, and then variable 6-month Yen Libor + 1.58%. Interest will be payable on June 18 and December 

18 annually. If interest cannot be paid for a given interest period, the obligation to pay interest for the period in 

question will lapse. The loan can be called in at the earliest in 2014. The loan can be repaid after 2014 on the 

due date of the interest on June 18 or December 18 annually. The entire principal of the loan must be repaid in 

one payment.

 2) Capital loan of €50 million

The loan is a perpetual loan without interest gradation but it has an interest ceiling of 8 per cent. The loan was 

issued on March 31, 2005 and its interest is 6.5 per cent in the first year and after the first year CMS ten years + 

0.1 per cent. The interest on the loan is paid annually on April 11. If interest cannot be paid for a given interest 

period, the obligation to pay interest for the period in question will lapse. It is possible to call in the loan at the 

earliest in 2010, subject to authorisation by the Financial Supervision Authority. The entire principal of the loan 

must be repaid in one payment.

3) Capital loan of €60 million 

The interest on the perpetual loan is a variable 3-month Euribor + 0.65%. The interest on the loan is paid quar-

terly on February 28, May 30, August 30 and November 30. If interest cannot be paid for a given interest period, 

the obligation to pay interest for the period in question will lapse. It is possible to call in the loan at the earliest 

on November 30, 2015, subject to authorisation by the Financial Supervision Authority, and after that on the due 

dates of the interest. After 2015 the interest on the loan is variable 3-month Euribor +1.65% (step up). The 

entire principal of the loan must be repaid in one payment.

4) Capital loan of €40 million 

The interest on the perpetual loan is a variable 3-month Euribor + 1.25%. The interest on the loan is paid quar-

terly on February 28, May 30, August 30 and November 30. If interest cannot be paid for a given interest period, 

the obligation to pay interest for the period in question will lapse. The loan can be called in at the earliest on 

October 30, 2010, subject to authorisation by the Financial Supervision Authority, and after that on the due dates 

of the interest. The entire principal of the loan must be repaid in one payment.

Of these loans, loans 1, 2 and 3 are hybrids.   

The interest rate and exchange rate risk have been hedged against by derivatives. In the financial statements, a 

change in value of €–6.6 million has been booked for the hedging. 

Perpetual loans and debentures

1. A perpetual loan of €50 million which can be called in at the earliest on June 19, 2007, subject to authorisation 

by the Financial Supervision Authority. A fixed 6 per cent interest is paid on the loan annually.

2. A perpetual loan of €150 million which can be called in at the earliest on November 30, 2012, subject to 

authorisation by the Financial Supervision Authority.  A fixed 3.875 per cent interest is paid on the loan annually.
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3. A debenture loan of €150 million which can be called in at the earliest on March 7, 2006, subject to authorisa-

tion by the Financial Supervision Authority. The interest on the loan is 3-month Euribor + 60 bps.

4. A debenture loan of €50 million which can be called in at the earliest on March 23, 2006, subject to authorisa-

tion by the Financial Supervision Authority. The interest on the loan is 3-month Euribor + 60 bps.

5. A debenture loan of €70 million which can be called in at the earliest on November 30, 2010, subject to 

authorisation by the Financial Supervision Authority. A fixed 3.5 per cent interest is paid on the loan annually.

Loans 1–5 have been issued in the international capital markets.

 

On December 31, 2005, there were a total of €64.8 million of fixed interest debenture loans issued in Finland.

    Book value                                    
Issue date  €million Interest rate, % Due date

April 11, 2000 4.1 5.0  April 11, 2006

March 21, 2001 7.9 5.0  March 21, 2007

August 29, 2001 5.7 4.5  August 29, 2007

February 25, 2002 6.0 4.5  Febr. 25, 2008

September 12, 2002 11.0 4.5  Sept.12, 2008

June 4, 2003 5.4 3.4  June 4, 2009

November 19, 2003 6.8 3.9  Nov. 19, 2009

March 10, 2004 5.2 3.5  March 10, 2010

September 15, 2004 6.1 3.5  Sept. 15, 2010

March 16, 2005 5.2 3.3  March 16, 2011

November 30, 2005 1.4 3.2  Nov. 30, 2011   

OKO Bank has no violations concerning the conditions of the loan contracts with respect to principal, interest 

and other conditions. In the financial statements, €0.1 million has been booked as the price difference of the 

loans.

NOTE 39.  Shareholders’ Equity   

           

Share of the owners of the parent company December 31, 2005 December 31, 2004

Share capital 423 206,2

Reserves    

 Restricted reserves       

  Share premium account 515.5 6.5

  Reserve fund 203.3 203.3

  Other restricted reserves 1.5 3.8

 Non-restricted reserves       

  Fair value reserve     

   From translation differences 0 0

   From valuation at fair value 47.7 0

  Other nonrestricted reserves 23.4 23.4

Retained earnings        

 Profit (loss) for previous fiscal periods 281 225.4

 Profit (loss) for the fiscal period 266.7 106.7

Share of the owners of the OKO Bank Group  1 762.00 775.4

Minority interest 198.5 1.8

Total shareholders’ equity 1 960.50 777.2
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                                                                            Number of shares  Share Share premium Own  Total
    Series A Series K capital account shares 

January 1, 2004 37 059 707 11 076 718 202.4 5  207.4

Splitting of shares 37 059 707 11 076 718    

Share issue      

Exercise of stock options 1 761 840  3.7 1.5  5.2

Conversion of shares 66 660 -66 660    

Acquisition of own shares      

December 31, 2004 75 947 914 22 086 776 206.1 6.5  212.6

      

Share issue  78 585 304 22 003 176 211.5 506.4  717.9

Exercise of stock options 2 553 790  5.4 2.5  7.9

Conversion of shares 83 600 -83 600    

Acquisition of own shares      

December 31, 2005 157 170 608 44 006 352 423.0 515.4  938.4

Share Capital and Shares 

The shares are divided into Series A and Series K shares. There are at least 94 million and at most 570 million 

Series A and Series K shares (in 2004 at least 52 million and at most 350 million). The shares have no nominal 

value. The counter value of each share is €2.10 (not an exact figure).

The minimum amount of the share capital is €200 million and the maximum amount €1.2 billion. The share 

 capital can be increased or decreased within these limits without amending the Articles of Association.

All issued shares have been paid in full.

Series A shares are intended for the general public and are quoted on the Helsinki Stock Exchange. There are no 

purchase restrictions on Series A shares. Ownership of Series K shares is restricted to Finnish cooperative banks, 

cooperative bank companies, and the central entity of the coalition of cooperative banks, the OP Bank Group 

Central Cooperative. As far as shareowners’ or nominee-registered shares are concerned, Series K shares can be 

converted into Series A shares at the written request of the asset manager registered with the book-entry regis-

ter within the limits of the minimum and maximum numbers of the types of shares provided for in the Articles of 

Association.

If dividend is distributed, Series A shares entitle their holders to an annual dividend that is at least one (1) 

 percentage point higher than the dividend paid on Series K shares.

Own Shares

At year-end, OKO Bank or its subsidiaries or affiliates did not possess OKO Bank’s own shares. The General 

Meeting has not authorised OKO Bank to acquire own shares.

Proposed distribution of dividend 

The Executive Board proposes to the General Meeting that dividend be distributed to each Series A share of 

€0.60 (0.53) and to each Series K share of €0.57 (0.50). The total amount of dividends distributed is 

€119.7 million (51.9).

Reserves 

 

Share Premium Account 

Items according to Chapter 12, Section 3a, of the Finnish Companies Act are booked in the share premium 

account. Such items include the amount exceeding the nominal value paid for shares in a new share issue, the 

amount paid for a subscription right based on a stock option right and a convertible bond, capital gains on own 
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shares, the reduction amount of the share capital that is not used for covering confirmed loss, transferred to a 

reserve used according to a decision by the General Meeting or distributed to shareholders, compensations for 

unsubscribed shares paid in connection with the establishment of a limited liability company, compensations 

received by the company for shares that have been sold due to the shareholder not joining his/her shares with 

the book-entry system, payment that the company has received for a share not demanded in a bonus issue.

The share premium account can be used for covering the loss shown by the confirmed balance sheet unless the 

loss can be covered by unrestricted equity, for a bonus issue for raising the share capital, or for the same pur-

poses as when share capital is decreased.

Reserve Fund 

The reserve fund has been formed from profits transferred to it during previous fiscal periods and the loan loss 

reserves transferred to the reserve fund in 1990. The reserve fund can be used for covering such losses for 

which the unrestricted equity is not sufficient. The reserve fund can also be used for raising the share capital and 

it can be reduced in the same way as the share capital.

 

Other Restricted Reserves 

The reserves have been formed from profits for previous fiscal periods based on the Articles of Association or 

rules in which their purpose has also been defined.

Translation Differences

Translation differences include the translation differences arising from the conversion of the financial statements 

of foreign subsidiaries.

 

Fair Value Reserve 

The reserve includes the change in the fair value of financial assets available for sale. The items booked in the 

reserve are realised in the income statement when a impairment is booked for a security available for sale. In 

insurance companies, items booked in the fair value reserve are not distributable funds.

Other non-restricted Reserves 

The reserves have been formed from the profits for previous fiscal periods based on decisions by the General 

Meeting.

Retained earnings

Retained earnings also include voluntary reserves and depreciation difference included in the separate financial 

statements of the Group companies and the equalisation sum of insurance companies, which have been booked 

in retained earnings less deferred taxes in the IFRS financial statements. These items are included in distributable 

profits. The unrealised appreciation of insurance companies’ investment properties is not distributable funds 

either.
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Notes to risk management          

          

Banking and Investment Services (Notes 40–55 to the financial statements)          

          

The items for Banking and Investment Services for 2005 contain consolidated items of Pohjola, whose significance 

is, however, minor. Okopankki is included in the figures for 2004 according to the financial statements informa-

tion. The classifications  used by Statistic Finland have been used in the divisions presented in the notes to the 

financial statements.  The risk position of insurance operations has been presented in Note 56 to the financial 

statements.

          

NOTE 40. Assets and the impairment losses booked on them in the fiscal period          

     Dec. 31, 2005                   Dec. 31, 2004
    Book Impairment Book Impairment
    value losses value losses 

Liquid assets 478.9  296.9 

Receivables from financial institutions 4619.4 -2 3548.5 0

Financial assets held for trading    

 Notes and bonds 3686  3082.7 

 Shares and holdings 5.8  2.4 

 Other  0  0 

Derivative contracts    

 Held for trading 110.7  93.4 

 Hedging 12.4  0 

Loans and other receivables    

 Loans granted 4648.8 -19 6866.9 -20.7

 Financial leasing receivables 370.4 0 314.2 0

 Repo contracts 0  0 

 Guarantee receivables 7 -3 2.4 -3.6

 Other receivables 1754.6  1503.7 

Financial assets available for sale    

 Notes and bonds 140.1  166.5 

 Shares and holdings 149.6  90.6 

 Other  0 0 0 0

Investments held to maturity    

 Notes and bonds 0  0 

Off-balance sheet commitments    

 Bank guarantees 305.9  289.8 

Total   16289.6 -24 16258 -24.3

The book values do not contain impairments, but they are presented in their own column.

NOTE 41. Distribution of impairments by risk type December 31, 2005 December 31, 2004 

Based on credit risk -24.0 -24.3

Based on country risk 0 0

Other   0 0

Total   -24.0 -24.3
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NOTE 42.  Own funds and the risk-weighted balance sheet      

Own funds

    December 31, 2005 December 31, 2004 Change, %

Tier I funds  1 001,9 751.4 33

 of which capital loans 223.7 73.7 

Tier II funds 550.1 355.8 55

Decreases in own funds -212.7 -15.1 

Total own funds 1 339.3 1092.1 23

Risk-weighted balance sheet     
                                                                                                                              
                                                                                                      Balance sheet  items 2005                          Balance sheet items 2004 
     Risk-weighted  Risk-weighted 
Risk category     Risk weight, % Book value  value Book value value

Group I  0 5959.9  4944.3 

Group II 20 4552.2 910.4 3473.9 694.8

Group III 50 393.8 196.9 2158.9 1079.4

Group IV 100 6490.5 6490.5 5823.4 5823.4

Group V 10    

Total   17396.4 7597.8 16400.5 7597.6

Off-balance sheet commitments  2023.7  1788.2

Total risk-weighted receivables. investments and  9621.5  9385.9

off-balance sheet commitments    

Total risk-weighted value of market risk  867.6  564.8

Total risk-weighted items  10489.1  9950.7

The figures for the OKO Bank Group are presented in the above tables.    

NOTE 43. Exposure by balance sheet item according to book values       

December 31, 2005   Finland                 Other countries  
    Book  Accrued Book  Accrued
     value Impairments interest value Impairments  interest

Assets

 Receivables from financial institutions  4041.7 0 17.7 575.7 -2 1.6

 Receivables from customers 6218 -19 27.6 166.3 0 0.2

 Finance leases 370.4 0 0 0.1 0 0

 Notes and bonds 2827.5 0 14 998.6 0 6.4

 Guarantee receivables 4 -3 0 0 0 0

 Derivative contracts 0 0 0 0 0 0

 Other    5.7 0 0 0 0 0

 Total  13467.3 -22 59.3 1740.6 -2 8.2

Off-balance sheet commitments      

 Unused standby credit facilities 2580.9 0 0 62 0 0

 Guarantees and letters of credit 1370.6 0 0 177 0 0

    0 0 0 0 0 0

 Derivative contracts 69.4 0 0 317.4 0 0

 Other    134.1 0 0 340.9 0 0

 Total  4155.1 0 0 897.4 0 0

Total exposure 17622.4 -22 59.3 2638 -2 8.2
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December 31, 2004   Finland                 Other countries  
    Book  Accrued Book  Accrued
     value Impairments interest value Impairments  interest

Assets        

 Receivables from financial institutions  2887.2 0 13.5 661.3 0 0.7

 Receivables from customers 8271.8 -19.8 30.8 78.2 -0.9 0.4

 Finance leases 313.9 0 0 0.3 0 0

 Notes and bonds 2641.7 0 20.6 607.5 0 3.8

 Guarantee receivables 2.4 -3.6 0.2 0 0 0

 Derivative contracts 0 0 0 0 0 0

 Other    3.1 0 0 0 0 0

 Total  14120.1 -23.4 65 1347.3 -0.9 4.8

Off-balance sheet commitments      

 Unused standby credit facilities 2327 0 0 25.5 0 0

 Guarantees and letters of credit 1281.9 0 0 127.9 0 0

    0 0 0 0 0 0

 Derivative contracts 34.4 0 0 200.9 0 0

 Other    31.4 0 0 336.6 0 0

 Total  3674.8 0 0 690.9 0 0

         

Total exposure 17794.9 -23.4 65 2038.2 -0.9 4.8

Potential future exposure of derivatives contracts is presented, which includes the positive market value booked 

in accounting. The book value includes impairments.   

NOTE 44. Exposure by sector according to book values      

December 31, 2005                                                             Net exposure on the balance sheet              Off-balance sheet
     Finnish Foreign  Finnish Foreign Total

Companies   6010.8 138.0 3739.9 98.5 9987.2

Financial and insurance institutions  6158.7 1518.4 342.8 797.1 8817.0

Households   588.3 1.8 12.5 1.8 604.5

Non-profit organisations  154.4 0 23.4 0 177.8

Public sector entities  614.4 90.6 36.5 0 741.5

Total    13526.6 1748.8 4155.1 897.4 20328.0

December 31, 2004                                                             Net exposure on the balance sheet              Off-balance sheet
     Finnish Foreign  Finnish Foreign Total

Companies   6040.3 87.4 3312.1 80.7 9520.6

Financial and insurance institutions  4842.3 1222 192.8 609.3 6866.3

Households   2551.4 2.2 143.2 1 2697.7

Non-profit organisations  154.7 0 19.2 0 173.8

Public sector entities  596.3 40.6 7.4 0 644.3

Total    14185 1352.1 3674.8 690.9 19902.8

The book values including impairments and accrued interest are presented as the net exposure on the balance 

sheet.   
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NOTE 45.  Trend in loan and impairment losses 

New loan and guarantee losses and impairments were booked for a total of €9 million (5). The aggregate amount 

of loan loss recoveries and decreases in impairments was €6 million (3). The net earnings impact of loan and 

guarantee losses and impairments was €3 million (1).  In 2005, the share of loan and guarantee losses and impair-

ments of the loan and guarantee portfolio was 0.04 per cent (0.01).                

NOTE 46. Corporate exposure by sector    

      Net 
December 31, 2005 Balance Off-balance exposure Percentage
    sheet  sheet Total distribution

Metal industry 526 690.8 1216.8 12.18

Forest industry 492 392.7 884.8 8.86

Trade   556.7 422.3 978.9 9.8

Construction 308.4 258.9 567.3 5.68

Other industry 451.7 357.5 809.2 8.1

Food industry 219 304.2 523.2 5.24

Management of other real estate 1630.1 200.2 1830.2 18.33

Energy production 308 329.8 637.8 6.39

Transport and traffic 298.5 338.9 637.3 6.38

Services  649.5 315.5 964.9 9.66

Telecommunications and electronics 150.9 130.3 281.2 2.82

Communication and publishing 165.8 25.6 191.4 1.92

Other sectors 392.4 71.8 464.2 4.65

Total   6148.8 3838.4 9987.2 100.00
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      Net
December 31, 2004  Off-balance  exposure Percentage
    Balance sheet   sheet Total distribution

Metal industry 480.7 511.1 991.7 10.4

Forest industry 422.7 383.7 806.4 8.5

Trade   590.5 323.3 913.9 9.6

Construction 287.2 377.1 664.3 6.98

Other industry 360 294.8 654.8 6.88

Food industry 268.3 235.5 503.8 5.29

Management of other real estate 1794.1 252.5 2046.6 21.5

Energy production 197.1 221.4 418.5 4.40

Transport and traffic 303.6 252.5 556.1 5.84

Services  751.7 267.2 1018.8 10.7

Telecommunications and electronics 115.1 99 214.1 2.25

Communication and publishing 184.7 41.6 226.3 2.38

Other sectors 372 133.2 505.2 5.31

Total   6127.8 3392.8 9520.6 100.00

Housing companies are included in the above figures. 

NOTE 47. Corporate exposure by rating 

                                                                                                                                                                                            
December 31, 2005
Rating   Exposure %

1–2    442.4 4.43

3–4    4324.6 43.3

5–6    2513.5 25.17

7–8    1995.7 19.98

9–10   349.8 3.5

11–12   66.0 0.66

No rating  295.3 2.96

Total   9987.2 100

NOTE 48. Distribution of corporate exposure according to the amount of the customer’s exposure       

December 31, 2005  Other
The amount of exposure, € million € Finland  countries Total %

0 –1   905.7 18.2 923.9 9.25

1–10   2026.2 107.6 2133.8 21.37

10–50   2649.4 110.7 2760.1 27.64

50–100   2335.2 0 2335.2 23.38

100 –   1834.2 0 1834.2 18.37

Total   9750.7 236.5 9987.2 100.00

December 31, 2004  Other 
The amount of exposure, € million € Finland  countries Total %

0–1    1253.6 14 1267.7 13.32 

1–10   2181.2 77.1 2258.3 23.72

10–50   2596.8 77.8 2674.6 28.09

50–100   1721.2 0 1721.2 18.08

100–   1598.8 0 1598.8 16.79

Total   9351.6 168.9 9520.6 100.00



110 OKO BANK GROUP    FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, IFRS 2005 

NOTES

NOTE 49. Secondary country risk by country risk group    

Country risk Moody’s Equivalent Dec. 31, 2005  Dec. 31, 2004
     Net   Net 
group   exposure % exposure %

Group 1 Aaa 2292.3 88.05 1774.3 88.75

Group 2 Aa1–A3 137.8 5.29 97.7 4.89

Group 3 Baa1–Baa3 52.5 2.02 8.4 0.42

Group 4 Ba1–B3 115.5 4.44 113.9 5.7

Group 5 Caa1–C 5.1 0.2 5.0 0.25

Total   2603.3 100 1999.3 100

NOTE 50. Funding structure

     
      Dec. 31,
    Dec. 31, 2005   Perc., %  2004  Perc.,%

Liabilities to financial institutions 3563 19.58 4310.4 26.44

Financial liabilities held for trading 3.5 0.02 0 0

Liabilities to customers    

 Deposits 494.5 2.72 2408.9 14.78

 Other  1563.2 8.59 1663.3 10.2

Debt securities issued to the public    

 Certificates of deposit. commercial papers and ECPs 4395.3 24.16 3208 19.68

 Bonds  4637.7 25.49 2895 17.76

Other liabilities 826 4.54 576.5 3.54

Subordinated liabilities 749.1 4.12 461.8 2.83

Equity capital 1960.5 10.78 777.2 4.77

Total   18192.8  16301.1 

NOTE 51. Maturity distribution of assets and liabilities according to the remaining term to maturity 

   

December 31, 2005
     3–12    More than 
    less than 3 months months 1–5 years 5–10 years   10 years Total

Liquid assets  478.9     478.9

Financial assets held for trading       

    Notes and bonds 876.6 1154.9 925.5 708.3 20.6 3686

Receivables from financial institutions 1149.2 958.3 2350.8 155.7 3.4 4617.4

Receivables from customers 945 1213.1 2869.9 868.4 858.4 6754.8

Investment assets      

    Notes and bonds available for sale 0 0 88.3 51.2 0.5 140.1

    Notes and bonds held to maturity 0 0 0 0 0 0

         

Liabilities to financial institutions 3336.5 138.5 60.9 27.1 0 3563

Financial liabilities held for trading 3.5 0 0 0 0 3.5

Liabilities to customers 1601.5 20.2 0.2 225.5 210.3 2057.7

Debt securities issued to the public 3025 1859.2 3912.8 236 0 9033

Subordinated liabilities 193.3 4.1 173.7 288 90 749.1
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December 31, 2004
     3–12    More than 
    less than 3 months months 1–5 years 5–10 years   10 years Total

Liquid assets 296.9     296.9

Financial assets held for trading       

  Notes and bonds 755 1214.4 725.8 368.7 18.8 3082.7

Receivables from financial institutions 698.5 974.2 1869.6 6.1 0 3548.5

Receivables from customers 832.3 1303.8 3570 709.8 2248.2 8664.1

Investment assets      

 Notes and bonds available for sale 0 6.3 57.9 27.7 74.7 166.5

 Notes and bonds held to maturity 0 0 0 0 0 0

         

Liabilities to financial institutions 1568.4 55.9 681.8 28.9 1975.4 4310.4

Financial liabilities held for trading 0 0 0 0 0 0

Liabilities to customers 3592.6 104.3 74.7 120.4 180.1 4072.2

Debt securities issued to the public 2338.1 1727.6 1872.6 164.8 0 6103

Subordinated liabilities 0 14.3 296.9 150.6 0 461.8

NOTE 52. Less than one year maturities for assets and liabilities according to maturity or repricing 

    

December 31, 2005
                                       1 month      >1–3 >3–12 1–2 2–5 more than
Assets   or less         months months years  years     5 years Total

Liquid assets 478.9      478.9

Financial assets held for trading        

 Notes and bonds 720.1 969.5 1260.6 136.0 245.8 354.1 3686.0

Receivables from financial institutions 1413.7 1191.5 1741.6 71.9 198.0 0.4 4617.1

Receivables from customers 1588.1 1569.2 2147.3 296.6 608.9 544.7 6754.8

Financial assets available for sale       

 Notes and bonds 20.2 39.4 71.0 4.2 4.8 0.5 140.1

Financial assets held to maturity       

 Notes and bonds 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Liabilities        

 Liabilities to financial institutions 3183.4 154.7 138.5 29.2 27.4 29.8 3563.0

Financial liabilities held for trading 3.5 0 0 0 0 0 3.5

Liabilities to customers 1612.0 424.2 21.2 0 0.2 0 2057.6

Debt securities issued to the public 2219.2 4528.2 1974.3 70.0 59.8 181.5 9033.0

Subordinated liabilities 0 300.0 126.1 63.6 110.5 149.0 749.2
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December 31, 2004

         more
                                       1 month      >1–3 >3–12 1–2 2–5 than
Assets   or less         months months years  years       5  years Total

Liquid assets 296.9      296.9

Financial assets held for trading        

 Notes and bonds 366.2 845.4 1871.1 0 0 0 3082.7

Receivables from financial institutions 1214.8 934.2 1169.8 102.0 125.3 2.3 3548.4

Receivables from customers 1931.6 1954.8 3300.8 278.4 684.9 513.4 8664.0

Financial assets available for sale      

 Notes and bonds 5.0 53.7 107.8 0 0 0 166.5

Financial assets held to maturity  

 Notes and bonds 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Liabilities

Liabilities to financial institutions 3923.5 230.1 49.2 31.3 45.3 31.0 4310.4

Financial liabilities held for trading 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Liabilities to customers 3484.1 409.8 97.1 51.2 21.9 8.1 4072.2

Debt securities issued to the public 2104.1 2418.1 1568.1 0 12.7 0 6103.0

Subordinated liabilities 0 219.0 242.9 0 0 0.0 461.8

NOTE 53. Sensitivity analysis of the market risk    

The share of market risks of the risk-weighted items was 8 per cent (6 per cent in 2004) at year-end.  

  
million €    Dec. 31, 2005 Dec. 31, 2004  

Interest rate risk *) 10.4 7.8

of which Treasury  10.7 9.7  

Market value of the equity portfolio  26.6 32.6

OMX shares 18.5 15.1

Venture capital funds 34.8 36

Net currency exposure 5.5 3.6 

*) The effect of a 1 percentage point change on the current values of cash flows (the aggregate absolute values 

of currencies) 
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NOTE 54. Equity risk 

The market values of equity and venture capital funds was €80 million (84) at year-end, of which the equity port-

folio represented €27 million, OMX shares €18 million and the venture capital funds with their investment com-

mitments €35 million. The three proportionally largest sectors in the equity portfolio were: basic industry 31 per 

cent, industrial products and services 13 per cent and community services 12 per cent.         

       

Investments in venture capital funds totalled €18.7 million (20.2) and binding unexecuted investment commit-

ments €16.1 million (15.8).         

    

NOTE 55. Real estate risk  

Capital invested in real estate holdings amounted to €48 million (134) at the end of 2005, with properties in own 

use representing €4 million (45).  In addition, holdings in real estate investment companies totalled €20 million (24).  

The most important real estate sold during 2005 was Arkadiankatu 23, Dagmarinkatu 14 and Lahden Trio.

Net yield on real estate investments stood at 6.6 per cent (6.1). In 2005, assessments of an outside party were 

obtained on the fair values of real estate, on the basis of which the aggregate amount of fair values corresponds 

to the capital invested in real estate. According to our estimates, real estate risks are small. 

                

The changes in investment properties and real estate in own use in the fiscal period have been specified in Note 

27 to the financial statements.          

NOTE 56.   Risk Position of Non-life Insurance

The non-life insurance business was consolidated in the OKO Bank Group’s accounts as of October 31, 2005. 

Therefore, comparative information for 2004 is not presented.

Risk Carrying Capacity of Non-life Insurance

The solvency capital of Non-life insurance at the end of 2005 totalled €836 million and the solvency ratio was 

112 per cent. The Pohjola Board of Directors has set the credit rating class A as the target for Non-life insurance. 

The insurance financial strength rating affirmed by Standard & Poor’s for Pohjola Non-Life is A+ (October 19, 

2005).

Risk carrying  capacity                                                                                                                                              Dec. 31, 2005 
    € million Risk carryng capacity, %

Solvency capital  836 -

Claims incurred, net* 532 157%

Insurance premium revenue, net* 744 112%  **

Insurance contract liabilities, net* 1 811 46%

Investment portfolio 2 515 33%    

* Net of reinsurers’ share; claims incurred and insurance premium revenue are for the whole of 2005.

** Solvency ratio
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Sensitivity Analysis of Non-life Insurance

A large part of insurance contract liabilities in Non-life Insurance consists of annuities. Estimated mortality has an 

impact on the insurance contract liabilities arising from annuities. A decrease in mortality increases insurance 

contract liabilities.The table below describes the effect of mortality on insurance contract liabilities and on the 

combined ratio.

Sensitivity of insurance contract liabilities to changes in mortality assumption  Dec. 31, 2005

Total discounted insurance contract liabilities  €1 172  million

Effect of increase in longevity by a year: 

 On insurance contract liabilities  €27 million 

 On combined ratio                                                                                      Deteriorates by 3 %-points

The table below describes the effect of different risk parametres on profit and solvency capital:

      Effect on profit/
    Total in 2005* Change in risk solvency Effect on 
Risk parameter million € parameter  million € combined ratio

Insurance portfolio or premiums written €744 million Increases by 1% €+7 million Improves 

       by 1 %-point

Increase in claims incurred by 1% €532 million Increases by  1% €-5 million        Detoriates

        by 1% -point

Major loss   1 major loss €-5 million Detoriates

        by 1% -point

Staff expenses €95 million Increases by 8% €-8 million Detoriates 

       by 1% point

Expenses by function ** €202 million  Increases by 4% €-8 million Detoriates 

                     by 1% -point
* The figures are for the whole of 2005

** Expenses by function in Non-life Insurance excluding expenses for investment management and expenses for other services rendered

Risk position of investments in Non-life insurance

  Allocation of investment portfolio Fair value 2005,   € million* % 

Total money market 213 8 %

  Money-market instruments and deposits** 220 9 %

  Derivatives adjustment -7 0 %

Bonds and bond funds in total 1 788 70 %

  Governments 1 224 48 %

  Investment Grade 476 19 %

  Emerging markets and High Yield 81 3 %

  Derivatives 7 0 %

Shares in total 407 16 %

  Finland 112 4 %

  Developed markets 150 6 %

  Emerging markets 24 1 %

  Unlisted shares 26 1 %

  Private equity investments 95 4 %

Alternative investments in total 65 3 %

  Absolute return funds 22 1 %

  Commodities 18 1 %

  Convertible bonds 25 1 %

Properties  88 3 %

Total       2 562 100 %    
* Includes accrued interest income  

** Includes settlement receivables and liabilities and market value of derivatives €+11.5 million (2005)
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Sensitivity Analysis of Investment Risks

The table below describes the sensitivity of investment risks by investment class.

Non-life insurance Portfolio at fair values, € million Risk parameter Change Effect 
       on solvency 
       capital, € million
    31.12.2005   Dec. 31, 2005

Bonds and bond funds * 1 813 Interest rate 1 %-point 96

Shares **      448 Market value 10% 45

Business premises *** 43 Continuous +1 %-point -4

     income requirement -1 %-point 5
* Includes convertible bonds and derivatives 

** Includes absolute return funds and commodities investments 

*** Premises leased to parties outside the group of companies 

Interest Rate Risk

At the end of 2005, the duration of the fixed-income portfolio in Non-life Insurance, i.e. the average duration of 

the cash flows from interest-bearing instruments was 4.8 years. The fixed-income portfolio includes both bonds 

and money-market investments. 

Fair value as per duration or repricing date, € million Dec. 31, 2005

0–1 year  266

1–3 years  411

3–5 years  379

5–7 years  337

7–10 years                         305

>10 years  292

Total   1 990

Duration  4,8

Effective interest rate, % 3,4

Currency Risk

Currency position Dec. 31, 2005

€ million

USD   39

SEK    10

JPY    7

GBP   6

Other**   -8

Total *   54
* The currency position was 2.1 per cent of the investment portfolio.  

** The group ‘Other’ includes €–10 million in EEK and LTL-denominated insurance contract liabilities covered in euros.

Credit Risk

Credit rating distribution, € million Dec. 31, 2005

AAA   975

AA    349

A    296

BBB   158

High Yield  75

Non-rated  214

Total*                                2 069
* Includes money-market instuments and deposits, bonds and bond funds, and reinsurance contract assets.
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Others concerning the balance sheet, contingent liabilities and derivatives

  

NOTE 57.  Fair Values of Assets and Liabilities 

Financial assets on December 31, 2005 
    Average interest rate, %  Fair value Book value

Liquid asses   478.9 478.9

Financial assets held for trading      

 Notes and bonds     

  Valued at fair value 2.97 3686 3686

   Capitalisation contracts  0 0

  Valued at amortised cost  0 0

 Shares    

  Valued at fair value   5.8 5.8

  Valued at acquisition cost  0 0

Derivative contracts     

 Valued at fair value  135.8 123.1

 Valued at acquisition cost*  0 0

Receivables from financial institutions** 2.7 4617.4 4617.4

Receivables from customers ** 3.47 6754.8 6754.8

Investments assets     

Financial assets available for sale     

 Notes and bonds    

  Valued at fair value 4.76 140.1 140.1

  Valued at amortised cost  0 0

 Shares    

  Valued at fair value  45 45

  Valued at acquisition cost  104.6 104.6

Total      15968.4 15995.7  

  

Financial liabilities on December 31, 2005    

     

Liabilities to credit institutions 2.45 3563 3563

Financial liabilities held for trading      

 Short sold securities  3.5 3.5

Derivative contracts     

 Valued at fair value  113.7 123.2

 Valued at acquisition cost*  0 0

Liabilities to customers 2.39 2057.7 2057.7

Debt securities issued to the public     

 Hedged  3.65 781.6 781.6

 Not hedged 2.38 8251.5 8251.5

Subordinated liabilities     

 Hedged  4.33 438.3 438.3

 Not hedged 3.35 310.8 310.8

Total    15520.1 15529.7

* unquoted equity instrument as the underlying instrument

** The fair values of the items “Receivables from credit institutions and from customers” include recognised impairments. 
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NOTE 58.  Notes and Bonds Entitling to Central Bank Financing  December 31, 2005 December 31, 2004

Financial assets held for trading 2587 1870.1

Held for trading, of which 0 0

 valued at fair value 0 0

 valued at acquisition cost 0 0

Held to maturity 0 0

Total notes and bonds entitling to central bank financing  2587 1870.1

NOTE 59.  Collateral Given

Pledged on behalf of own liabilities and commitments    

 Mortgages  0.6 0

   Pledges  1517.6 1286.9

   Others  15 15

   Total  1533.2 1301.9

Pledged on behalf of affiliates    

   Mortgages  0 0

   Pledges  0 0

   Total  0 0

Pledged on behalf of others     

   Mortgages 0 0

   Pledges  0 0.7

   Total  0 0.7

Total collateral pledged    

   Mortgages  0.6 0

   Pledges  1517.6 1287.6

   Others  15 15

   Total  1533.2 1302.6

    

  Total liabilities with collateral 1846.1 1285.6

    

Pledged financial assets included in the collateral pledged 1532.6 1302.6

 of which pledged as collateral for conditional liabilities 0 0 

NOTE 60.  Financial Collateral Held

Fair values of collateral held    

 Notes and bonds   

 Shares   

 Others  12.7 -

 Total  12.7 -

The credit risk arising from derivatives is mitigated by collaterals, in which case an ISDA Credit Support Annex 

(CSA) contract associated with the ISDA general agreement is used. In the collateral system the  counterparty 

delivers securities or cash as collateral for the receivable. The amount of collateral related to CSA contracts 

received in cash on the balance sheet date was €12.7 million. There were no securities received as  collateral on 

the balance sheet date.
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NOTE 61 Off-Balance Sheet Commitments  December 31, 2005  December 31, 2004

Guarantees  309.7 293.5

Other guarantees 1107.6 1019

Letters of credit         

Pledges  

Loan commitments 2642.9 2352.5

Commitments related to short-term sale events 130.4 97.9

Others    475 367.5

Total off-balance sheet commitments 4665.6 4130.3

NOTE 62.  Derivative Contracts

Derivatives held for trading on December 31, 2005

          Potential
                                                                      Nominal values/remaining term to maturity                            Fair values  future
    Less than 1 year >1–5 years >5 years Total Assets Liabilities exposure

Interest rate derivatives        

Interest rate swaps 7912.8 7325.4 1534.8 16773 85.4 -101.6 144.6

Forward rate agreements 2848.2 0 0 2848.2 1 -0.7 1

OTC interest rate options         

 Call and caps        

  Purchased 1278 1295.5 771 3344.6 18.7 -2.8 36.8

  Written 1815 1418.7 762.8 3996.6 0 -17.9 0

 Put and floors        

  Purchased 308 594.5 90.5 993 3.9 -0.5 8.2

  Written 965 784.8 62.1 1811.9 0 -1.6 0

Total OTC interest rate derivatives 15126.9 11418.9 3221.3 29767.2 109.0 -125.1 190.6

Interest rate futures 3535.2 0 0 3535.2 0.5 -0.9 0

Total stock exchange derivatives 3535.2 0 0 3535.2 0.5 -0.9 0

Total interest rate derivatives 18662.2 11418.9 3221.3 33302.4 109.5 -126.1 190.6

Currency derivatives         

Forward exchange agreements 2560.1 98.6 0 2658.7 15.6 -17.3 46.2

Interest rate and currency swaps 0 25.6 0 25.6 0 0 1.3

Currency options         

 Call        

  Purchased 3.1 0 0 3.1 0 0 0.1

  Written 3.4 0 0 3.4 0 0 0

 Put        

  Purchased 13.1 0 0 13.1 0 0 0.2

  Written 2.5 0 0 2.5 0 0 0

Total OTC currency derivatives 2582.3 124.2 0 2706.5 15.7 -17.4 47.7

Currency futures 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total currency derivatives 2582.3 124.2 0 2706.5 15.7 -17.4 47.7

         

Equity and index derivatives         
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Share index options         

 Call        

  Purchased 15.5 94.4 0 109.9 16.8 0 25.3

  Written 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

 Put        

  Purchased 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

  Written 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total OTC equity and index 15.5 94.4 0 109.9 16.8 0 25.3

Total equity and index derivatives 15.5 94.4 0 109.9 16.8 0 25.3

         

Credit derivatives         

Credit default swaps 0 129 0 129 0.2 0 3.1

Total credit derivatives 0 129 0 129 0.2 0 3.1

         

Others         

Other options          

 Call        

  Purchased 71.6 6.9 0 78.5 5.3 0 10.2

  Written 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

 Put        

  Purchased 0 16.7 0 16.7 0.3 0 1,1  

  Written 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total other OTC derivatives 71.6 23.6 0 95.2 5.6 0 11.3

Other futures 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total other derivatives 71.6 23.6 0 95.2 5.6 0 11.3

Total derivatives held for trading 21331.6 11790.1 3221.3 36343 147.9 -143.5 278

Derivatives held for trading on December 31, 2004 

          Potential
                                                                      Nominal values/remaining term to maturity                                    Fair values  future
    Less than 1 year >1–5 years >5 years Total Assets Liabilities exposure

Interest rate derivatives         

Interest rate swaps 4341.2 3115.4 438.3 7894.9 59.5 -92.3 87.2

Forward rate agreements 1401 0 0 1401 0.2 -0.2 0.2

OTC interest rate options        

 Call and caps        

  Purchased 10 206.7 298 514.7 0.9 -2.8 6.3

  Written 10 151.8 281.1 442.8 0.1 -0.5 0

 Put and floors        

  Purchased 0 132.9 248 380.9 2.7 -0.1 7

  Written 0 135.9 248 383.9 0 0 0

Total OTC currency derivatives  5762.2 3742.7 1513.4 11018.2 63.3 -95.9 100.6

Interest rate futures  2600.4 146.8 0 2747.2 1.5 -0.4 0

Total stock exchange derivatives  2600.4 146.8 0 2747.2 1.5 -0.4 0

Total interest rate derivatives  8362.6 3889.5 1513.3 13765.4 64.8 -96.2 100.6

          Potential
                                                                      Nominal values/remaining term to maturity                                   Fair values        future
    Less than 1 year >1–5 years >5 years Total Assets Liabilities exposure
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Currency derivatives          

Forward exchange agreements  1896.1 18.5 0 1914.5 43 -30.4 62.9

Interest rate and currency swaps  97.5 396.3 105.9 599.7 8.4 -36 37.1

Currency options          

 Call        

  Purchased  0.7 0 0 0.7 0 0 0

  Written 0.9 0 0 0.9 0 0 0

 Put        

  Purchased  0 0 0 0 0 0 0

  Written 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total OTC currency derivatives  1995.2 414.8 105.9 2515.8 51.4 -66.4 100

Currency futures  0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total currency derivatives  1995.2 414.8 105.9 2515.8 51.4 -66.4 100

Equity and index derivatives         

Share index options          

 Call        

  Purchased  0 82.4 0 82.4 7.3 0 13.9

  Written 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

 Put        

  Purchased 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

  Written  0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total OTC equity and index derivatives  0 82.4 0 82.4 0 0 13.9

Total equity and index derivatives  0 82.4 0 82.4 7.3 0 13.9

Credit derivatives          

Credit default swaps  5 61.4 0 66.4 0.5 -0.1 1.2

Total credit derivatives  5 61.4 0 66.4 0.5 -0.1 1.2

Others          

Other options           

 Call        

  Purchased  0 38.7 0 38.7 0.9 0 3.5

  Written  0 0 0 0 0 0 0

 Put        

  Purchased  0 0 0 0 0  

  Written 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total other OTC derivatives  0 38.7 0 38.7 0 0 3.5

Other futures  0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total other derivatives  0 38.7 0 38.7 0.9 0 3.5

Total derivatives held for trading  10362.7 4486.8 1619.2 16468.7 124.8 -162.7 219.2

Derivative contracts held for hedging – fair value hedging on December 31, 2005

Interest rate derivatives

Interest rate swaps 698.7 902.7 247.5 1848.9 6.4 -19.4 14.6

Total OTC interest rate derivatives  698.7 902.7 247.5 1848.9 6.4 -19.4 14.6

Interest rate futures  0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total interest rate derivatives  698.7 902.7 247.5 1848.9 6.4 -19.4 14.6

          Potential
                                                                      Nominal values/remaining term to maturity             Fair values   future
    Less than 1 year >1–5 years >5 years Total Assets Liabilities exposure
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          Potential
                                                                      Nominal values/remaining term to maturity                            Fair values  future
    Less than 1 year >1–5 years >5 years Total Assets Liabilities exposure

Currency derivatives          

Forward exchange agreements  0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Interest rate and currency swaps  0 582.2 251.7 833.9 39 -9.7 87

Total OTC currency derivatives 0 582.2 251.7 833.9 39 -9.7 87

Currency futures 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total currency derivatives 0 582.2 251.7 833.9 39 -9.7 87

Credit derivatives         

Credit default swaps 0 31.4 0 31.4 0 -1.1 0.2

Total credit derivatives 0 31.4 0 31.4 0 -1.1 0.2

Total derivatives held for hedging 698.7 1516.3 499.2 2714.2 45.4 -32.2 101.7

Derivative contracts held for hedging – fair value hedging on December 31, 2004

Interest rate derivatives         

Interest rate swaps 1157 941.8 436 2534.8 5.3 -28.5 11

Total OTC interest rate derivatives 1157 941.8 436 2534.8 5.3 -28.5 11

Total interest rate derivatives 1157 941.8 436 2534.8 5.3 -28.5 11

Currency derivatives         

Forward exchange agreements 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Interest rate and currency swaps 0 7.3 71.6 78.9 0 -8.5 5.7

Total OTC currency derivatives 0 7.3 71.6 78.9 0 -8.5 5.7

Currency futures 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total currency derivatives 0 7.3 71.6 78.9 0 -8.5 5.7

Total derivatives held for hedging 1157 949.1 507.6 2613.7 5.3 -37 16.8 

Total derivatives held for trading and hedging in 2005

Interest rate derivatives 19360.9 12321.6 3468.8 35151.3 115.9 -145.5 205.2

Currency derivatives 2582.3 706.4 251.7 3540.4 54.7 -27.1 134.7

Equity and index-linked derivatives 15.5 94.4 0 109.9 16.8 0 25.3

Credit derivatives 0 160.4 0 160.4 0.2 -1.1 3.3

Other derivatives 71.6 23.6 0 95.2 5.6 0 11.3

Total derivatives 22030.3 13306.4 3720.5 39057.2 193.3 -173.7 379.7

Total derivatives held for trading and hedging in 2004

Interest rate derivatives 9519.6 4831.3 1949.3 16300.2 70.1 -124.7 111.6

Currency derivatives 1995.2 422.1 177.5 2594.7 51.4 -74.9 105.7

Equity and index-linked derivatives 0 82.4 0 82.4 7.3 0 13.9

Credit derivatives 5 61.4 0 66.4 0.5 -0.1 1.2

Other derivatives 0 38.7 0 38.7 0.9 0 3.5

Total derivatives 11519.7 5435.9 2126.8 19082.4 130.1 -199.7 236
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NOTE 63.  Contingent Assets and Liabilities

Insurance companies belonging to the Group record their insurance policies through pools. The pool members 

are primarily responsible for their own proportion. These proportions are based on contracts that are confirmed 

annually. In some pools, other members are responsible for liabilities of a member incapable of payment in pro-

portion to their shares. Insurance companies will record the liabilities and receivables from joint responsibility if it 

is probable that joint responsibility will be realised.

Opstock Ltd has a receivable of €2.4 million from a private customer confirmed by the Helsinki Court of Appeal. 

The decision of the Court of Appeal is not legally valid. It is not possible to assess the financial impact of these 

assets as it depends on the solvency of the private customer, which is not certain.

NOTE 64.  Operating leases

OKO Bank Group as the Lessee

Some of the Group companies have leased the office facilities they use. The lengths of the operating leases vary 

from one to ten years and normally they include an option to continue the contract after the original date of ter-

mination. The Group has leased a further part of the facilities leased. In addition, some Group companies have 

leased motor vehicles and office machines through operating leases. Leasing expenses of €1.3 million (1.3) have 

been booked under Other operating expenses for the above- mentioned items.

Minimum leases to be paid on the basis of uncancellable operating leases

    December 31, 2005  December 31, 2004 

 Within one year  9.3 -

 Within more than a year and at most within five years  35.8 -

 Within more than five years  57.0 -

 Total  102.1 -

    

Expected future minimum leases from uncancellable subleases  26.4 -

OKO Bank Group as the Lessor

Companies within the OKO Bank Group have given on lease investment properties owned by them, for which 

leasing income of €6.8 million (8.7) was accumulated. In addition to investment properties, the Group has prima-

rily given on lease passenger cars, which generated a leasing income of €5.5 million (3.0).

Minimum leases to be received on the basis of uncancellable operating leases 

    December 31 December 31, 2004

Within one year   17.4 8.6

Within more than a year and at most within five years  31.1 21.7

Within more than five years  - 3.0

Total   48.5 33.3

NOTE 65.  Asset Management

In the OKO Bank Group, Opstock Ltd and Pohjola Asset Management Ltd offer their customers asset manage-

ment services based on portfolio management under full power of attorney and consultative portfolio manage-

ment. Opstock Ltd has portfolio management responsibility for the majority of OP Fund Management  Company’s 

mutual funds. Customer funds in asset management totalled €27.6 billion on December 31, 2005. 
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NOTE 66.  Holdings in Other Companies   

The Group’s parent company and subsidiary relationships concerning holdings in other companies are presented 

in Note 67 and the holdings in affiliates in Note 25.

Companies established during the fiscal period

During the fiscal period OKO Corporate Finance Ltd was established as OKO Bank’s subsidiary to which the 

Corporate Finance operations in which Opstock Ltd engages in Finland will be transferred during the spring.

The name of the subsidiary OP-Sijoitus Oy, fully owned by OKO Bank, was changed to OKO Capital East Ltd. 

ZAO OKO Capital Vostok was established as its subsidiary domiciled in Moscow. The company offers services 

related to corporate arrangements and structured financing to Finnish companies in Russia. The OKO Capital East 

Group has been consolidated with the OKO Bank Group since October.

Holdings in the most significant joint ventures included in the consolidated financial statements

2005

Name   Domicile Holding 

Kiinteistö Oy Kanta-Sarvis II  Tampere 100 

Companies owned by Pohjola Non-life Insurance Company:  Pohjola’s holding  

Kiinteistö Oy Eteläesplanadi 12  Helsinki 27,2 

Asunto Oy Helsingin Korppaanmäki  Helsinki 34,2 

Tikkurilan Kauppatalo Oy Vantaa 53,7 

   

2004

Name   Domicile Holding 

Kiinteistö Oy Lahden Trio Lahti 33,3 

Oy Kaisaniemenkatu 1 Helsinki 22,4 

Kiinteistö Oy Arkadiankatu 23 Helsinki 100 

Kiinteistö Oy Dagmarinkatu 14 Helsinki 100 

Kiinteistö Oy Kanta-Sarvis II Tampere 100 

Other notes

NOTE 67. Related Party Transactions

The affiliates of the OKO Bank Group are listed in Note 25. The management of the OKO Bank Group includes 

OKO Bank’s President and deputy President, members and deputy members of the Board of Directors, members 

and deputy members of the Supervisory Board and their close family members.  Normal loan terms and condi-

tions are applied to loans granted to the management. The loans are tied to generally-used reference rates. The 

loans are repaid according to agreed repayment plans and they have normal collateral.

 

* Other insider corporations include OP Bank Group Pension Fund, OP Bank Group Pension Foundation and 

their sister companies within the OP Bank Group Central Cooperative Consolidated.
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The Group’s parent company and subsidiary relationships
      Share of  Share of
Holding   Company Domicile/home country  shares, %  votes,% 

OKO Osuuspankkien Keskuspankki Oyj:n tytäryhtiöt :             

Opstock Oy Helsinki 85 85 

OKO Venture Capital Oy Helsinki 100 100 

OKO Capital East Oy Helsinki 100 100 

ZAO OKO Capital Vostok Venäjä 100 100 

Pohjola-Yhtymä Oyj Helsinki 86.3 86.3

     Pohjola’s Pohjola’s Share of
     Share of shares votes, %

Subsidiaries of Pohjola Group plc:      

Pohjola Non-life Insurance Helsinki 100 100 

A-Vakuutus Oy Helsinki 100 100 

Seesam International Insurance Company Ltd Viro 100 100 

Joint Stock Insurance Company “Seesam Latvia” Latvia 100 100 

Joint Stock Insurance Company “Seesam Lithuania” Liettua 100 100 

Vakuutusosakeyhtiö Eurooppalainen Helsinki 100 100 

Vakuutusosakeyhtiö Bothnia International Helsinki 100 100 

Moorgate Insurance Company Limited Iso-Britannia 100 100 

Pohjola Life Insurance Company Helsinki 100 100 

Pohjola Asset Management Ltd Helsinki 100 100 

Pohjola Kiinteistösijoitus Oy Helsinki 100 100 

Pohjolan IT-Hankinta Oy Helsinki 100 100 

Conventum Venture Finance Oy Helsinki 100 100 

Kaivokadun PL-hallinto Oy Helsinki 100 100 

Related party transactions in 2005

     Con- Admin-
    Parent company solidated istrative  Others* 
      affiliates personnel

Loans   50.1 0 0 1291.2

Other receivables 2.1 0 0 62.1

Deposits  6.3 0 0 119.6

Other liabilities 362.3 0 0 15

     

Interest income 0.9 0 0 35.4

Interest expenses 3.4 0 0 6.9

Dividend income 0 0 0 3.3

Commission income 0.4 0 0 4.2

Commission expenses 1.8 0 0 0.1

Other operating income 0.6 0 0 1.6

Impairments on loans 0 0 0 0

Impairments on loans at the end of the fiscal period 0 0 0 0

Off-balance sheet commitments     

 Guarantees 0 0 0 6.6

 Uncancellable commitments 8 0 0 0

 Other off-balance sheet commitments 0 0 0 0
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Salaries and remuneration and performance-related pay     

 Salaries and remuneration 0 0 1.9 0

 Performance-related pay 0 0 0 0

Owned by insiders     

 Number of stock options 0 0 31000 0

 Number of shares 60825897 0 85464 3680793

 Number of holdings 0 0 0 0

Related party transactions in 2004

Loans   13.5 287.5 1.1 81

Other receivables 0 1.1 0 2.5

Deposits  8.3 1.1 3.3 23.9

Other liabilities 8.8 0 0 29

Interest income 0.8 4.6 0 2

Interest expenses 2.2 0 0 0.4

Dividend income 0 1.4 0 0

Commission income 0.3 0.3 0 0.4

Commission expenses 1.7 0 0 0

Other operating income 0.4 0.4 0 0.1

Impairments on loans 0 0 0 0

Impairments on loans at the end of the fiscal period 0 0 0 0

Off-balance sheet commitments     

 Guarantees 0 1.8 0 4.5

 Uncancellable commitments 8.4 0 0 0

 Other off-balance sheet commitments 0 0 0 0

Salaries and remuneration and performance-related pay      

 Salaries and remuneration 0 0 2.4 0

 Performance-related pay 0 0 0 0

Owned by insiders     

 Number of stock options 0 0 66000 0

 Number of shares 38586064 0 38688 1840000

 Number of holdings 0 0 0 0

The members of the Supervisory Board were paid remuneration to a total of €127,800.

The monthly remuneration of the chairman was €1,500 and meeting remuneration €200, the monthly remunera-

tion of the vice chairman was €750 and meeting remuneration €200, and the monthly remuneration of each 

member was €200 and meeting remuneration €200.

The remuneration paid to chairman Seppo Penttinen totalled €19,000.

The remuneration paid to vice chairman Paavo Haapakoski totalled €12,200.

The remuneration paid to the other members of the Supervisory Board varied between €400 and €6,200.

     Con- Admin-
    Parent company solidated istrative  Others* 
      affiliates personnel
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The salaries and performance-related payments paid to the members and deputy members of the Executive 

Board for the fiscal period that ended on December 31, 2005, including the income received from option rights, 

were as follows: 

President Mikael Silvennoinen 351,760

Deputy President Timo Ritakallio 647,655

Member of the Executive Board Helena Walldén 567,687

Deputy member of the Executive Board Jarmo Viitanen 215,610

NOTE 68.  Long-term Incentive Systems 

Option Schemes

On June 30, 1999, OKO Bank’s Extraordinary General Meeting decided according to the proposal of the Execu-

tive Board that an option-based incentive system concerning the whole personnel be taken into use in OKO Bank 

and the OP Bank Group Central Cooperative. An option loan was offered for subscription by the personnel of 

the OKO Bank Group, OP Bank Group Central Cooperative, OP Bank Group Mutual Insurance Company, OP 

Bank Group Pension Fund and OP Bank Group Research Foundation, and by OP-Sijoitus Oy, fully owned by 

OKO Bank. The amount of the option loan was €460,000. The interest-free loan was repaid in October 2002.

According to the terms and conditions of the option scheme, the subscription price of a share was €10.99. The 

subscription price is reduced by the amount of dividends distributed after the determination period of the sub-

scription price and before the subscription of shares on each record date for dividends. However, the subscrip-

tion price is always at least the counter value of the share, which was €2.105 at the end of 2005. The subscrip-

tion period with A stock options began on October 1, 2002 and with B stock options on October 1, 2004. The 

stock options were listed on the Helsinki Stock Exchange when the subscription period began. Before the listing 

of the B stock options, they were combined with the A stock options and their name was changed to 1999 A/B 

stock option right.

Each stock option entitled to subscription of one OKO Bank’s Series A share, or a total of 4,600,000 shares. With 

the share split (1:2) of OKO Bank shares registered with the Trade Register on April 30, 2004, the subscription 

ratio of the stock option scheme changed. From the beginning of May, two new Series A shares could be sub-

scribed with one stock option right. In connection with the 2005 share issue, the subscription ratio was changed 

so that four new Series A shares can be subscribed with one stock option right. As a result of all subscriptions, 

the number of OKO Bank’s shares may increase at most by a total of 9,370,320 new Series A shares and the 

company’s share capital by €19.7 million.

As a result of the 2004 share split, the subscription price of the share was reduced by half. As a result of the 

change in the subscription ratio, the aggregate subscription price of four Series A shares was determined to be 

€4.21 added by an amount in euro that corresponded to the subscription price of two new Series A shares 

according to the conditions of the increase in share capital. The new subscription price thus confirmed is €4.6525 

per share.

In 2005, the share-specific subscription price was €2.485 until April 5, 2005 and after that €2.105 until the share issue.

By the end of 2005 7,646,680 Series A shares had been subscribed with the stock options, of which 2,553,790 

were registered in 2005.
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The changes to and weighted average subscription prices of outstanding options are as follows:

    2005  2004
    Average Option Average Option
    subscription rights, 1000 subscription rights, 1000
    price, €/share  price, €/share 

At the beginning of the fiscal period 2.49 1233 7.17 2 511

Lost stock options   2.79 -21

Exercised stock options 2.75 -802 2.64 -1 257

At the end of the fiscal period 4.65 431 2.49 1 233

      

Exercisable share options at the end of the fiscal period 4.65 431 2.49 1 233

The average price of stock options exercised in 2005 was €2.75 (€2.64 in 2004). The share-issue adjusted aver-

age price of OKO Bank’s share was €10.19 (7.31) in 2005. The range of the exercise price of the stock options 

was €2.485–4.6525 (2.485–7.17) in 2005 and the range of the price of OKO Bank’s share was €8.09–12.34 

(6.21–8.39).

Long-term management incentive scheme            

Under a decision taken by OKO Bank’s Supervisory Board, the long-term management incentive scheme includes  

members of OKO Bank’s Executive Board, heads of departments and directors in comparable positions in the 

subsidiaries as well as those managers who are members of the personnel fund and whose HAY rating is 9–11. A 

total of 27 people were included in the scheme on December 31, 2005.            

            

Those included in the incentive scheme may receive OKO Bank’s shares as annual rewards for 2005–2007. In 

2005 the target meters applied in the management incentive scheme were: the ROE percentage of the OKO 

Bank Group (weight 50%),  increase in the market share of the OKO Bank Group’s core businesses (weight 35%),  

increase in the market share of the OP Bank Group’s core businesses (weight 15%). The reward will be granted if 

the Bank meets at least 80% of these targets.            

            

If the targets set are met, each person included in the scheme is entitled to a reward corresponding to his/her 

regular salary subject to withholding tax for the following period: the President – 4 months, members of the 

Executive Board – 3 months, heads of department and directors in corresponding positions in the subsidiaries – 2 

months, and managers – 2 weeks. Managers are also entitled to a share in the profit-related payment paid into 

the personnel fund,  the maximum amount of which corresponds to their salary for one month. The reward will 

be paid two years after the completion of the earning period.            

            

The value of the reward paid as shares is recognised as personnel cost in equal instalments over the vesting 

period. Expenses of €0.1 million were recognised for the scheme during the fiscal period.  

In 2006 the meter of increase in the market share of OKO Bank Group’s core businesses, the weight of which 

was 35 per cent in 2005, has been replaced by the meters of increase in the net income of banking and invest-

ment service operations and increase in non-life insurance income. The weight of both of them is 17.5 per cent. 

Personnel fund            

OKO Bank joined the personnel fund for the OP Bank Group on October 26, 2004. 536 employees of OKO 

Bank were members of the fund on 31.12.2005. At the end of 2005, employees of OKO Bank Group’s subsidiar-

ies were not members of the personnel fund.            

            

The amount of profit-related payments transferred into the personnel fund was based on the same target meters 

as  the long-term management incentive scheme. €0.3 million of profit-related payments is paid to the personnel 

fund for 2005.                     
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In 2006 the meter of increase in the market share of OKO Bank Group’s core businesses has been replaced by 

the meter of increase in the net income from banking and investment service operations. If the targets are met, 

the amount of profit-related payments transferred to the personnel fund for 2006 will be 2.5 per cent of the 

aggregate payroll of the members of the fund in 2006, which was €25.5 million in 2005.

NOTE 69.  Events occurring after the balance sheet date

In September, OKO Bank acquired a majority holding in the shares of Pohjola Group plc. In connection with the 

acquisition, OKO Bank announced its intention to make a public tender offer for Pohjola’s remaining outstanding 

shares. After the tender offer expired on November 18, 2005, OKO Bank’s share of the holding and votes had 

risen to 83 per cent.

On December 1, 2005, OKO Bank made a redemption offer according to Chapter 6, Section 6, of the Securities 

Markets Act for Pohjola’s remaining outstanding shares and option rights. The offer expired on January 5, 2006. 

The share of those accepting the offer of Pohjola’s shares and votes was 4.4 per cent. At that time, OKO Bank’s 

share of the holding and votes had risen to 89.96 per cent. On January 10, 2006, OKO Bank announced that it 

had acquired a number of shares from the market that increased OKO Bank’s share of the holding and votes to 

more than 90 per cent.

OKO Bank has expressed a demand to redeem the shares from other Pohjola shareholders. OKO Bank has started 

redemption proceedings in accordance with the Companies Act in order to redeem the rest of Pohjola’s shares.

According to what was announced in September, Pohjola sold Pohjola Life Insurance Company Ltd to the OP 

Bank Group Central Cooperative for €281 million on January 16, 2006. This transaction did not have an effect on 

the financial performance of OKO Bank Group. On the same day, Pohjola sold Pohjola Asset Management Ltd to 

OKO Bank for €118.5 million. The sale was part of the rearrangement of the asset management operations of 

the OKO Bank Group.

Pohjola’s Extraordinary General Meeting held on January 19, 2006 approved the above-mentioned transactions. 

The asset management operations of Opstock Ltd will be transferred to Pohjola Asset Management Ltd by a 

business operations transfer at the end of February, and the Corporate Finance operations to OKO Corporate 

Finance Ltd during the spring. Opstock Ltd, which will only engage in securities brokerage after the business 

operations transfers, will be merged with its parent company, OKO Bank. According to the plan, the merger will 

enter into force at the end of September.

NOTE 70.  Transition to IFRS Reporting

OKO Bank Group made the transition from Finnish accounting standards to the international IFRS standard on 

January 1, 2005. The date of transition to the IFRS standard was January 1, 2004, although standards IAS 39 

(Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement) and IAS 32 (Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presen-

tation) were adopted  on January 1, 2005 in accordance with IFRS 1.

OKO Bank Group has applied the following allowances by the IFRS 1 first-time adoption standard:

–   the IFRS information for 2004 does not include the effects of IAS 39 (Financial Instruments), because the 

 standard will be introduced in OKO Bank Group as of the beginning of 2005, and no comparison data is 

 required,

–  at the time of transition, funds in pension schemes were valued at fair value and obligations at present value 

 based on the calculatory assumptions valid at the time of transition on January 1, 2004,

–  with regard to Kiinteistö Oy Arkadiankatu 23, which was fully owned by OKO Bank, the deemed acquisition 

 cost applicable to the part of the building in own use upon transition is the fair value, and
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–  the acquisition cost calculations of companies consolidated before the IFRS transition were not converted to 

IFRS but are still based on Finnish Accounting Standards.

The most significant effects of the transition to IFRS were associated with defined-benefit pension plans (IAS 19, 

Employee Benefits); changes to the management of investment properties, which were due to the fair valuation 

of investments (IAS 40, Investment Properties); and changes to the method of combining mutual real estate com-

panies (IAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment, and IAS 31, Interests in Joint Ventures). Other adjustments had a 

negligible effect.

Reconciliation of Profit for 2004

€ million    1.1.–31.12.2004

Share of profit attributable to 

equity holders of the parent, FAS  101.5

 Defined benefit plans  3.3

 Real estate   1.1

 Adjustmets to non-recurring commisions paid

       on loan repayment insurance  -0.7

 Deferred taxes  1

 Impairment of assets  0.5

 Other adjustments  0

Share of profit attributable to 

equity holders of the parent, IFRS  106.7

Reconciliation of  Equity

OKO Bank Group´s shareholders’ equity prepared in accordance with FAS was €733 million on December 31, 

2003. Minority interest is included in shareholders’ equity in accordance with the IAS 1 standard (Presentation of 

Financial Statements). This change in classification increased shareholders’ equity according to FAS by  €2 million.  

OKO Bank Group´s shareholders’ equity prepared in accordance with FAS was €807 million on December 31, 

2004. According to the IAS 39 standard (Financial Instruments: recording and valuation) capital loans are 

recorded as debt. On the other hand, minority interest is included in equity. These changes in classification 

decreased shareholders’ equity according to FAS by  €70 million (net amount).  

€ million   Dec. 31, 2004 Jan. 1, 2004

 Equity in accordance with FAS (in IFRS format) 738 735

 Defined benefit plans 47 44

 Real estate  8 8

 Adjustmets to non-recurring commisions paid

 on loan repayment insurance   -10 -9

 Deferred taxes -6 -8

 Impairment of assets -1 -1

 Other adjustments 1 1

Equity in accordance with  IFRS 777 770    
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OKO BANK GROUP’S IFRS OPENING BALANCE SHEET 2004

 € million Note    FAS IFRS        IFRS 
  figures in   adjust-
  IFRS format ments
   IAS12 IAS17 IAS18 IAS19 IAS36 IAS40 Other Total
        16,31  

Assets           

Liquid assets 6 929      0  0 929

Receivables from financial insitutions 7 2 679       0 0 2 679

Financial assets for trading  2 647        0 2 647

Derivative contracts  141        0 141

Receivables from customers 2,6 7 250  285    0  285 7 535

Investment assets 6,7 442      2 0 2 444

Investments in affiliates  21        0 21

Intangible assets 5,6,7 13     -1 0 1 -1 12

Tangible assets 2,6,7 329  -286    5 0 -280 49

Other assets 2,4,6,7 303  0  44  1 0 45 348

Tax receivables 1 0 7       7 7

Total assets  14 754 7 0 0 44 -1 8 1 59 14 813

           

Liabilities           

Liabilities to financial institutions  4 831        0 4 831

Financial liabilities for trading  0        0 0

Derivative contracts  176        0 176

Liabilities to customers 6 3 307      0  0 3 307

Debt securities issued to the public

  4 779        0 4 779

Reserves and other liabilities 3,4,6,7 500  0 9   0 1 10 510

Tax liabilities 1 59 14       14 74

Subordinated liabilities  366        0 366

Total liabilities  14 019 14 0 9 0 0 0 1 24 14 043

Shareholders’ equity (excl. minority interests)

  733 -7 0 -9 44 -1 8 1 35 768

Minority interests 7 2       0 0 2

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity  14 754         14 813

INCOME STATEMENT 2004 

€ million Note    FAS IFRS        IFRS 
  figures in   adjust-
  IFRS format ments
  1–12/-04 IAS12 IAS17 IAS18 IAS19 IAS36 IAS40 Other Total 1–12/-04
        16,31  

Net interest income 2 136  11      11 147

Impairment losses  -1        0 -1

Net interest income after impairment losses 134         145

Net commissions and fees 3 86   -1     -1 85

Net income from trading  2        0 2

Net income from investments 6 30      1  1 31

Other operating income 2,7 89  -82     0 -82 7

Personnel costs 4,7 -63    3   0 4 -59

Other administrative expenses  -49        0 -49

Other operating expenses 2,5,6,7 -102  71   1 0 0 71 -31
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Share in affiliate profits/losses 6 6      0  0 6

Earnings before tax  134         138

Income tax 1 -31 1       1 -30

Profit (loss) for the period  102         108

Share of minority interests 7 -1       0 0 -1

Earnings for the period  102 1 0 -1 3 1 1 0 5 107

BALANCE SHEET ON 31 DECEMBER, 2004 

€ million Note    FAS IFRS        IFRS 
  balance adjust-
  in IFRS format ments
   IAS12 IAS17 IAS18 IAS19 IAS36 IAS40 Other Total
         16,31  

Assets           

Liquid assets  297        0 297

Receivables from financial institutions  3 548        0 3 548

Financial assets for trading  3 085        0 3 085

Derivative contracts  93        0 93

Receivables from customers 2 8 319  345      345 8 664

Investment assets 6,7 338      1 0 1 339

Investments in affiliates  25        0 25

Intangible assets 5,6,7 10     -1 0 1 0 10

Tangible assets 2,6 402  -346    7  -339 64

Other assets 2,4,6 309  0  47  0  47 356

Tax receivables 1 0 7       7 7

Total assets  16 428 7 0 0 47 -1 8 1  16 490

Liabilities           

Liabilities to financial institutions  4 310        0 4 310

Financial liabilities for trading 0        0 0

Derivative contracts  99        0 99

Liabilities to customers 6 4 072      0  0 4 072

Debt securities issued to the public  6 103        0 6 103

Reserves and other liabilities 2,3,4,6 570  0 10 -1  0  9 578

Tax liabilities 1 74 14       14 88

Subordinated liabilities  462        0 462

Total liabilities  15 690 14 0 10 -1 0 0 0 23 15 713

Shareholders’ equity (excl. minority interests) 736        40 775

Minority interests 7 2       0 0 2

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity  16 428         16 490

Effects of the IAS 39 Standard on Shareholders’ Equity January 1, 2005

Fair valuation was applied to notes, bonds and equities included in current and non-current assets under FAS and 

categorised as Financial assets available for sale. Under FAS, the valuation of current assets was adjusted only in 

cases of reduction in value or increase in value up to the acquisition price, and the valuation of non-current assets 

was adjusted only in cases of permanent reduction in value.

In fair value hedging calculations, changes in the value of the hedging and hedged instrument were recognised as 

an adjustment of retained earnings at the time of transition, but the entries had no effect on shareholders’ equity.

Loan loss provisions under FAS were cancelled, and impairment losses specific to each receivable and group of 

receivables were booked in accordance with the new principles. The increase in impairment losses, which mostly 

comprised impairment losses specific to groups of receivables, was recognised as an adjustment of accrued earn-

ings.
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Effects of the IAS 39 Standard on Shareholders’ Equity

Shareholders’ equity under IFRS December 31, 2004, € million  777

 Shares and holdings available for sale   16

 Notes and bonds available for sale  1

 Deferred tax  -4

 Fair value reserve  13

 Shares and holdings available for sale  2

 Transfer of derivatives to non-hedging  -4

 Categorisation of notes and bonds to assets held for trading  5

 Impairment losses on receivables  -1

 Retained earnings  2

Shareholders’ equity January 1, 2005  792

More Information for Reconciliation

Format Changes

The greatest changes due to the new grouping are the following:

Net interest income includes interest on interest rate swaps for trading. In the FAS format these were included 

in Net income from securities trading. With regard to finance lease receivables, net interest income only includes 

interest income. In the FAS income statement, net income from leasing receivables were included in the item 

Net leasing income.

Impairment losses on receivables correspond to the FAS item Credit and guarantee losses.

Net commissions and fees include commissions and fees from real estate agency operations. In the FAS income 

statement they were booked in Other operating income.

Net trading income includes income and expenses on trading operations, excluding interest that is included in 

interest income. In the FAS income statement all these items were included in Net income from securities 

 trading or in Income from equity investments.

Net income from investments includes income and expenses on financial assets available for sale, as well as from 

investment properties, excluding interest. In the FAS income statement income and expenses on financial assets 

were included in Net income from securities trading or in Income from equity investments, while income from 

investment properties was included in Other operating income and expenses in Other operating expenses or in 

Write-downs on securities held as non-current financial assets.

Other operating income on the IFRS income statement does not include income from investment properties or 

commissions and fees from real estate agency. Other operating income under IFRS includes income and 

expenses on other lease contracts under IAS 17 and income from finance lease contracts other than interest 

income.

Other operating expenses on the IFRS income statement do not include expenses on investment properties. 

The FAS income statement item Depreciation and write-downs is included in this item. With regard to the FAS 

item Leasing income, depreciation on objects leased out on other lease contracts as referred to in IAS 17 has 

been transferred to this item.
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Receivables from customers include the FAS item Receivables from the public and public sector entities, as well 

as the contracts classified as finance lease contracts included in the FAS item Leasing assets.

Financial assets held for trading include notes, bonds and equities valued at fair value; the changes in value are 

recognised on the income statement. In the FAS format they were included in Notes and bonds or in Shares and 

holdings.

Derivative contracts include positive (in assets) and negative (in liabilities) changes in the value of derivative con-

tracts; these were included in Other assets and liabilities in the FAS format.

Investment assets include financial assets available for sale, as well as investment properties.

Intangible assets include not only the FAS Intangible assets but also development-phase expenses capitalised for 

substantial development projects.

Tangible assets include FAS Tangible assets deducted by investment properties, as well as the objects of other 

lease contracts as referred to in IAS 17 included in the FAS item Leasing assets.

Other assets includes the FAS item Other assets deducted by receivables from derivative contracts and 

increased by an asset item calculated for defined-benefit pension plans in accordance with IAS 19.

Tax receivables are presented as a separate item on the IFRS balance sheet. On the FAS balance sheet tax 

receivables associated with income tax allocation were presented in Accrued expenses. 

Financial liabilities held for trading include short selling of securities, which were included in Other liabilities in FAS.

Reserves and other liabilities include the FAS item Other liabilities deducted by liabilities on derivative contracts, 

Mandatory reserves and accrued expenses.

Tax liabilities are presented as a separate item on the IFRS balance sheet. The FAS balance sheet presented lia-

bilities due to deferred taxes as a separate item, and liabilities due to income tax allocations were presented in 

Accrued expenses. 

Subordinated liabilities include subordinated liabilities under FAS as well as capital loans, which used to be 

included in Shareholders’ equity on the FAS balance sheet.

Effects of IFRS Transition on Income Statement and Balance Sheet (explanations to the notes shown in calcu-

lations)

1. IAS 12, Income Taxes

On the consolidated FAS balance sheet accumulated appropriations were divided into Shareholders’ equity and 

Deferred tax liability, and on the income statement into Profit for the period and Change in deferred tax liability. 

The IFRS financial statements represent all deferred tax receivables and liabilities associated with temporary dif-

ferences between accounting and taxation, as well as any changes in these, if the tax attributable to the differ-

ence is expected to be realised in the future. 

2. IAS 17, Leases

Income on finance leases is divided into interest income and commission income. With regard to income on 

operating leases as referred to in IAS 17, commissions are entered in Commission income, other income in 

Other operating income, and depreciation in Other operating expenses. According to FAS, net income on all 

leasing contracts was entered in the item Leasing income. 
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3. IAS 18, Revenue

In its FAS financial statements 1995–2003 OKO Bank’s subsidiary Okopankki Oyj recognised non-recurring com-

missions paid on loan repayment insurance and associated with several years as income on the cash basis. These 

commissions include a risk of being returned. In the IFRS transition these income recognitions were retroactively 

cancelled and recognised as liabilities. According to the IFRS principle, only the share of commissions attributable 

to the fiscal period shall be recognised as income. 

4. IAS 19, Employee Benefits

On the date of transition, actuarial gains and losses have been recognised as Shareholders’ equity. The Group 

used the option provided in IFRS 1, according to which funds in pension schemes were valued at fair value and 

the obligation at present value based on the calculatory assumptions valid at the time of transition on January 1, 

2004. The difference between funds and obligations in pension schemes was entered in Other assets. The asset 

item in Other assets and the pension costs will be adjusted during the financial period on the basis of actuarial 

calculations

5. IAS 36, Impairment of Assets

Upon IFRS transition the minor goodwill included on the FAS balance sheet was recognised as expense and the 

goodwill depreciations included in the FAS financial statements were cancelled. The goodwill originated in the 

establishment of Okopankki Oyj.

6. IAS 40, 16, 31, Investment Property, Property, Plant and Equipment, Interests in Joint Ventures

Investment properties were valued at fair value upon transition, and changes in fair value after the transition will 

be entered in Net income from investments. In FAS financial statements investment properties were valued at 

acquisition cost deducted by depreciation and impairments. 

The revaluation in the consolidated financial statements concerning Kiinteistö Oy Arkadiankatu 23, which is fully 

owned by OKO Bank and included in the Bank’s consolidated financial statements, was cancelled at the time of 

transition January 1, 2004. The property is mostly classified as an investment property, but a part of it is in the 

company’s own use. The fair value method in accordance with the IAS 40 standard was applied to the part in 

investment use. Fair value was used as the deemed acquisition cost for the part in own use within the scope of 

the allowance by the IFRS 1 first-time adoption standard. The value of the part in own use before revaluation 

was EUR 8.125 million, and the revaluated acquisition cost was EUR 6.161 million.

Mutual real estate companies in which OKO Bank or its subsidiaries have an ownership interest under 100 per 

cent are consolidated like assets under joint control as referred to in the IAS 31 standard. Entries associated 

with consolidation by the acquisition cost method were cancelled upon transition.

7. Other adjustments

IAS 38, Intangible Assets: In comparison with Finnish Accounting Standards, wage and salary costs capitalised in 

the acquisition cost of internally generated assets reduce personnel expenses and increase depreciation belong-

ing to other operating expenses. Internally generated assets refer to computer software included in Intangible 

assets.
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                             1.1.–31.12.2005            1.1.–31.12.2004   

Interest income     692    338

Net leasing income     14    11

Interest expenses     -602    -249

NET INTEREST INCOME     104    101

Income from equity investments         

 From subsidiaries    7    16 

    From affiliates    3    2 

    From other companies    5 16   7 25

Commissions & fees     47    41

Commission expenses    -8    -7 

Net income from securities and foreign exchange trading         

    Net income from securities trading    7    -3 

    Net income from foreign exchange trading    8 15   6 3

Net income from financial assets available for sale     9    20

Net income from hedge accounting         

Net income from investment properties     3    3

Other operating income     249    5

Administrative expenses         

    Personnel costs         

 Salaries and compensation   28    25  

        Indirect personnel costs         

            Pension costs  3    4   

            Other indirect personnel costs  3 6 34  2 6 31 

  Other administrative expenses    27 -62   25 -56

Depreciation and write-downs on tangible and intangible         

assets       -1    -4 

Other operating expenses     -27    -12

Impairment losses on loans and other commitments     -3    -1   

           

Impairment losses on other financial assets          

OPERATING PROFIT     341    117

Appropriations    -75    -65

Income taxes         

  Taxes for the financial period    -2    17 

  Taxes for previous financial periods         

  Deferred taxes    1 -1    -18

PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS AFTER TAXES     265    35   

PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD     265    35

THE PARENT BANK 

INCOME STATEMENT

INCOME STATEMENT, € MILLION 

OKO BANK’S FINANCIAL STATEMENT, FAS
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ASSETS                                                                                                         December 31, 2005                    December 31,  2004

Liquid assets     479    290
Notes and bonds eligible for refinancing with central banks       
     Treasury bills    192    292 
     Others   2 395 2 587  1 578 1 870
Receivables from financial institutions       
     Repayable on demand    48    43 
     Others   4 541 4 589  4 308 4 351
Receivables from the public and public sector entities       
     Repayable on demand         
     Others   6 376 6 376  5 662 5 662
Leasing assets     419    360
Notes and bonds       
     From public sector entities    99    112 
     From others   1 128 1 227  1 145 1 256
Shares and holdings     110    87
Shares and holdings in affiliates        11
Shares and holdings in subsidiaries    1 780    95
Derivative contracts     123    95
Intangible assets     8    7
Tangible assets       
     Investment properties and shares and holdings in investment properties    32    64 
     Other properties and shares and holdings in real estate corporations    4    7 
     Other tangible assets    1  38   2  73
Other assets    183    133
Deferred income and advances paid     223    143
Deferred tax receivables       
TOTAL ASSETS    18 142   14 434

BALANCE SHEET
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LIABILITIES                                                                                                  December 31, 2005                    December 31,  2004

LIABILITIES       
Liabilities to financial institutions and central banks       
    To central banks   1 562    959 
    To financial institutions       
        Repayable on demand   429    344  
        Others 1 574 2 002 3 565 3 090 3 434 4 394
Liabilities to the public and public sector entities       
    Deposits       
        Repayable on demand   490    568  
        Others  6  497   21  589 
    Other liabilities       
        Repayable on demand         
        Others  1 569 1 569 2 066 1 624 1 625 2 213
Promissory notes issued to the public       
    Bonds    4 588   2 867 
    Others    4 542 9 130  3 160 6 028
Derivative contracts and other liabilities held for trading    123    100  
Other liabilities       
    Other liabilities    548    384 
    Mandatory reserves    2  550   2  386
Deferred expenses and advances received     204    131
Subordinated liabilities       
    Capital loans    215    72 
    Others    534  749   390  462
Deferred tax liabilities     2   
         
TOTAL LIABILITIES    16 388   13 713

ACCUMULATED APPROPRIATIONS      

Depreciation difference    64   49 
Voluntary reserves    226  290   166  215
         
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY       
         
Share capital       
  Share capital    423    206 
  Share issue    1  424   3  209
Share premium fund     520    7
Other restricted reserves       
   Reserve fund     164    164
   Other funds       
Unrestricted reserves       
  Fair value fund    14    
   Other funds    23  38   23  23
         
Retained earnings     55    68
Profit for the period     265    35
         
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY    1 464    505
         
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS´ EQUITY   18 142   14 434
         
OFF-BALANCE SHEET ITEMS       
Commitments given to a third party on behalf of customers       
    Guarantees and pledges   1 434   1 306 
    Others    130 1 565   94 1 400
Irrevocable commitments given on behalf of a customer       
    Others   3 024 3 024  2 389 2 389 
      4 588   3 789

BALANCE SHEET, € MILLION 

BALANCE SHEET
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ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

GENERAL

OKO Osuuspankkien Keskuspankki Oyj (hereinafter OKO Bank) is a Finnish credit institution whose business divi-

sions in 2005 were Corporate Banking, Retail Banking, Investment Banking, Group Treasury and Non-Life Insur-

ance. OKO Bank focuses on Finnish customers, but provides banking services for foreign customers to the extent 

required by their business related to Finland. OKO Bank engages in non-life insurance directly and indirectly 

through subsidiaries owned by it in Finland and the Baltic countries. 

OKO Bank belongs to the OP Bank Group, which is composed of 238 member cooperative banks and their central 

institution, OP Bank Group Central Cooperative with its subsidiaries. The OP Bank Group is supervised as a single 

entity and the OP Bank Group Central Cooperative and the member credit institutions are liable for each other’s 

debts and commitments.  

OKO Bank is domiciled in Helsinki and its registered address is Teollisuuskatu 1b, P.O. Box 308, 00101 Helsinki.

OKO Bank’s Executive Board approved the financial statements for publication on February 17, 2006.

BASIS OF PREPARATION 

OKO Banks financial statements based on national regulation are prepared and presented according to the Credit 

Institutions Act, the Ministry of Finance Decree on the Financial Statements and Consolidated Financial Statements 

of a Credit Institution and Investment Service Undertaking, the Accounting Act and the financial statement and 

report standard of the Financial Supervision Authority. In addition, the central institution of the group of coopera-

tive banks, the OP Bank Group Central Cooperative, issues instructions for following unified accounting principles 

and preparing the financial statements. 

OKO Bank’s financial statements have been presented in € million and they have been prepared on the basis of 

original acquisition costs, with the exception of financial assets and liabilities held for trading, financial assets avail-

able for sale, derivative contracts and hedged items in fair value hedging.  

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and exercise discretion in the 

application of accounting principles. 

CHANGES TO THE FORMULA OF THE INCOME STATEMENT AND BALANCE SHEET

Due to the changes to the financial statement provisions concerning credit institutions, the formulae of the income 

statement and balance sheet were changed as of January 1, 2005. The most important changes to the income 

statement concerned the presentation of financial assets available for sale and investments properties as their own 

lines. The most important changes to the balance sheet concerned the grouping of real estate to investment prop-

erties and other properties, the presentation of derivatives contracts as their own item and presentation of capital 

loans as liabilities instead of an item of shareholders’ equity. A fair value reserve is presented as a new item of 

shareholders’ equity.

The items of the comparison fiscal period 2004 have been grouped to correspond to the new manner of presenta-

tion with the exception of differences due to the change of the valuation principles of financial instruments which 

were presented in shareholders’ equity on January 1, 2005.

THE MOST IMPORTANT CHANGES TO THE ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES 

FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

As of the beginning of the fiscal period, the provisions on categorisation and valuation of financial instruments were 

changed, in which case the valuation at fair value was expanded to concern financial assets available for sale as well. 

ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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The unrealised appreciation accrued on the financial assets available for sale until December 31, 2004 less deferred 

taxes were recognised in the fair value reserve included in shareholders’ equity and as an addition to the balance 

sheet item in question at the beginning of the 2005 fiscal period. Realised write-downs were transferred from 

retained earning to the fair value reserve.

Other changes to the accounting principles were recorded on the balance sheet opening the 2005 fiscal period as 

an adjustment to retained earnings taking into account deferred tax as follows: Group-specific write-downs on 

loans and guarantee receivables allocated to previous fiscal periods were recorded as a reduction of retained earn-

ings and the balance sheet item in question. As of the beginning of the 2005 fiscal period, deferred taxes began to 

be recognised on the balance sheet and their changes on the income statement. Deferred taxes on previous fiscal 

periods were recognised as an adjustment to retained earnings. The counter-entry was recognised on the balance 

sheet under “Deferred tax receivables” or “Deferred tax liabilities”.

FOREIGN CURRENCY ITEMS

Assets, liabilities and other commitments denominated in a foreign currency are converted into euro at the 

exchange rate quoted by the European Central Bank on the balance sheet date. The exchange rate differences 

arising from the valuation are recognised on the income statement under “Net income from securities and foreign 

exchange trading”.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Determination of Fair Value

The fair value of a financial instrument is determined using either price quotations from an active market or own 

valuation technique where no active market exists. The valuation techniques include the discounted cash flow 

method, net present value techniques and comparison to similar instruments for which quatations in active market 

exists The valuation techniques incorporate estimated credit risk, the applicable discount rates, the possibility of 

premature repayment and other such factors that affect the reliable determination of the fair value of a financial 

instrument.

Set-off of Financial Assets and Liabilities

Financial assets and liabilities are not set off unless a statutory right of set-off exists and the intention is to  exercise 

such a right. Set-off was not applied in OKO Bank during the fiscal period.

Contracts on the Purchase and Resale of Securities

The purchase price of securities purchased under resale conditions binding on both parties is recognised on the 

balance sheet as a receivable under the balance sheet item determined by the counterparty. The difference 

between the purchase price and resale price is allocated as interest income over the term of the contract.

The sales price of securities sold under resale conditions binding on both parties is recognised on the balance 

sheet as a financial liability under the balance sheet item determined by the counterparty. The difference between 

the sales price and the resale price is allocated as interest expenses over the term of the contract. Securities sold 

with a resale obligation and the corresponding securities provided as margin collateral are included in the original 

balance sheet item despite the contract.

Classification and Recognition

Financial assets and liabilities held for trading

All financial assets and liabilities which are managed with the objective of short-term profit-taking from fluctuations 

in interest rates, prices and quotations or in which an embedded derivative contract cannot be separated from the 

host contract, are classified held for trading. Financial assets and liabilities held for trading also include all derivative 

instruments, which are not used for hedging purposes. 
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Financial assets and liabilities classified as held for trading are recognised in the balance sheet at fair value, and sub-

sequent changes in the fair value are recognised on the income statement under “Net income from securities and 

foreign exchange trading”.

Loans and other receivables

Financial assets categorised as loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 

cash flows that have been created by handing over funds or services. Loans and receivables are not quoted in an 

active market, and they are treated in accounting at acquisition cost. The financial assets categorised in this item 

are recognised in the balance sheet item determined by the counterparty, either under “Receivables from credit 

institutions” or “Receivables from the public and public sector entities”.

Impairment losses on loans and receivables are recognised either by item-by-item or portfolio basis. Impairment 

losses are assessed and recognised by item-by-item basis if the customer’s total exposure is significant. In the case 

of minor customer exposure, impairment losses are assessed and recognised by portfolio basis. Impairment losses 

are allocated to reduce the carrying amount of loans. Recognition of interest on the reduced amount continues 

after impairment. 

Impairment losses will only be recognised when there is objective evidence of the deterioration of a customer’s  

solvency occured after the initial recognition. A receivable is impaired if the present value of estimated future cash 

flows, including the fair value of the collateral, is less than the aggregate carrying amount of the loan and the unpaid 

interest. Future estimated cash flows are discounted at the loan’s original interest rate. In the case of a variable 

interest rate loan, the discount rate is the rate in the agreement at the time of assessment. The difference between 

the carrying amount of the loan and a lower recoverable amount is recognised as an impairment loss in the income 

statement.. 

A portfolio-specific impairment loss is recognised for a portfolio if there is objective evidence that uncertainty is 

associated with the repayment of receivables included in the portfolio. The amount recognised as an impairment 

loss is based on experience of the extent to which delayed payments lead to credit losses and of the amount to 

which realisation of collateral will cover the incurred loss. 

A loan is removed from the balance sheet once all collection actions have been completed or a separate decision 

on removal is made. Any payments received after removal from the balance sheet are booked as adjustments to 

write-downs on receivables. 

If there is subsequent objective evidence that the credit quality of a previously impaired loan has improved, the 

amount of impairment loss is reassessed and any change in the recoverable amount is recorded in the income 

statement.

Investments held to maturity

Investments held to maturity are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable cash flows, which have 

been acquired with the intention of holding them and ability to hold them until maturity. Investments held to matu-

rity are treated in accounting at amortised cost. The difference between the nominal value and the acquisition 

value of bonds is allocated over the remaining term to maturity. 

If the value of a receivable item held to maturity is found to be impaired, it is transferred to financial assets avail-

able for sale and included in fair valuation. The change in value is recognised under “Impairment losses of other 

financial assets” on the income statement.

At the moment there are no investments held to maturity on the balance sheet.
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Financial assets available for sale

Financial assets available for sale are non-derivative financial assets which have been categorised directly as avail-

able for sale or which have not been included in the categories of financial assets mentioned above. Financial assets 

available for sale are recognised on the balance sheet at acquisition cost at the time of acquisition and valued at 

fair value. Changes in value are recognised in the fair value reserve in shareholders’ equity and transferred to the 

income statement when the asset is derecognised from the balance sheet or its value is found to be impaired. 

Liquid assets

Liquid assets comprise funds in cash and receivables from credit institutions repayable on demand.

Other financial assets

Premium payments received for derivatives have been included in other assets so that they are not included in the 

item “Derivative contracts”.

Other financial liabilities

The category “Other financial liabilities” includes financial liabilities other than those held for trading. The premium 

payments paid for derivatives are included in the item so that they are not included in the item “Derivative con-

tracts”. After initial recognition, other financial liabilities are treated in accounting at acquisition cost.

Derivative contracts

A derivative is a financial instrument or other contract whose value changes in response to the change of a 

 specified interest rate, financial instrument price, commodity price, foreign exchange rate, index of prices or rates, 

credit rating, credit index or other underlying asset changes. A derivative requires only minor initial net investment 

at the time of entering into the contract, and it will be settled on a specific date in the future.

Both hedging and non-hedging derivatives are recognised on the balance sheet at fair value. The accrued interest 

from non-hedging interest rate swaps is recognised in interest and interest carried forward corresponding to them 

are recognised in other assets and other liabilities. Changes in the fair value of non-hedging interest rate, loan, cur-

rency and equity derivatives are recognised under “Net income from securities and foreign exchange trading” on 

the income statement. Positive value changes are recognised as assets under “Derivative contracts” and negative 

value changes under “Derivative contracts and other liabilities held for trading”.

Embedded derivatives associated with structured bond issues and housing loans with an interest rate cap are sepa-

rated from the host contract and valued at fair value on the balance sheet. Changes in the fair value of these 

embedded derivatives and derivatives designated as hedging instruments are recognised in interest. 

Hedge Accounting 

OKO Bank enters into derivative transactions which in fact provide economic hedges for risk exposures but do not 

meet the current requirements for hedge accounting and thus cannot be treated as hedging in accounting.

The risk management of the Bank has drawn up methods and internal rules for a financial instrument to be desig-

nated as a hedge in hedge accounting. Hedging is applied reverse, fully or partially, any changes in the fair value of 

the hedged item. 

Currently hedge accounting is used for hedging interest rate risk and is designated as fair value hedges.. Hedging of 

fair value is associated with long-term fixed-rate liabilities (own issues), individual bond and loan portfolios, as well 

as individual loans. 

When a financial instrument is designated as a hedge, the relationship between the hedging instrument(s) and the 

hedged item(s) is formally documented. The documentation includes its management objectives, and its strategy in 

undertaking the hedge transaction, together with the methods that will be used to assess the effectiveness of the 
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hedging relationship. Effectiveness is formally assessed, both at the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, 

whether the hedging derivatives have been “highly effective” in offsetting changes in the fair value of the hedged 

items.. A hedge is normally regarded as highly effective if, at inception and throughout its life, the changes in the 

fair value of the hedged item are effectively offset by the changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument, and 

actual results are within a range of 80 per cent to 125 per cent.

Contracts cannot be treated according to the rules of hedge accounting in accounting if the hedging relationship 

between the hedging instrument and the related hedged object no longer meets the effectiveness criteria.

In fair value hedge accounting, changes in the fair value of the hedging and hedged instrument are recognised on 

the income statement under “Net earnings from hedge accounting”. 

Derivative instruments entered into as economic hedges but not qualified for hedge accounting are treated in the 

same way as derivative instruments used for trading purposes.

LEASING ASSETS

Property given on lease and the advance payments of leasing assets are recognised at non-depreciated acquisition 

cost and are presented on the balance sheet under “Leasing assets”. As a rule, leasing assets are depreciated 

according to the annuity method.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Other intangible assets

Intangible assets are valued at acquisition cost deducted by depreciation and write-downs. Depreciation is recog-

nised as expenses over the course of the estimated economic life, which is 3 to 5 years for computer software and 

licences, and generally 5 years for other intangible assets. The economic life of asset items is reviewed at each time 

of closing the accounts. 

Intangible asset items that have been acquired against payment (software, for example) are capitalised. Deprecia-

tion according to plan is started when the asset item is ready for use. 

TANGIBLE ASSETS

Investment Properties 

An investment property refers to a land area and/or building or part of building that is held for the purpose of 

receiving rental income and/or increase in the value of assets. Investment properties also include properties where 

a minor part is used by the owner company or its personnel. 

Investment properties are recognised on the balance sheet at acquisition cost deducted by depreciation according 

to plan. 

Other Tangible Assets

Property, plant and equipment items are valued at original acquisition cost, deducted by depreciation and write-

downs. Straight-line planned depreciation is applicable to assets over the estimated economic life. Planned depre-

ciation is not applicable to land areas and shares in real estate corporations. Expenses arising from an asset item 

after the original acquisition are only capitalised in the book value of the asset if it is probable that it will produce 

greater economic benefit than originally estimated. 

Revaluations can be made in land areas and shares and holdings in real estate corporations if the probable selling 

price on the balance sheet date is permanently and significantly higher than the original acquisition cost. The values 

of the land areas and shares in real estate corporations revalued are based on estimate documents.
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The estimated economic lives are mostly the following:

Buildings   30 to 50 years

Machinery and equipment 4 to 10 years

IT equipment 3 to 5 years

Automobiles         6 years

Other tangible assets    5 to 10 years

The residual value and economic life of assets are reviewed at each time of closing the accounts and adjusted if 

necessary to reflect any changes in the expected economic benefit.

LEASE CONTRACTS

The leasing income from assets given on lease by lease contracts deducted by depreciation according to plan on 

the leasing assets are recognised on the income statement under “Net leasing income”. In addition, impairment 

losses recognised on the leasing assets, capital gains and losses from the disposal of leasing assets, commissions col-

lected from customers and other income and expenses directly caused by lease contracts are included in the item. 

Other income and expenses from leasing operations are included in that income statement item that corresponds 

to the nature of the income or expense item.

The leasing expenses of assets taken on lease are recognised on the income statement as fixed instalments over 

the lease period under “Other operating expenses”. 

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Pension benefits

The statutory pension cover for the employees of OKO Bank is arranged through the OP Bank Group Pension 

Fund and the supplementary pension cover through the OP Bank Group Pension Foundation. The Pension Founda-

tion is closed to new employees as of July 1, 1991. The costs arising from pension schemes are recognised under 

“Personnel costs” on the income statement. The pension liabilities are fully covered.

Share-based employee benefits 

OKO Bank has management incentive scheme on the basis of which a person included in the scheme can receive a 

reward partially settled in OKO Bank stock and partially in cash for services rendered during the “earning and com-

mitment period”. The fair value of the benefit with social security costs is allocated as cost in fixed instalments and 

as deferred expenses over the earning and commitment period. 

For option-based incentive arrangements, the social costs payable by the employer in 2005 are recognised as cost. 

Due to a change in legislation, social costs are no longer collected for an employee option benefit nor  salary paid 

as shares or a monetary payment determined according to the value of shares, as of 2006.

MANDATORY RESERVES

A mandatory reserve is booked on the income statement and balance sheet on the basis of an obligation if the 

obligation is based on a prior event and its realisation is probable but the time of realisation or the amount to be 

realised is uncertain. Furthermore, the obligation must be based on an actual or legal obligation towards a third 

party. If it is possible to receive compensation for part of the obligation from a third party, the compensation is 

recognised as a separate asset item, but only at the time when the compensation becomes practically  certain.

CAPITAL LOANS

A subordinated capital loan is recorded as its own item on the balance sheet under “Liabilities”. In the capital ade-

quacy calculation, capital loans are included in Tier I funds. Interest on capital loans may be paid only within the 

limits of distributable funds.
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Appropriations

The depreciation difference of the accumulated appropriations on the balance sheet includes the accumulated dif-

ference between depreciation made and depreciation according to plan. Voluntary reserves contain the voluntary 

appropriations made which are appropriations allowed by the tax legislation. Such a reserve is the loan loss reserve 

allowed by the Business Tax Act for deposit banks. According to the Act, a deposit bank may deduct a loan loss 

reserve made during the tax year, the amount of which is at most 0.6 per cent of the aggregate amount of receiva-

bles at the end of the tax year. The aggregate amount of non-dissolved loan loss reserves made during the tax year 

and earlier can be at most 5 per cent of the aggregate amount of receivables at the end of the tax year.

The increase and decrease of depreciation made and depreciation according to plan and voluntary reserves are 

recognised under appropriations on the income statement. The appropriations on the income statement and bal-

ance sheet also include deferred tax liabilities. The amount and change of voluntary reserves do not reflect the 

Bank’s calculated risks.

INCOME TAXES

The income taxes on the income statement include taxes based on the taxable income of OKO Bank for the  fiscal 

period, taxes for previous fiscal periods as well as deferred tax expense or in come..

The deferred tax liabilities are calculated on all temporary differences between book values and taxable values of 

assets and liabilities. Deferred tax receivables are calculated for tax-deductible temporary differences between 

accounting and taxable values included in the financial statements, as well as all losses confirmed in taxation. If the 

accumulation of taxable income is probable so that a receivable can be utilised, it will be recognised. 

Deferred tax liabilities and receivables are set off. Deferred tax liabilities and receivables are calculated in accord-

ance with the enacted tax rate that is anticipated to be valid when the temporary difference is dissolved. If a 

deferred tax item arises from balance sheet items that are not recognised on the income statement, the change in 

deferred tax is not recognised on the income statement but in shareholders’ equity. 

REVENUE RECOGNITION

Commission income and expenses on services are recognised when the service is rendered. Such single-payment 

commissions that concern several years and that include a potential repayment obligation are recognised as income 

on the cash basis and a mandatory reserve is booked on the repayment obligation.

Dividends are generally recognised once the General Meeting of the company distributing the dividend has decided 

on the distribution of dividend. 

Interest income and expenses on interest-bearing asset and liability items are booked on an accrual basis. Interest 

on receivables with non-serviced due payments are also recognised as income. Such an interest receivable is 

included in impairment testing. The difference between the acquisition cost and nominal value of a receivable is 

allocated in interest income, and the difference between the amount received and nominal value of a liability is 

allocated in interest expenses.
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NOTE 1.  Financial income and expenses 2005 2004

Interest income  

 Receivables from financial institutions  132.2  102.1 

 Receivables from the public and public sector entities  206.4  179.8

 Notes and bonds  96.7  86.7

 Derivative contracts  255.8  - 30.7

 Other interest income  1.2  0.6

 Total   692.2  338.5

  Of which interest income from impaired receivables 1.0  

Interest expenses  

 Liabilities to financial institutions  94.1  82.6

 Liabilities to the public and public sector entities  33.9  21.1

 Promissory notes issued to the public  181.2  137.4

 Derivative contracts and other liabilities held for trading   270.1  – 8.7

 Subordinated liabilities  20.6  14.0

 Other interest expenses  2.1  2.4

 Total   602.0  248.8

Due to changes in recognition and presentation, the interest income and expenses from derivative contracts in 

2004 and 2005 are not mutually comparable.

  

NOTE 2.  Net leasing income

Leasing income   102.6  87.0

Planned depreciation  - 85.7 - 73.7

Impairment   0.0  0.0

Capital gains and losses (net) from the disposal of leasing assets  - 1.3 - 0.8

Commissions & fees   0.4  0.3

Other income   0.0  0.1

Other expenses  - 2.4 - 1.8

Total     13.6  11.1

NOTE 3. Income from equity investments

Available for sale   5.2  7.0

From subsidiaries   7.3  16.0

From affiliates   3.2  1.7

Total   15.7  24.7
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NOTE 4.  Commissions & fees  2005  2004

Commissions & fees   

 From lending   18.8  14.6

 From deposits   0.0  0.0

 From payment transfer services   12.3  11.8

 From asset management   6.0  4.2

 From legal assignments   0.1  0.1

 From brokerage   0.1  0.2

 From securities issuance   4.4  4.7

 From guarantees   4.6  4.7

 From others   0.8  0.6

 Total   47.1  41.0

Commission expenses   

 Service fees paid   2.9  2.4

 Others   5.3  4.1

 Total   8.2  6.5

NOTE 5.  Net income from securities trading 

Sales gains and losses   

 Notes and bonds   3.0  7.6

 Others    0.8 - 26.8

 Total   3.8 - 19.2

Resulting from the change in fair value   

 Notes and bonds  - 6.1 - 1.3

 Shares and holdings  -  1.3

 Derivative contracts   9.6 -

 Others  -  16.6

 Total   3.5  16.6

Total net income from securities trading   7.3 - 2.6

NOTE 6.  Net income from financial assets available for sale  

Notes and bonds 

Sales gains and losses   0.0  5.9

 Moved from fair value fund to the fiscal period   0.1 -

 Total   0.1  5.9

Shares and holdings   

 Sales gains and losses   4.8  13.7

 Impairment losses   3.8 -

 Total   8.6  13.7

Total net income from financial assets available for sale   8.7  19.6

NOTE 7. Net income from hedge accounting

Net income from hedging instruments   8.9 -

Net income from hedged items  - 9.1 -

Total    - 0.2 -
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NOTE 8.  Net income from investment properties  2005  2004

Rental and dividend income   6.8  9.2

Other income   0.0  0.0

Sales gains    7.5  0.0

Rental expenses  - 3.9 - 5.0

Sales losses  - 21.3 - 0.1

Impairment losses and their reversals   14.4  0.1

Other expenses  - 0.8 - 1.7

Total   2.7  2.6

NOTE 9. Other operating income 

Rental income from properties in own use   0.6  0.8

Sales gains from properties in own use   0.2  0.4

Others    248.1  4.0

Total    248.9  5.2

NOTE 10. Depreciation and write-downs on tangible and intangible assets 

Planned depreciation   3.7  4.2

Impairment  - 2.3 - 0.1

Total    1.4  4.0

NOTE 11. Other operating expenses 

Rental expenses    4.5  5.0

Expenses from properties in own use   0.4  1.0

Sales losses from properties in own use   2.8  0.0

Others    19.0  6.1

Total    26.7  12.1

NOTE 12. Impairment losses on loans and other commitments and other financial assets

   
    Gross receivable Gross group Reductions Recorded in 
    -specific  -specific   income
    impairment losses   impairment losses   statement 

Impairment losses on loans and       

other commitments     

 Receivables from financial institutions   2.0  0.0  0.0  2.0

 Receivables from the public and public 

 sector entities   1.6  3.1  3.1  1.6

 Guarantees and other off-balance sheet items   0.5  0.0  0.9 - 0.4

Total impairment losses   4.1  3.1  4.0  3.2

NOTE 13. Income taxes  2005  2004

Income taxes from operations   2.3  17.6

Total income taxes   2.3  17.6
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NOTE 14. Income and expenses other than those from operations 2005  2004

Income other than that from operations  - -

Expenses other than those from operations  - - 

NOTE 15. Income, operating profit or loss and assets and liabilities by Division, € million 

  
    Corporate Group  Other Total
    Banking Treasury  

Income   133.3 52.0 250.2 435.5

Operating profit  66.5 36.7 237.8 341.0

Assets   8808 7508 1826 18 142.0

Liabilities   4408 11695 285 16 388.0

Personnel   424 79 43 546

NOTE 16. Receivables from financial institutions   31 Dec. 2005    31 Dec. 2004

Repayable on demand   

 Deposits   35.3  25.1

 Others   12.4  18.3

 Total   47.7  43.4

Other than those repayable on demand   

 Deposits  10.0  0.0

 Others  4 530.8 4 307.6

 Total  4 540.8 4 307.6

Total receivables from financial institutions   4 588.5 4 351.0

NOTE 17. Receivables from the public and public sector entities

Lending by sector 

 Companies  5 118.0 4 737.7

 Financial and insurance institutions   53.9  17.2

 Public sector entities   302.6  209.5

 Non-profit organisations serving households   150.7  124.0

 Households  584.9  496.5

 Foreign   166.4  77.5

 Total  6 376.5 5 662.4

Write-downs on loans 

 Impairment at the beginning of fiscal period   22.4  22.3

 + Receivable-specific write-down during the fiscal period   1.1  3.4

 +/- Group-specific write-down during the fiscal period    3.1 -

 - Receivable-specific impairment reversed during the fiscal period  - 3.4 - 1.0

 - Actual impairment losses recorded during the fiscal period   

 of which receivable-specific write-downs were made previously   - 1.2 - 1.1

 Impairment at the end of fiscal period   22.0  23.5
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NOTE 18. Leasing assets   31 Dec. 2005   31 Dec. 2004

Advance payments   9.3  32.3

Machinery and equipment   347.6  299.7

Real property and buildings   59.3  27.7

Other assets   2.7  0.3

Total    418.9  360.1

NOTE 19. Notes and bonds

Notes and bonds eligible for refinancing with central banks and other notes and bonds

    Eligible for  Other notes  Total Of which
    refinancing with   and bonds  subordinated
    central banks     

Held for trading  2 587.0 1 158.2 3 745.2  70.6

Available for sale   0.0  69.0  69.0  48.3

Held to maturity   0.0  0.0  0.0  0.0

Total   2 587.0 1 227.2 3 814.2  118.9

Publicly-quoted and other notes and bonds   
     Publicly-quoted Others Total

Held for trading   2 049.6 1 695.6 3 745.2

Available for sale    58.9  10.1  69.0

Held to maturity    0.0  0.0  0.0

Total    2 108.5 1 705.7 3 814.2

Notes and bonds by type   
    2004 2005

Treasury bills   192.3  63.1

Municipal papers   100.4  0.2

Commercial papers   93.7  2.3

Certificates of deposit  1 594.4 1 443.3

Convertible bonds   0.5  0.0

Other bonds  1 706.1 1 537.2

Others     126.9  80.3

Total   3 814.2 3 126.4

NOTE 20. Shares and holdings 

    Publicly quoted Others Total 

Shares and holdings   

 Held for trading  45.0  65.2  110.3

 Shares in subsidiaries 1 774.0  5.6 1 779.6

Total   1 819.1  70.9 1 889.9

Shares and holdings other than those quoted publicly have been measured at acquisition cost.

     31.12.2005 31.12.2004

Shares and holdings by sector 

 Companies and housing corporations   68.1  81.8

 Financial and insurance institutions  1 801.5  112.5

 Non-profit organisations serving households   0.0  0.0

 Foreign entities   20.4  3.9

Total    1 889.9  198.2
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NOTE 21. Derivative contracts  

Derivative contracts made for hedging purposes   

                                                                     Nominal values, the remaining maturity                                         Book values
      More than
    Less than 1 year 1 to 5 years  5 years Total Positive Negative

Interest rate derivatives  733.5  984.1  298.6 2 016.2  23.8  37.8

 Options 0.0  0.0  0.0  0.0  0.0  0.0

 Interest rate swaps 733.5  984.1  298.6 2 016.2  23.8  37.8

Currency derivatives  0.0  582.2  251.7  833.9  11.7  9.7

 Options  0.0  0.0  0.0  0.0  0.0  0.0

 Interest rate and currency 

 swaps     582.2  251.7  833.9  11.7  9.7

Derivative contracts held for trading

                                                                     Nominal values, the remaining maturity                                         Book values
      More than
    Less than 1 year 1 to 5 years  5 years Total Positive Negative

Interest rate derivatives 18 627.4 11 323.1 3 184.6 33 135.1  220.5  232.5

 Futures and forwards 6 383.4   6 383.4  1.0  0.7

 Options 4 366.0 4 093.5 1 686.5 10 146.0  34.9  32.6

  Called 1 586.0 1 890.0  861.5 4 337.6  30.8  2.4

  Put  2 780.0 2 203.5  824.9 5 808.5  4.1  30.2

 Interest rate swaps 7 878.0 7 229.6 1 498.1 16 605.7  184.6  199.2

Currency derivatives 2 604.5  124.2  0.0 2 728.7  15.8  20.4

 Futures and forwards 2 560.1  98.6  2 658.7  15.6  17.3

 Options  44.3  0.0  0.0  44.3  0.1  3.0

  Called  22.2    22.2  0.1  0.0

  Put   22.2    22.2  0.0  3.0

 Interest rate and currency swaps  25.6   25.6  0.1  0.1

Equity derivatives  15.5  94.4  0.0  109.9  19.4  0.1

 Options  15.5  94.4  0.0  109.9  19.4  0.1

  Called  15.5  94.4   109.9  19.4  0.1

  Put      

Other derivatives  71.6  184.0  0.0  255.6  3.5  1.4

 Options  71.6  23.6  0.0  95.2  3.2  0.1

  Called  71.6  23.6   95.2  3.2  0.1

  Put      

 Credit derivatives    160.4   160.4  0.3  1.2

    
The underlying value for interest rate derivative contracts is the nominal value, and for currency derivative contracts the euro-denomi-

nated countervalue, of the purchased currency on the balance sheet date, and for equity derivative contracts, the probable value of the 

equities on the balance sheet date.  The values are expressed in gross amounts.       
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Credit countervalues of contracts

    Made for hedging Held for
    purposes trading 

Interest rate derivatives  16.7  188.6

 Futures and forwards   1.0

 Options  0.0  45.0

  Called   45.0

 Interest rate swaps  16.7  142.6

Currency derivatives 87.0  47.7

 Futures and forwards  46.2

 Options  0.0  0.2

  Called   0.2

 Interest rate and currency swaps  87.0  1.3

Equity derivatives  25.3  0.0

 Options  25.3  0.0

  Called  25.3 

Other derivatives 11.5  3.1

 Options  11.3  0.0

  Called 1.3 

 Credit derivatives  0.2  3.1

OKO Bank is the counterparty in all derivative contracts.

  

NOTE 22. Intangible assets 31 Dec. 2005  31 Dec. 2004     

IT costs    6.2  6.1

Other long-term expenditure  1.7  1.0

Total    8.0  7.1

NOTE 23. Tangible assets 

                                                                                                                                                               Investment properties
      In own use  Book value Fair value

Real-estate holdings

Land and water  0.1  0.2  0.2

Buildings   0.2 - -

Shares and holdings in real estate corporations  3.6  32.2  46.5

Total    3.9  32.4  46.6
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NOTE 24. Changes in intangible and tangible assets during the fiscal period

    Intangible Investment Properties Other tangible
     assets properties in own use assets

Acquisition cost at the beginning of the year  28.2  84.7  10.4  65.7

 + increases during the year  4.1  10.3  4.9  0.3

 - decreases during the year - 0.3 - 56.7 - 10.5 - 0.7

- planned depreciation - 2.9  0.0  0.0 - 0.4

-/+ impairment losses and their reversals -  14.4 - -

+ Accumulated depreciations and write-downs on 

adjustments and transfers at the beginning of year -  0.4 -  0.6

- accumulated depreciation at the beginning 

of the year  - 21.1 - 0.8 - 0.3 - 64.0

- accumulated impairment at the beginning of the year - - 19.9 - 2.8 -

+/- revaluations and their reversals during the year - -  2.3 -

= Book value at the end of the year  8.0  32.4  3.9  1.3

NOTE 25. Other assets 31 Dec. 2005 31 Dec. 2004

 

Receivables from payment transfers  3.3  3.5

Receivables from guarantees  4.0  2.3

Others    175.9  127.3

Total    183.3  133.1

NOTE 26. Deferred income and advances paid

Interests   

 Interest receivables  200.7  140.8

 Interest advances paid  5.1  0.2

 Total   205.8  141.1

Others   

 Other advances paid  0.1  0.0

 Other deferred income  17.3  1.5

 Total   17.4  1.6

Total deferred income and advances paid  223.2  142.6

NOTE 27. Deferred tax receivables and liabilities

    Deferred Deferred  
    tax receivables tax liabilities Net

From accrual differences  3.5  0.0  3.5

From temporary differences  0.0  5.0 - 5.0

Total    3.5  5.0 - 1.5

      

Deferred tax receivables include a total of EUR 0.00 of deferred tax receivables recorded from losses confirmed 

in taxation.

   

Deferred tax receivables and liabilities arising from temporary differences are based on the deferred tax receiva-

bles and liabilities recognised from the revaluation of assets available for sale recorded in the fair value fund 

under shareholders’ equity.

Revaluations 31 December 2005  

The balance sheet does not include any revaluation.  
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Accumulated appropriations      

      
    Balance sheet value Deferred tax liability Net

 Depreciation difference  63.8  16.6  47.2

 Voluntary reserves  226.4  58.9  167.5

 Total   290.2  75.4  214.7

Depreciation difference and voluntary reserves have been recorded at a value from which deferred taxes have 

not been deducted. In the own funds statement, the depreciation difference and voluntary reserves less deferred 

taxes have been treated as Tier I funds.  

NOTE 28. Promissory notes issued to the public  

    Book Nominal Book- Nominal
    value value value value
    31 Dec.-05 31 Dec.-05 31 Dec.-04 31 Dec.-04

Certificates of deposit 3 486.1 3 505.9 2 670.4 2 683.6

Bonds   4 587.9 4 587.9 2 867.4 2 879.3

Others   1 056.0 1 064.6 489.9 491.7

Total    9 130.0 9 158.4 6 027.8 6 054.5

NOTE 29. Other liabilities 31 Dec. 2005 31 Dec. 2004

Payment transfer liabilities 327.9 253.1

Others   220.3 294.5

Total    548.2 547.7

NOTE 30. Mandatory reserves

    Pension reserves Tax Guarantee Leasing Others Total 
     reserves liabilities liabilities 

Reserves 1.1.     1.9 1.9

 + increase in reserves     0.5 0.5

 – used reserves      

 – reversals      -0.9 -0.9

Reserves 31.12. 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1.5 1.5

NOTE 31. Deferred expenses and advances received 31 December, 2005 31 December, 2004

Interests        

 Interest liabilities 185.4 120.8

 Interest advances received 2.1 0.3

 Total  187.5 121.1

Others        

 Other advance payments received 1.4 0.9

 Other deferred expenses 14.7 8.8

 Total   16.1 9.7

Total deferred expenses and advances received 203.6 130.9
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NOTE 32. Subordinated liabilities

Loan    Book value Nominal value

Perpetual loans 199.3 200.0

Other loan commitments issued by the financial institution 334.5 270.0

Capital loans 215.4 222.0

    749.1 

Perpetuals and debentures

1. A perpetual loan of EUR 50 million that can be called in at the earliest on 19 June 2007 subject to 

 authorisation by the Financial Supervision Authority. A fixed 6% annual interest is paid on the loan.

2. A perpetual loan of EUR 150 million that can be called in at the earliest on 30 November 2012 subject 

 to authorisation by the Financial Supervision Authority. A fixed 3.875% annual interest is paid on the loan.

3. A debenture loan of EUR 150 million that can be called in at the earliest on 7 March 2006 subject to autho-

 isation by the Financial Supervision Authority. The interest on the loan is three-month Euribor + 60 bps.

4. A debenture loan of EUR 50 million that can be called in at the earliest on 27 March 2006 subject to author-

 isation by the Financial Supervision Authority. The interest on the loan is three-month Euribor + 60 bps.

5. A debenture loan of EUR 70 million that can be called in at the earliest on 30 November 2010 subject to 

 authorisation by the Financial Supervision Authority. A fixed 3.5% annual interest is paid on the loan.

 

 Loans 1–5 were issued on the international capital markets.

 

On 31 December 2005, fixed-interest rate debenture loans issued in Finland totalled EUR 64.8 million.

 Issue Book value
 date  EUR million Interest % Maturity

 11.4.2000 4.1 5.0  11.4.2006

 21.3.2001 7.9 5.0  21.3.2007

 29.8.2001 5.7 4.5  29.8.2007

 25.2.2002 6.0 4.5  25.2.2008

 12.9.2002 11.0 4.5  12.9.2008

 4.6.2003 5.4 3.4  4.6.2009

 19.11.2003 6.8 3.9  19.11.2009

 10.3.2004 5.2 3.5  10.3.2010

 15.9.2004 6.1 3.5  15.9.2010

 16.3.2005 5.2 3.3  16.3.2011

 30.11.2005 1.4 3.2  30.11.2011

OKO Bank has not breached any terms of the loan agreements in terms of loan principal, interest, or other 

terms and conditions. The price difference between the loans recorded in the financial statements is EUR 0.1 

million. 

Capital loans 31 December 2005

Capital loans considered Tier I funds 

 

1)  Capital loan of 10 billion Japanese yen (euro equivalent 71.9 million) 

This is a perpetual loan, in other words it has no maturity. Interest on the loan is fixed at 4.23% until 18 June 

2034, and is then variable 6-month Yen LIBOR + 1.58%. Interest will be payable on 18 June and 18 December 

annually. If interest cannot be paid for a given interest period, the obligation to pay interest for the period in 

question will lapse. The loan can be called in at the earliest in 2014. After 2014, the loan can be repaid annually 

on the annual interest due dates 18 June or 18 December. The entire loan principal must be repaid in one 

 payment. 
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2) Capital loan of EUR 60 million  

The interest on the perpetual loan is variable three-month Euribor + 0.65%. Interest is paid quarterly on 28 Feb-

ruary, 30 May, 30 August and 30 November. If interest cannot be paid for a given interest period, the obligation 

to pay interest for the period in question will lapse. The loan can be called in at the earliest on 30 November 

2015, subject to authorisation by the Financial Supervision Authority, and subsequently on the interest due 

dates. After 2015, the interest on the loan is variable three-month Euribor + 1.65% (Step up). 

The entire loan principal must be repaid in one payment. 

 

3) Capital loan of EUR 50 million 

This is a perpetual loan with no interest rate staggering, but an 8 per cent interest rate limit. The loan was issued 

on 31 March 2005 and its interest rate in the first year will be 6.5% and subsequently CMS 10 years + 0.1% The 

interest will be paid annually on 11 April. If interest cannot be paid for a given interest period, the obligation to 

pay interest for the period in question will lapse. The loan can be called in at the earliest in 2010, subject to 

authorisation by the Financial Supervision Authority. The entire loan principal must be repaid in one payment. 

 

4) Capital loan of EUR 40 million 

The interest on the perpetual loan is variable three-month Euribor + 1.25%. Interest is paid quarterly on 28 Feb-

ruary, 30 May, 30 August and 30 November. If interest cannot be paid for a given interest period, the obligation 

to pay interest for the period in question will lapse. The loan can be called in at the earliest on 30 October 

2010, subject to authorisation by the Financial Supervision Authority, and subsequently on the interest due 

dates. The entire loan principal must be repaid in one payment. 

Loans 1, 2 and 3 are hybrid.

NOTE 33. Shareholders’ equity

Changes in shareholders’ equity resulting from changes in accounting principles and adjustments of errors from 

previous fiscal periods     

     

Retained earnings 1 January 2005 102.3

Changes in accounting principles 4.4

Retained earnings after adjustments 1 January 2005  106.7

     Shareholders’    Shareholders’
     equity at the   Transfers equity
     beginning     between at the end  
      of the year Increases Decreases  items of the year

Total shareholders’ equity  517.8 1 001.4 54.9  1 464.4

Share capital  206.2 216.9   423.0

Share issue   2.9 0.7 2.9  0.7

Share premium fund  6.5 513.2   519.7

Other restricted reserves  163.6    163.6

 Reserve fund  163.6    163.6

Unrestricted funds  36.3 1.5   37.8

 Fair value reserve  12.8 1.5   14.3

 Other funds  23.4    23.4

Retained earnings or losses after adjustments  102.3 4.4 51.9  54.8

Profit or loss for the period   264.8   264.8
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Changes in fair value reserve

      
        Transferred
     At the beginning Increases Decreases to income  At the end
     of the year   statement of the year

Notes and bonds  1.1 0.1  -0.1 1.1

Shares and holdings    11.8 8.5  -7.0 13.3

Total     12.8 8.6 0.0 -7.1 14.3

NOTE 34. Restricted and unrestricted equity and non-distributable equity items

 

Shareholders’ equity 31 December 2005  

 Restricted equity 1 107.0

 Unrestricted equity 357.4

Total shareholders’ equity 1 464.4

  

Distributable funds 31 December 2005  

 Unrestricted equity 357.4

 – non-distributable items -

Distributable funds 357.4

NOTE 35. Breakdown of maturities of financial assets and liabilities 31 December 2005

Remaining maturity  Less than 3  3 to 12 1 to 5  5 to 10  More than
     months months years years 10 years

Notes and bonds eligible for refinancing with central banks 0.7 1.1 0.4 0.4 -

Receivables from financial institutions   1 120.3 958.3 2 350.8 155.7 3.4

Receivables from the public and public sector entities  914.6 1 123.2 2 672.1 808.2 858.4

Notes and bonds  907.7 1 153.9 1 000.8 728.1 21.1

Liabilities to financial institutions  3 338.1 138.5 60.9 27.1 -

Liabilities to the public and public sector entities  1 609.6 20.2 0.2 225.5 210.3

Promissory notes issued to the public  3 056.9 1 859.3 3 977.8 236.0 -

Subordinated liabilities  193.3 4.1 173.7 288.0 90.0

Deposits other than fixed-term deposits are included in the maturity class “less than 3 months”. 

NOTE 36. Assets and liabilities in domestic and foreign currencies on 31 December 2005 

    Domestic currency Foreign currency

Receivables from financial institutions 4 014.3 574.2

Receivables from the public and public sector entities 6 210.0 166.4

Notes and bonds eligible for refinancing with central banks and 

other notes and bonds 2 815.6 998.6

Derivative contracts 27.2 95.9

Other assets 3 217.8 22.1

Liabilities to financial institutions 3 096.1 468.4

Liabilities to the public and public sector entities 1 762.3 303.4

Promissory notes issued to the public 8 173.1 956.9

Derivative contracts and liabilities held for trading 121.6 1.6

Subordinated liabilities 677.1 72.0

Other liabilities 731.0 23.8
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NOTE 37 Different shares at year-end and authorisations given to the executive Board and long-term incentive schemes

            
     Series A Series K Total    

Share capital, € 330 507 004 92 538 979 423 045 982    

No. of shares 157 170 608 44 006 352 201 176 960    

Percentage of share capital 78.1 21.9 100.0    

Votes per share 1 5     

Percentage of votes 41.7 58.3 100.0    

            

The counter value of OKO Bank’s share is €2.10. The counter value is not an exact value. The number of issued 

shares was doubled without altering the share capital under a decision made at the General Meeting of Share-

holders on March 31, 2004.            

            

Restrictions on share acquisition:            

–  Series A shares are intended for the general public and are quoted on the Helsinki Stock Exchange. 

–  There are no purchase restrictions on series A shares.            

–  Ownership of series K shares is restricted to Finnish cooperative banks, cooperative bank companies, and 

 the central institution of the group of cooperative banks, the OP Bank Group Central Cooperative. 

–  As far as a shareholder’s or nominee-registered shares are concerned, a Series K share can be converted to 

 a Series A share at the written request of an asset manager registered with the book-entry register within 

 the limits of  the minimum and maximum numbers of the different shares. 

 

If dividend is distributed, Series A shares entitle to an annual distribution of profit that is at least one (1) 

percentage point higher than the dividend distributed to Series K shares.            

            

Increases in OKO Bank’s share capital by the Series A shares subscribed on the basis of the 1999 option scheme 

in 2005 

           
Registration  No. of  Increase in To the share 
date    shares share capital  premium account    

13.1.2005  1 184 300 2.5 0.5    

12.4.2005  3 650 0.0 0.0    

 13.6.2005  1 134 740 2.4 0.0    

12.9.2005  91 900 0.2 0.0    

13.10.2005  139 200 0.3 0.0    

Total   2 553 790 5.4 0.5    

            

Increase in OKO Bank’s share capital, Share issue October 24 – November 15, 2005  

23.11.2005  100 588 480 211.5 512.7    

Total   100 588 480 211.5 512.7    

            

Authorisation granted to the Executive Board            

On March 31, 2005 OKO Bank’s Annual General Meeting authorised the Executive Board for a period of one 

year form the Annual General Meeting to decide  on increasing the share capital through one or more new 

share issues, one or more issues of convertible bonds and/or the granting of stock options so that the the new 

shares to be subscribed for in the new share issues, exchanged for convertible bonds and subscribed for on the 

basis of the stock options must be Series A shares and their aggregate number can be a maximum total of 

18,000,000. The bank’s share capital can be increased by a maximum total of €37,851,390.54. The authorisation 

further confers the right to waive shareholders’ pre-emptive rights to subscribe for new shares, convertible 

bonds and stock options.
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Shareholders’ pre-empitive subscription rights can only be waived in connection with corporate and cooperation 

arrangements  if there are good financial reasons for this from the point of view of the bank. However, a decision 

cannot be taken on behalf of a party closely associated with the bank.  For the total amount of the increases and 

the aggregate votes conferred by the shares issued, valid unused authorisations can correspond to at most one-fifth 

of the registered share capital and the aggregate votes conferred by the shares  at the time of the authorisation 

decision by the General Meeting and the increase decision by the Executive Board.

            

On the basis of the authorisation, the Executive Board is entitled to decide on the determination criteria for the 

subscription price,  the subscription price and the other subscription terms and conditions and the terms and con-

ditions concerning the convertible bond and the stock option rights. The Executive Board is also entitled to decide 

that the shares issued in the new issue, the convertible bond or stock option rights can be subscribed for against 

capital contributed in kind, by using a set-off right or otherwise on certain conditions. 

           

The authorisation granted to the Executive Board at the General Meeting of Shareholders on March 31, 2004 was 

cancelled because it had not been exercised. During the year under review the Executive Board did not exercise 

the authorisation granted.            

            

Option schemes            

On June 30,1999, OKO Bank’s Extraordinary General Meeting decided according to the bank’s Executive Board’s 

proposal that an option-based incentive system concerning the whole personnel be taken into use in OKO Bank 

and the OP Bank Group Central Cooperative. An option loan was offered for subscription by the personnel of the 

OKO Bank Group, the OP Bank Group Central Cooperative and its other subsidiaries, the OP Bank Group Mutual 

Insurance Company, the OP Bank Group Pension Fund and the OP Bank Group Research Foundation, and by OP-

Sijoitus Oy, fully owned by OKO Bank. The amount of the option loan was €460,000. The interest-free loan was 

repaid in October 2002.            

            

The subscription price of a share was €10.99 according to the terms and conditions of the option scheme. The 

subscription price is reduced by the amount of dividends distributed after the determination period of the sub-

scription price and before the subscription of shares on each record date for dividends. However, the subscription 

price is always at least the counter value of the share, which was €2.105 at the end of 2005. The subscription 

period began with the A options on October 1, 2002 and with the B options on October 1, 2004.  The stock 

options were listed on the Helsinki Stock Exchange when the subscription period began. Before the listing of the B 

options they were combined with the A option rights and their name was changed to 1999 A/B option right.            

Each option entitled to subscription for one OKO Bank’s Series A share, or a total of 4,600,000 shares. With the 

share split (1:2) of OKO Bank’s shares registered with the Trade Register on April 30, 2004, the subscription ratio 

of the option scheme changed. From the beginning of May, two new Series A shares could be subscribed for by 

one option right.  In connection with the 2005 share issue, the subscription ratio was changed so that four new 

Series A shares can be subscribed for by one option right. As a result of all subscriptions, the number of OKO 

Bank’s shares can be increased by at most a total of 9,370,320 of new Series A shares and the company’s share 

capital by €19.7 million.            

            

As a result of the 2004 share split, the subscription price of a share was reduced by half. As a result of the change 

in the subscription ratio in 2005, the aggregate subscription price of four Series A shares was determined to be 

€4.21 added by an amount in euro that corresponded to the subscription price of two new Series A shares 

according to the terms and conditions of the increase in share capital. The new subscription price thus confirmed is 

€4.6525 per share.            

            

In 2005, the share-specific subscription price was €2.485 until April 5, 2005 and after that €2.105 until the share 

issue. By the end of 2005, 7,646,680 Series A shares had been subscribed for by the stock options, of which 

2,553,790 were registered in 2005.            
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The changes and weighted average subscription prices for the outstanding shares are as follows:            

            
    2005  2004
    Average Option rights Average Option rights
    subscription price 1000 subscription price 1000
    €/share  €/share      

At the beginning of the fiscal period 2.49 1233 7,17 2 511     

Lost stock options 2.79 -21     

Exercised stock options 2.75 -802 2,64 -1 257     

At the end of the fiscal period 4.65 431 2,49 1 233     

            

Exercisable stock options at the end of the fiscal period  4.65 431 2,49 1 233 

            

The average price of stock options exercised in 2005 was €2.75 (€2.64 in 2004). The share-issue adjusted aver-

age price of OKO Bank’s share was €10.19 (7.31) in 2005. The range of the exercise price of the stock options 

was €2.485–4.6525 (2.485–7.17) in 2005 and the range of the price of OKO Bank’s share was €8.09–12.34 

(6.21–8.39).            

            

Long-term management incentive scheme            

Under a decision taken by OKO Bank’s Supervisory Board, the long-term management incentive scheme includes  

members of OKO Bank’s Executive Board, heads of departments and directors in comparable positions in the 

subsidiaries as well as those managers who are members of the personnel fund and whose HAY rating is 9–11. A 

total of 27 people were included in the scheme on December 31, 2005.            

            

Those included in the incentive scheme may receive OKO Bank’s shares as annual rewards for 2005–2007. 

           

In 2005 the target meters applied in the management incentive scheme were: the ROE percentage of the OKO 

Bank Group (weight 50%),  increase in the market share of the OKO Bank Group’s core businesses (weight 35%),  

increase in the market share of the OP Bank Group’s core businesses (weight 15%).The reward will be granted if 

the Bank meets at least 80% of these targets.            

            

If the targets set are met, each person included in the scheme is entitled to a reward corresponding to his/her 

regular salary subject to withholding tax for the following period: the President – 4 months, members of the 

Executive Board – 3 months, heads of department and directors in corresponding positions in the subsidiaries – 2 

months, and managers – 2 weeks. Managers are also entitled to a share in the profit-related payment paid into 

the personnel fund,  the maximum amount of which corresponds to their salary for one month. The reward will 

be paid two years after the completion of the earning period.            

            

The value of the reward paid as shares is recognised as personnel cost in equal instalments over the vesting 

period. Expenses of €0.1 million were recognised for the scheme during the fiscal period.  

In 2006 the meter of increase in the market share of OKO Bank Group’s core businesses, the weght of which 

was 35 per cent in 2005, has been replaced by the meters of increase in the net income of banking and invest-

ment service operations and increase in non-life insurance income. The weight of both of them is 17.5 per cent. 

           

Personnel fund            

OKO Bank joined the personnel fund for the OP Bank Group on October 26, 2004. 536 employees of OKO 

Bank were members of the fund on 31.12.2005.            

            

The amount of profit-related payments transferred into the personnel fund was based on the same target meters 

as  the long-term management incentive scheme.            
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€0.3 million of profit-related payments is paid to the personnel fund for 2005.  In 2006 the meter of increase in 

the market share of OKO Bank Group’s core businesses has been replaced by the meter of increase in the net 

income from banking and investment service operations. If the targets are met, the amount of profit-related pay-

ments transferred to the personnel fund for 2006 will be 2.5 per cent of the aggregate payroll of the members of 

the fund in 2006, which was €25.5 million in 2005.

  

NOTE 38.  Major shareholders and breakdown of shareholding

Major shareholders in terms of voting rights     

(10 biggest shareholders according to the shareholder register on 31 December 2005)

     No. of Total no. of No. of Share of
     shares shares votes votes, %

OP Bank Group Central Cooperative A 22 236 657   

    K 38 589 240 60 825 897 215 182 857 57.0

Suomi Mutual Life Assurance Company A 20 833 700   

    K 0 20 833 700 20 833 700 5.5

Ilmarinen Mutual Pension Insurance Company A 20 191 400   

    K 0 20 191 400 20 191 400 5.4

Oulun Osuuspankki A 1 000 000   

    K 1 012 000 2 012 000 6 060 000 1.6

Keski-Uudenmaan Osuuspankki A 0   

    K 491 800 491 800 2 459 000 0.7

Keski-Suomen Osuuspankki A 4 000   

    K 456 560 460 560 2 286 800 0.6

OP Bank Group Pension Fund A 1 880 793   

    K 0 1 880 793 1 880 793 0.5

OP Bank Group Pension Foundation A 1 800 000   

    K 0 1 800 000 1 800 000 0.5

Pohjolan Osuuspankki A 395 220   

    K 255 220 650 440 1 671 320 0.4

Turun Seudun Osuuspankki A 1 330 000   

    K 19 960 1 349 960 1 429 800 0.4

Total     110 496 550 273 795 670 72.6

Nominee-registered shares A  30 691 789 30 691 789 8.1

Major shareholders in terms of share ownership  

(10 biggest shareholders according to the shareholder register on 31 December 2005)

     No. of % of 
    shares shares

OP Bank Group Central Cooperative 60 825 897 30.2

Suomi Mutual Life Assurance Company 20 833 700 10.4

Ilmarinen Mutual Pension Insurance Company 20 191 400 10.0

Oulun Osuuspankki 2 012 000 1.0

OP Bank Group Pension Fund 1 880 793 0.9

OP Bank Group Pension Foundation 1 800 000 0.9

Pohjola Finland Value Mutual Fund 1 366 164 0.7

Turun Seudun Osuuspankki 1 349 960 0.7

The State Pension Fund 1 110 000 0.6

Etelä-Karjalan Osuuspankki 851 484 0.4

Total   112 221 398 55.8

Nominee-registered shares 30 691 789 15.3
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Breakdown of shareholding by number of shares (According to the shareholder register on 31 December 2005)

Number of shares (A and K series)
    Shareholders % of No. of % of
     shareholders shares shares

1–100   3 403 11.5 232 665 0.1

101–1 000  20 888 70.3 6 791 708 3.4

1 001–10 000 4 814 16.2 13 418 809 6.7

10 001–50 000 418 1.4 9 202 421 4.6

50 001–100 000 72 0.2 5 076 946 2.5

100 001–  118 0.4 166 454 411 82.7

Total    29 713 100.0 201 176 960 100.0

Breakdown of shareholding by sector (According to the shareholder register on 31 December 2005)

Shareholder type Shareholders % of No. of % of No. of % of
     shareholders shares shares votes votes

Corporate  934 3.1 7 059 934 3.5 7 059 934 1.9

OP Bank Group Central Cooperative  

and member cooperative banks 235 0.8 84 540 565 42.0 260 565 973 69.1

Other financial and insurance institutions 57 0.2 24 958 573 12.4 24 958 573 6.6

Public sector entities 40 0.1 27 059 330 13.5 27 059 330 7.2

Non-profit organisations 303 1.0 3 184 396 1.6 3 184 396 0.8

Households  28 100 94.6 23 509 615 11.7 23 509 615 6.2

Foreign   36 0.1 172 758 0.1 172 758 0.0

Nominee-registered shareholders 8 0.0 30 691 789 15.3 30 691 789 8.1

Total   29 713 100.0 201 176 960 100.0 377 202 368 100.0  

NOTE 39. Assets given as collateral on 31 December 2005

    Pledges Mortgages Total

Collateral pledged on behalf of own debt     

 Liabilities to financial institutions 1 401.6  1 401.6

 Liabilities to the public and public sector entities  436.9   436.9

 Other liabilities 15.0   15.0

 Total  1 853.5  0.0 1 853.5

Other collateral given on own behalf 1 507.5  1 507.5

Total collateral given 3 361.0  0.0 3 361.0

NOTE 40. Pension liabilities

Direct liabilities from pension commitments - 

Share of the excess margin of pension liabilities on the pension fund and on other liabilities -

Repayment of the excess margin of the pension fund recorded as pension cost adjustment -
 

The statutory pension cover for OKO Bank employees is arranged through the OP Bank Pension Fund and the 

supplementary pension cover through the OP Bank Pension Foundation. The Foundation has not accepted new 

beneficiaries since 30 June 1991.  The OKO Bank’s pension liabilities are fully covered.

 

NOTE 41. Leasing and other rental liabilities    
     

Payable in the following fiscal period  0.1

Payable later  0.1

Total    0.2

Material contractual terms and conditions regarding termination and redemption   

OKO Bank has no significant leasing or other rental liabilities. The contracts primarily cover personnel leasing 

cars and their duration is 3 years. 
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NOTE 42. Off-balance sheet commitments

    On behalf of  On behalf  On behalf   Total
    subsidiaries  of affiliates of others

Off-balance sheet commitments on 31 December 2005  0.0  0.0 4 588.3 4 588.3

 Commitments given to a third party on behalf of customers  0.0  0.0 1 564.7 1 564.7

 Commitments given    

 Guarantees and pledges  0.0  0.0 1 434.3 1 434.3

 Others   0.0  0.0  130.4  130.4

 Irrevocable commitments given on behalf of customers  0.0  0.0 3 023.6 3 023.6

 Securities repurchase commitments  0.0  0.0  0.0  0.0

 Loan Commitments 0.0  0.0 2 662.9 2 662.9

 Others   0.0  0.0  360.7  360.7

NOTE 43. Other contingent liabilities and commitments at the year-end

OKO Bank’s commitments to venture capital funds at the year-end totalled EUR 15.7 million. These commit-

ments are included in the commitments explained in note 42.

NOTE 44. Personnel and members of the Executive and Supervisory Boards

Average personnel in 2005 Average no. Change during the period

 Permanent full-time personnel 484 26

 Permanent part-time personnel 0 

 Fixed-term personnel 71 16

Total   555 42

    Salaries and 
Salaries and compensation paid to members of the Executive and Supervisory Boards in 2005  compensation

 Members of the Supervisory Board 0.1

 Members and deputy members of the Executive Board and

  the President and his/her deputy 1.8

Salaries and compensation paid to members of the Supervisory Board in 2005 totalled EUR 127,800. 

The Chairman received EUR 1,500 per month plus EUR 200 for each meeting. 

The Vice Chairman received EUR 750 per month plus EUR 200 for each meeting. 

Each member received EUR 200 per month plus EUR 200 for each meeting. 

Compensation paid to the Chairman, Seppo Penttinen, totalled EUR 19,000.  

Compensation paid to the Vice Chairman, Paavo Haapakoski, totalled EUR 12,200. Compensation paid to other 

members of the Supervisory Board ranged between EUR 400 and EUR 6200. 

 

Salaries and compensation paid to the members and deputy members of the Executive Board for the fiscal 

period ending on 31 December 2005 including  

income received from options were as follows: 

President Mikael Silvennoinen, 351 760

President’s deputy Timo Ritakallio, 647 655

Executive Board member Helena Walldén, 567 687

Executive Board deputy member Jarmo Viitanen, 215 610  

Loans and guarantees granted to members of the Supervisory and Executive Boards  

As at 31 December 2005 and 31 December 2004, OKO Bank had not granted any loans or guarantees to the 

members or deputy members of the Supervisory or Executive Boards.
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Pension commitments 

There are no pension commitments for members of the administrative and supervisory bodies. Furthermore, no 

pension commitments have been made for previous members of these bodies.

 

Management ownership 

On 31 December 2005, members of OKO Bank’s Supervisory Board, members and deputy members of the 

Executive Board, and the President owned a total of 84,664 A series shares representing 0.042% of all shares and 

0.022% of all votes. Members and deputy members of the Executive Board and the President owned a portion of 

the bonds with warrants issued by OKO Bank that entitle them to subscribe a total of 124,000 A series shares. 

These shares represented 0.061% of all shares and 0.033% of the votes.

NOTE 45. Holdings in Other Companies, € million 

Subsidiaries   Holding, % Equity capital Profit or loss for
        the fiscal period 

Company name: Opstock Ltd 85  17.5  10.5

Registered office: Helsinki  

Company name: OKO Venture Capital Ltd 100  1.5  0.5

Registered office: Helsinki  

Company name: Kiinteistö Oy Kanta-Sarvis II 100  8.0 - 0.3

Registered office: Tampere  

Company name: Pohjola Group plc 86.27  608.4  174.8

Registered office: Helsinki  

Company name: OKO Capital East Ltd 100  0.1  0.0

Registered office: Helsinki  

Company name: OKO Corporate Finance Ltd 100  0.3 

Registered office: Helsinki  

OKO Bank has no holdings in affiliates or companies where OKO Bank would have unlimited liability.

NOTE 46. Trustee Services

OKO offers the public investment and asset management services.

Notes concerning an entity under the group’s control

OKO Bank’s parent company is OP Bank Group Central Cooperative. OKO Bank Group’s information is included 

in its consolidated financial statements. Copies of the financial statements for OP Bank Group Central Coopera-

tive Consolidated are available from OP Bank Group Central Cooperative, Teollisuuskatu 1b, FI-00510 Helsinki. 

Financial income and expenses in relation to other group companies:  

Interest income 0.7 

Interest expenses 20.9

Income from equity investments 7.5 

Receivables from and payables to other group companies:  

Receivables from the public and public sector entities 1.4 

Other assets 0.1

Deferred income and advances paid 0.0 

Liabilities to the public and public sector entities 10.7 

Debt securities issued to the public 37.2 

Other liabilities 1.6

Deferred expenses and advances received 0.0
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AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the shareholders of OKO Bank

We have audited the accounting records, the report of the Executive Board, the financial statements and the 

administration of OKO Bank for the financial period 1 January – 31 December 2005. The Executive Board and 

the President have prepared the consolidated financial statements, prepared in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU, containing the consolidated balance sheet,  income state-

ment, cash flow statement, statement on the changes in equity and notes to the financial statements, as well as 

the report of the Executive Board and the parent company’s financial statements, prepared in accordance with 

prevailing regulations in Finland, containing the parent company’s balance sheet, income statement and notes to 

the financial statements. Based on our audit, we express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements, as 

well as on the report of the Executive Board, the parent company’s financial statements and the administration.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Finnish Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we per-

form the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the report of the Executive Board and the  financial 

statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining on a test basis evidence supporting the 

amounts and disclosures in the report and in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used 

and significant estimates made by the management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presenta-

tion. The purpose of our audit of the administration is to examine whether the members of the Supervisory 

Board and the Executive Board and the President of the parent company have complied with the rules of the 

Companies Act and the Finnish Act on Credit Institutions..

Consolidated financial statements

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements, prepared in accordance with International Financial Report-

ing Standards as adopted by the EU, give a true and fair view, as defined in those standards and in the Finnish 

Accounting Act, of the consolidated results of operations as well as of the financial position. The consolidated 

financial statements can be adopted.

Report of the Executive Board, parent company’s financial statements and administration

In our opinion, the report of the Executive Board and the parent company’s financial statements have been pre-

pared in accordance with the Finnish Accounting Act and other applicable Finnish rules and regulations. The 

report of the Executive Board gives a true and fair view, as defined in the Finnish Accounting Act, of the result of 

operations and of the financial position. The parent company’s financial statements give a true and fair view of 

the parent company’s result of operations and of the financial position. The parent company’s financial statements 

can be adopted and the members of the Supervisory Board, as well as the Chief Executive Officer, the President 

and the other members of the Executive Board can be discharged from liability for the period audited by us. The 

proposal by the Executive Board regarding the disposal of distributable funds is in compliance with the Compa-

nies Act. 

  Helsinki 17 February, 2006

 KPMG OY AB

 Hannu Niilekselä  Raimo Saarikivi

 Authorized Public Accountant  Authorized Public Accountant
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STATEMENT OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD

At its meeting held today the Supervisory Board has examined the Bank’s annual accounts and the Auditors’ 

Report. As its statement to the 2006 Annual General Meeting, the Supervisory Board observes that the Bank has 

been managed in accordance with the legislation and regulations in force and the Supervisory Board does not 

have any remarks in respect of OKO Bank’s financial statements for 2005 and the Auditors’ Report. 

The Supervisory Board concurs with the Executive Board’s proposal concerning the disposal of distributable 

funds. 

  Helsinki, February 17, 2006

  On Behalf of the Supervisory Board

 Seppo Penttinen  Markku Koponen

 Chairman  Secretary
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